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Group's
Activity

Paper
Offers a full range of products and services to
the graphic industry and offices, including paper,
graphic supplies and logistics services.

Packaging
Tailored solutions, customized packaging and
global supply of packaging products: boxes, films,
tapes, fillers, bags, labels and equipment.

Visual
Communication
Distribution of a full range of printing products
and services for large format digital: printers, inks,
toners, media, software and technical assistance.
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Annual Report 2021

Group Holding
Structure
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25% 100% 100%

SEMAQ
EMBALLAGES, S.A.
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INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.
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1. Inapa Group Group Holding Structure
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Message from
the CEO
In 2019, Inapa shareholders approved a strategic plan
for the 2019-2021 period focused on four pillars of
performance: consolidation and optimization of the
paper business, diversified growth in the areas of
packaging and visual communication, reinforcement
of financial sustainability and sustainable
development.
During this period, Inapa has continued to lead the
consolidation movement of the sector, by completing
the acquisition of Papyrus Deutschland in July 2019.
This operation allowed in this triennium the annual
volume of paper marketed by Inapa to grow by 15%,
while the paper market in Western Europe suffered
a substantial decrease of 20%, affected by the
impact of COVID-19 pandemic. The market share in
geographies in which Inapa operates had therefore
a 4.2pp growth (from 13.7% to 17.9%) from 2018 to
2021. When we compare this last year with 2015, we
see that the share gain in the markets where Inapa
operates was 6.1pp (in 2015 the share was of 11.8%).
Synergy plans identified at the time of acquisition
of Papyrus France and Papyrus Deutschland have
been successfully implemented. In France the plan
is already fully implemented with significantly higher
savings than initially estimated and in Germany
savings are already implemented whose annual effect
is greater than that presented to shareholders for
approval of the operation. Meanwhile, in Germany,
significant additional opportunities have been
identified, which will be implemented during the
course of 2022 and 2023.
To achieve a greater systematization and
coordination of processes in the various geographies
and business areas that allow optimizing resources,
we have decided to use a new state-of-the-art ERP
(SAP 4/HANA), in all the companies of Inapa Group.
Its implementation began in Germany in 2020 and,
despite the limitations caused by the new COVID-19
wave in early 2021, it was successfully completed
at the end of the first half for the various German
companies. In the second half of 2021, the new ERP
was implemented in operations in Belgium and
Portugal, continuing therefore to achieve an increase
of efficiency at the Group level.
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Complementary businesses grew by 4.3% over
the three-year period, reduced by the impact of
COVID-19, with significant effects on the Viscom
area, which suffered a 10% drop (with emphasis on
the consequence of non-events during the pandemic
period) while the packaging area grew by 11%.
Net debt decreased by ¤ 10 million over these
three years, continuing the former trajectory (in
the previous three years it had decreased by ¤ 39
million). This development incorporates the effects of
the application of IFRS16 in 2019 and the classification
of sales made in factoring in Germany as "true sale"
in 2021 and was achieved despite the acquisition
of Inapa Deutschland. As a consequence of this
reduction and the increase in recurrent EBITDA, the
ratio of net debt to recurring EBITDA changed from
14.8 in 2018 to 8.3 in December 2021.
The pillar of sustainable development has made
interesting progress in 2021 with an unprecedented
increase in global renewable energy consumption,
exceeding the 12% target set for 2022. A significant
part of this success is due to the shift of about 80% to
wind and water electricity in Germany. We have also
reinforced, among other measures described in the
respective report, investment in lower consumption
vehicles and hybrid technology. In terms of social
matters, we highlight the Group's Gender Equality
Plan, which, as a result of the joint initiative of several
employees, was prepared for year 2021 for the first
time. Therefore, we reaffirm our full commitment
to the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs), an innitiative, to which we have
enthusiastically joined.
In 2021, the turnover stood at ¤ 965 million, down
from ¤ 51 million, when compared to 2020. After
the first half of the year, heavily affected by
COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, in which turnover
contracted by around ¤ 73 million compared to
the first half of the previous year, in the second half
of the year turnover grew by ¤ 22 million (+4.5%),
when compared to the same period. The increase
in activity in the second half of the year achieved a
recurring EBITDA of ¤ 22 million in the first half, an
improvement of ¤ 5 million, when compared to the
same period.
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The strong evolution of annual EBITDA needs to be
highlighted. After significant restructuring costs in
2020, EBITDA stood in 2021 at ¤ 31 million, with an
increase of 95% (+ ¤ 15 million), when compared to
the previous year.
In the second half, we achieved a ¤ 6.3 million net
profit, reversing the losses of the first half and closing
the year 2021 with a net income of ¤ 3.3 million.
Compared to December 2020, net debt fell by
around ¤ 53 million in December 2021 to ¤ 262 million
(including ¤ 38 million for IFRS16 effects).
This amount includes trade finance in all geographies,
except in Germany where, due to changes in
contracts, sales through factoring are now considered
"true sales". Gross short-term debt fell by ¤ 17 million
and the medium and long-term debt by ¤ 38 million.
We rely on a team prepared to answer the challenges
and opportunities for growth, efficiency, innovation
and sustainability that will be very important in
the coming years. To our employees, customers,
suppliers, financial institutions and shareholders we
leave a special word of thanks for their contribution
so that Inapa will carry on with its values in the
performance of its mission.

Inapa Group CEO

1. Inapa Group Message from the CEO
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With a team of 1,643 employees, Inapa Group
operates in 10 countries – Germany, France,
Belgium, Luxembourg, Spain, Portugal, Austria,
Netherlands, Turkey and Angola, occupying a
leading position on the main markets it serves.

#1

Leader in the paper
distribution market in
european countries
where we are present
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1. Inapa Group Inapa in the World
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Group’s
Profile
Inapa is a company
based in Portugal, listed
on the Lisbon Stock
Exchange.
With an approximate
annual turnover of one
billion euros, more than
95% from international
markets, it is the main
paper distributor in
Western Europe.
Inapa has come a long way since it was founded, in
1965, as the first portuguese large-scale paper mill.
The Group’s geographical boundaries have expanded
and the business strategy has changed, focusing on
Paper distribution and on two business areas with
high growth and profitability potential: Packaging and
Visual Communication.
Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. is
the holding that consolidates the Group's companies
operating in the paper packaging and visual
communication sectors.

16

1980
listed on the Lisbon
Stock Exchange

+351

headquarters in Lisbon

10

countries where the
Group operates
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1,643

employees spread by the Group’s
different geographies

80K
clients

420
trucks in circulation
per day

1. Inapa Group Group’s Profile
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Paper
Inapa is leader in the
paper distribution
market in Western
Europe.
The paper distribution sector handles around 9 million
tons in Europe and employs more than 25 thousand
people, representing a value of ¤ 8 billion.
With around one million tons distributed annually,
Inapa is the main paper distributor in Western Europe.
To meet the needs of its 80 thousand customers,
Inapa offers a portfolio with more than 12 thousand
paper references
Inapa positions itself as a full service provider,
complementing the paper business with the offer
of supplies for the graphic and office sector, as well
as with the logistics service. In addition, in order to
respond to the increasing complexity of graphic
printing, the Group provides its customers with
specialized teams for technical advice.
Inapa ensures a 24-hour delivery service, at any point
of the markets where it operates, and a delivery
service of only 12 hours in the main economic centres.

In 2021, paper distribution represented
approximately 90% of Inapa’s
turnover, with the sale of office papers
representing around 35% of this
turnover.

18

841K

tons of paper distributed
in Europe

1,295

employees

12K

paper references
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Graphic Supplies
The deep knowledge of customers' needs enabled
the Group to become a global supplier to the printing
industry, leading to a sharp growth in this business
area, which has driven important synergies with the
paper distribution area.
Inapa's graphic supplies portfolio was developed
based on some partnerships with well-known brands,
allowing to set up a very comprehensive portfolio,
from inks to cleaning products, additives to printing
blankets, plates and varnishes, produced with
renewable vegetable raw materials.
Concerning the development of this business area,
Inapa has signed new partnerships with leading
companies in the graphic consumables segment,
which has allowed it to expand its product portfolio
and encourage cross-selling within the existing
customer base.

Office Supplies
In the office paper segment, Inapa's customer
database includes companies, offices and public
entities,that have specific needs and very demanding
service levels.

In this context, we also highlight the partnership
established between Inapa Portugal and the Spanish
group Liderpapel, which is the exclusive distributor of
several prestigious international brands in Portugal.
Through this partnership, Inapa Portugal offers the
market a wide range of office supplies, with more
than 8,500 references, especially targeted to the
mid‑sized companies segment.
Currently, Inapa distributes office supplies in Portugal,
Belgium, France, Germany and Spain.

Logistics Services
Inapa’s experience in logistics and the deep
knowledge of the paper industry makes it nowadays
a reference company in logistics services for the
printing and manufacturing industry.
With a storage area of more than 200 thousand
square meters and around 420 trucks in circulation
– a unique offer in terms of storage and transport
services – Inapa has a privileged position as a logistics
operator.

In order to provide these customers with a single
point of contact and supply, Inapa developed a
division for the distribution of office supplies, called
“Office Supplies”.
For this purpose, partnerships were established with
some of the most relevant operators in this area,
among whom we have Spicers and Waser, aiming to
provide those customers with the widest range of
office supplies and a high service levels.
1. Inapa Group Paper
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Packaging
The distribution of
packaging solutions
and materials is Inapa’s
second most important
business area.
With operations in Germany, France and Portugal, this
area has multiple synergies with paper distribution,as
well as cross-selling potential, either to customers in
the graphic sector or to the office segment.
Economic globalization, regarding specialisation and
geographical concentration of production, consumer
behavior change and, in particular, the increase of
online sales, has caused a very significant increase
in the needs for safe, versatile and fast packaging of
the most varied types of products, which anticipates
the existence of sustained growth in the consumption
over the medium to long term.
Considering that packaging is, in many cases,
the first point of contact between the customer
and the supplier and the product, the investment
made by companies in terms of packaging should
increase, being an additional factor for boosting this
segment’s demand. Inapa, alongside the distribution
of packaging materials, also develops technologies
and unique packaging concepts, offering customers
not only the design of their exclusive package, but
also the packaging and logistics services that may
be associated.

20

79M€
sales

192
employees

The Group is committed to the growth of this
business area through the organic growth of its
existing units, the expansion of this business segment
to other geographies where Inapa operates and
possible M&A opportunities that may arise.
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Visual Communication
New printing
technologies,
innovation in support
materials and new
communication concepts
led into a specific
market: the Visual
Communication.

30M€
sales

73

employees

Visual Communication is the business segment with
the highest growth rate in the printing industry
and includes not only printing materials, but also
consumables, printing equipment, software and
maintenance services
The fast development of digital printing technology,
in combination with large format printers, has created
a new market for graphics applications. Large format
printers, operating between 60 centimeters and 5
meters wide, allow the most varied type of prints in a
wide range of supports, such as paper, canvas, vinyl,
film, textile or wood

After the aquisition of ComPlott in 2007, in Germany
(currently Inapa ComPlott), Inapa is at present the
3rd largest operator in this market, with an extended
portfolio of products and services, with national
coverage.

In 2018, Inapa France and Inapa Spain celebrated
representation agreements with machine
manufacturers, widening their commercial operations
in the Viscom markets.

1. Inapa Group Packaging and Visual Communication

These formats allow diverse applications, such
as outdoor and indoor advertising panels, sign
making, prints to be used on furniture or household
appliances, advertising covers for buildings and
means of transport.

In 2013, the Group also started to operate in the
Visual Communication area in Portugal, with
the acquisition of the company Crediforma, at
present Inapa Visual Communication, one of main
HP distributors in large format printing. for the
portuguese market.
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Inapa’s History
Creation, Maturity,
Expansion and Growth

Inapa, an acronym for
Indústria Nacional de
Papéis (in english National
Paper Industry) was born
by the hand of two
visionaries, Joaquim
Rasteiro and Vasco
Quevedo Pessanha.

1965

IPO on the Lisbon
Stock Exchange

1980

22

Paper distribution
business expands to
Portugal, Spain and
England.

The Group sells its
industrial assets, quitting
production to focus only
on paper distribution:
Acquisition of Papier
Union, the third largest
German paper merchant.

Acquisition of packaging
distribution companies
Semaq (France) and
Da Hora (Portugal)

2000

2012

2006

2013

1992

1998
Expansion of paper
distribution in France,
Belgium, Luxembourg
and Switzerland.

Acquisition of the package
distribution companies in
Germany (GmbH
Verpackung and Hennessen
GmbH & Potthoff) and in
France (Logistipack, SAS).

Acquisition of the Visual
Communication company
Crediforma (Portugal).
Acquisition of packaging
distribution companies
Tradembal (Portugal) and
Realpack (Germany).
Entrance in the Turkish
market through the
acquisition of Korda,
a paper distribution
company.

23
Consolidation,
Growth and
Cohesion

2015
Inapa celebrates its
50th anniversary.

2017
For the fourth consecutive
year, INDEG-ISCTE
Executive Education
recognizes Inapa as the
most internationalized
portuguese company.
Papyrus France merges
with Inapa France.

2019
Inapa closes the
acquisition of Papyrus
Deutschland GmbH & Co
KG, becoming the leading
paper distributor in
Western Europe.

2016

2018
Inapa signs agreement to
acquire Papyrus Deutschland
GmbH & Co KG, the
OptiGroup company
operating in Germany.

Merger of Papier Union
and Papyrus Deutschland,
operating now under the
brand Inapa Deutschland;
In the last quarter of the
year, the Group celebrates
its 55th anniversary.

2021
Migration of the first
geographies (Germany,
Belgium and Portugal)
to the new ERP
(SAP S/4HANA).

1. Inapa Group Inapa’s History

Acquisition of Papyrus
France, becoming leader in
this market; Acquisition of
Embaltec SAS, french
packaging company;
The Group divests in
Switzerland where it was the
fourth operator in the market.

2020
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Markets
Inapa operates in
10 countries:
Germany, France, Spain,
Portugal, Belgium,
Luxembourg, Austria,
the Netherlands, Turkey
and Angola.
Inapa holds a leading position in all the markets
where it operates, standing out for being one of the
top three players on the market. Although the Group
has been founded in Portugal, with headquarters in
Lisbon, most of the revenue comes from operations in
other European countries, with Germany and France
accounting for around 90% of the Group’s revenue.
The Group provides its more than 80 thousand
customers, a portfolio with more than 12,000
references of paper, 16,000 references of office
supplies, 5,000 of packaging and a complete range
of materials for Visual Communication and graphic
supplies.
With more than 420 trucks circulating daily and a
storage area of approximately 200 thousand square
meters, the Group ensures, annually, the placement
of approximately one million tons of paper to its
customers.

841K

tons of paper

200K m2

storage area

80K

clients

16K

office supplies references

12K

paper references

4K

packaging references

420

trucks in circulation per day
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Germany

Portugal

In Germany, Inapa owns Inapa Deutschland,
resulting from the merger of Papier Union and
Papyrus Deutschland – whose sales represent
approximately 65% of the Group - Inapa Packaging
and Inapa ComPlott in the áreas of Packaging
and Visual Communication, respectively. Through
its infrastructure, it is also responsible for paper
distribution in Austria and the Netherlands.

Inapa’s Portuguese subsidiary is leader in Portugal in
the paper distribution business, representing around
3% of total consolidated paper sales. In Portugal,
the Group also owns Inapa Packaging focused in
the business of packaging distribution and Inapa
Comunicação Visual operating in the Viscom area.

Germany is the Group's largest market, holding
a leading position in paper distribution.

France

Belgium/Luxembourg
In Belgium and Luxembourg, Inapa is primarily
focused on the Office segment, being the leading
paper merchant in that market.

In France, with the acquisition of the Papyrus french
operation, Inapa has become the largest paper
distributor in this market. The Group's total sales
in this geography represent approximately 25% of
the Group’s turnover. In the packaging business
area, Inapa owns Inapa Packaging SAS, Semaq and
Embaltec SAS.

Angola

Spain

Turkey

Inapa Spain is currently the third major player in the
Spanish market after the acquisition of Burgo Group,
paper distribution business in Spain, under the brand
Ebix, in 2010. Its sales represent approximately 4% of
total consolidated paper sales.

In 2013, Inapa has entered the Turkish market with the
acquisition of the paper distribution company Korda.
Korda is in the top three of the paper distributors in
this market, being one of the few operators with a
national scale, with its three warehouses (Istanbul,
Ankara and Adana).

In 2009, the Group decided to invest in Angola, in
order to exploit the existing potential in less mature
markets, following its strategy of consolidating the
paper sector.

1. Inapa Group Markets
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Strategic
Guidelines
The Group's strategy for the 2019-2021 triennium is
based on four pillars of performance:

• Look for opportunities to consolidate and rationalize resources in
the different markets.
• Optimize distribution and logistics on a cross-border perspective.

01.

Optimization
of the paper
business

• Improve cross-selling capacities with Packaging, Viscom, Office
and Graphic Supplies through partnerships.
• Improve the capacity to optimize pricing.
• Implementation of SAP in all geographies and business areas.
• Reduce costs by centralizing functions.
• To grow in the Packaging area in an organic and inorganic way.

02.

Diversified
growth

• Develop the Viscom business by expanding the scope to more
markets.
• Enhance the paper infrastructure to optimize distribution costs
and increase sales.
• Continue to reduce its debt by generating cash flow, reducing
working capital and divesting from fixed assets.

03.

Reinforcement
of financial
sustainability

• Ensure debt repayment plans with maturities compatible with
the generation of cash flow.
• Adjust the allocation of debt to the sources of cash flow
generation.
• Improve the Equity/Debt ratio.

04.

26

Sustainable
Development

• Make business evolution compatible with the UN's
sustainable goals.
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Paper business optimization
Inapa has been leading the consolidation movement in
the sector, with the acquisition of the French operation
of Papyrus, integrated in June 2017, and in 2019, with
the acquisition of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co KG,
the OptiGroup company operating in Germany and
later merger with Paper Union, giving birth to Inapa
Deutschland.
In the 2019-2021 triennium, Inapa has completed the
cost optimization process resulting from the integration
in France, namely at the distribution level, and has
implemented the value creation plan presented to
shareholders in 2018 regarding the operations integration
in Germany, achieving the goals of operational synergies
that were innitially established/considered. Finally, the
reestructuring process of the operation in Spain has been
completed.
Still in the context of seeking to be more efficient in the
paper distribution market, Inapa sought to take advantage
of its logistical capacity, serving the Austrian market from
Germany, selling the less turnover products in the Belgian
market from Germany and France, achieving greater
logistical integration between Spain and Portugal.
On a commercial level, the Group will continue to
promote the cross-selling of graphic supplies and office
products and packaging and visual communication
solutions, leveraging on customer database of paper
distribution business and on establishing partnerships. In
addition, the Group will seek to optimize its commercial
approach by improving its ability to set pricing.

The centralization of functions in the shared services
centre of Inapa Group - Inapa Shared Center, based
in Portugal, has registered strong progress, with the
integration of the administrative management of
operations suppliers in Germany and the financial
management of the Spanish operation.

Diversified Growth
Packaging and Visual Communication areas, with the
greatest growth potential, are Inapa’s key investment.
The Group continues to develop these business areas

In April 2019, Inapa completed the acquisition
of packaging business of the company Spécial
Pack, implemented in the Bresle and Vimeux
valleys, very dynamic areas in economic terms,
with a predominance of the metallurgical industry
and commerce. This investment allowed Inapa
to improve the profitability of this business in
France, by obtaining synergies at the commercial,
operational and logistical levels, as a result of the
larger dimension of this market. Inorganic growth
was limited in order to preserve liquidity in a
pandemic context.
In the Visual Communication area, it is worth noting
the representation and assistance agreements of
Viscom equipment in France and Spain, with the
significant growth of this activity within the paper
distribution companies in these markets.

Reinforcement of financial sustainability
Debt reduction has been a fundamental vector of
Inapa's performance, during the triennium 2019-2021,
through the generation of cash flows, optimization of
working capital and sale of fixed assets.
During the triennium, despite the acquisition of
Papyrus Deutschland, the Group managed to achieve
a reduction in its debt levels and to maintain the
balance debt maturity in the short term vs medium
and and long term.

Sustainable Development
Inapa is committed to developing its business in
accordance with the UN Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs), having the following objectives
as priorities: 3) Good Health and well-being; 7)
Affordable and clean energy; 12) Responsible
consumption and production; 13) Climate action.
Over the reporting period, the Group sought to
improve its reporting systems to better monitor the
impacts on the environment ando n society of its
direct and indirect A number of initiatives were also
launched to reduce the environmental footprint,
such as the installation of solar panels in Sintra or the
pilot project to use electric heavy vehicles for paper
distribution.

1. Inapa Group Strategic Guidelines

The implementation of the new ERP in the Group,
common to all geographies and business areas, represents
a fundamental piece for obtaining an even more efficient
operation, at all levels, and has already been implemented
in all operations in Germany, Belgium and Portugal.

through organic growth and strategic acquisitions,
with the aim of continuing to be a reference in all
major European markets
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Statutory Bodies
By deliberation of the General Meeting of
May 31, 2007, the company adopted the
administration and supervision model in article 278,
nr. 1, paragraph b) of the CSC (Portuguese Companies
Code), namely, Board of Directors, comprising an
Audit Committee and a Chartered Accountant.

General Assembly
Board

28

Board of
Directors

Executive
Committee

Audit
Committee

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Since May 4, 2018
Chairman of the Executive Committee
Election year 2015

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende
Chairman

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros
Chairman

Inês Patrícia Arêde Simões Louro
Member of the Board/Executive Committee
Election year 2019

Inês Patrícia Arêde Simões Louro
Finance

Emília de Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão
Member

Frederico João de Moser Lupi
Member of the Board/Executive Committee
Election year 2015

Frederico João de Moser Lupi
Operations

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha
Member

João Miguel Pacheco Sales Luís
Member of the Board
Election year 2013

Remuneration
Committee

Chartered Accountant
and Auditors

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros
Member of the Board and Chairman of the
Audit Committee
Election year 2019

Nuno Galvão Teles
Chairman

Deloitte & Associados, SROC S.A.

Emília de Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão
Member of the Board/Audit Committee
Election year 2019

Pedro Manuel Macedo Vilas Boas
Member

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha
Member of the Board/Audit Committee
Election year 2019

Tiago Manuel Rodrigues Estevinho
Member

29

1. Inapa Group Statutory Bodies
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Corporate
Governance
General Assembly
Remuneration
Committee

Board of Directors
Executive

Nuno Galvão Teles Chairman
Pedro Manuel Macedo
Vilas Boas
Tiago Manuel
Rodrigues Estevinho
Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes
Rezende
Chairman

Chartered Accountant
and Auditors
Deloitte & Associados,
SROC S. A.

Inês Patrícia Arêde
Simões Louro

Frederico João
de Moser Lupi

Inês Patrícia Arêde
Simões Louro

Frederico João
de Moser Lupi

Executive Committee
Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes
Rezende
Chairman

The corporate
governance model
adopted assigns the
following competences
to the corporate
governance bodies:

The Board of Directors represents the Company
and manages its business operations but is, in this
instance, subjected to the resolutions of shareholders
and to instructions issued by the Audit Committee
where applicable legislation or the provisions of the
Company’s Articles of association so dictate, as well
as deliberates on the matters set out in the provisions
of Sub-paragraphs a) to n) of Article 406 of the CSC
(Portuguese Companies Code), as well as:
• Delegates, on an Executive Committee of the
Board, the company’s day-to-day management
and any other powers it may deem fit to delegate
by special resolution to the effect;
• Delegates, subject to limitations set out in
applicable legislation, specific management
powers under necessarily defined limits;

30
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Board of Directors
Non-Executive

João Miguel Pacheco
Sales Luís

Victor Maurílio
Silva Barros

Emília de Noronha
Galvão Franco
Frazão

Patrícia Isabel
Sousa Caldinha

Emília de Noronha
Galvão Franco
Frazão

Patrícia Isabel
Sousa Caldinha

Audit Committee
Victor Maurílio
Silva Barros

• Deliberates, within the terms and limits of the law,
on instructions that are binding on subordinated
companies;
• Deliberates, on proposal from the Executive
Committee, on the budget and plan of the
Company and subordinated companies;

• Deliberates on acquisition or disposal/sale of
majority or dominance stakes, as well as those
subject to a special process of acquisition or
disposal under the terms of CVM (the Portuguese
Securities Code);

• Proceeds to the co-option of Directors under
the terms contemplated by law and/or the
Company's statutes;
• Resolves on any matter that any of its Directors
may submit to the Board for resolution.

1. Inapa Group Corporate Governance

• Deliberates, on proposal from the Executive
Committee, on the setting of the company's
strategic objectives in terms of risk-taking and
on the respective internal control systems and its
management;

• To approve, with a previous and binding
opinion of the Audit Committee, the regulation
on transactions with related parties and/or
amendments thereto, as well as to approve
transactions with related parties under the terms
established in said regulation;
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In this regard, it is important to note that NonExecutive Directors have the duty to monitor the
performance of the Executive and Audit Committees,
to air their views on matters that fall under the scope
of duties of the Board where they sit or that may
be submitted to it by either of the aforementioned
Committees, and to act in an advisory role to the
Company’s executive management, which role is of
the utmost relevance since it is based on an in-depth
knowledge of the matters at hand while sufficiently
distanced from the demands and constraints of
day‑to‑day management.
The performance of these duties by Non-Executive
members of the Board of Directors has been relevant
in ensuring that this governance model performs
adequately, and to date, no constraints have arisen on
that account.
The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors
is responsible for the Company’s day-to-day
management as well as for:
• Setting out plans for implementation of the
Company’s and Group policies, objectives and
strategy for approval by the Board of Directors;
• Setting out general guidelines concerning the
Company’s internal organization, including
internal control and risk management systems,
for approval by the Board of Directors;
• Presenting operating budgets and medium and
long-term investment and development plans’
budget for approval by the Board of Directors;
• Monitoring and coordinating, including the
definition of management guidelines and control
of the subordinated companies;
• Approving contracts for the procurement of
goods and services up to a limit of ¤ 500,000 or
less, per category of goods or services;
• Negotiating and concluding on short-term
bank finance agreements for the company and
subordinated companies, subject to terms and
conditions that most adequately suit the interests
of the Company;
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• Negotiating and executing contracts for
the alteration, substitution or renewal of the
Company’s financing contracts, including
commercial paper programmes, under the terms
and conditions that it deems more adequate to
defend the company's interests;
• Negotiating for the Company new finance
agreements, with a term longer than a year and a
day, of issuing corporate bonds and commercial
paper programs, which binds the Company to
submit such transactions to a prior resolution of
the Board of Directors;
• Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets
accounted for as the Company’s fixed assets in
accordance with budgets approved by the Board
of Directors;
• Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets
accounted for as fixed assets of the Company
not included in budgets approved by the Board
of Directors up to a value of 1.5% of the paid-up
share capital per item;
• Deliberating on the realization of investments,
divestitures and restructuring in and by the
subordinate company;
• Renting or letting out any real-state property;
• Representing the company in and out of
court, either as plaintiff or defendant, as well
as proposing and pursuing any legal suits,
confessing guilty, withdrawing or settling out
of court, committing to abide by arbitrage
proceedings;
• Purchasing, selling or pledging shares in other
companies, provided these transactions do not
exceed 2.5% of the paid-up share capital per item,
above which limit prior approval from the Board
of Directors shall be required;
• Entering into, amending and terminating
employment contracts and exercising powers of
discipline over the staff;
• Opening, transacting and closing bank accounts;
• Appointing duly mandated representatives of the
Company.
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The Audit Committee has the following duties:
• Supervising the Administration of the company;
• Ensuring compliance with the Law and the
provisions of the articles of association;
• Verifying due compliance of the accounting
books, records, and supporting documentation;
• Verifying, as and when it may deem fit and in the
manner it may find appropriate, cash balances
and stocks of any type of goods or assets owned
by the Company or held in lieu of security or in
trust or under any other entitlement;
• Verifying the accuracy of the financial statements
• Verifying whether the accounting policies and
valuation criteria adopted by the Company are
conducive to appropriately representing its assets
and results;
• Preparing an annual report on its supervisory
action and issue an opinion on the report,
accounts and proposals presented by the Board
of Directors, which must state whether it agrees
or disagrees with the management report and
accounts for the financial year and include the
statement envisaged in Article 245.1 c) of the
Securities Code, signed by each of its members;
• Convening a meeting of the General Assembly of
Shareholders, should its Chairman fails to do so,
having a duty to so act;

• Being the recipient of reports on irregularities
submitted by shareholders, company employees
or others;
• Auditing the process of preparation and
disclosure of financial statements;
• Supervising the audit of the financial statements
of the Company;

• Recommending to the General Meeting the
appointment of the Chartered Accountant,
approving annually the scope of the respective
auditing work and the corresponding fees,
approving any additional services other
than those of auditing and supervising their
independence;
• Issuing a prior opinion on the regulation
on transactions with related parties and its
amendments, as well as on transactions with
related parties, under the terms established in the
referred regulation;
• Notifying the Office of the Public Prosecutor of
any contraventions of the Law constituting a
public crime of which it may have become aware;
• Contracting for the provision of expert services in
order to assist one or more of its members in the
performance of their duties.

The Chartered Accountant and Auditor have the
following duties: under the Law, verifying due
compliance of the accounting books, records and
supporting documentation; verifying, as and when he
or she may deem fit and in the manner he or she may
find appropriate, the extent of cash and stocks of any
type of goods or assets belonging to the company
or received by it as guarantee, deposit or other title;
verifying the accuracy of the financial statements;
and verifying whether the accounting policies
and valuation criteria adopted by the Company
are conducive to correctly representing its assets
and results.

1. Inapa Group Corporate Governance

• Auditing the effectiveness of the risk
management system, the internal control system
and the internal audit system;

• Certifying if the report on the corporate
governance structure and practices disclosed by
the Company includes the elements referred in
Article 245-A of the Securities Code;
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Main
Shareholders
As of 31 December 2021, shareholders with qualified
holdings in conformity with Article 16 of the CVM
(Portuguese Securities Code) were as follows:

QUALIFIED STAKES

Parpública - Participações Públicas SGPS, S.A.
Shares attributed to Millennium BCP (Art. 20 CVM)
- Banco Comercial Português, S.A.
- Pension Fund of BCP Group
Nova Expressão SGPS, S.A.
Novo Banco
TOTAL QUALIFIED HOLDINGS

ORDINARY
SHARES

% ORDINARY
SHARES

% VOTING
RIGHTS

236 199 384

44.89%

33.33%

112 996 710

21.47%

21.47%

93 513 669

17.77%

17.77%

19 483 041

3.70%

3.70%

43 500 000

8.27%

8.27%

34 445 831

6.55%

6.55%

427 141 925

81.17%

69.62%

Last update: 31 December 2021

The trading volume of ordinary shares during 2021
was 56 million shares, which represents about 11% of
the share capital represented by ordinary shares with
voting rights. During the year 2021, under the terms
of Article 16 CVM, the Pensions Fund of BCP Group
reduced its qualified shareholding below the 5%
threshold, maintaining a qualified shareholding.
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The total sum of qualified stakes represents 81.17% of
the share capital represented by ordinary shares with
voting rights, which puts the free-float of Inapa in
relation to these securities at 18.83%.
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Risk
Factors
The Group's core business is paper distribution,
serving as a link between upstream paper producers
and downstream intermediate consumers (companies
and paper manufacturing industries, such as graphics,
advertisers, media companies, publishing groups
and booksellers, among others), modern distribution
(large-scale distribution and specialised retail chains)
and final consumers (companies in the office segment
and individuals).

The Inapa Group classifies the risks to which it is
exposed into four major categories: strategic risks,
operational risks, compliance risks, and financial risks.

Strategic Risks
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RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Macro-economic
Trends

The economy behaviour in general can impact the performance
of the Group, namely at the top line level. A slowdown in
economic activity levels or a reduction in consumer and
producer confidence indexes may cause a slowdown or fall in
paper demand, namely the demand for writing and printing
paper, thereby affecting its operations, sales, earnings, and the
financial situation of the Group.

Because Inapa’s business is present in eight European countries
and in Angola and Turkey, its external activity accounts for
more than 95% of its turnover. These circumstances naturally
expose Inapa’s business to risks arising from the performance
of each economy. On the other hand, it is also a risk mitigation
factor due to the less likely occurrence of the same pattern of
economic behaviour in all markets at the same time.

Changes of
consumption/
demand
patterns

The paper distribution business is sensitive to changes in the
behavioral patterns of demand, mainly in segments such as
advertising and media, and also to changes in the distribution
structure.

Inapa Group operates in different geographies and has
sought to diversify its business base, increasing the weight of
complementary businesses.

Balance
between
supply and
demand

The balance between supply and demand depends on a
variety of factors, among which we highlight the trends in
the production capacity installed and the level of economic
activity and evolution of consumption patterns. Besides the the
productive capacities in different geographies, the trends in the
paper demand in emerging markets like China and India and
its impact on those markets’ suppliers, the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations on the various markets competitiveness, and
some regulatory issues that affect the world paper trade are all
factors which, either in combination or in isolation, may directly
or indirectly impact the performance of the Company, its
financial situation and its earnings (resultados).

Inapa Group operates in different geographies and has
sought to diversify its business base, developing commercial
relationships with producers located on different continents
and increasing the weight of complementary businesses.

Structure of
the sector

The paper distribution business has undergone structural
changes, with concentration movements between operators,
particularly in Europe. This competitive environment may
directly and indirectly affect the company’s future strategic
decisions and, consequently, its positioning in each market,
as well as the corresponding results and asset allocation. In a
context of sector consolidation, Inapa may be the target of a
public tender offer.

Inapa Group has sought to broaden its portfolio of products
and partners and continually invests in improving efficiency in
order to ensure its competitiveness.

Environmental
Risks

Given the growing ecological concern, legal and regulatory
requirements in this area are expected to increase significantly.
Failure to comply may result not only in financial penalties, but
also in difficulties to have access financing and reputational
damage.

Inapa has incorporated in its strategic plan sustainability
goals and reducing the ecological footprint Inapa develops its
activity seeking to adopt practices that promote sustainable
development of the environment, through the promotion of
certified products and reducing its ecological footprint.
In the case of the paper sector, most of the environmental
impact is downstream of Inapa’s operations, in the production
of paper. Hence the adoption of initiatives, together with
suppliers, to adopt environmentally sustainable practices.
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Operational Risks
RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Disruptive
events: Natural
disasters,
resulting from
global warming

The activity is exposed to possible natural disasters and
abnormal weather conditions that may arise as a consequence
of global warming.

All Inapa warehouses are insured against possible losses caused
by these types of phenomena. Given the high number of
warehouses and their geographic dispersion, we consider that
exposure to this type of risk is relatively low, as it is possible to
continue operations if one of the locations is affected.

Disruptive
events:
Pandemics

The company’s operational activity is subject to the risks of the
emergence of pandemics. The implementation of measures
that influence the mobility of people or goods by government
entities may have a significant impact on the company’s
operations and the financing of the activity. Disruptions in the
transport network at an international level or in countries where
the Group or its main suppliers operate may bring limitations on
the supply of products and influence the Group’s activity.

Operational risks are mitigated (i) by the high geographical
dispersion of Inapa’s operations, both at Group level and at the
level of each of its national operations and its suppliers, and (ii)
by the contingency plans adopted by each Group company,
which ensure that, except in the areas of warehousing
and transportation, which require the physical presence of
employees, the others can be ensured, in essence, through
telework.

Disruptive
events: Armed
conflict

Armed conflict and the application of international economic
sanctions can have significant impacts on product demand,
availability or prices.

The geographical dispersion of sales and supply mitigates these
risks.

Purchase price
fluctuations/
Pricing
management

The ability to reflect increases in paper and/or fuel prices in
the selling prices of products/services is not fully elastic. It may
occur that the margins of products sold/services rendered
are affected directly or through increases in transport costs
associated with distribution, thus exerting a negative effect on
the activity, financial situation and Group results.

Inapa has at its disposal some means of mitigating this risk,
among which stand out its systems, which in the sales process,
introduce authorization levels in accordance with the margin
generated by the operation. In addition, the inventory levels
with which Inapa operates minimize the impact of price
changes.

Disruptions in
storage and
distribution

Significant and/or prolonged interruptions in the ability to serve
the customer in terms of distribution may lead to deterioration
of the Inapa Group’s image/reputation, with an impact on Sales.

Group companies are constantly seeking to improve logistical
processes in order to maximise customer experience at the
lowest cost.

Disruptions
and property
damage

The Group’s units are subject to the risks inherent to any
economic activity, such as accidents or breakdowns that
may cause damages to the Group’s assets or temporary
interruptions in the activity.

These risks are monitored by Inapa on an ongoing basis
by means of the processes and information systems it
implemented, and some of the operational risks are covered
by insurance policies. The normal development of the business
may be temporarily affected by risks arising from the merger or
restructuring of subsidiaries.

Customer
retention/
loyalty

Inapa’s performance depends on its ability to secure its
customer base.

Besides having a very significant number of clients (over
80,000), geographical dispersion, and a wide range of
competitive, top-quality products and an appropriate level
of pre and post-sales service, Inapa has been developing a
customer loyalty program to its traditional customer base by
offering an integrated range of products and services that
complement its core business, thus increasingly asserting itself
in the paper market as a global service provider.

1. Inapa Group Risk Factors
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RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Credit Risk

The aggravation of global economic conditions affecting
economies on a local scale may cause difficulties for the
Group’s customers in meeting their obligations to Inapa.

Inapa has maintained since 2011 an insurance policy to cover
the credit risk of its operating subsidiaries in large European
insurance companies. This insurance covers the main countries
of the Group, thus covering most of the Group’s sales.
Regardless of the coverage contemplated above, Inapa also
manages credit risk by acting as follows: each Group company
has its credit collections committee, composed of the CEO,
CFO and heads of Sales and Procurement; the credit limits
defined are registered in the IT system and inhibit new orders
for customers whose limit is fully used; the credit limits are
subject to annual review and/or whenever there is relevant
information arising from the recommendation of the internal
and external monitoring systems; the approval of sales above
the defined credit limits is only made by the Board of Directors
of each Group company.

Human
Resources

The Group’s ability to successfully implement the outlined
strategy depends on its ability to retain and, whenever
necessary, recruit the most qualified and competent employees
for each function.

Although the Group’s human resources policy is oriented
towards achieving these objectives, it is not possible to
guarantee that in the future there will be no limitations in this
area. Recent reinforcement of skills in this area at corporate
level.

IT

The Group’s operations are also dependent on IT processing.
This involves the maintenance and processing of financial
reporting records, monitoring and control of logistics,
warehousing, and transportation operations, and accounting.
Inapa may also be exposed to risks related to the migration
processes of its base systems, which may have a transitory
effect on its operations.

Despite regular assessment of the computer systems and
the fact that their capabilities have proven to be adequate
it is not possible to absolutely guarantee the complete
identification and timely correction of all IT system problems,
nor the systematic success in implementing technological
improvements

Cyber security

The risk of computer fraud/cyber attack is something that has
been gaining an international dimension, and it is not possible
to fully mitigate this risk, despite the measures and procedures
implemented.

Investment in security policies. Periodic assessment. Employee
training in best practices. Main risks covered by insurance.

Compliance Risks
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RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Legal and
regulations

The Group may be negatively affected by changes in the
legislation and other tax regulations applicable in Portugal, the
European Union and in the various countries where it operates.

Inapa pursues a policy of flexibility and adaptability of its
operations and cost structure, whereby no significant impacts
are antecipated from possible new regulations.

Claims/
Litigation

Inapa may be part of any litigation arising from the conduct of
its business, including legal proceedings which may have been
ruled in favour of the Company, fully or partially, or sentences
that may be subject to recourse by the counterparties in
conformance with applicable legal procedure and until that
time as such sentences have been upheld in a court of final
appeal.

Inapa relies on the support of local legal advisory teams that
accompany the subsidiary companies in each geography in
the pre-litigation and litigation phases of the dispute, being
accompanied/coordinated by the legal department of the
parent company whenever their relevance or specificity so
recommends.
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Financial Risks*
RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Interest rates

As Inapa does not hedge its exposure to adverse changes in
interest rates, such changes may have a negative impact on its
performance, financial situation, and earnings.

As a way of managing these variations, the Group’s financial
area constantly follows the development of the market, and
is able to use financial instruments to minimise the effects of
interest rates volatility.

Currency risk

The exposure to currency risk is limited because the aggregate
value of sales in currencies other than Euro (namely kwanza
and Turkish lira) represents less than 2% of the total sales of the
Group.

Constant monitoring of exchange rate trends in the countries to
which the Group is exposed.

Investment

The Group’s operations require investments. Risk that the Inapa
Group may not be able to finance its operations, namely in
terms of investment, or that it may only be able to do so at a
higher cost.

Inapa expects to fund its investments by mobilizing cash flows
generated from operating activities. Should these activities fail
to generate sufficient income, Inapa may be required to partly
fund the envisaged investments with funding from external
sources, including bank loans and/or capital markets.

Liquidity/
Working
Capital

For the development of its operations, Inapa needs working
capital. More adverse economic scenarios that lead to changes
in the commercial and financial policies of our partners,
including suppliers, customers, or financial institutions, could
create working capital needs that may influence liquidity levels.

Inapa manages liquidity risk by seeking to ensure that the
Group’s financial debt has a high medium and long-term
component with maturities that adequately match its ability
to generate cash resources, through access to credit facilities
on current accounts. Treasury management is done locally in
each Group company supervised by the Holding Company.
Cash flow forecasts are updated and regularly monitored by
the Holding. Cash flow forecasts are updated and regularly
monitored.

Pension Funds

Inapa grants supplementary retirement and survivor’s pension
plans to the employees of its subsidiaries Inapa France, SAS,
Inapa Packaging SAS, Semaq Emballages, S.A., Papyrus
Deutschland and Papier Union GmbH. It accounts for the
inherent costs and associated charges in accordance with the
provisions of International Accounting Standard nr. 19 (IAS 19).
The amount recorded in the consolidated accounts under
liabilities for pension benefits is based on predefined actuarial
assumptions, whereas the beneficiaries of the pension plans
may live longer than expected and, as such, may benefit from
the plan beyond the period provided for, since they are defined
benefit pension plans.
Therefore, pension liabilities may exert an adverse constraint on
cash flows.

Inapa periodically reviews the actuarial calculations.

Consolidation
of accounts
and reporting

Risk of making errors in the preparation of internal and external
reports.

Inapa has internal and external control methods to mitigate
these risks. Implementation of SAP in all Group companies will
bring a strong contribution, with the alignment of processes/
procedures.

* In the notes to the consolidated financial statements (3, 8 and 9) you can find more detail on the various aspects of financial risk management.

1. Inapa Group Risk Factors
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Ethics
Doing business with
ethics is a cornerstone
of Inapa’s culture
and the heart of our
success.

By acting with high ethical standards, we create a
positive and collaborative atmosphere. The way we
do business is not a short-term goal, it is rather a
contribution for the Group’s long-term sustainability.
Employees’ daily actions must meet the highest
ethical standards. Everyone should act in accordance
with strong moral principles, communicate with
transparency and treat with esteem, consideration,
dignity and tolerance all the people, regardless of
race, nationality, colour, ethnicity, citizenship, religion,
gender, age or disability.
Inapa is committed to follow the best international
practices concerning Human Rights, labour,
environmental protection and anti-corruption laws,
namely the Ten Principles of the United Nations
Global Compact:

Human
Rights

Labour
Practices

Environment
Protection
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Anti-Corruption

01.

Respect and uphold internationally proclaimed human rights;

02.

Ensure non-participation in human rights violations;

03.

Uphold the freedom of association and the effective recognition of the right to collective
bargaining;

04.

Abolish all forms of forced and compulsory labour;

05.

Effective abolishment child labour;

06.

Elimination of discrimination in employment;

07.

Supporting a preventive approach to environmental challenges;

08.

Undertake initiatives to promote environmental responsibility;

09.

Promote the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies;

10.

Work against corruption in all its forms, including extortion and bribery.
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At the end of 2017 the new Inapa's Code of Conduct
was launched, trying to align the good practices
of the corporate model with the conduct of all
employees and partners by the highest ethical
standards. The Group's employees received a copy of
the new Code, in their own language, so that they can
use it as a consultation tool whenever they have any
questions.
In the Code, guidelines are presented in terms of
the principles they must respect (integrity, respect,
transparency and compliance) and how to report
any irregularities. Guidance is also given on how
to behave in a way that guarantees integrity to i)
colleagues, ii) the company, iii) the business partners
and iv) the community.

Read here
the Inapa Code of Conduct

Principles of the code of conduct:
Acting consistently with absolute honesty and high ethical standards.

Respect

Dealing with customers, suppliers, employees and other stakeholders with courtesy, tolerance,
loyalty and fairness.

Transparency

The absence of hidden agendas or conditions, ensuring that commitments are respected
and that information is provided to improve collaboration between stakeholders, assigning
responsibility for actions taken.

Compliance

Ensure that decisions and/or businesses are compliant with the law, regulations and
industry best practices.

1. Inapa Group Ethics

Integrity
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Human
Resources
In its Human
Resources strategy,
Inapa has adopted
a close correlation
between the Group’s
strategic guidelines
and the evolution
of the different
Group businesses
based on a common
platform of processes
and policies that
are followed by the
different companies
and geographies where
the Group operates.

Human Resources are increasingly considered
to be one of the pillars of development of Inapa
Group. Management policies reflect the guiding
principles that sustain the Group's plans and actions,
being developed in an articulated manner with the
strategic guidelines and the business needs, based
on a common platform of processes in the different
Group companies, in the various geographies, always
bearing in mind human and ethical values.
The Group's policies are based on seven objectives:
diversity and equality; attraction and commitment;
development and enhancement; recognition and
merit; prevention and security; change management
and reconciliation of professional and personal life.
The year was marked by factors that started in the
previous year but were still felt in 2021 with an impact
on Human Resources management. Externally, the
different waves of COVID-19 continued to have
significant impacts on people's lives and on the
economy. Internally, we highlight the finalisation of
the restructuring process of companies in Germany.
Within this framework, Inapa Group's human
resources are in constant evolution and adaptation
to adaptation to the necessary sustainability of
the Group without ever forgetting the human side.
Year 2021 recorded a decrease of 66 employees,
compared with the same period on the previous year,
for a total of 1,643 employees in all Group companies.
As a reflection of the impacts described above, in
Germany there was a decrease in the number of
employees of about 35, with the largest decrease
in Inapa Deutschland GmbH (company resulting
from the merger in 2020 between Papier Union
and Papyrus Deutschland) with a decrease of
22 employees.
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EVOLUTION OF THE BREAKDOWN OF EMPLOYEES BY COMPANY
BUSINESS AREA

Paper

Packaging

Visual Communication

Holding
Shared Services

Total

COMPANY

COUNTRY

2019

2020

2021

OBSERVATIONS

Inapa Deutschland

Germany

932

910

Merger of Papier Union + Papyrus
Deutschland in 2020

Papier Union

Germany

489

n.a.

Merger with Papyrus Deutschland into
Inapa Deutschland in 2020

Papyrus Deutschland

Germany

526

n.a.

Acquisition in 2019 and merger with Papier
Union into Inapa Deutschland in 2020

Inapa France

France

250

223

199

Inapa Portugal

Portugal

65

60

61

Inapa España

Spain

75

64

52

Inapa Belgium

Belgium

28

28

28

Inapa Angola

Angola

4

4

4

Korda

Turkey

45

41

41

Inapa Packaging

Germany

67

50

45

Inapa Packaging

France

35

39

40

Semaq

France

37

39

41

Embaltec

France

25

28

27

Inapa Packaging

Portugal

38

38

39

Inapa ComPlott

Germany

68

73

65

Inapa
Comunicação Visual

Portugal

11

8

8

Inapa IPG

Portugal

15

14

16

Inapa Shared Center

Portugal

60

68

67

1,838

1,709

1,643

1. Inapa Group Human Resources
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Reflecting the composition of the business, the
largest number of employees remains in the paper
distribution area, representing in 2021 about 79% of
the total, the same as 2020.
The complementary businesses of Packaging and
Visual Communication, have registered a decrease
of 10 employees to around 265, remaining at 16% in
terms of weight in the Group total.
The Shared Services area, with 67 employees,
registered a decrease of 1 employee compared to
the previous year, maintaining its weight at 5% of the
Group total.
Per country, and considering the total number of
businesses, the largest market – Germany - showed
a decrease of about 35, to 1,020 employees,
representing 62% of the total.
France also shows a retreat in its structure, namely
in Inapa France, while the complementary business
companies presented an increase of two employees.
In total terms they reached 307 employees (22 less
than in 2020), maintaining its weight in the total Inapa
Group at 19%.
Portugal, in turn, as a whole, with its various
companies, recorded a slight positive variation of
3 employees to 191 and raising the weight to 12%.
Spain showed, in 2021, a decrease of 12 employees
from the previous year, to a total of 52. Around 3% in
terms of weight.
The remaining countries maintained 73 employees,
as in the previous year. Korda, in Turkey, had around
41 employees and Inapa Belgique, in Belgium,
28 employees
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The following image illustrates the breakdown
by occupational categories.

Employees by functional area

41%

4%

Board & Senior
Management

Sales

13%

Technical,
Administrative
& Back office

42%
Logistics
& Transport

Board Members and senior management account for
around 4% of the total employees.
This distribution remained similar to 2020, as well as
the turnover in the various categories, standing at the
average values of the Group.

1. Inapa Group Human Resources

In view of the Group's commercial nature, by
category the commercial area represents around
41% of total employees, and the logistics and
transport 42%. As for the support areas - technical,
administrative and Back office - these represent 13%
of the Group employees.

IMPROVE
YOUR
WORK
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Main Activity
Indicators
The table below contains Inapa's main activity
indicators, as used for management purposes, and
in line with other market players.

Amounts in millions of euros (except when specifically mentioned)

2021

2020

2019

2018

VAR. 21/20

841

913

887

735

-7.8%

964.6

1 015.5

1 030.8

860.3

-5.0%

179.3

185.5

178.4

151.9

-3.4%

Gross Margin (%)

18.6%

18.3%

17.3%

17.7%

0.3 pp

Net operating costs

146.2

156.6

148.6

131.9

-6.7%

Tonnes ('000)
Sales
Gross Margin

Operating income
Operating costs
Impairment of trade receivables
Re-EBITDA
Re-EBITDA (%)
Non recurrent costs
EBITDA
EBITDA (%)
EBIT
EBIT (%)
Net Financial function
EBT

23.6

24.8

22.9

22.3%

180.2

173.4

154.9

-2.9%

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

10.9%

31.5

27.4

28.3

18.4

14.9%

3.3%

2.7%

2.7%

2.1%

0.6 pp

0.7

11.6

1.6

2.0

-10.9

30.8

15.8

26.7

16.5

94.7%

3.2%

1.6%

2.6%

1.9%

1.6 pp

15.5

-2.7

10.8

10.6

18.2

1.6%

-0.3%

1.0%

1.2%

1.9 pp

14.2

15.5

15.7

14.3

-8.9%

1.3

-18.2

-4.9

-3.7

19.6

Taxes on profits

2.0

2.8

0.8

0.1

-0.8

Net income

3.3

-15.5

-4.1

-3.6

18.8

31/12/21

31/12/20

31/12/19

31/12/18

VAR. 21/20

Net debt

261.8

315.0

337.3

272.2

-16.9%

Net debt/Re-EBITDA

8.3 x

11.5 x

11.9 x

14.8 x

-3.2 x

Net debt excluding Trade Finance

241.8

258.7

248.4

181.0

-6.5%

Interest coverage

2.2 x

1.8 x

1.8 x

1.3 x

0.5 x

11.4

73.0

87.6

97.0

-84.4%

Working capital

48

28.8
175.0
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Glossary
Sales: Sales of merchandise and other products
[Note 25]
Gross Margin: Sales of merchandise and other
products [Note 25] - Cost of sales [Note 13] + Net
cash discounts [Note 25] [Note 27]

EBIT (%): EBIT/Sales
Financial Function: Net financial results [Note 29]
+ Gains/(Losses) in Associates [Note 10]
Net debt: Gross debt - Cash and cash equivalents
[Note 21]

Net Operating Costs: Operating costs – Operating
income

Net Debt excluding Trade Finance: Net debt –
Trade finance [Note 21]

Operating Income: Service rendered and Other
income excluding Net cash discounts [Note 25]

Interest coverage: Re-EBITDA/Net financial
function

Operating Costs: Personnel costs [Note 26] +
Other costs (excluding net cash discounts, provisions
and impairment of trade receivables [Note 27],
excluding non-recurrent costs

Working Capital: Trade receivables + Inventories –
Trade payables

Customer Impairment: Provisions and impairments
of customers included in Other costs [Note 27]

Re-EBITDA: Earnings before depreciation
and amortization [Note 28], Financial function,
Non‑recurrent costs and Income tax [Note 30]
Re-EBITDA (%): Re-EBITDA/Sales
Non-recurrent costs: Mainly restructuring costs,
namely compensation for termination of work
contracts [Note 26]
income tax [Note 30]
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EBIT: Results before net financial function and
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Main
Events

30th
April
2020 Results
Announcement
Notice for Ordinary
General Meeting
and Annual Report
Publication

30th
September

21st
May
Ordinary General
Meeting

15th
September
2022 Gender Equality Plan

First half 2021 results
announcement

21st
October
Qualified stake of BCP
Pensions Fund
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Subsequent Facts
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On 24 February 2022, a military conflict began,
triggered by the Ukraine invasion by the Russian
Federation, to which the international community
responded with the application of strong economic
sanctions. These events created uncertainty in
the evolution of economies and financial markets
worldwide, putting severe pressure on energy costs
as well as on certain raw materials costs, which were
already recording a significant growth trend. So
far, the market has shown the capacity to deal with
higher prices resulting from this situation.
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Economic
Context
Macroeconomic Context
The world economy surpassed pre-pandemic levels
at the beginning of 2021. However, this positive
evolution reflects essentially the performance of
Chinese and North American economies, which
showed a rapid recovery capacity. In fact, by the
end of 2021, a significant number of economies –
both developed and emerging – were still below
pre‑pandemic levels. In the Eurozone, there was
also a strong growth in 2021, but with significant
disparities between countries, with France standing
out on the positive side, as a major driver of European
recovery, and Germany on the negative side.
For 2022/2023, it was anticipated at the beginning of
this year, a progressive return to normality: despite
the slowdown in economic growth when compared to
2021, this would be in line with the levels immediately
prior to the pandemic; employment recovery in 2023;
inflation convergence (although starting from higher
levels and more slowly than previously anticipated)
and normalization of fiscal and monetary policies.
This evolution forecast faced a set of important risks:
the growing pressure on inflation, problems in the
supply chain as well as the uncertainty associated
with the extension of the pandemic. The invasion
of Ukraine by Russia has significantly accentuated
the risks and uncertainties that already existed at
the beginning of 2022, calling into question the
anticipated path towards normality. As economies
of relatively small size in the global context, Ukraine
and Russia are producers and exporters of essential
products, agri-food, minerals, and energy. The war
situation, as well as sanctions applied to Russia by
the international community, resulted in a spiral
of price increases, namely in oil, gas, and wheat.
The maintenance of this situation will lead to a
revision of the estimates of economic growth and
inflation.
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Some comments are presented below regarding the
economic evolution in 2021 and future perspectives
in the countries in which the Inapa Group has
operations.
The German economy grew by 2.8% in 2021,
after a contraction of 4.8% in 2020. The economy
benefited from the progressive opening of pandemic
restrictions and a growth in private consumption,
particularly in the 2nd quarter. In the 3rd quarter,
exports and investment penalized economic
performance, reflecting the difficulties felt in
production as a result of disruptions in international
distribution chains. Pressure on investment was
stronger in the 4th quarter, which, combined
with the negative impact of growing inflation
on private consumption, resulted in a 0.7% drop
in GDP in the last quarter of 2021. An economic
recovery is expected for 2022, in particular on the
2nd quarter, with GDP growth of 3.6%, thus resuming
pre‑pandemic levels. In 2023, growth should continue
(+2.6%).
The French economy grew by 7% in 2021, although
with a deceleration in the 4th quarter, as a result
of disruptions in the international logistics chain
and the increase in energy prices. The recovery in
private consumption contributed to this performance
in 2021, returning to pre-pandemic levels in the
second half of the year, while investment has been
impacted by the aforementioned logistics difficulties
since mid-2021. After stagnation in the 1st quarter of
2022, consumption and investment are expected
to recover throughout the year (supported by the
Recovery and Resilience Plan and favorable financing
conditions) and exports, supported by the recovery
of international tourism. Globally, GDP is expected to
grow by 3.6% in 2022 and 2.1% in 2023.
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The Spanish economy grew by 5% in 2021, with the
recovery of the economy gaining strong traction in
the second half of the year. Investment and exports
essentially contributed to this performance in the
second half of the year, with consumption impacted
by price increases. After a slowdown in growth in the
1st quarter of 2022, a sustained recovery is expected
from the 2nd quarter onwards, reaching pre‑pandemic
levels in the 4th quarter. This performance should
contribute, on the one hand, to the recovery in
consumption (supported by the savings accumulated
during the pandemic and increases in pensions)
and, on the other hand, the implementation of the
Recovery and Resilience Plan. The gradual recovery
of tourism should also contribute positively. Globally,
GDP is expected to grow by 5.6% and 4.4% in 2022
and 2023 respectively.

After a 5.7% drop in 2020 caused by the pandemic,
the Belgian economy recorded a significant recovery
in 2021 (+6.1%), still surpassing pre-pandemic levels
in the 3rd quarter of the year. After some deceleration
in the 4th quarter of 2021 and 1st quarter of 2022, a
sustained recovery is expected throughout 2022,
supported by both private consumption and
investment. Globally, GDP is still expected to grow
by 2.7% in 2022 and +2.2% in 2023.

In 2021, the Portuguese economy grew by 4.9%,
recovering a little more than half of the decrease
recorded in 2020 (-8.4%), because of the COVID-19
pandemic. While investment and exports of goods
have already returned to pre-pandemic levels, exports
of services are still far below, as a result of the impact
of the pandemic still felt on international tourism,
despite a strong recovery in the 2nd semester. Private
consumption showed a slower pace of recovery. After
a slowdown in the 1st quarter of 2022, a recovery is
expected from the 2nd quarter to pre-pandemic levels.
GDP growth of 5.5% in 2022 and 2.6% in 2023 are
estimated, supported by domestic demand and the
Recovery and Resilience Plan, and specially in 2022
by the recovery of international tourism.

Germany

2020

2021F

2022E

2023E

2.8

-3.4

1.6

-6.5

5.6

4.5

3.2

5.3

4.0

2.7

1.1

-4.8

2.8

3.6

2.6

1.8

-7.9

7.0

3.6

2.1

Spain

2.1

-10.8

5.0

5.6

4.4

Portugal

2.7

-8.4

4.9

5.5

2.6

2.1

-5.7

6.1

2.7

2.2

0.9

1.8

9.0

3.3

3.9

France

Belgium
Turkey

Source: OECD (Dec/2021), European Comission (Feb/2022).

2019 - 2021

2021 - 2023E
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Global
Eurozone

2019

The Turkish economy grew by 9% in 2021, the
highest growth in the last decade, being one
of the few countries that managed to avoid an
economic contraction in 2020. Growth is expected
to decelerate to 3.3% in 2022 and 3.9 % in 2023.
However, significant monetary challenges remain.
Recent interest rate cuts put increased pressure
on the lira, due to high inflation, with an impact on
domestic consumption and foreign financing. In the
4th quarter, the lira devalued to minimum levels, and
despite some recovery, it remains very volatile.
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Sector Framework
In 2021, despite the impacts on paper consumption
still being felt throughout the 1st quarter in Western
Europe, due to the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak,
from the 2nd quarter onwards there was a progressive
reopening of economies with the consequent
recovery in consumption, the year ended with an
overall increase compared to 2020, but still below
2019 (pre-COVID) levels. Based on statistics provided
by Eurograph (European Association of Graphic
Paper Producers), Western Europe recorded an 8.6%
increase in paper consumption for graphic, writing
and printing in 2021, when compared to 2020. Coated
woodfree papers increased 7.6%, while uncoated
woodfree papers grew 9.4% when compared to 2020.
In the main markets where Inapa is present (Germany,
France, Spain, Portugal and Belgium), the total
volume of paper sales increased by 7.9%, according
to Eurograph statistics, with all countries showing
increases compared to 2020. Germany recorded an
increase of 2.8%, France of 10.4%, Spain of 25.8% and
Portugal of 5.1%.
The presented data refer to the consumption of
coated and uncoated papers – which represents
around 90% of the papers sold – not including the
remaining sub-families that include specialties,
cardboard and self-adhesive, among others.
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In relation to Belux (Belgium and Luxembourg),
where Inapa is mainly represented in the office
paper segment, the market declined by 1.5%. In total
(aggregate volumes of coated and uncoated paper)
there was an increase of 9.8% in Europe
Regarding paper and board production, and
according to the CEPI (Confederation of European
Paper Industries) statistics, there was an increase
of 5.8% compared to 2020 to 90.2 million tons. The
structural divergence between the evolution of the
production of paper for graphic arts, writing and
printing and paper and board for packaging was
accentuated on one hand by the health crisis that
started in 2020 and on the other hand by the closure
and conversion of factories. There was an increase
of 10.2% in the production of coated woodfree
papers and of 8.4% in uncoated papers (mainly office
papers), while newsprint continued its downward
trend with a decrease of 7.4%.
Mechanical pulp coated papers grew 7.4% and
uncoated papers 6.1%. As for the production of
paper and cardboard for packaging, there was an
increase of 7.1% compared to 2020. Despite sanitary
restrictions, most factories remained in production.
The optimization of the production capacity was
possible by increasing exports overseas by around
9.2%, as well as managing downtime. The influence of
imports from markets outside the CEPI area remained
limited to uncoated office papers, which fell by 21%.
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The weight of graphic, writing and printing papers
in its total production remained stable at 27.8%
compared to 27.9% in 2020, as well as the weight of
packaging paper and board which stood at 58.7% in
2021 compared to 58.2% in 2020. During this period,
the share of all other specialty and industrial paper
sectors increased 9.6% to 4.8%, while the tissue
sector decreased by 2.5% to a share of 8.7%.
The price of coated papers, depending on their
grammage, rose to around 35.0%, while the price of
office papers in general grew by 30.0% and newsprint
increased by 80.0% (January to December 2021 RISI Fastmarkets1 Index for Europe). It is estimated
that the packaging and tissue sectors, the biggest
pulp consumers, will maintain a good growth rate.
Bearing in mind that, in the short term, increases in
the capacity of pulp production are not expected,
it is also estimated that its price will remain stable
with an upward trend throughout 2022. There is a
greater emphasis on softwood pulp, essentially used
in the production of packaging paper and tissue.
Paper producers are exposed to the cost-increase of
other production factors, such as energy and other
raw materials. The first half of 2021 was marked by
the increase in pulp prices, but from the 3rd quarter
onwards, the increase in energy costs was more
prevalent. It is estimated that the energy cost will
continue to play a relevant role in paper and board
production during 2022, now aggravated by the war
in Ukraine, which will certainly lead to an even sharper
rise in prices. Most likely, global production capacity
will continue to decline, which will lead to greater
shortages in the supply of paper and cardboard.

 astmarkets RISI is an independent company that publishes statistics on prices for pulp,
F
paper, recycled paper and wood biomass.
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Consolidated
Performance
The 2021 trend activity reflects the impacts of the
pandemic outbreak, which were still significant
throughout the first half of the year, affecting the
volume of activity of the different subsidiaries of
the Inapa Group. The most impacted market was
Germany, where travel restrictions in the first few
months affected the implementation of the new
ERP (SAP S/4HANA), extending the transition period
beyond what was initially planned, with repercussions
on commercial and logistics activities only surpassed
at the end of the first half of the year, with the
conclusion of the migration process.
As a result of the above-mentioned effects, the
consolidated sales of Inapa Group in 2021 were
¤ 964.6 million, showing a total decrease of the
year of 5.0% compared to 2020. Their behavior was,
however, very distinct throughout the year having
shown a 14% drop in the first half and a growth of
5% in the second, following the progressive lifting
of containment measures and the inherent economic
recovery.
Sales on complementary businesses (packaging,
visual communication, and office supplies businesses)
have registered a 3.8% growth in 2021, when
compared to 2020. The different areas presented
different behaviors, with the packaging business
registering a strong growth (+7.7% when compared
to the previous year), and the visual communication
business was penalized by the COVID-19 outbreak
due to the widespread postponement of events and
fairs, registering a fall of 5.2%.
Despite of the drop in sales, we have maintained
a careful management of pricing and improved
the sales mix, by investing in products with higher
margins, which despite a strong increase in prices by
producers (due to the cost of production factors such
as pulp, energy…), allowed us to increase the gross
margin on sales from 18.3% in 2020 to 18.6% in 2021.
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Net operating costs, excluding impairments of
customer balances, recorded a reduction of
¤ 10.4 million (-6.7%) in 2021, representing 15.2% of
sales, -0.3pp than in 2020. In 2021, we have already
fully benefited from the gains resulting from the
reorganisation of the logistics and distribution
network in the Paris area, completed at the end
of 2020, as well as the restructuring implemented
in the 1st quarter of 2021 in Spain. In Germany,
all the optimization measures initially planned
with the merger of operations have already been
implemented, allowing us to obtain significant
gains in the optimization of resources. In the
meantime, additional cost reduction measures have
already been identified in the areas of logistics
and commercial organization, whose savings will
progressively be reflected during 2022 and 2023.
In 2021, personnel expenses benefited from
government support obtained in the context of the
pandemic, namely layoffs, when compared with
expenses in 2020.
Impairments on customer balances amounted to
¤ 1.6 million in 2021, approximately in line with
2020. Inapa maintains a strict risk monitoring,
following strict internal credit control procedures
for its customer portfolio, working always in close
coordination with the Group's Credit Insurer.
Recurrent EBITDA amounted to ¤ 31.5 million in 2021,
an increase of 14.9% compared to ¤ 27.4 million in
2020, representing 3.3% of sales, +0.6pp relatively
to 2020. It is important to say that the Group's
operating profitability was still heavily impacted by
the pandemic in the first half, having witnessed a
strong recovery in the second half with recurrent
EBITDA reaching ¤ 21.9 million (4.2% over sales), an
increase of ¤ 5.2 million compared to the same period
of 2020 and of ¤ 12.3 million compared to the first
half of 2021.
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Non-recurrent costs totalled ¤ 0.7 million and
basically refer to expenses with restructuring
processes, still in progress, in the logistics and
commercial areas, intending to optimize the Group's
operations
In 2021, EBITDA totalled ¤ 30.8 million
(corresponding to 3.2% of sales), an expressive
increase of 15 million compared to 2020. Operating
results (EBIT) were positive by ¤ 15.5 million, an
improvement of 18.2 million over the previous year.
Financial charges for 2021 decreased by
¤ 1.3 million, to ¤ 14.2 million (¤ 15.5 million in 2020).
This progression is essentially due to the combined
effects of debt reduction and its lower average cost
(reflecting a greater weight of debt associated with
the financing of the activity).
Consolidated results before tax were positive by
¤ 1.3 million (negative by ¤ 18.2 million in 2020)
thanks to positive results of ¤ 6.7 million in the
second half.
Income Tax was positive by ¤ 2.0 million, of which
around ¤ 3.1 million related to deferred taxes and
¤ 1.1 million related to current taxes. The net income
of 2021 was positive by ¤ 3.3 million, an improvement
of 18.8 million compared to 2020.

To face the uncertainty of the impact of COVID-19
pandemic on the activity, the Group raised in
2020 credit lines with the State guarantee, whose
maturities were revised in 2021 for some of the
contracts, with the extension of the financing
terms covered up to 60 months and inclusion of an
additional 12-month moratorium.
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In 2021, the Group negotiated a factoring contract not
considering its operations in Germany, which covers
most of the customer balances in that geography, so
working capital recorded a significant reduction, in
the amount of ¤ 61.6 million compared to December
2020, to ¤ 11.4 million. Excluding this effect, the
downward trend in working capital continued. This
year it is worth mentioning the good performance
on inventory management, which demonstrates the
optimization of the logistics network resulting from
the consolidation of warehouses.

Consolidated net debt as of 31 December 2021 stood
at ¤ 262 million, ¤ 53 million less than in 2020. This
progression results from the above-mentioned
effect of recognizing factoring without including
German operations, together with the optimization of
inventories level and the application of the cash‑flow
generated by the operations, while ensuring the
investments still in progress in information systems,
particularly in the replacement of the Group's ERP.
Current debt excluding trade finance, associated
to factoring contracts, is around ¤ 66.4 million,
i.e., 24.6% of total gross debt (14.3% in 2020).
To note that this ratio is temporarily affected by the
consideration as a short-term debt contracted by
the Group's German subsidiary, which has already
reached an agreement in 2022 to extend the maturity
until 2023.
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Business Areas
Performance
The impact of COVID-19 pandemic outbreak,
with periodic confinements and restrictions, has
accelerated the change in consumption patterns.
Over the last two years, the pandemic has
accelerated the change in consumption patterns
that has resulted in a growing demand for paper
and cardboard packaging, essential for transport, in
agri‑food, pharmaceutical and other industries, as well
as for tissue and hygiene products, by offering a safer
option in their product category.
Demand for graphic paper for writing and printing
remained under pressure from changing habits in the
digital era, particularly in the mature markets of North
America and Western Europe, as well as changes in
behavior to prevent the spread of COVID-19 virus,
such as telework and tele-school. With the lifting of
stricter confinement rules and the economic recovery,
demand immediately increased, although to levels
that in 2021 were still below pre-pandemic volumes.
Paper will always have an important role to play in the
global economy and will continue to be irreplaceable
in several purposes. There are numerous studies
that prove the higher impact and recall of messages
transmitted on paper compared to electronic media,
proving that the written word on paper has a tangible
and tactile presence that can never be replaced by
the information disclosed on screens. It should also
be noted that paper is one of the most renewable and
recyclable existing materials, a very relevant issue in
the context of growing concern with environmental
sustainability.
Regarding the supply side, in 2021 we saw a
progressive increase in suppliers’ average prices,
especially from the 2nd quarter onwards. This
development is sustained on a new balance between
demand and supply, due to the economic recovery
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resulting in a significant increase in demand for
paper in Europe, in a context of reduced supply
by producers (with several reconditioned paper
factories for packaging in 2020/2021) and strong
limitations on paper imports from other continents,
because of the constraints felt in the global logistics
chain. Additionally, there has been a significant cost
increase in several paper production inputs (paper
pulp, chemicals, energy), as well as transports, which
led to producers reviewing upwards their prices to
customers.
Paper distribution continues to be Inapa Group's core
business, subject to the market dynamics described
above. We continued with the strategy of improving
the sales mix, supported by a constant review of the
product portfolio to adapt it to customer needs and
the reorganization of commercial areas, and with a
continued focus on efficiency and productivity of
operations, through the systematic adjustment of
business models and of the organization. This way,
we proceeded with a sale and lease back operation of
the Markt Schwaben warehouse and the divestment
of the Porto Salvo warehouse.
The merger of Papyrus Deutschland and Papier
Union, under the new name of Inapa Deutschland
GmbH, took place on June 30, 2020, and in 2021 the
implementation of all synergy initiatives identified
in the initial integration plan, has been completed,
although the total annual savings will only be fully
visible in 2022. Meanwhile, additional measures on
cost rationalization were identified, particularly in
the logistics and commercial areas, which will be
implemented throughout 2022, and which will have
an impact on a full year basis in 2023.
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Paper distribution sales in 2021 when compared
to 2020 fell by 6.0% and represent around 89%
of the Group's total turnover. The complementary
businesses, packaging, and visual communication,
grew by 3.8%, having maintained a distinct
progression. The packaging business continued to
evolve very positively, with growth supported by the
e-commerce and agri-food industry and driven by the
increasing need for protection products and social
distancing, as well as with a recovery in sales for the
traditional sectors of wine, chemistry, and cosmetics,
among others.
As for visual communication, its performance in 2021
continued to be heavily penalized by the COVID-19
outbreak due to the cancellation of major fairs that
and despite the economic recovery that has been
witnessed, along with a greater willingness to invest
on the part of our customers, there was a low flow of
orders compared to 2020. Overall, the contribution of
complementary businesses to the Group's operating
results was very positive.
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Inapa remains focused on boosting the cross-selling
of packaging materials, visual communication, and
graphic and office supplies, as a way of increasing its
penetration among customers, thus offsetting part of
the decrease in paper. In this sense, we continued to
explore cross-selling in the packaging area through
the sale of hygiene and safety products, in terms of
protection and social distancing equipment, sign &
display and adhesive & floor marking.
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Paper
Sales in million euros

921.9

2019

909.9

855.1

2020

2021

In the 1st quarter of 2021, there was still a sharp drop
in turnover (in the same period of 2020 the impact
of COVID-19 was quite limited), with a progressive
recovery of the activity on the 2nd quarter, with the
49,456
lifting of confinement measures. For the whole year,
Western Europe registered a paper consumption
growth of 8.6% compared to 2020, but still below the
pre-pandemic 2019 levels. In the European countries
24,939
where Inapa operates, consumption increased
by 7.9%
compared to 2020. For the whole year,
15,802
Western Europe recorded an 8.6% growth in paper
consumption compared to 2020, but still below
the 2019 levels prior to the pandemic. In European
countries,
operates, consumption
2018
2016where Inapa 2017
increased by 7.9% compared to 2020.

otal ordinary shares trading volumes

2016

2017

73.8

79.5

855.1M€
2019

2020

2021
sales

In 2021, the business of the Inapa Group paper
companies represented ¤ 855.1 million in sales.

Inapa's activity level was affected by the
development in Germany, conditioned by the delay
in the implementation of the Group's new ERP (SAP
S4/HANA), because of the restrictions imposed
on travelling in the context of COVID-19, with a
direct impact on performance operations of Inapa
Deutschland due to the inherent difficulties in the
logistics and customer service areas.
housands of commercial,
shares)
With the implementation completed at the end of the
first semester, it was possible to recover and improve
the service level and efficiency.

2015

72.7

60

39,618
15,802

55,905

51,505

23,943
In 2021, the volume of paper sold by Inapa fell
by 7.8% compared to the same period in 2020,
to 841 thousand tonnes, having registered a very
different evolution
between the first
2021half of the year,
2019
2020
with a drop of 14.6%, and the second half, where the
volume remained in line with the previous year.
The evolution of volumes also reflects Inapa's
strategic positioning, favoring margin over volumes.
In terms of value, sales amounted to ¤ 855.1 million
(-6.0% compared to 2020), here also having
registered a very different behavior in the first half,
with a drop of 16.0% compared to the same period of
2020, while on the second half there was an increase
of 5.0%, because of the recovery in volumes along
with price increases, more relevant essentially from
the last quarter onwards.

88,064
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Throughout the year, we continued to explore
cross‑selling opportunities for packaging solutions,
hygiene, and safety products, regarding protection
and social distancing equipment, sign & display, and
adhesive & floor marking, among others
The performance in Germany in 2021 was strongly
impacted by the above-mentioned delay in the
implementation of SAP S4/HANA, because of the
restrictions imposed on travelling in the context of
COVID-19. In fact, the delay in implementing SAP had
a direct impact on Inapa Deutschland's operational
performance, with difficulties in the logistics area,
perceived both on the top line (because of lower
service level and customer satisfaction led to a loss of
volumes and market share) and costs (added costs
during implementation and delay in implementing
the optimization measures planned in the logistics
area, only possible after SAP is fully operational in
all warehouses). This situation has put too much
pressure, although for a limited period, on the
company's profitability. With the completion of SAP’s
implementation at the end of the first half of 2021,
there was a progressive recovery of the activity,
although it was not enough to fully offset the impacts
of the beginning of the year. Meanwhile, additional
optimization measures have already been identified
in the areas of logistics and commercial organization,
whose savings are estimated to be reflected,
progressively, between 2022 and 2023.

We remain focused on the constant improvement
of efficiency levels and on looking for new ways
to optimize our operations. In 2021, we have
achieved significant savings in operating costs, fully
benefiting from the reorganization of the logistics
and distribution network in the Paris area, as well as
the restructuring implemented in the 1st quarter of
2021 in Spain and the partial capture of synergies
from the merger plan of operations in Germany,
ongoing throughout the year. In 2021 there was a
strong decrease in the government support obtained,
namely layoffs, despite the still feeble recovery of the
market.
Operating results (EBIT) in the paper business were
positive by ¤ 14.9 million, representing 1.7% of sales
(negative by ¤ 3.0 million in 2020).
In short, despite the impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic outbreak, still felt in the first months, and
the delays in the implementation of the new ERP
in Germany, with a direct impact on operational
performance, we have witnessed a clear recovery
in consumption from the second half of the year
onwards, in addition to an increase in margins and
a reduction in operating costs during the year, as
a result of the savings inherent to the different
restructuring measures implemented.

Inapa maintained its focus on improving the sales
mix, which, together with a context of strong price
increase by producers (due to the cost of production
factors such as pulp, energy…), transmitted to
customers due to the new balance between demand
and supply, allowed it to increase the average sales
price and the gross margin during 2021.

1

Average sales price: Paper sales/tonnes.
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In France, the benefits of the consolidation operation
through the acquisition of Papyrus France are
currently fully implemented. The maintenance of price
discipline and the strict control of sales conditions
continue to allow that, despite the drop in volumes,
the gross margin has a very positive progression,
compared to the same period of the previous year.
This commercial dynamic, combined with a reduction
in costs with the synergies obtained in the merger,
resulted in a sharp increase in profitability levels with
a Re-EBITDA margin level above the market average.
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Packaging
Sales in million euros

72.7

73.8

2019

2020

79.5

2021

36.2

31.7

30.1

79.5M€
2019

2020

2021
sales

In 2021 the business of the Group’s Packaging
companies represented ¤ 79.5 million of sales.

51,505

2019
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In 2021, the business of Packaging Companies of
the Inapa Group represented ¤ 79.5 million on sales.
According to CEPI (Confederation of European Paper
55,905
Industries) statistics, it is estimated that in 2021 the
global production of packaging solutions grew by
around 7.1% compared to 2020, reaching the highest
value ever. The structural divergence between the
graphics sector and the production of packaging
paper23,943
continued, with the packaging market share
representing 58.7% of the total production of paper
and cardboard (58.2% in 2020).
On the different categories, the production of
transport
packaging and
corrugated cardboard boxes
2021
2020
grew by around 7.8%, driven by the e-commerce
boom, while the production of packaging paper –
used in the production of bags – increased around
11.7%, benefiting from the substitution effect resulting
from the community phase-out rules for plastic
packaging. The packaging sector, involved by a
general concern for sustainability and environmental
protection, continued to invest in the R&D of new
solutions that can replace plastic such as thermal
packaging, packaging for food or lightweight
packaging that can be used in a variety of uses, like
agri-food or cosmetics, among others.

88,064

Periodic confinements and restrictions due to
COVID-19 pandemic have accelerated the change in
consumption patterns that have resulted in a growing
demand for products for the health sectors (hygiene,
protection, and safety equipment), agri-food and
food processing and packaging for the e-commerce
or shipping boxes (food, medicine, etc.). In 2021, with
the advancement of vaccination campaigns and the
economic recovery, there was a recovery in sales to
the cosmetics, automotive and electronics industry.
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In Germany, we continued to work on the strategy
of promoting different ranges of products in our
portfolio, particularly in e-commerce and maritime
transport solutions, one of the fastest growing areas
in the German packaging market, as well as in the sale
of standard Inapa Packaging products (Stop Gliss
solutions, among others). As a result of promotional
campaigns carried out in the past, we have seen
a significant increase in demand for tailor‑made
solutions, which has led to intensive use of our
production facilities in Wimsheim. In mid-year we
transitioned to the Group's new ERP (SAP 4/HANA).
In France, Inapa holds its position as a reference
player in the market. In 2021, in a particular context
related to the pandemic and price increases by our
suppliers, we have maintained a very positive growth,
supported by the new opportunities that emerged
with the health crisis in the areas of e-commerce and
the demand for protective equipment and packaging
for hydroalcoholic gel, together with an increase
in the supply of foodstuffs and a resumption of
sales in the wine, chemical and cosmetics sectors,
among others. We maintain a very strong business
development capacity thanks to our range of more
than 5,000 product references that we deliver in the
market through different sales channels (commercial
team, tele sales, web).

We continued to focus on finding new customers
through market prospection and marketing
campaigns.
In Portugal, we have continued to pursue an intense
and focused organic growth agenda, where we
recorded a strong sales increase driven by the
diversification of our customer portfolio (in particular
in the key & major accounts channel) and entrance
into new market segments as well as investing in
customized solutions and engineered packaging.
Strong sales growth associated with cost control and
increased productivity allowed us to achieve high
profitability levels.
Operating results in the packaging business were
¤ 4.4 million, representing 5.5% of sales (¤ 3.1 million
and 4.2% in 2020). The substantial and sustained
improvement in the EBIT margin in 2021 is once again
a reflection of the positive impacts of protecting
the gross margin through a very disciplined pricing
policy, despite the pressure on producers' prices due
to the increase in the cost of raw materials.
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Visual Communication
Sales in million euros

36.2

31.7

30.1

30.1M€
sales

2019

2020

2021

In 2021 the business of Visual Communication
companies of the Inapa Group represented
¤ 30.1 million in sales.
In 2021, the visual communication business was,
on the one hand, still much influenced by the
cancellation of major specialty fairs, but on the other
hand saw the emergence of some new trends, namely
the exponential growth of the print-on demand
business model, the concern with sustainability (eg
replacing canvas with fabrics, with polyester), the
story telling and new printing technologies.
In this context, we have witnessed a slight recovery
in the market from March onwards, which, in
conjunction with a more intensive plan of visits
to customers and marketing campaigns (demos,
newsletters, promotions, etc.), allowed us to grow
in all business segments, except for the LFP (Large
Format Printing) segment and its hardware and ink
components, which maintained a lower flow of orders
compared to the same period in 2020.
In Germany, despite the longer effects of the
confinements and the transition to the Group's new
ERP (SAP 4/HANA), we remained focused on organic
growth supported by the promotion of different
initiatives to diversify the customer portfolio and
on marketing campaigns, thus achieving a turnover
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in line with the same period in 2020. At the end
of October, it was already possible to organize an
open-house event in our facilities, with a very positive
impact on sales, namely in the LFP segment.
In Portugal, despite the relative margin of have
been leveraged by betting on brands and products
with greater added value and the diversification
of our portfolio of printing equipment and media,
(resulting from the celebration of new distribution
contracts and the launch of new products), the
impact of the pandemic has produced a sharp drop
in sales, in demand and in the investment on visual
communication.
In 2021, Inapa maintained a greater focus on
diversifying the sales mix for higher added value
products, such as specialty media, which, despite
the drop-in activity, led to an increase in operating
results to ¤ 0.8 million, representing 2.8% of sales
(¤ 0.3 million and 1.0% in 2020).
We remain well positioned in terms of geographic
coverage and the investment made in recent years,
in terms of the internal sales and technical support
structure, will allow us to continue developing the
visual communication business area in a sustainable
way through organic growth, and we will continue
to keep an eye on opportunities that can stimulate
growth through acquisitions.

Inapa - IPG
Activity
Inapa – IPG, as the holding company of the Group,
assumes the definition of the Group's strategic policy,
the coordination of the subsidiaries’ operational
activities in the various markets in which it operates
and the search for synergies between the various
businesses. During the current year the company's
activity was extended to the following areas of
intervention:
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• Development of relations with the shareholders,
investors and capital market regulatory
institutions;
• Definition of the investment policy and
coordination of its implementation;
• Management coordination of information
systems;

• Definition of the Group's strategic guidelines;
• Corporate communication;
• Coordination of the Strategic Plan
implementation of the markets where the Group
operates;
• Definition of the commercial policy guidelines in
each market;
• Settlement of the procurement and negotiation
policies with the main Group suppliers;
• Settlement of a funding policy and coordination
of its implementation;
• Coordination of treasury and development of
relationships with the financial system;
• Management of its real estate through a
dedicated Spanish branch;

• Group legal advisory.
Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.
reported a positive net income of ¤ 3.3 million, which
compares with a negative result of ¤ 15.5 million in
the previous year.
Sales and services rendered and other income
and gains (resulting from services rendered to
subsidiaries, negotiation of purchases from major
suppliers of the Group and management of own
brands) reached ¤ 11.5 million. Operating results in
2021 was positive by ¤ 10.3 million.
Total equity, at 31 December 2021 was ¤ 157.4
million. Total net assets amounted to ¤ 342.3 million,
compared to ¤ 340.7 million in the same period of
last year.

• Planning and management control;
• Definition of the Group accounting policies;

• Definition and monitoring of the main risks;

2. Group’s Activity Overview Inapa - IPG Activity

• Internal audit;
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Outlook
for 2022
The pandemic continued to have a relevant
economic impact in the first months of 2021, despite
the substantial number of additional fiscal policy
measures announced.
Containment measures in the first half of 2021 were
significantly stricter than expected, and from the end
of this period there was a progressive opening of
the economies with the inherent recovery, resulting
in a recovery of consumption in the most affected
business areas (graphic paper, office paper and
viscom), although at levels that still fell short of
pre‑pandemic levels.
The COVID-19 pandemic outbreak has substantially
changed the business structure of many industries
worldwide, as most populations have been forced to
adopt very different lifestyles throughout the years
2020 and 2021, where confinements, closure of retail
shops, hotels and restaurants, working from home
and online schools, among others, have become the
new normal.
In the paper industry, along with the trend
towards digitization that we have been witnessing,
sustainability issues and energy trends, major
transformations have taken place: (i) widespread
fall in demand for coated and uncoated papers for
the printing industry, schools or offices, as a result
of the confinement measures implemented, (ii)
the increase in e-commerce that occurred as the
confinements were driving an increasing transition
to online shopping due to the structural change in
consumption habits, and (iii) opportunities created
in the packaging area with the growing demand for
products for the food and health industries, etc.
We still don´t have full visibility on the medium‑term
impact of the pandemic on the sectors in which
we operate, and we should at least anticipate the
maintenance of the trend towards digitization, which
has been felt.
During the first months of 2021, and considering the
decline in consumption, paper producers kept prices
stable. However, with continued pressure caused by
raw material costs, associated with higher energy
and chemical costs, we have witnessed once again
a general increase in prices from the 2nd quarter
onwards.
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This increase is supported by a higher rate of
production capacity utilization induced by the closure
or conversion of paper factories and by the disruption
of global logistics chains, affecting the imports of
paper from other continents. These increases became
more relevant from the 4th quarter onwards, having
already reached very significant values, between 30%
and 40%.
The current war in Ukraine will certainly have
repercussions on energy costs and of certain
raw materials, which were already experiencing a
significant growth trend, putting additional pressure
on prices, which the market has so far shown the
capacity to absorb.
As a result of the longer confinement measures in
Germany and the consequent travelling restrictions
that were imposed over the last year, the transition
period to the new ERP in this geography was
extended beyond what was initially planned, with
repercussions on commercial and logistical activities
throughout the first half of 2021.
These operational difficulties resulted in a decrease
of around ¤ 63 million in turnover in this geography,
while in the remaining countries the activity level
showed a positive growth trend. With the conclusion
of the ERP migration already reached, we have
progressively resumed the activity level in Germany,
where we expect to recover market share during
2022.
Inapa will maintain its focus on improving the margin,
through both the optimization of the product-mix
(stimulating sales of higher value-added products and
through electronic channels), and a very disciplined
pricing policy.
This vector is a fundamental pillar of Inapa’s strategy
in the future, even in a context of strong price
increases by producers.
The creation of an organizational structure remains
a key line of action, with reduced operating
costs, leveraging scale and focusing on flexibility.
Operations will continue with the German integration
plan, where we have already achieved significant cost
reductions, and there is still great potential in the
medium term.
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As mentioned above, Inapa continues with the
implementation of the Group’s new ERP (SAP 4/
HANA). After completing the implementation in Inapa
Deutschland in the first half, in the second half we
continued the roll-out of operations in Belgium and
Portugal, and in 2022 will be moving forward with the
roll-out to the other geographies.
In addition to the obvious benefits of reducing costs
and increasing productivity, the harmonization of
processes and systems in all the Group’s operations
will enhance the Group’s strategy of creating
shared centers for some functions, already initiated
at the end of 2020. Also, worth mentioning the
transformational impact on our IT application
ecosystem, significantly reducing its complexity and
maintenance efforts and increasing its resilience.
Inapa will also continue to invest in the packaging
and visual communication businesses, promoting
organic growth through greater penetration in the
markets where it operates and the reinforcement
of cross‑selling. Given that these businesses are
characterized by high fragmentation, Inapa will also
actively pursue investment opportunities that present
prospects for growth, profitability and value creation
in line with the Group’s standards.
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We will maintain a disciplined approach on working
capital management, which is particularly important
in a context where there is still some volatility.
This initiative, combines with the management of
COVID-19 treasury relief funds, whose maturities
were reviewed in 2021 for some of the contracts,
with the extension of the financing terms covered
up to 60 months and the inclusion of an additional
moratorium of 12 months, allowing to anticipate,
in the current context of progressive recovery of
activity, the maintenance of the treasury balance.
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Share
Performance
Inapa ordinary shares recorded a 44.2% decrease
of its share price during 2021, to 0.022 ¤, a trend in
counter cycle with the Portuguese market. In the first
eight months there was some stability in the price;
from September onwards, with an increase in the
volumes traded, there was a sharp drop in the price
of the security.

Ordinary shares price evolution
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Chart legend:
1 -	2020 results announcement and
notice for the OGM
2 - Ordinary General Meeting
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Despite the context, the main world financial markets
recorded an appreciation during the year with several
indexes registering historic highs. The Portuguese
market followed the trend of other markets and

registered an appreciation, compared to the previous
year, with the PSI 20 registering an accumulated
appreciation of 13.7%.

Inapa share price evolution vs PSI20
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four months of the year, 84% of the 2021 volumes
were transacted. The overall volume of transactions
in 2021 corresponds 2019
to approximately2020
10.6% of issued 2021
ordinary shares.

Total ordinary shares trading volumes
(thousands of shares)

55,905

51,505

49,456

24,939

23,943

15,802

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021
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Inapa's transaction volume during 2021 recorded
an increase compared to previous years, reaching
2019
2020years. The 2021
a maximum
compared to recent
global transaction volumes were particularly high
from September onwards, given that in the last

Jul
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Own
Shares
During the course of 2021, the company did not sell
or purchase any of its own shares, and, as so, does
not own any of its own shares.
Authorizations granted for transactions between the
Company and its Directors.
During the course of the financial year, there were
no transactions between the Company and any of its
Directors, and no requests for authorization of any
such transactions were submitted to the Company.

Application
of Results
Under the provisions of Articles 32 and 33 of the
Companies Code, we propose that the net income
of Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.,
in the amount of positive ¤ 3,314,095.51 (three million
three hundred and fourteen thousand and ninety
five euros and fifty one cents), should be reported
as Retained Earnings.
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Declaration
of Compliance
In conformance with the provisions of paragraph
1, subparagraph c) of Article 245 of CVM (the
Portuguese Securities Code), applicable by virtue
of the provisions of paragraph 1 of Article 19 of
Law no. 99-A/2021 of 31 December, the members
of the Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos,
Participaçãoes e Gestão, S.A. thereby declare that,
to the best of their knowledge, the information
contained in the Management Report, the Annual
Accounts and other the individual and consolidated
financial statements required by law or regulations

as at 31 December 2021, was prepared in conformity
with the applicable accounting standards, providing
a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, the
financial position and the results of the company
and of the companies included in the consolidation
perimeter, and that the Management Report faithfully
sets out the evolution of the business, performance
and position of this company and of the companies
included in the consolidation perimeter, containing a
description of the main risks and uncertainties faced
by these companies.

Lisbon, 29 April 2022

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chairman
of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros
Member of the Board and Chairman
of the Audit Committee

Inês Patrícia Arêde Simões Louro
Member of the Board and Member
of the Executive Committee

Emília de Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão
Member of the Board and Member
of the Audit Committee

Frederico João de Moser Lupi
Member of the Board and Member
of the Executive Committee

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha
Member of the Board and Member
of the Audit Committee

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís
Member of the Board
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Consolidated
Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

7

57,390

69,518

Goodwill

8

232,620

232,620

Right of use assets

9

33,105

31,538

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets

Intangible assets

9

125,471

121,724

10

2,260

2,385

Assets at fair value through profit or loss

11

120

119

Other non-current assets

15

3,373

3,514

Deferred tax assets

12

37,148

33,584

491,487

495,003

Investments in associate companies

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories

13

55,032

62,212

Trade receivables

14

65,801

115,621

Tax to be recovered

15

6,642

11,892

Other current assets

15

59,275

33,262

Cash and cash-equivalents

16

7,982

9,354

Total current assets

194,734

232,341

Total assets

686,221

727,344

Read together with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

76

77

(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

Share capital

18

180,135

180,135

Share issue premium

19

431

431

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Reserves

19

19,782

20,214

Retained earnings

19

-46,240

-30,786

3,314

-15,454

157,422

154,540

21

183,408

221,462

Deferred tax liabilities

12

48,618

47,670

Provisions

22

5,648

7,119

Employees benefits

23

21,780

24,316

Other non-current liabilities

24

17

58

259,472

300,625

21

86,387

102,921

Trade payables

24

109,470

104,857

Net profit for the period

20

Total shareholders' equity
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Loans

Total non-current liabilities

Loans

Tax liabilities

24

28,831

31,011

Provisions

22

1,542

7,179

Other current liabilities

24

43,098

26,211

Total current liabilities

269,327

272,179

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities

686,221

727,344

To be read together with the consolidated notes of the financial statements.
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Current liabilities
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Consolidated Income Statement
as at December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

Tonnes*
Sales and services rendered

25

Other income

25

Total income

DECEMBER 31,
2021

2

ND

HALF,
2021*

DECEMBER 31,
2020

2ND HALF,
2020*

841,225

448,303

912,589

452,615

980,911

527,896

1,030,415

503,472

12,506

6,596

10,844

4,586

993,417

534,492

1,041,259

508,058

Cost of sales

13

-782,581

-421,495

-832,172

-403,292

Personnel costs

26

-94,096

-48,746

-105,114

-54,804

Other costs

27

-85,952

-42,912

-88,148

-42,524

30,789

21,339

15,826

7,438

-15,304

-7,435

-18,511

-8,959

15,484

13,904

-2,685

-1,521

-97

-23

Operating results before depreciations
and amortizations

Depreciations and amortizations

28

Operating results

Gains/(losses) in associates

10

655

668

Net financial function

29

-14,807

-7,825

-15,447

-7,282

1,332

6,747

-18,230

-8,826

1,982

-417

2,776

1,788

3,314

6,330

-15,454

-7,038

3,314

6,330

-15,454

-7,038

Net profit before income tax

Income tax
Net profit/(loss) for the period

30

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the company

Earnings per share on continuing operations
Basic

0.0063

0.0120

(0.0294)

(0.0134)

Diluted

0.0048

0.0093

(0.0226)

(0.0103)

To be read together with the consolidated notes of the financial statements.
* Non audited.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Shareholders' Equity as at December 31, 2021
and December 31, 2020
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
RETAINED
EARNINGS

NET PROFIT/
(LOSS) FOR
THE PERIOD

TOTAL

TOTAL
SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY

29,413

-26,644

-4,143

173,478

173,478

-3,077

-407

-

-15,454

-18,938

-18,938

-

-

-

-4,143

4,143

-

-

-

-

-3,077

-407

-4,143

-11,311

-18,938

-18,938

Balance as at
December 31, 2020

180,135

431

-8,791

29,005

-30,786

-15,454

154,540

154,540

Balance as at
January 1, 2021

180,135

431

-8,791

29,005

-30,786

-15,454

154,540

154,540

SHARE
CAPITAL

SHARE
ISSUANCE
PREMIUM

FOREIGN
EXCHANGE
ADJUSTMENTS

OTHER
RESERVES

180,135

431

-5,714

Total earnings and
costs recognized in
the period

-

-

Previous year net
profit and loss
result

-

Total of gains and
losses of the period

NOTES

Balance as at
January 1, 2020

19

-

-

-1,492

1,061

-

3,314

2,883

2,883

Previous year net
profit and loss
result

18

-

-

-

-

-15,454

15,454

-

-

-

-

-1,492

1,061

-15,454

18,768

2,883

2,883

180,135

431

-10,284

30,066

-46,240

3,314

157,422

157,422

Total of gains and
losses of the period
Balance as at
December 31, 2021

To be read together with the consolidated notes of the financial statements.
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Total earnings and
costs recognized in
the period
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income as at December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

HALF,
2021*

DECEMBER 31,
2020

2ND HALF,
2020*

3,314

6,330

-15,454

-7,038

19 and 23

1,061

1,061

-407

-407

19

-1,492

-1,132

-3,077

- 2,615

-432

-71

-3,485

-3,022

2,883

6,259

-18,938

-10,059

NOTES

Net profit for the period before non-controlling
interests

DECEMBER 31,
2021

2

ND

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gains/losses

Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
Exchange conversion differences

Other comprehensive income recognized in equity

Total comprehensive income for the period

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the company

To be read together with the consolidated notes of the financial statements.
* Non audited.
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2,883

6,259

-18,938

-10,059

2,883

6,259

-18,938

-10,059
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
as at December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

2ND HALF,
2021*

DECEMBER 31,
2020

2ND HALF,
2020*

Cash flow generated from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers

1,140,949

622,587

1,078,134

516,766

Payments to suppliers

-929,886

-486,942

-906,488

-419,123

Payments to personnel

-74,900

-39,049

-76,909

-38,072

136,163

96,596

94,736

59,572

-1,291

-690

3,545

4,751

-108,055

-75,262

-49,725

-19,949

26,817

20,644

48,556

44,374

9,695

8,875

1,184

802

-

-2

310
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Net cash from operational activities

Income taxes received/(paid)
Other proceeds/(payments) relating
to operating activity
Net cash generated from operating activities

|1|

Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from:
Tangible fixed assets
Interest and similar income
Dividends

To be read together with the consolidated notes of the financial statements.
* Non audited.
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783

783

-

-

10,478

9,656

1,494

909
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(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

2ND HALF,
2021*

DECEMBER 31,
2020

2ND HALF,
2020*

-

-

-31,662

-31,662

-1,405

-546

-2,519

-1,302

DECEMBER 31,
2021

Payments in respect of:
Financial investments

16

Tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

|2|

-1,959

-32

-4,126

-1,816

-3,364

-578

-38,307

-34,780

7,114

9,078

-36,813

-33,871

208,712

90,212

215,903

112,269

208,712

90,212

215,903

112,269

-203,859

-106,333

-234,624

-111,765

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from:
Loans obtained

Payments in respect of:
Loans obtained

Net cash used in financing activities

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash-equivalents

-7,727

-3,243

-12,970

-5,789

-225,825

-120,743

-255,321

-120,797

-17,113

-30,530

-39,418

-8,528

|4| = |1| + |2| + |3|

16,818

-809

-27,675

1,974

-421

-394

-141

-59

16,396

-1,203

-27,816

1,915

-9,386

8,212

18,430

-11,301

7,009

7,009

-9,386

-9,386

16,396

-1,203

-27,816

1,915

Cash and cash-equivalents at the beginning of period

To be read together with the consolidated notes of the financial statements.
* Non audited.

-8,160
-6,250

|3|

Effect of exchange diferences

Cash and cash-equivalents at the end of period

-11,457
-10,508

16

3. Financial Information Consolidated Financial Statements

Amortization of financial leases
Interest and similar expenses
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
as of December 31, 2021
(Numbers expressed in thousands of euros, except when specifically mentioned)

Note 1
Introduction
Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.
(Inapa – IPG or company) is the parent company of
Inapa Group, with the business purpose of owning
and managing movable and fixed assets, holding
shares in other companies, exploiting its own and
third-party commercial and industrial establishments
and providing support to companies in general.
Inapa Group’s main activities are paper distribution,
packaging and visual communication. Inapa – IPG is
listed on the Euronext Lisbon.
Designation: Inapa – Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, S.A.
Headquarters: Rua Braamcamp 40 - 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon, Portugal
Share Capital: 180 135 111 euros
N.I.P.C.: 500 137 994
As a result of its development and internationalization
plan, the Inapa Group holds shares in the Paper
supply sector in various European countries,
specifically (i) Inapa Deutschland Holding, GmbH,
headquartered in Germany, which has a stake in
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH, which in turn holds
shares in Inapa Packaging, GmbH, Inapa ComPlott,
GmbH, Inapa Logistics and Inapa Vertriebs GmbH,
headquartered in the same country and Inapa
Netherlands BV, headquartered in Netherlands, (ii)
Inapa France, S.A. (iii) Inapa Portugal - Distribuição
de Papel, S.A., the Portuguese company in the Group
which has a stake in Inapa Angola - Distribuição
de Papel, S.A. and Inapa Comunicação Visual, Lda.
(iv) Inapa España Distribución de Papel, S.A.,
operating in Spain, which has a stake in SurPapel, SL
(a company that markets paper), (v) Europackaging,
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, Lda., based
in Portugal that develops its activity in Portugal and
France through its subsidiaries.
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Inapa Packaging, Lda., Embaltec, Inapa Packaging
SAS and Semaq, and (vi) a company located in
the United Kingdom - Inapa Merchants Holding,
Ltd, company without activity, (vii) Inapa Belgium,
operating in the Benelux market, (viii) Korda Kăgit
Pazarlama ve Ticaret Anonim S, irketi, operating in the
Turkish market.
These consolidated financial statements were
approved by Inapa – IPG’s Board of Directors on 29
April 2022, being subject to shareholder approval at
the General Meeting. It is the opinion of the Board
that these financial statements appropriately reflect
the Group's operations and financial position.

Note 2
Main accounting policies
The main accounting policies used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are described
below. These policies were applied consistently in all
of the given exercises, unless otherwise stated.

2.1. Basis for presentation
The consolidated financial statements for the
Inapa Group are prepared in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IAS/IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and with the interpretations
issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or by the former
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), as
adopted by the European Union and in force at
31 December 2021.
The Board of Directors made an evaluation of the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, based
on all relevant information, facts and circumstances,
of financial, commercial or other nature, including
subsequent events to the reference date of the
financial statements, available on the future.
In its evaluation, the Management considered the
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consequences arising from the health crisis caused
by the pandemic resulting from COVID-19, given the
strong impact of the various confinements in the first
half of 2021, as well as the recent invasion of Ukraine
by the Russian Federation. The Board has conducted
an analysis of the current situation based on the best
information available and proceeded, in accordance
with the accounting standards, to disclose the
relevant impacts in Note 3. e).
As a result of the evaluation carried out, supported
by its projections of short-term cash flows, the Board
of Directors concluded that the Group has adequate
resources to maintain its activities, with no intention
of ceasing activities in the short term, and considered
it appropriate to use the assumption of continuity
of operations in the preparation of the financial
statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements requires the use of relevant estimates
and judgements regarding the application of the
Group's accounting policies. The main assertions,
where a greater degree of judgement or complexity
is involved, and the more significant assumptions
and estimates used for preparing the consolidated
financial statements are described in Note 5.

Investments in subsidiary companies
The Group's investments in companies in which,
directly or indirectly, it has the power to control
their financial and operational policies, usually
represented by holding more than 50% of its voting
shares (subsidiaries), were included in these financial
statements using the full consolidation method (Note
34). The shareholders' equity and the net income,
corresponding to the portion owned by third parties,
are booked under the caption “Non‑controlling
interests”. The subsidiaries are included in the
Consolidation from the date on which control is
acquired until the date on which this effectively ends.
Accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries is
carried out using the purchase method, where the
assets and liabilities of each subsidiary are identified
at their fair value, on the date of acquisition, in
accordance with IFRS 3. Any surplus in the acquisition
cost when compared with the fair value of the net
assets and liabilities is recognized as consolidation
difference - Goodwill, which is described in Note 8
and in case of a deficit and if the fair value does not
suffer any changes after reassessment, the difference
is booked in the income statement for the period. The
non-controlling interests are given by the respective
proportion of the fair value of the identified assets
and liabilities.
Transactions of sale or acquisition of participation
shares of non-controlling interests do not result in
the recognition of expenses, loss or Goodwill, being
any difference between the transaction value and
book value of the traded participation, recognized in
Shareholders' Equity.
Whenever necessary, the financial statements of the
subsidiaries are adjusted as to reflect the Group's
current accounting policies. Transactions between
group companies, balances and dividends distributed
between Group companies and unrealized gains
are eliminated during the consolidation process.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless they
cannot be recovered due to evidence of impairment.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

This conclusion is not affected by the current
liabilities/current assets ratio, since it: i) results from
the way the activity is financed through factoring
operations (Note 21), which are negotiated in a
timeframe that extends beyond twelve months
after the approval date of the financial statements,
and there is the perspective of maintenance of the
financing lines currently available; ii) is temporarily
affected by the consideration as short term of
the debt contracted by the German subsidiary of
the Group with a bank consortium (Note 21), and
the Company has obtained confirmation from
the consortium leader bank that the agreement
for the deferral of the payment, starting in 2023,
was approved. being the formalisation of the debt
conditioned to the fulfilment of a series of conditions
that depend solely on measures to be taken by the
Board of Directors of the Company, which has the
capacity and the intention to do so, and iii) includes
short-term debts subject to refinancing through sale
and leaseback transactions in 2022.

2.2. Basis for consolidation
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Investments in associated companies

2.3. Goodwill

Investments in companies where Inapa exercises
significant influence, directly or indirectly, but does
not have control, generally where it detains between
20% to 50% of the voting shares of the associates, are
accounted for by the equity equivalence method.

Goodwill is the difference between the acquisition
cost of the investments in the Group’s companies
and the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
(including contingent liabilities) of these companies
as of the date of their acquisition (Note 8). Goodwill is
recorded in the reporting/functional currency of the
subsidiary and converted to the reporting currency of
the Group (euro) at the exchange rate in force on the
date of the Group's financial statements. Exchange
differences arising from this conversion are recorded
in Foreign exchange adjustments.

In accordance with the equity method, investments
are recorded at their acquisition cost, adjusted by the
amount corresponding to the Group's share of the
variations in the equity of the associated companies
(including net profit or loss) and by the dividends
received. The variation in the associated companies’
equity, resulting from net profit or loss, is recorded in
gains and losses for the period.
Positive differences between the acquisition cost
and the fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of an associate on the date of acquisition
are recognized as an asset (Implicit Goodwill) and are
included in the value of the investments (Note 10). If
these differences are negative, they are recorded as
revenue for the period in the line Gains/(losses) in
associated companies.
Investments/Interests in associated companies
are evaluated as to whether there are indications
that they may be impaired, any impairment losses
being recorded as a cost. When impairment losses
recognized in previous years cease to exist, they are
reversed.

For impairment testing purposes, Goodwill is
associated to the group of cash generating units that
is expected to receive the inherent future economic
benefits.
Goodwill is not amortized, but is rather subject to
impairment tests on an annual basis. Whenever the
book value is superior to the recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recorded on the income statement.
These impairment losses cannot be reversed.
The recoverable amount is determined based on the
value in use of the cash generating unit, calculated via
the discounting of estimated cash flows, considering
business risks, the time value of money and market
conditions.

2.4. Currency conversion
When the participation of the Group in the losses
of an associate equals or exceeds its investment in
the associate, including receivables not covered by
guarantees, the Group no longer records additional
losses, unless it has incurred liabilities or made
payments on behalf of the entity.
Whenever necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of the associates to reflect the
Group's current accounting policies. Unrealized losses
are also eliminated, unless they cannot be recovered
due to evidence of impairment.
Investments/Interests in associates are described in
Note 10.
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The financial statements of each of the Group’s
companies are prepared in their functional currency,
defined as the currency of the economic environment
where they operate. The Group's functional and
reporting currency is the euro.
All of the monetary assets and liabilities expressed
in foreign currency are converted to the functional
currency at the exchange rate in force on the date
of the balance sheet. Foreign currency transactions
are converted at the rate in force on the date of
each operation. The differences resulting from this
conversion are recorded on the income statement.
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To convert the financial statements of foreign
companies included in the consolidated financial
statements that use a functional currency different
from the Group reporting currency, the following
criteria have been used:
• Assets and liabilities: Exchange rate parities in
force of the balance sheet date.
• Gains and losses: Average exchange rates
parities observed during the period.
The differences resulting from the currency
conversion procedure described above are recorded
in the appropriate caption in Shareholders' Equity
(Foreign exchange adjustments).
The exchange rates used for converting financial
statements of the English, Angolan and Turkish
subsidiaries were the following:
• GBP exchange rate used for converting income
statement items: ¤ 1.1240;

• KWZ exchange rate used for converting income
statement items: ¤ 0.0015;
• KWZ exchange rate used for converting balance
sheet items: ¤ 0.0013;
• Turkish lira exchange rate used for converting
income statement items: ¤ 0.1242;
• Turkish lira exchange rate used for converting
balance sheet items: ¤ 0.1097.

2.5. Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recorded at their acquisition
cost, less depreciation and impairment losses, and
are recognized to the extent that it is probable they
will produce future economic benefits for the Group,
provided their value can be reliably measured.
The caption Other intangible assets (Note 9)
essentially consist of brand names identified during
the acquisition of subsidiaries, initially recorded at
their fair value. These are used by Inapa Deutschland,

Also recorded under this heading, are software,
patents and other licenses, which are amortized
using the straight-line method over a period varying
from three to twelve years, and the cost of acquiring
customer portfolios, which are amortized over a
period between ten to twenty years.

2.6. Tangible assets
In accordance with the transitional arrangement
included in IFRS 1, land was recorded at its fair value
at the date of transition to IAS/IFRS (January 1,
2004). The adjustments resulting from the land
revaluations were recorded as a correction to
Shareholders' Equity.
The other tangible assets acquired by 31 December
2003 were recorded at their “deemed cost”,
which corresponds to the acquisition cost or to
the acquisition cost revalued in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal
up to that date, less depreciations and accumulated
impairment losses.
The tangible assets acquired after January 1, 2004 are
recorded at their acquisition cost, less depreciations
and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is booked after the assets are in
condition for use and is imputed on a systematic
basis over their useful life, which is determined by
taking into account the Group's planned use for
the asset, its expected wear and tear, subject to a
foreseeable technical obsolescence and the residual
value attributable to the asset. The residual value
attributable to the asset is an estimate based on the
prevailing residual value, at the date of the estimate,
for similar assets that have reached the end of their
useful life and which have been operating under
conditions similar to those under which the asset will
be used.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

• GBP exchange rate used for converting balance
sheet items: ¤ 1.1123;

GmbH, Inapa France, S.A. and Inapa Portugal, S.A.,
and annual amortization is not applicable as it was
determined that they have an indefinite useful
life. These are subject to regular impairment tests
conducted internally by the Group. When impairment
losses recognized in previous periods cease to exist,
they are reversed, with the purpose of determining its
recoverable value (value in use).
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Depreciations are calculated using the straight
line method, on a monthly basis, at the following
representative rates for estimated useful life:

Buildings and other constructions
Basic equipment
Transport equipment
Office equipment

2% - 10%
7.14% - 12.5%
12.5% - 25%
10% - 33%

Expenditure on maintenance and repair that neither
increases the useful life nor results in significant
benefits or improvements to the tangible asset
elements, are recorded as costs in the year when
they occur.
If the amount recorded is greater than the
recoverable value of the asset, this is reduced to the
estimated recoverable value by recording impairment
losses.
When the item is disposed of or sold, the difference
between the sale amount and the sum recorded for
the asset, is recognized in the income statement,
under “Other income” or “Other costs”.

2.7. Leases
With the implementation of IFRS 16, the company
recognizes in the Statement of Financial Position the
tangible fixed assets used under lease agreements
(assets with rights of use). The Group adopted the
exception of recognition provided in IFRS 16 for the
lease of low value assets and lease contracts with a
term of less than 12 months, the payments of which
are recognized as expenses in the Income Statement
in the period in which they occur, in a linear manner
throughout the lease.
The right of use asset, is recorded at cost in the
Statement of Financial Position, when the asset
becomes available for use by the company.
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The lease liability is recorded in the Statement of
Financial Position, at the current value of the lease
payments, for the non-cancellable period of the
contract. For this current value, the Group uses
the incremental financing rate at the date of the
beginning of the contract.
Depreciation and impairment losses on assets
under right of use are calculated and recorded as
established in Note 2.5 for tangible fixed assets, being
depreciated from the start date to the end of the
asset's useful life or until the end of the lease term,
the lesser of the two.
Interest included in lease payments, depreciation
and impairment losses are recorded in the Income
Statement as an expense for the period to which they
refer.
Interest expense is presented in financing activities, in
the cash flow statement.
On 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
company does not hold any contractual position in
which it acts as lessor.

2.8. N
 on-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale
if their balance sheet value is mainly recoverable
through sale and not through their continued use.
For assets to be classified in this way, they must be
available for immediate sale in their current condition,
the sale has to be highly probable and the Board of
Directors has to have committed to make the sale
within a period of 12 months, in accordance with
IFRS 5.
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
recorded at their acquisition value or at fair value less
expected costs to sell, whichever is smaller.
Assets and liabilities related to discontinued
operations are presented at their realizable value
in a separate item, respectively, in the consolidated
balance sheet assets and liabilities, and the result
for the period of these operations is recorded
independently in the consolidated income statement.
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2.9. Financial assets
The Group classifies financial assets as follows:
Amortised cost: Financial instruments (including
hybrid instruments that do not meet the separation
criteria), solely with payments of principal and
interest, and which are part of the business model of
maintaining the instrument to receive the contractual
flows. The balances related to these assets are
recorded in the consolidated balance under Trade
Receivables, Other current and non-current assets
and Cash and cash-equivalents;
Fair value through other comprehensive income
(without recycling): Shareholders' Equity
instruments, where the company elects on initial
recognition to have the instrument classified in this
way. These assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income;

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(without recycling): Equity investments, in which
the company chooses on initial recognition that the
instrument be classified as such. These assets and
liabilities are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income;
Financial assets are classified as non-current assets,
unless they are expected to be settled within 12
months of the date of the balance sheet.
Investments and divestments are recognised on
the date the respective formalisation contracts are
signed, independently of the financial settlement date.
Financial assets are initially recorded using their
acquisition value, which corresponds to their
fair value on that date, and transaction costs are
recognized in profit or loss of the year.

For financial instruments, other than those recorded
at fair value through profit or loss, the effective
interest rate method is applied.
Gains and losses arising from a change in fair value
through other comprehensive income (with recycling)
are recorded under the shareholders' equity until the
investment is sold, matures or is otherwise liquidated,
at which time the accumulated gain or loss that
was recorded under equity is moved to the income
statement.
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The credit risk of the accounts receivable balance
is evaluated at each reporting date, taking into
consideration the third party’s credit risk profile.

2.10. Financial assets
IFRS 9 provides for two classifications for financial
liabilities:
Financial liabilities held for the purpose of selling
in the short term, including financial liabilities held
for trading and derivative instruments not involved
in hedging. The liabilities are measured at fair value
through profit and loss; and
Other financial liabilities: Non-derivative financial
liabilities, with fixed or determined payments, which
are not quoted in an active market. Other financial
liabilities include Loans (Note 2.18) and Suppliers
and other payables (Note 2.22). These liabilities are
initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost in accordance with the
effective interest rate.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Investments recorded at fair value through profit
or loss: Financial assets which purpose is to be
realized in the short term, including financial assets
held for trading and derivative instruments not used
in hedging operations. It also includes instruments
that do not include only payment of principal and
interest, in which the company has designated the
instruments, at the time of initial recognition, to be
measured at fair value, in order to avoid accounting
mismatches. These assets and liabilities are measured
at fair value through the income statement;

After initial recognition, investments recorded at fair
value through profit or loss statement and through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value, with reference to their market value at the date
of the closing balance sheet. In case they correspond
to financial assets representing share capital in
unlisted companies, they are also recorded at fair
value (which, in rare cases, may correspond to their
acquisition cost).
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Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
underlying liabilities are extinguished by payment,
cancelled or expire.

2.11. Securitisation operations of customer
balances
In accordance with IFRS 9, trade receivables
balances subject to securitisation contracts are only
derecognised if the following conditions are met
simultaneously:
• The right to receive the remuneration underlying
the asset has been transferred;

Whenever the carrying value of an asset is shown
to be greater than its recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognised and recorded on the
income statement, or in shareholders' equity, when it
is revalued and the revaluation was recorded under
equity. The recoverable value is either the fair value of
an asset less the cost of selling it, or its value in use,
whichever is higher.
An impairment loss recognised in preceding years
is reversed when the reasons for recording the loss
no longer exist (with the exception of Goodwill). The
reversal is recorded on the income statement, unless
the asset has been revalued and the revaluation was
booked in shareholders' equity, having been reduced
by the impairment loss.

• A substantial part of the associated benefits and
risks of the asset has not been retained;

2.13. Inventories
• Control over the operations has been transferred.
The Group only derecognises customer balances and
other receivables (removed from the asset) when
it has substantially transferred the associated risks
and benefits from holding those assets, as set out
above. If the conditions to derecognize the assets
are not complied with, the receivables are included
under Trade receivables and the funds received from
securitisation are recorded under Loans (Note 21).

Merchandise, including packaging materials, are
valued at either the net realisable value or the
acquisition cost, including necessary expenditure on
storage, whichever is the lower. The Group uses the
weighted average cost method for costing goods
sold. In case the net realisable value is lower than the
value it was booked for, the difference is registered
in the income statement of the period. Given the
activities developed by the Group, inventories
comprise paper, graphic supplies, boxes, film, bands,
fillers, bags, printers and toners, among others.

2.12. Impairment of non-financial assets
An assessment over the possible impairment of the
asset is conducted at the balance sheet date and
whenever a change in circumstances indicates that
the sum recorded for an asset cannot be recovered
(Note 17). For non-current assets that are not
depreciated, as they do not have a finite useful life,
periodic impairment tests are carried out.
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2.14. T
 rade receivables and Other current
assets
As mentioned in note 2.9., the Group applies the
IFRS 9 simplified approach. In practice, third party
debts are recorded at their nominal value less any
impairment losses, recognised under Other costs impairment of current assets, so these reflect their
net current realisable value, taking into consideration
expected credit losses.
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As a current practice, the Group uses credit insurance
for its customers. Balances for which credit insurance
applies have to comply with the following conditions,
amongst others:

Own shares are accounted for at their acquisition
value as a reduction to shareholders’ equity. The
gains and losses inherent in the sale of own shares are
recorded under shareholders’ equity.

a) domiciled in the countries in which the insurance
policy applies and the Group operates;

2.17. Dividends

b) resulting from the normal commercial activities of
the Group;

Dividends are recorded as liabilities in the period
in which their distribution is approved by the
shareholders of Inapa – IPG until the date of payment.

c) related to transactions during the period of the
insurance policy;

2.18. Loans
d) for which there is a valid credit limit for the
customer;
e) for which payment terms agreed with the
customer are below the maximum as per the
insurance policy:
Contracted coverage is referred to in Note 3. b).
Insurance coverage is considered in the impairment
analysis of trade receivables.

2.15. Cash and cash equivalent

Loans are classified under current liabilities, unless
the Group has the unconditional right to defer the
reimbursement of the loan for a period of not less
than 12 months counting from the date of the balance
sheet.

2.19. Income tax
Income tax includes current taxes and deferred taxes.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank
deposits and other short-term investments maturing
in less than 3 months, which can be immediately
mobilised without significant risks of fluctuation in
value. For the purposes of the cash flow statement,
this heading also includes bank overdrafts, which
are presented on the balance sheet, under current
liabilities and under Loans.

2.16. Share capital and own shares
Ordinary shares and preferred shares without a right
of reimbursement are presented in share capital.
The costs directly attributable to issuing new shares
are given as a deduction, net of taxes, from the
amount received as a result of the issue and are
recorded under shareholders' equity.

Inapa – IPG and its subsidiaries headquartered in
Portugal are taxable according to Corporate Income
Tax (IRC – Imposto sobre o Rendimento de Pessoas
Colectivas), through the special tax regime for groups
consisting of companies where the participation in
each company is 75% or more and which meet the
requirements of articles 69 and following, of the
Corporate Income Tax Code. Inapa – IPG, as the
parent company, is responsible for calculating the
Group's taxable profit, through the algebraic sum of
the taxable profits and the tax losses on the income
statements of each of the subsidiary companies
belonging to the Group. The foreign subsidiaries of
the Company are taxed in accordance with the tax
regimes in force in their respective countries of origin
(see Note 30).

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Trade receivables balances securitised by discounted
bills that have not yet matured at the balance
sheet date are recognised in the Group's financial
statements until they are collected.

Loans are initially recorded under liabilities at their
nominal value, net of issuing costs, and subsequently
at the amortised cost. Financial costs are calculated
in accordance with the effective interest rate,
including premiums, and accounted for in the income
statement in accordance with the accruals basis of
accounting and added to the current liabilities, if they
are not paid during the period.
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Deferred tax situations are recognised in the
accounts, when relevant. The recognised deferred
taxes correspond to temporary differences between
the sums of assets and liabilities for the purposes of
the financial report and the respective sums for tax
purposes. Assets are recorded for deferred taxes
when there is a reasonable expectation of future
taxable income for them to be used. On the date
of each balance sheet, a reappraisal is carried out
of the temporary differences underlying the assets
for deferred taxes in accordance with the present
expectation of their future recovery. The deferred
taxes are recorded on the income statement, except
when related to values that have been recognized
under Shareholders’ equity, which implies also their
recognition in Shareholders’ equity.

The present value of the responsibilities arising from
the defined benefits of a company and the related
services’ costs are determined using the projected
unit credit method, in which each service term
entitles the worker to an additional unit of the benefit,
being each unit estimated separately, to determine
the final obligation. A benefit is attributed during the
current period (estimated service current cost) and
current and previous periods (estimate of the present
value of the responsibilities arising from the defined
benefits)

2.20. Provisions

The responsibilities arising for past services, deducted
from the actuarial gains or losses and the market
value of the funds used to hedge them, are registered
in the caption Employee benefits. In the income
statement are registered the current services costs
and the interests’ costs net from the estimated
yield from the funds. The actuarial gains or losses
arising from using an actuarial evaluation method
are recognized in Equity, and the use of actuarial
assumptions, is recognised directly in Shareholders'
Equity under Retained Earnings.

Provisions are recognised when, and only when, there
is a present liability (legal or implicit) resulting from a
past event, when it is probable that it will generate an
outflow of resources and when the sum of the liability
can be reasonably estimated. Provisions are valued
at present value, are reviewed on each balance sheet
date, and are adjusted to reflect the best estimate at
that date (Note 22).

2.21. Employees benefits

Supplementary Pension Plans – defined contribution

Suplementary Pension plans – defined benefit

Contributions made periodically to defined
contribution plans are recorded as a cost in the
income statement, with no additional responsibility
arising for the company.

The subsidiaries Inapa France, S.A. and Inapa
Deutschland, GmbH have assumed responsibility
for supplementary pension plans to some of their
employees, through defined benefit pension plans.
The liability of Inapa – IPG regarding each of these
plans is estimated by specialised, independent
entities, on an annual basis on the date of the balance
sheet, using the projected unit credit method. In
accordance with IAS 19, the costs related to the
liabilities are recorded to the extent that the services
are provided to employees benefiting from the plans.

92

The benefit is attributable to the periods of services,
using the plan’s benefits formula, unless the estimate
of benefits from previous year’s services is higher, in
which case the benefit is estimated using the linear
method.

Benefits at retirement date
In accordance with local legislation, the subsidiaries in
France have the responsibility to pay their employees
a sum on the date of their retirement, based on
the number of years worked for the company. The
value of this liability, resulting from past services,
is estimated at least annually, on the balance sheet
date, by specialised, independent entities using the
projected unit credit method and is recorded under
the caption Employee benefits, using a methodology
similar to the benefit plans described above.
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2.22. Suppliers and other current payables

2.24. Segment report

The balances to be paid to suppliers, for taxes and
other current liabilities are recorded at their nominal
value, which on the date of initial entry corresponds
to their fair value. For certain suppliers, and with
their knowledge, the Company allows for the
anticipated payment of certain amount, with partner
financial institutions, using confirming. Given the
established periods, and their nature, the balances
remain classified as Suppliers until being paid by the
Company.

An operating segment is an identifiable Group
component that performs business activities and
for which financial information is used in the Group
Management decision making process. The Group
has identified three operating segments: Paper
Supply, Packaging and Visual Communication. The
financial information relating to the various operating
segments is shown in Note 6.

2.23. Recognition of income and expenses

Group companies record their income and expenses
in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting,
in which the income and expenses are recognised as
they arise, independently of when they are received
or paid, under Other current assets and Other current
liabilities (Notes 15 and 24).

2.25. Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities in which a possible outflow of
funds affecting future economic benefits is unlikely
are not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements, being included in the Notes on financial
statements (see Note 32), unless the possibility of the
outflow of funds affecting future economic benefits
is remote, in which case they are not included.
Provisions are recognised for the situations satisfying
the conditions set out in Note 2.20.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements, but presented in
the Notes to the financial statements when it is likely
there will be a future economic benefit.

2.26. Subsequent events
Events after the date of the balance sheet that
provide additional information about conditions
existing at the date of the balance sheet are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the date of the balance sheet that provide
information about conditions that occur after the
date of the balance sheet are presented in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements, if material
(see Note 37).

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Under IFRS 15, revenue from Contracts with
Customers is recognized in the Consolidated income
statement according to a five-step model established
in the standard. The underlying principle is that an
entity recognizes revenue when the contractual
obligation to deliver the goods or services is satisfied
and by the amount that reflects the consideration
the entity is expected to be entitled to, as long as
the contracted performance obligations are met. The
Group’s revenue mainly results from paper supply,
packaging and printing materials, among others.
Sales and service rendered are recognised net of tax,
discounts and other inherent costs to their fulfilment,
by the fair value of the amount received or receivable.

Paper supply occurs in all of the countries where
the Group is present, Packaging occurs in France,
Germany and Portugal and Visual Communication
occurs in Germany and Portugal.
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2.27. N
 ew standards, interpretations and
amendment to the standards
Up to the date of approval of these financial
statements, the following accounting standards,
interpretations, amendments and revisions have been
endorsed by the European Union, with mandatory
application for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2021:

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER

Amendments to standards IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 e IFRS 16 – Phase 2 of the
reform of benchmark Interest Rates (IBOR
Reform)

1-jan-21

Corresponds to additional amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16, related to the second phase of the benchmark interest rate reform
project (known as “IBOR reform”), concerning changes to benchmark interest
rates and the impacts on changes to financial assets, financial liabilities and lease
liabilities, hedge accounting and disclosures.

Amendment to standard IFRS 16
– Leases – “COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021”

1-april-21

This amendment extends to 30 June 2022 the application of the optional
practical expedient whereby tenants are exempted from reviewing whether
rent concessions up to that date, typically rent suspensions or rent reductions,
relating to the “COVID-19” pandemic amount to contractual modifications.

Amendment to standard IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts - IFRS 9 Deferral

1-jan-21

Corresponds to the amendment to IFRS 4 extending the deferral of application
of IFRS 9 for initial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

As a result of the adoption of other standards,
interpretations, amendments and revisions referred
to above, no significant effects were produced on the
financial statements of the Inapa Group.
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The following accounting standards and
interpretations, with mandatory application in future
economic years, were, until the date of approval of
these financial statements, approved (“endorsed”) by
the European Union:

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER

Amendments to standards IFRS 3, IAS 16,
IAS 37 and Annual Impovements 20182020

1-jan-22

These amendments correspond to a set of updates to the various standards
mentioned, namely:
- IFRS 3 - update of the reference to the 2018 conceptual framework;
additional requirements for the analysis of obligations under IAS 37 or
- IFRIC 21 at the acquisition date; and explicit clarification that contingent
assets are not recognised in a business combination.
- IAS 16 - prohibition on deducting from the cost of a tangible asset income
related to the sale of products before the asset is available for use.
- IAS 37 - clarification that costs of fulfilment of a contract correspond to
costs directly related to the contract.
- Annual improvements 2018-2020 correspond essentially to amendments to
4 standards, IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41.

IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

1-jan-23

This standard establishes, for insurance contracts within its scope, the principles
for their recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure, This standard
replaces IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts.

The following accounting standards and
interpretations, were issued by IASB and are not yet
approved (“endorsed”) by the European Union:

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of
financial statements - Classification of
liabilities as current and non-current

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB clarifies the classification of liabilities as
current and non-current by analyzing the contractual conditions existing at the
reporting date.

Amendment to standard IAS 1 –
Presentation of financial statements and
IFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure of
accounting policies

1-jan-23

This amendment published by IASB in February 2021 clarifies that material
accounting disclosed material accounting policies, rather than significant
accounting policies, and has introduced examples for identifying a material
accounting policy.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

These amendments, although endorsed by the
European Union, have not been adopted by the
Group in 2021, as their application is not yet
mandatory. It is not estimated that the future
adoption of these amendments will result in
significant impacts on the financial statements.
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STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER

Amendment to IAS 8 - Accounting
policies, changes in accounting estimates
and errors - Defining of accounting
estimates

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB in February 2021 amends the definition
of accounting estimate for monetary amount in financial statements subject to
measurement uncertainty.

Amendment to IAS 12 Income Taxes
- Deferred Taxes

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB in May 2021 clarifies that the exemption
from initial recognition of deferred tax does not apply in transactions that
produce equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Amendment to IFRS 17 - Insurance
contracts - initial application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 - comparative information

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB in December 2021 introduces
amendments on comparative information to be presented when an entity
adopts both IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 at the same time.

These amendments have not been endorsed by the
European Union, and as such have not been adopted
by Inapa Group in the year ending 31 December 2021.
In accordance with the internal analysis carried out by
the Company, it is the Board’s expectation that the
application of the standards above, which have not
yet been endorsed by the European Union, will not
have a significant effect on the financial statements.

Note 3
Financial risk management
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risk factors: market risk (including foreign
currency risk and risk associated with interest rates),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's exposure to
financial risk is essentially associated with customer
receivables and loans obtained from financial entities,
which gives rise to risks derived from non-compliance
with contract conditions and to risk of fluctuations in
interest rates.
Financial risk is managed centrally by the Financial
Department located in Portugal, in accordance with
the policies approved by the Board of Directors,
and in cooperation with the various subsidiaries.
Fluctuations in the financial market, particularly with
regard to interest rates, are continuously analysed
and, when considered necessary, measures are taken
to minimize the Group's exposure to financial risk.
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The Group has, as its general objectives, the
optimization of its paper business, diversified growth
and to guarantee financial sustainability of the
group. To that effect, the Company has implemented
practices to manage its capital, with a view of
ensuring the financing of its objectives. This includes
the management of cash and cash equivalents
(which includes overdrafts – see Note 16) as well as
borrowings, which together contribute to the concept
of net debt (see Note 21).
The methodology includes the definition of guidance
by the Board, which may then be managed with a
defined level of autonomy by local management in
day-to-day operations. More relevant operations
include participation of the Board and the
Financial department of the Holding, which either
accompanies, or is responsible (depending on the
financial institution involved) for communication with
financial partners, for negotiations and for agreement
of relevant terms. Monitoring is ensured by regular
reporting of financial positions, and analysis of future
financial needs.

a) Market risk
Changes in foreign Exchange rate
Variations in the exchange rate for the euro into other
currencies, particularly the kwanza and Turkish lira
can impact the financial situation of the company, as
Inapa – IPG operates in Angola and Turkey.
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Even though these markets do not represent more
than 1.76% of Group sales, possible devaluations
in these currencies, against the euro, could have a
negative impact on the activity, the financial situation
and on the income statement.
The group has furthermore an indirect exposure to
the US dollar and other currencies. This is due to
the impact of currency variances on the Company’s
competitiveness, as whenever the euro strengthens
against other currencies, distributors that operate
in locations with different currencies become more
competitive than European producers, which are the
Company’s main suppliers.

DECEMBER 31, 2021

To proceed with the general objectives stated above,
the Group has implemented internal practices of
accompanying currency risk, both by the Board and
by local management. This includes the monitoring
of its evolution, as well as evaluating the potential
currency impact on new options to be decided upon.
The Company does not resort to derivatives to fix
exchange rates.
The following table shows the Group's exposure to
foreign exchange rate risk on 31 December, based on
the balance sheet values for the financial assets and
financial liabilities of the Group.

EURO

KWANZA

TURKISH
LIRA

TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivable and other assets
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

6,988

55

939

7,982

123,432

186

2,401

126,019

-

-

120

242

3,339

134,122

Loans and others financial instruments

268,354

3

1,439

269,795

Suppliers and other liabilities

150,952

206

1,426

152,584

LIABILITIES

Total of financial liabilities
Balance sheet – net financial position

DECEMBER 31, 2020

419,306

209

2,864

422,379

-288,766

34

475

-288,257

EURO

KWANZA

TURKISH
LIRA

TOTAL

8,819

55

479

9,354

145,003

153

3,312

148,467

119

-

-

119

153,941

209

3,791

157,942

320,517

-

3,866

324,383

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivable and other assets
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total financial assets
LIABILITIES
Loans and others financial instruments

130,538

-144

733

131,126

Total of financial liabilities

Suppliers and other liabilities

451,055

-144

4,598

455,509

Balance sheet – net financial position

-297,114

354

-807

-297,567

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

120
130,540

Total financial assets
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On 31 December 2021, a positive variation of the
euro by 1% compared to other currencies would
result in a positive impact on shareholders’ equity of
¤ 5 thousand (31 December 2020: - ¤ 7 thousand).
Changes in interest rates
The cost of the majority of the financial debt
contracted by Inapa – IPG is indexed to variable
reference rates, currently exposing Inapa – IPG
to interest rate risk. As Inapa does not hedge this
exposure to adverse variations in interest rates,
these variations may have a negative material effect
on its operations, financial situation and income.
However, as a way of managing these variations,
the Group financial department continuously follows
the development of the market, being ready to
use financial instruments to minimise the effects of
volatility in interest rates, accompanying incurred
expenses, as well as expected future expenses. This
is through the preparation of budgets, based on
expected and reasonably possible evolutions as well
as the financial needs of the Group. As such, the
Company interacts with its financial partners with the
objective of financing its operations with competitive
financial expenses.
On 31 December 2021, if the reference interest rate
used for the contracted loans varied by 0.1%, keeping
all other variables constant, the annualised financial
charges would vary by some 270 thousand euros (31
December 2020: ¤ 320 thousand).
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On 31 December 2021 and 2020 the development
of financial assets and liabilities with exposure to
interest rate risk in relation to maturity or the date of
revision of the interest rate (Euribor 1, 3 or 6-month)
is given below:

DECEMBER 31, 2021

LESS THAN
1 MONTH

1 TO 3
MONTHS

3 TO 12
MONTHS

1 TO 5
YEARS

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

TOTAL

-

-

-

22

98

119

7,982

-

-

-

-

7,982

7,982

-

-

22

98

8,103

1,250

14,652

100,023

8,655

4,798

129,378

ASSETS
Non-current
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets
LIABILITIES
Non-current
Loans
Convertible bonds
Other liabilities – leases

-

-

12,000

-

12,000

-

-

-

-

11,256

-

-

30,774

-

-

30,774

2,653

4,929

42,748

2,437

400

53,167

-

-

3,000

-

-

3,000

9

19,960

-

-

-

19,968

3,354

-

-

-

-

3,354

Current
Loans
Convertible bonds
Trade finance
Other liabilities – leases
Liabilities related to the right of use assets
Total financial liabilities

-

-

6,898

-

-

6,898

18,521

39,540

183,443

23,092

5,198

269,795
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Liabilities related to the right of use assets

11,256
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DECEMBER 31, 2020

LESS THAN
1 MONTH

1A3
MONTHS

3 A 12
MONTHS

1 TO 5
YEARS

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

TOTAL

-

-

-

22

97

119

ASSETS
Non-current
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

9,354

-

-

-

-

9,354

9,354

-

-

22

97

9,473

2,900

40,456

104,437

1,278

18,527

167,598

LIABILITIES
Non-current
Loans
Convertible bonds
Other liabilities – leases

-

-

-

12,000

3,000

15,000

14,491

-

-

-

-

14,491

-

-

24,373

-

-

24,373

2,457

8,055

23,785

600

636

35,533

723

55,648

-

-

-

56,371

1,804

-

-

-

-

1,804

Liabilities related to the right of use assets

Current
Loans
Trade finance
Other liabilities – leases

-

-

9,213

-

-

9,213

22,375

104,159

161,808

13,878

22,163

324,383

Liabilities related to the right of use assets
Total financial liabilities

b) Credit risk
The Company is exposed to this kind of risk because
of the credit it provides to its customers. The Group
does not have significant credit risk and has credit
risk evaluation and monitoring policies that ensure
that sales are made only to customers with an
appropriate credit background.
To attain the general objectives already indicated
above, Inapa has a rigorous policy of monitoring
trades receivable accounts closely and continuously,
particularly taking their age and associated risks into
consideration and if risks are found regarding their
collection, they will be recognised as an impairment
loss.
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The Group companies acquire information from
commercial database providers and, whenever
adequate for the contingencies faced by the
Company, it contracts credit insurance to hedge its
credit risk exposure.
Common practices of the Group include the fixing of
credit limits for customers, internal teams dedicated
to accompanying customer credit levels and periodic
meetings to discuss customer aged balances with
local management.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk corresponds
to the accounting values of financial assets given in
the following tables regarding the concentration of
credit risk.
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing of trade
receivables balances and other financial assets and
the credit limit for the customer portfolio were
as follows:

2021

2020

TRADE
RECEIVABLES

OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

TRADE
RECEIVABLES

OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

55,316

57,546

94,312

30,267

6,773

70

8,733

88

1,165

158

5,378

17

Current accounts not due
Past due accounts
1 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
+ than 91 days

Impairment
Net trade receivables balances
Trade credit insurance limit

Other financial assets correspond to the headings of
Other non-current assets and Other current assets
less Deferred costs (see Note 15).
For past-due balances without recognized
impairment, Inapa - IPG considers that there are no
relevant risks of losses with their collection.

-5

829

49

2,448

4,376

2,426

65,458

60,217

113,629

32,847

10,899

1,592

13,902

1,549

-10,556

-1,592

-11,911

-1,549

65,801

60,217

115,621

32,847

629,957

-

620,870

-

Inapa has a credit insurance policy with Atradius
Crédito y Caución S.A., one of the main global
credit insurers. This policy was renewed from 2021
until 31 December 2022 and covers at least 70% of
the trade receivables above (excluding doubtful
accounts balance). The above credit limit amount
is only applied to customers with credit insurance
contracted. The percentage of cover for customers
covered by the policy is generally 95%.
The entities with debts towards the Group have
unknown ratings.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Doubtful accounts

615
1,589
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c) Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of financial assets by operating
segment
The table below gives Inapa exposure to credit risk on
31 December 2021 and 2020, in accordance with the
asset balances, categorised by operating segment:

DECEMBER 31, 2021

PAPER

PACKAGING

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

6,649

611

84

OTHER
BUSINESS AND
ACTIVITIES

TOTAL

638

7,982

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Trade receivables and other assets
Total assets

DECEMBER 31, 2020

9

98

-

13

120

100,586

13,870

5,279

6,285

126,019

107,244

14,579

5,363

6,935

134,121

PAPER

PACKAGING

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER
BUSINESS AND
ACTIVITIES

TOTAL

4,505

1,712

166

2,971

9,354

9

97

-

13

119

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Trade receivables and other assets
Total assets

102

126,751

12,585

4,318

4,813

148,467

131,266

14,394

4,484

7,797

157,941
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Concentration of financial assets by
geographical region
The table below gives Inapa exposure to credit
risk on 31 December 2021 and 2020, in accordance
with the asset balance sheet values, categorised by
geographical region:

DECEMBER 31, 2021

GERMANY

FRANCE

PORTUGAL

SPAIN

OTHER

TOTAL

3,429

1,312

1,194

951

1,096

7,982

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Trade receivables and other assets
Total assets

DECEMBER 31, 2020

-

104

13

-

3

120

42,610

48,353

21,927

9,082

4,047

126,019

46,039

49,769

23,133

10,033

5,146

134,121

GERMANY

FRANCE

PORTUGAL

SPAIN

OTHER

TOTAL

3,130

1,825

3,420

126

854

9,354

-

103

13

-

3

119

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

80,676

37,931

18,140

6,702

5,019

148,467

83,806

39,859

21,572

6,828

5,876

157,941

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Trade receivables and other assets
Total assets
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d) Liquidity risk
The following table analyses the Group’s remunerated
financial liabilities on 31 December 2021 and 2020 by
applicable maturity groupings, based on the period
remaining until contractual maturity. The amounts
in the table are undiscounted contractual cash flows
including interest.

Inapa manages the Group’s liquidity risk using
two approaches: by ensuring that the medium
and long‑term component of its financial debt is
appropriate to the volume of funds expected to be
generated and by having credit facilities continuously
available (lines in the current account).

LESS THAN
1 MONTH

1 TO 3
MONTHS

3 TO 12
MONTHS

1 TO 5
YEARS

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

TOTAL

115

4,516

2,739

16,788

-

24,158

2,388

6,537

43,067

62,840

73,311

188,143

Trade finance

102

976

19,209

-

-

20,287

Convertible bonds

196

-

3,543

13,418

-

17,156

Other liabilities – finance lease

139

660

3,086

11,089

1,043

16,016

Liabilities related to the right of use assets

751

1,443

6,172

21,134

9,640

39,140

3,691

14,132

77,816

125,268

83,994

304,901

LESS THAN
1 MONTH

1 TO 3
MONTHS

3 TO 12
MONTHS

1 TO 5
YEARS

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

TOTAL

DECEMBER 31, 2021
LIABILITIES
Loans and financial instruments
Commercial paper
Bank loans (including bank overdrafts)

DECEMBER 31, 2020
LIABILITIES
Loans and financial instruments
Commercial paper

122

1,061

6,414

19,239

-

26,837

2,231

3,459

29,129

82,958

92,504

210,281

Trade finance

127

242

57,499

-

-

57,868

Convertible bonds

195

-

563

13,961

3,114

17,833

Other liabilities – finance lease

142

453

1,857

12,902

2,870

18,224

Bank loans (including bank overdrafts)

Liabilities related to the right of use assets

104

1,002

1,953

7,534

18,049

6,324

34,862

3,819

7,168

102,996

147,109

104,813

365,905
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e) Risks associated with the COVID-19
pandemic
As indicated in Note 2.1, Management evaluated the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group, on
the following risks:
Operational risk
The impacts derived from COVID-19 on the Group's
activity were still significant in 2021, in the first half in
particular, namely in terms of the volume of activity,
as a result of the containment measures imposed
to contain the pandemic resulting from COVID-19.
As in 2020, the Group companies remained in
operation at all times during 2021, benefiting from
the implementation of a set of measures to preserve
the security of its employees, with an emphasis on
the use of remote working whenever possible, but
also the organisation of work in shifts and staggered
schedules.

Liquidity risk
At the end of the year 2021, the financial obligations
for the next twelve months were evaluated in
accordance with the approved budgets, in which the
Management foresees the fulfilment of the obligations
arising from current liabilities as they fall due.
Risk of valuation of assets and liabilities
in the balance sheet
There were no significant negative impacts on the
book value of the Group's fixed assets or the need to
recognize additional liabilities.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

In 2021, the Group implemented several restructuring
processes in various operations, some of which
started in 2020, with a view to optimising its
operations.
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Note 4
Financial assets and financial liabilities
Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet with
the various categories of financial assets and liabilities
is detailed below:

CREDIT AND
RECEIVABLES AT
AMORTIZED COST

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

OTHER FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES AT
AMORTIZED COST

-

120

-

3,373

-

-

122,646

-

-

7,982

-

-

134,001

120

-

Loans

-

-

183,408

Other non-current liabilities

-

-

17

Current loans

-

-

86,387

Suppliers and other current liabilities

-

-

152,567

-

-

422,380

CREDIT AND
RECEIVABLES AT
AMORTIZED COST

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

OTHER FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES AT
AMORTIZED COST

DECEMBER 31, 2021
ASSETS
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Other non-current assets
Trade receivables and other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
LIABILITIES

Total liabilities

DECEMBER 31, 2020
ASSETS
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

-

119

-

3,514

-

-

144,954

-

-

9,354

-

-

157,821

119

-

Loans

-

-

221,462

Other non-current liabilities

-

-

58

Current loans

-

-

102,921

Suppliers and other current liabilities

-

-

131,068

-

-

455,509

Other non-current assets
Trade receivables and other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
LIABILITIES

Total liabilities
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The fair value of assets and liabilities is similar to their
financial position sheet value.
Financial assets and financial liabilities gains and
losses for 2021 and 2020 breakdown is as follows:

2021

2020

-895

-843

66

196

From financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

-11,170

-13,617

Comissions, guarantees and other costs of financial liabilities

-3,352

-2,117

-15,350

-16,381

Gains/(losses) from loans and receivables
From loans and other receivables
Interest paid:

Relevant estimates and judgment

Note 5
Relevant estimates and judgments

b) Actuarial assumptions
Liabilities in respect of defined benefits are calculated
based on actuarial assumptions (Note 23). Differences
arising between the assumptions and reality may
affect the financial statements in ways that may or
may not be significant.

c) Income tax
Estimates that present a significant risk of producing
a material adjustment in the accounting value of
the assets and liabilities in the following period are
presented below:

a) Estimates of impairment differences from
goodwill and brands
The Group performs annual impairment tests on
Goodwill, in accordance with the accounting policy in
Note 2.3. Recoverable values for cash flow generating
units are determined based on value in use. These
calculations require that the Group use estimates, in
which the main variables are the discount rate and
expected sales growth (Notes 8 and 9).

The Group is subject to income tax in various
jurisdictions and the tax calculation made by the
Group is subject to review by various tax authorities
(Notes 12 and 30). If the final result from these
reviews differs from the initially recorded values, the
differences will have an impact on income tax and the
provisions for deferred taxes in the period in which
such differences are identified.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The preparation of the financial statements was in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, using estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and of income and expenses during the reporting
year. It should be noted that, although the estimates
have been based on the best knowledge of the Board
of Directors regarding current events and operations,
actual results may differ from these in the final
analysis.

Similarly, impairment tests are conducted on the
brands recorded in other intangible assets, where
estimates were used (Note 9).
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In addition, the assets for deferred taxes correspond
to the value of tax losses for which there is an
expectation of future recovery. A failure to recover
tax losses or an alteration in the expectation of
recovery in future years will have an impact on the
income for the year in which the situation occurs.

Note 6
Segment report
The information in the report by segment is
presented in accordance with the identified operating
segments, which are paper supply, packaging and
visual communication.

d) Doubtful accounts
Impairment losses related to doubtful accounts (Note
17) are based on an evaluation the Group conducts
into the probability of recovering receivables. This
evaluation process is subject to various estimates and
judgements. Alterations to these estimates may have
an impact on impairment levels and, consequently,
have an impact on the results.

e) Provisions for litigations
The Group is involved in various on-going legal
actions and, whenever considered necessary,
provisions are made in accordance with management
estimates, which are based on the legal opinion of
the Group’s lawyers, whenever considered necessary
(Note 2.20 and 22).
A negative decision in any on-going action may have
an adverse effect on operations, the financial situation
and Group results.

The paper supply segment includes the offer of
products to the graphic and office industry, with a
portfolio of paper products, graphic consumables
as well as the associated logistical services. The
packaging segment includes the offer of standard
solutions and products such as boxes, films, tapes,
fillers, bags, labels, among other equipment. The
visual communication segment includes the offer of
products and services for large format digital printing:
printers, inks/toners, media, software and technical
assistance. Not included above, are Other operations
segment includes the activities carried out by the
holdings and by other companies not associated to
the businesses referred above, which include the
activities of shared services, investment and equity
management.
In what concerns the determination of segments,
Management took into consideration the organization
and verticalization of the products/services provided,
that share the same distribution methods, being
this the format in which Management monitors the
activity. Reportable segments were not aggregated.
The results, assets and liabilities for each segment
correspond to those that are directly attributable
and those for which there is reasonable basis for
attribution, on the basis of management information.
Inter-segmental transfers are carried out at market
prices and are not materially significant.
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The breakdown of financial information on
31 December 2021 and 2020 for operating segments
is as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2021

PAPER

PACKAGING

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER
OPERATIONS

ELIMINATIONS ON
CONSOLIDATIONS

CONSOLIDATED

855,052

79,487

30,062

4

-

964,606

REVENUES
External sales (Note 25)
Inter-segment sales
Other revenues
Total revenues

241

2,018

1,623

-

-3,882

-

27,536

1,290

831

-845

-

28,812

882,830

82,796

32,515

-841

-3,882

993,417

14,872

4,383

838

-4,214

-395

RESULTS
Segment results
Operational results
Gains/(losses) in associated
companies
Interest expense

15,484
15,484

655

-

-

-

-

655

-11,103

-946

-195

-8,940

5,176

-16,009

3,130

-

3

920

-2,853

1,201

Net profit before income tax

7,554

3,437

647

-12,234

1,928

1,332

4,172

-1,665

239

-764

-

1,982

11,727

1,772

886

-12,998

1,928

3,314

558,542

46,722

11,735

32,075

-

649,073

-

-

-

-

-

37,148

305,529

24,094

5,459

145,099

-

-

-

-

-

-

Income tax
Income from ordinary activities
Net profit/(loss) for the year

3,314

OTHER INFORMATIONS
Segment assets
Deferred tax assets
Total consolidated assets
Segment liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

686,221

Total consolidated liabilities

48,618
528,799

Capex

7,729

594

1,465

187

Depreciations and amortizations

11,954

2,100

804

1,554

54

16

Impairment of assets

480,181

-

9,974

445

-

15,304

-

-

1,623
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Interest income
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DECEMBER 31, 2020

PAPER

PACKAGING

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER
OPERATIONS

ELIMINATIONS ON
CONSOLIDATIONS

CONSOLIDATED

909,941

73,835

31,723

7,339

1,645

5,028

5

-

1,015,504

-

-14,012

-

REVENUES
External sales (Note 25)
Inter-segment sales
Other revenues
Total revenues

24,800

1,112

702

-859

-

25,755

942,080

76,592

37,453

-855

-14,012

1,041,259

-2,973

3,104

322

-2,738

-399

RESULTS
Segment results
Operational results
Gains/(losses) in associated
companies

-97

-

-

-

Interest expense

-12,105

-1,056

-115

Interest income

3,920

1,221

4

-11,255

3,270

1,566

-928

-9,690

2,342

580,027
-

Net profit before income tax
Income tax

-

-97

-9,721

6,640

-16,356

771

-5,007

909

211

-11,688

1,234

-18,229

-251

2,389

-

2,776

-40

-9,299

1,234

-15,453

48,392

10,955

54,385

-

693,759

-

-

-

-

Income from ordinary activities
Net profit/(loss) for the year

-2,684
-2,684

-15,453

OTHER INFORMATIONS
Segment assets
Deferred tax assets
Total consolidated assets
Segment liabilities

350,414

29,196

5,729

139,796

-

525,134

-

-

-

-

-

47,670

Capex

4,455

707

1,105

528

-

6,795

Depreciations and amortizations

14,414

2,244

808

1,044

-

18,511

1,710

59

10

-

-

1,779

Deferred tax liabilities
Total consolidated liabilities

Impairment of assets
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33,584
727,344

572,804
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The geographic division of total assets and revenue
for the company as a whole is presented below:

2021

2020

ASSETS

TOTAL
REVENUES

ASSETS

TOTAL
REVENUES

460,852

647,002

514,088

710,326

105,562

239,985

95,235

224,781

70,742

40,603

70,806

36,941

Spain

1,560

36,093

636

39,109

Other

10,357

29,735

12,994

30,101

649,073

993,417

693,759

1,041,259

Germany
France
Portugal

No customer represents more than 10% of group
sales.

Non-current assets by geographical region
As of 31 December, 2021 and 2020, the values
of non‑current assets by location are as follows:

GERMANY

FRANCE

PORTUGAL

SPAIN

Tangible fixed assets – net

12,439

19,206

11,031

Right of use assets

27,706

4,098

390

1,100

-

Investment in associate companies
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

OTHER

TOTAL

14,123

591

57,390

137

774

33,105

-

1,160

-

2,260

-

104

13

-

3

120

422

1,880

1,070

-

-

3,373

41,666

25,289

12,504

15,421

1,368

96,248

GERMANY

FRANCE

PORTUGAL

SPAIN

OTHER

TOTAL

Tangible fixed assets – net

22,277

20,783

12,181

13,582

695

69,518

Right of use assets

23,850

5,774

458

343

1,113

31,538

-

-

-

2,385

-

2,385

Other non-current assets

2020

Investment in associate companies
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Other non-current assets

-

103

13

-

3

119

271

2,098

1,130

-

14

3,514

46,398

28,759

13,783

16,310

1,825

107,074
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Information in respect of the allocation by geography
and by segment for Own brands, included in the
intangible assets line, and Goodwill may be consulted
in the respective notes (Notes 8 and 9).

Note 7
Tangible fixed assets
During the years 2021 and 2020, the tangible fixed
assets movements and the related depreciations,
were as follows:

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

2021

LANDS

BUILDINGS
AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
AND OTHERS

IN
PROGRESS

TOTAL

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2021

22,373

72,016

23,496

6,659

11,015

1,081

136,641

Exchange rate diferences

-

-16

-38

-26

-40

-

-119

Increases

-

233

1,534

118

519

1,087

3,490

Disposals/Transfers/Write offs

-3,899

-8,823

-8,374

-943

3,935

-1,711

-19,815

Balance as at December 31, 2021

18,474

63,410

16,618

5,809

15,429

457

120,198

Balance as at January 1, 2021

-

33,683

19,259

4,805

9,374

-

67,123

Exchange rate diferences

-

-13

-34

-26

-37

-

-110

Increases

-

1,084

797

570

1,120

-

3,571

Disposals/Transfers/Write offs

-

-,2,759

-6,569

-1,026

2,578

-

-7,776

Balance as at December 31, 2021

-

31,995

13,454

4,322

13,035

-

62,808

18,474

31,416

3,164

1,486

2,395

457

57,390

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Net value
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TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

2020

LANDS

BUILDINGS
AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
AND OTHERS

IN
PROGRESS

TOTAL

22,373

73,574

32,301

4,664

11,128

1,138

145,178

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Exchange rate diferences

-

-13

-35

-29

-35

-

-113

Increases

-

303

1,615

46

218

95

2,277

Disposals/Transfers/Write offs

-

-1,846

-10,385

1,978

-296

-152

-10,702

22,373

72,016

23,496

6,659

11,015

1,081

136,641

Balance as at January 1, 2020

-

33,908

26,685

2,220

8,637

-

71,451

Exchange rate diferences

-

-10

-29

-24

-33

-

-95

Increases

-

1,265

1,456

561

1,372

-

4,654

Disposals/Transfers/Write offs

-

-1,480

-8,852

2,048

-603

-

-8,887

-

33,683

19,259

4,805

9,374

-

67,123

22,373

38,334

4,236

1,855

1,641

1,081

69,518

Balance as at December 31, 2020
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance as at December 31, 2020
Net value

Similarly, on divestments, besides the sale of IT
equipment by the Group in Germany and the sale of
the warehouse in Porto Salvo in Portugal, we highlight
the sale and leaseback operation of the warehouse
in Markt Schwaben (with a net book value of
¤ 8.8 million at the date of the operation), following
which a right-of-use asset (amounting to ¤ 3 million
– see Note 9) and liabilities relating to right-of-use
assets (¤ 5.7 million - see Note 21) were recognized.
On 31 December 2021, there were no contractual
commitments for the acquisition of tangible fixed
assets.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The increase in tangible fixed assets in the period
was mainly due to the investment made by the
subsidiaries in visual communication equipment, in IT
equipment and in their facilities.
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Note 8

In 2020, the value of the Goodwill provisionally
recognised in 2019, upon the acquisition of Papyrus
Deutschland GmbH & Co KG was adjusted by
¤ 715.000. This entity was merged by incorporation
into Papier Union, GmbH, changing the name of the
latter to Inapa Deutschland, GmbH during the first
half of 2020.

Goodwill
The change in the balance recorded under Goodwill
during the years 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

GOODWILL

January 1, 2020
Acquisition value
Accumulated impairment losses
Balance as at January 1, 2020

243,671
-11,766
231,905

Movements during 2020
Exchange rate differences
Increases
Impairment
Transfers and disposals

715
232,620

December 31, 2020
Acquisition value
Accumulated impairment losses
Balance as at December 31, 2020

244,386
-11,766
232,620

Movements during 2021
Exchange rate differences

-

Increases

-

Impairment

-

Transfers and disposals

232,620

December 31, 2021
Acquisition value
Accumulated impairment losses
Balance as at December 31, 2021
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When subsidiaries operating in the three business
segments in which the Group operates are acquired,
namely paper distribution, packaging and visual
communication, Goodwill is calculated as the
difference between the cost of acquisition and the
fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired.

244,386
-11,766
232,620

During the evaluation process and consequent
determination of the acquisition value, future
economic benefits are considered, which essentially
result from the synergies and scale effects achieved
with the concentration of activities, obtained at
the level of each operating segment as a whole,
and which cannot be allocated to individual cashgenerating units
Consequently, and considering that the operating
segments are the lowest level within the Group used
by the Board of Directors to monitor Goodwill, those
differences were allocated to the group of cashgenerating units that represent the activity of the
segment of the acquired subsidiary. This approach is
consistently followed at the level of the Group's three
business segments.
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Under these circumstances, the allocation of Goodwill
is analysed as follows:

ALLOCATION OF GOODWILL
PAPER

Goodwill

PACKAGING

VISUAL COMMUNICATION

SUPPLY

FRANCE

GERMANY

PORTUGAL

PORTUGAL

GERMANY

TOTAL

209,366

3,743

10,779

1,135

1,580

6,019

232,620

As described in Note 2.3, values recorded in Goodwill
are tested for impairment annually or whenever there
is an indication of a possible loss in value. Annually
the Group calculates the recoverable value of the
assets and liabilities associated with the paper supply,
packaging and visual communication activities
by determining the value in use by means of the
discounted cash flow method.

The impairment tests conducted for the purposes of
the financial statements on 31 December 2021 were
supported by expectations of future cash flows based
on medium and long-term plans approved by the
Board of Directors, covering a period up to 2026.
Cash flow projections beyond the medium and long
term plan period are extrapolated, using a perpetuity
growth rate. It should be noted that the growth rates
considered in the impairment tests do not exceed
the average long-term growth rate of the operations.
The assumed EBITDA margin reflects management's
expectations regarding the development of the
market and operations.

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

Nominal growth rate
(in perpetuity)

0.00%

0.00%

EBITDA margin

4.90%

4.60%

Inflation rate

2.00%

2.00%

Pre-tax discount rate

6.96%

6.91%

The EBITDA Margin presented refers to the average
in the projection period.
To calculate the discount rate for impairment tests
of the Goodwill of the various Groups of cashgenerating units, the following approach was used:
• Risk-free interest rate: average yield on 10-year
German government bonds
• Debt spread: Inapa debt spread in the period;
• Beta: average of market benchmarks of
comparable companies;
• Market risk premium: upper bound of the range
of premium values for risk-free markets used in
academia;
• Country risk premium: average of the risk
premiums per country, used in the academic
environment, of the markets in which Inapa
operates;

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

This analysis calculates, in an integrated manner, the
recoverable value of the business (and consequently
the Goodwill), comparing it with the net asset value
of the cash generating units, which includes, among
others, Goodwill, own brands, tangible fixed assets
and intangible assets. Additionally, a more refined
analysis is performed concerning the recoverable
value of the Group’s own brands (see Note 9).

The main assumptions that served as the basis for the
impairment tests on the paper supply activity were as
follows:
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• Tax rate: average of the nominal tax rates in the
markets in which Inapa operates;
• Optimal capital structure: average market
benchmarks for comparable companies;
The assumptions for each of the variables used in the
calculation of the discount rate remained unchanged
compared to the previous year, as can be seen in the
following table:

10 years bond yield of the
german state
Inapa average spread
Beta

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

1.19%

1.19%

3.82%

3.82%

0.89

0.89

Market risk premium

6.00%

6.00%

Country risk premium

0.40%

0.40%

Optimal capital structure
(D/(D+E))

57%

57%

Tax rate

30%

30%

The Company carried out sensitivity analyses to the
impairment tests of the Goodwill of the different
cash-generating unit groups, simulating the impact
of a 50-basis point variation in the discount rate and
growth rate, separately, as a result of which, there is
still no need for impairment.
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Note 9
Intangible assets and right of use assets
a) Intangible assets
During the years 2021 and 2020, the movements in
intangible assets and related depreciations were as
follows:

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2021

SOFTWARE,
INDUSTRIAL
PROPERTY AND
OTHER RIGHTS

TRADEMARKS

CUSTOMER
PORTFOLIO

ADVANCES AND
INTANGIBLE IN
PROGRESS

TOTAL

40,096

130,692

6,096

8,513

185,397

-43

-

-

-

-43

1,668

-

-

4,816

6,484

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2021
Exchange rate diferences
Increases
Disposals/Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-9,629

-703

130,692

6,096

3,699

191,135

33,510

27,464

2,697

-

63,671

-35

-

-

-

-35

1,878

-

212

-

2,090

-64

-

-

-

-64

Balance as at December 31, 2021

35,289

27,464

2,909

-

65,662

Acquisition cost

50,647

130,692

6,096

3,699

191,135

Accumulated amortizations

35,289

-

2,909

-

38,198

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance as at January 1, 2021
Exchange rate diferences
Increases
Disposals/Transfers/Write-offs

Accumulated impairment losses
Net value

-

27,464

-

-

27,464

15,358

103,227

3,187

3,699

125,471

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8,926
50,647

Balance as at December 31, 2021
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2020

SOFTWARE,
INDUSTRIAL
PROPERTY AND
OTHER RIGHTS

TRADEMARKS

CUSTOMER
PORTFOLIO

ADVANCES AND
INTANGIBLE IN
PROGRESS

TOTAL

38,101

130,692

6,096

6,468

181,357

-30

-

-

-

-30

2,043

-

-

2,475

4,518

-18

-

-

-431

-448

40,096

130,692

6,096

8,513

185,397

32,119

27,464

2,300

-

61,883

-27

-

-

-

-27

1,505

-

397

-

1,902

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Exchange rate diferences
Increases
Disposals/Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2020
ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Exchange rate diferences
Increases
Disposals/Transfers/Write-offs

-87

-

-

-

-87

Balance as at December 31, 2020

33,510

27,464

2,697

-

63,671

Acquisition cost

40,096

130,692

6,096

8,513

185,397

33,510

-

2,697

-

36,207

-

27,464

-

-

27,464

6,586

103,227

3,399

8,513

121,724

Accumulated amortizations
Accumulated impairment losses
Net value

The increase in intangible assets in the period was
mainly due to investment in software, in which the
project to implement the new SAP ERP stands out.

The variation in industrial property and other
rights in 2021 is essentially due to investment
in IT infrastructure.

On 31 December 2021, there were no commitments to
acquire intangible assets.

The balance presented as assets in progress and
advances that at 31 December 2021 amounted
to ¤ 3,699 thousand (2020: ¤ 8,513 thousand),
correspond essentially to the investment in the
new ERP of the Group and to investments by Inapa
Deutschland, GmbH in software development and
and upgrade of IT structures.

The value of these intangible assets (Brands) is
subject to annual impairment tests in accordance with
IAS 36. As a result, an impairment loss of ¤ 27,464
thousand was recognized in 2006, so that the net
value at 31 December 2020 and 2021 amounts to
¤ 103,227 thousand.
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Below is the book value of the brands divided by
segment and geographic market:

The valuation through discounted cash flow resulted
in the following recoverable amounts per brand:

PAPER
FRANCE

Trademarks

22,416

GERMANY

74,820

PORTUGAL

5,992

TOTAL

103,227

DESIGNATION
Inapa Tecno

65,179

Inapa Imagine

13,514

Galaxi
Bavaria

A valuation was conducted in 2021, which calculated
the estimated value of the brands, using discounted
cash flow method, taking into account the total
profitability generated by the brands
The impairment tests conducted for the purposes of
the financial statements on 31 December 2021 were
supported by expectations of future cash flows based
on medium and long-term plans approved by the
Board of Directors, covering a period up to 2026.

The main assumptions that served as the basis for the
impairment tests on the brands were as follows:

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

Growth rate (in perpetuity)

0.00%

0.00%

Pre-tax discount rate

6.45%

6.52%

The methodology used to calculate the discount
rate was the same used in the valuation of Goodwill
(see Note 8).

Prima
Others

4,115
4,918
2,759
52,496
142,982

After the impairment tests, no impairment loss was
recorded.
The Company carried out sensitivity analyses of the
Own brands’ impairment test, simulating a change of
50 base points in the discount rate and growth rate,
separately, as a result of which, there is still no need
for impairment.
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Cash flow projections beyond the medium and long
term plan period are extrapolated, using a perpetuity
growth rate. It should be noted that the growth rates
considered in the impairment tests do not exceed the
average long-term growth rate of the operations.

VALUATION
AMOUNT
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b) Right of use assets
During the years of 2021 and 2020, the movements
in the right of use assets, as well as in the respective
amortizations were as follows:

2021

BUILDINGS
AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE EQUIPMENT
AND OTHERS

TOTAL

52,551

12,304

729

65,585

-

-

-

-

8,712

3,245

-

11,957

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2021
Exchange rate diferences
Increases
Write-offs/Contractual changes

-14,434

-2,477

-135

-17,047

Balance as at December 31, 2021

46,828

13,072

594

60,494

27,226

6,686

134

34,046

-

-

-

-

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance as at January 1, 2021
Exchange rate diferences
Increases

6,172

3,407

63

9,643

Write-offs/Contractual changes

-13,628

-2,536

-135

-16,300

Balance as at December 31, 2021

19,770

7,558

61

27,389

Acquisition cost

46,828

13,072

594

60,494

Accumulated amortizations

19,770

7,558

61

27,389

Accumulated impairment losses
Net value
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-

-

-

-

27,058

5,514

533

33,105
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2020

BUILDINGS
AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE EQUIPMENT
AND OTHERS

TOTAL

59,411

13,387

983

73,782

-

-

-

-

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Exchange rate diferences
Increases

733

1,686

-

2,420

Write-offs/Contractual changes

-7,593

-2,769

-255

-10,617

Balance as at December 31, 2020

52,551

12,304

729

65,585

25,261

6,480

262

32,004

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Exchange rate diferences
Increases

-

-

-

-

8,428

3,394

133

11,955

Write-offs/Contractual changes

-6,463

-3,188

-262

-9,913

Balance as at December 31, 2020

27,226

6,686

134

34,046

Acquisition cost

52,551

12,304

729

65,585

Accumulated amortizations

27,226

6,686

134

34,046

-

-

-

-

25,325

5,618

595

31,538

Accumulated impairment losses
Net value
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Write-offs/contractual changes are mainly in respect
of lease contracts that ended during the period.
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Note 10
Investments in associate companies
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, Investments in
associate companies were as follows:

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

1,160

1,122

1,099

1,262

2,260

2,385

SurPapel, SL
Römerturm Feinstpapier GmbH
& Co KG

On 31 December 2021 and the period then ended, the
financial information regarding shares in Investments
in associated companies is as follows:

122

ASSETS

SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY

REVENUES

NET PROFIT
AND LOSS

% SHARE
CAPITAL

APROPRIATED
NET PROFIT
AND LOSS

BALANCE
SHEET
VALUE

COMPANY

HEADQUARTER

SurPapel, SL

Polígono Industrial
Guadalquivir, c/
Tecnología, 1
41120 Gelves,
Sevilha, Spain

6,590

1,835

9,609

155

25%

39

1,160

Römerturm
Feinstpapier
GmbH & Co KG

Alfred-Nobel-Straße 19
50226 Frechen
Germany

10,237

6,059

17,305

2,454

25%

616

1,099

655

2,260
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Note 11
Assets at fair value through profit and loss
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of
Assets at fair value through profit or loss was as
follows:

2021

2020

120

119

Non-current
Other
Current
Other

The movement during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020, under the caption Assets at fair value
through profit or loss was as follows:

Balance as at January 1, 2020
Balance as at January 1, 2020

2,482

Acquisitions

-

Disposals

-

Distribution of dividends
Share of results
Balance as at December 31, 2020

Acquisitions
Disposals
Distribution of dividends
Share of results
Balance as at December 31, 2021

-

119

122

Acquisitions

-

Disposals

-

Changes in fair value
Balance as at December 31, 2020

-3
119

-97
2,385

-780
655
2,260

Acquisitions

-

Disposals

-

Changes in fair value
Balance as at December 31, 2021

1
120
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The movement occurred during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020, in the caption Investments
in associated companies, was as follows:

120
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Note 12
Deferred taxes
All situations that may significantly affect future
taxes are recorded on the financial statements
on 31 December 2021 and 2020.
In 2021 and 2020, the movements in assets and
liabilities due to deferred tax were as follows:

01-01-2021

TRANSFERS

FAIR VALUE
RESERVE AND
OTHER RESERVES

NET PROFIT AND
LOSS OF THE YEAR
(NOTE 30)

31-12-2021

391

-

-

272

663

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Taxable provisions
Unused tax losses
Others

26,262

-

-

1,312

27,574

6,930

3,847

-492

-1,375

8,910

33,584

3,847

-492

209

37,148

-1,216

-

-

-45

-1,261

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Reavaluation of fixed assets
Depreciations

-25,859

-

-

2,212

-23,646

Others

-20,595

-3,847

-

731

-23,711

-47,670

-3,847

-

2,898

-48,618

-14,086

-

-492

3,107

-11,471

01-01-2020

TRANSFERS

FAIR VALUE
RESERVE AND
OTHER RESERVES

NET PROFIT AND
LOSS OF THE YEAR
(NOTE 30)

31-12-2020

972

-

-

-581

391

21,568

-

-

4,694

26,262

6,273

-

109

548

6,930

28,813

-

109

4,662

33,584

Net deferred tax

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Taxable provisions
Unused tax losses
Others

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Reavaluation of fixed assets
Depreciations
Others

Net deferred tax
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-1,288

-

-

72

-1,216

-24,548

-

-

-1,310

-25,859

-20,844

-

-

248

-20,595

-46,680

-

-

-990

-47,670

-17,866

-

109

3,672

-14,086
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In 2021, of the negative ¤ 492 thousand recognised
above in Fair value reserves and other reserves,
- ¤ 401 thousand are presented under Actuarial
gains and losses in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income, - ¤ 91 thousand are presented under
Translation differences, in the same statement.
In 2020, of the ¤ 109 thousand recognised
above in Fair value reserves and other reserves,
¤ 158 thousand are presented in Actuarial gains and
losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income,
- ¤ 49 thousand are presented in Currency translation
differences, in the same statement.
The deferred tax liabilities shown under Other above
relate essentially to the valuation of brands.
Deferred tax assets for tax losses are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be a
fiscal benefit, through the existence of future taxable
income. The Group recognised deferred tax assets
in the amount of ¤ 27,574 thousand, regarding the
tax losses that can be offset against future taxable
profits, as given below:

COMPANY

TAX VALUE 2020

LIMIT DATE

7,447

8,458

no limit

Inapa España

7,207

7,249

no limit

Inapa Belgium

1,329

1,344

no limit

Inapa Deutschland

11,591

9,139

no limit

-

71

27,574

26,262

Others

In the current year, the entities indicated above
presented fiscal losses, and the Board has evaluated
the probability of recovery, through projections of
cash flows, taking into account the deadline date
of use of those losses, adjusting the calculations,
although the entities are not considered cash
generating units, per se.

The growth rate after 5 years was the one used for
the impairment tests to Goodwill (paper distribution
segment) and brands (Notes 8 and 9).
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TAX VALUE 2021

Inapa France
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Note 13

Note 14

Inventories

Trade Receivables

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, inventories consisted
as follows:

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, trade receivables
were as follows:

2021

Finished and intermediate products
Merchandise

2020

651

655

55,863

64,073

56,514

64,728

-1,482

-2,516

55,032

62,212

2020

59,167

109,678

Trade receivables
Trade receivables – current account
Trade receivables – bills of Exchange
Doubtful trade receivables

Adjustment for realisable value
(Note 17)

2021

6,291

3,951

10,899

13,856

76,357

127,484

Acummulated impairment losses (Note 17)

-10,556

-11,863

Trade receivables - net balance

65,801

115,621

No inventories were allocated as a guarantee of
fulfilling contractual liabilities.
The cost of sales for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 amounted to ¤ 782,581 thousand and
¤ 832,172 thousand, respectively, and was calculated
as follows:

2021

2020

Initial inventories

64,728

72,554

Purchasing and inventory adjustments

775,318

823,286

56,214

64,728

783,531

831,112

Final inventories

Impairment losses (Note 17)
Reversals of impairment losses (Note 17)
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946

1,204

-1,897

-144

782,581

832,172

During the years 2021 and 2020, the Group
recognised an impairment loss of ¤ 1,580 thousand
and ¤ 1,462 thousand respectively, related to the
strengthening of the impairment of customers, which
was recorded under the heading Other costs (Notes
17 and 27).
The reduction in the Trade receivables balance in
2021 is associated with the completion of credit
assignment transactions through a factoring contract
in the Group's German operations that covers the
vast majority of customer balances in that geography
(see Note 21). The sale of credits under this contract
meets the conditions that allow their derecognition
(Note 2.11).

127

Note 15
Tax to be recovered and Other assets
In 31 December 2021 and 2020, the caption Tax to be
recovered was as follows:

TAX TO BE RECOVERED

2021

Income tax

5,437

5,854

Value added tax

1,057

4,475

Other taxes

2020

149

1,563

6,642

11,892

The caption Other current debtors include a credit
over BBVA which is in judicial recovery (¤ 0.9 million)
for irregular movement of funds. Additionally, it
includes balances to be received from suppliers
and credit insurance companies in the various
geographies, as well as receivables from the sale
of receivables from customers through factoring
contracts (see Note 14 and Note 21 d)).
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, Accrued income
corresponds essentially to the accrual at year-end of
the amount receivable related to income obtained by
the Group resulting from negotiation processes on
purchases and bonus on purchases to be received
from suppliers.

Note 16
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the balances of
Other current and non-current assets are analysed as
follows:

2021

The breakdown of Cash and cash equivalents
on 31 December, 2021 and 2020, was as follows:

2020

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Advance on account
Other debtors
Accumulated impairment losses (Note 17)

500

500

3,584

3,682

-711

-668

3,373

3,514

2,888

1,131

Immediately available bank deposits
Cash
Cash and cash equivalents
in balance sheet

2021

2020

7,950

9,291

32

63

7,982

9,354

-974

-18,741

7,009

-9,386

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Advances to suppliers
Other debtors
Accumulated impairment losses (Note 17)

Accrued income
Deferred costs

39,850

16,858

-881

-881

38,969

15,977

14,987

12,226

2,431

3,929

59,275

33,262

The caption Other non-current debtors include,
among others, guarantee deposits with factoring
companies (¤ 805 thousand) and loans granted
(¤ 1.5 million).

Bank overdrafts
Cash and cash equivalents on the
cash flow statement

Bank overdrafts include current account credit
balances with financial institutions, included in the
balance sheet under Loans (Note 21).
In 2020, Payments relating to financial investments
presented in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
in the amount of ¤ 31,662 thousand refer to the
payment of Vendor Loan Note, following the
acquisition of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG
in 2019.
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OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
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A reconciliation was made between the movements
of the financing items included in the balance sheet
and the respective cash flows for the periods ended
31 December, 2021 and 2020.

01-01-2021

PROCEEDS FROM
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

PAYMENTS IN
RESPECT OF
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NON-MONETARY
MOVEMENTS

EFFECT OF
EXCHANGE
DIFFERENCES

31-12-2021

221,462

178,810

-50,659

-165,394

-811

183,408

Loans

102,921

-

-

-

-

86,387

Bank overdrafts

-18,741

-

-

-

-

-974

84,180

29,902

-160,556

134,283

-2,396

85,413

211

-

-14,611

16,009

-

1,609

305,853

208,712

-225,825

-15,102

-3,207

270,430

01-01-2020

PROCEEDS FROM
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

PAYMENTS IN
RESPECT OF
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NON-MONETARY
MOVEMENTS

EFFECT OF
EXCHANGE
DIFFERENCES

31-12-2020

220,985

151,046

-43,185

-106,968

-419

221,462

Loans

110,066

-

-

-

-

102,921

Bank overdrafts

-19,238

-

-

-

-

-18,741

90,827

64,857

-195,530

125,003

-978

84,180

462

-

-16,607

16,356

-

211

312,275

215,903

-255,321

34,391

-1,396

305,852

2021
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Subtotal
Other current liabilities
– accrued interest (Note 24)

2020
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Subtotal
Other current liabilities
– accrued interest (Note 24)

Non-cash movements include reclassifications from
non-current to current liabilities over the period,
accruals of expenses, as well as financial transactions
with no associated cash flow.
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Note 17
Impairments
During the financial years 2021 and 2020, recognised
asset impairments had the following movements:

Balance as at January 1, 2020

GOODWILL
(NOTE 8)

OTHER
INTANGIBLE
ASSETS
(NOTE 9)

INVENTORIES
(NOTE 13)

TRADE
RECEIVABLES
(NOTES 14
AND 27)

OTHER
CURRENT AND
NON-CURRENT
ASSETS (NOTES
15 AND 27)

TOTAL

11,766

27,464

1,456

12,326

1,205

54,222

Increases

-

-

1,204

1,462

317

2,982

Utilisation/transfers

-

-

-

-869

27

-842

Reversals

-

-

-144

-669

-

-813

Exchange rate differences

-

-

-385

-

-385

27,464

2,516

11,864

1,549

55,164

Increases

-

-

946

1,580

43

2,569

Utilisation/transfers

-

-

-83

-1,065

-

-1,148

Reversals

-

-

-1,897

-1,268

-

-3,165

Exchange rate differences
Balance as at December 31, 2021

-

-

-

-554

-

-554

11,766

27,464

1,482

10,556

1,592

52,866

The effect of increases and reversals of impairment
losses of inventories are recorded in cost of sales
(Note 13).

Increases and reversals of inventory impairment by
segment for the periods ended 31 December 2021 and
2020 is presented below:

OTHER
BUSINESS AND
ACTIVITIES

TOTAL

PAPER

PACKAGING

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

Increase of inventories impairment

820

126

-

-

946

Reversal of inventories impairment

-1,860

-37

-

-

-1,897

PAPER

PACKAGING

VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER
BUSINESS AND
ACTIVITIES

TOTAL

Increase of inventories impairment

1,106

98

-

-

1,204

Reversal of inventories impairment

-65

-79

-

-

-144

2021

2020

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11,766

Balance as at December 31, 2020
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Note 18
Share capital
Share capital
As of 31 December 2021, the share capital is
represented by 526,225,508 shares, all of which are of
an ordinary nature. The share capital, in the amount of
¤ 180,135 thousand, is fully subscribed and paid up.
At the General Meeting of 21 May 2021, the
shareholders of INAPA - Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, S.A. approved the proposal for the
allocation of profits presented by the Board of

Directors, pursuant to which the negative net result
for 2020, in the amount of ¤ 15.453.731,26, was
transferred to retained earnings.
In 2021, Inapa – IPG was notified under Articles 16 and
248-B of the Portuguese Securities Code and CMVM
Regulation 5/2008, regarding the change in qualified
shareholdings.
Ordinary shares are traded with the ISIN
PTINA0AP0008.
The shareholder structure as at 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020 is as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2021
SHAREHOLDER

ORDINARY
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY
SHARES

% VOTING
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), S.A.

236,199,384

44.89%

33.33%

112,996,710

21.47%

21.47%

19,483,041

3.70%

3.70%

Shares attributed to Millennium BCP
Pension Fund of BCP Group
Banco Comercial Português
Nova Expressão SGPS, S.A.
Novo Banco, S.A.
Total of qualified participations

93,513,669

17.77%

17.77%

43,500,000

8.27%

8.27%

34,445,831

6.55%

6.55%

427,141,925

81.17%

69.62%

DECEMBER 31, 2020
SHAREHOLDER

ORDINARY
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY
SHARES

% VOTING
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), S.A.

236,199,384

44.89%

33.33%

Shares attributed to Millennium BCP

142,543,884

27.09%

27.09%

49,030,215

9.32%

9.32%

93,513,669

17.77%

17.77%

36,900,000

7.01%

7.01%

Pension Fund of BCP Group
Banco Comercial Português
Nova Expressão SGPS, S.A.
Novo Banco, S.A.
Total of qualified participations

Own shares
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group did not
hold any of its own shares.
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34,445,831

6.55%

6.55%

450,089,099

85.53%

73.98%
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Note 19

The Revaluation reserves mainly correspond to the
value of the assets revalued on the date of transition
to IAS/IFRS.

Share issuance premium, Reserves and
Retained earnings
As of 31 December, 2021 and 2020, the breakdown
of Share issuance premium, Reserves and Retained
earnings was as follows:

Share issuance premium
Foreign exchange adjustments

2021

2020

431

431

-10,282

-8,790

Revaluation reserve

31,532

31,532

Legal reserve

7,574

7,574

Other reserves

-9,041

-10,102

Reserves

19,782

20,214

-46,240

-30,786

Retained earnings

The variation in Retained earnings reflects the
application of the previous year's results.
In the current period, amounts previously presented
in comprehensive income were not reclassified to the
income statement.
Business legislation requires that at least 5% of
the net annual income is held in a legal reserve
account until it represents at least 20% of the Share
Capital. This reserve may not be distributed unless
the company is liquidated, but may be used to
cover losses, after other reserves are exhausted, or
incorporated in the share capital.

Note 20
Earnings per share

The foreign exchange adjustments reserve includes
the difference in foreign exchange conversion of all
the Group's assets and liabilities expressed in foreign
currencies to euros using the exchange rates at the
date of the balance sheet. The negative variation of
¤ 1,492 thousand is presented in the comprehensive
income statement under the heading Balances that
may in the future be reclassified to profit or loss.
The variation of Other reserves in the amount of
¤ 1,061 thousand mainly concerns balances that
will not be reclassified to results, more precisely,
to actuarial gains and losses.

The basic earnings per share are calculated based
on the net profit and loss for the year attributable
to Inapa - IPG and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in circulation. The basic earnings per
share and diluted earnings per share are as follows:

2021

2020

3,314

-15,454

526,226

526,226

157,184

157,184

Basic earnings per share - in euros

0.0063

-0.0294

Diluted earnings per share - in euros

0.0048

-0.0226

Net profit and loss for the period
– in euros
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares
Convertible bonds – potential shares
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The Share issue premium corresponds to the
difference between the nominal value of Inapa – IPG
shares held and their issue value and cannot be
distributed as dividends, but may be included in the
Share Capital or may be used for covering losses.
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Also, to be noted that, in accordance with paragraph
no. 69 of IAS 33, even in the presence of a negative
net profit, the same rules should be applied to
determine the amounts to be considered in the
earnings per share calculation.
Convertible bonds - potential shares are the
convertible bonds that were issued to adquire
Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG (see Note 21).
These bonds give to the holder a conversion option
(american) into 23% of ordinary shares of Inapa - IPG
(fixed-for-fixed).

Note 21
Loans and other financial liabilities
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the debt was
detailed as follows:

2021

2020

CURRENT DEBT
Bank loans
Bank overdrafts

a)

974

18,741

Short-term financing

a)

16,303

-

Commercial paper, redeemable at its
nominal value

b)

6,521

6,607

Medium and long-term financing
(portion maturity within 1 year)

c)

29,370

10,186

53,167

35,533

Convertible bonds

e)

3,000

-

Trade finance

d)

19,968

56,371

Finance leases

3,354

1,804

Liabilities related to the right of use
assets

6,898

9,213

86,387

102,921

Total current debt
NON-CURRENT DEBT
Bank loans
Commercial paper, redeemable at its
nominal value

b)

15,241

17,093

Other medium and long-term financing

c)

114,137

150,505

129,378

167,598

12,000

15,000

11,256

14,491

30,774

24,373

183,408

221,462

269,795

324,383

Convertible bonds
Finance leases
Liabilities related to the right of use
assets
Total non-current debt

e)

a) Bank overdrafts and short-term financing have
annual renewal periods and bear interest at the
Euribor 1, 3, 6 or 12 month rate plus a spread.
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b) The commercial paper debt is as follows:
The Group has commercial paper issuance
programs negotiated with a contractual
maturity of up to one year, which it classifies as
current liabilities. In cases where the Group has
negotiated maturity terms of more than one year,
the installment due up to one year is classified as
current liabilities and the remaining amount as
non-current liabilities.

ISSUER

AMOUNT

MATURITY

INTEREST RATE

REPAYMENT

Inapa - IPG and Inapa Portugal

15,191

Inapa - IPG and Inapa Portugal

750

September 2025

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Half-yearly installments

September 2022

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Quarterly installments

Inapa - IPG
Inapa - IPG

3,000

February 2022

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Bullet at maturity

2,900

June 2023

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Monthly installments

c) The medium and long-term financing, including
the portion maturing up to 1 year, is detailed
essentially as follows:

MATURITY

INTEREST RATE

REPAYMENT

51,961

April 2033

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Annual installments

35,404

June 2035

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Annual installments

7,591

November 2033

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Half-yearly installments

7,073

October 2022

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Bullet at maturity

3,932

March 2024

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Monthly installments

2,504

March 2025

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Quarterly installments

2,093

June 2024

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Monthly installments

1,290

December 2023

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Annual installments

1,189

March 2024

Variable rate indexed to Euribor

Quarterly installments

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The Group secured in 2020 specific credit lines made
available in the context of COVID-19, which amounts
as at 31 December 2021 are detailed as follows:
i.

Financing guaranteed by the French State
for an amount of ¤ 9,674 thousand (¤ 10,800
thousand at 31 December 2020). They bear
interest at a fixed rate between 0.20% and
0.80% and are repayable by May 2026.

ii. Financing with the guarantee of the German
State in the amount of ¤ 9,167 thousand
(¤ 10,000 thousand at 31 December 2020).
Bear interest at a fixed rate of 2.12%. To be
repaid in quarterly instalments, the last one in
September 2022.
iii. Financing with Portuguese State guarantee
amounting to ¤ 3,250 thousand. Interest is
due monthly at the Euribor 6 months rate
plus 1.50 percentage points. To be repaid in
monthly instalments up to 2026, with a grace
period of up to 18 months.
d) Bank loans associated with factoring operations
in the amount of ¤ 19,968 thousand, the capital
being guaranteed by customer invoices. In 2020,
it also included the Group's German companies,
and during 2021, a factoring contract was
contracted in this geography that meets the
assigned conditions that allow the derecognition
of the accounts receivable (see Note 14).
e) Convertible bonds issued in the amount of
¤ 15,000 thousand. These were issued in favour
of Papyrus GmbH, as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH
& Co. KG. They bear interest quarterly at a fixed
rate of 5.00%. To be repaid in 5 instalments, the
first in July 2022 and the last in July 2026.
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the debt relating
to finance leases was as follows:

DEBT RELATING TO FINANCE LEASES AND TO RIGHT OF USE LIABILITIES

Non-current
Current

2021

2020

42,030

38,864

10,252

11,017

52,282

49,881

Rents - not discounted
Less than a year

11,933

12,801

Between 1 and 5 years

35,541

33,427

More than 5 years

Finance cost to be supported

8,469
54,697

-5,485

-4,817

52,282

49,880

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As indicated above, on 31 December 2021, the Group
has convertible bonds issued in the amount of
¤ 15 million. These bonds, which give the holder the
option to convert (American type) 23% of Inapa – IPG
ordinary shares (fixed-for-fixed), were issued in
favour of Papyrus GmbH, as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH
& Co. KG. The implicit valuation of the option must
therefore be seen strictly in the context of the
acquisition of Papyrus, as a whole, and does not
constitute a relevant benchmark for valuation outside
this framework. In accordance with the measurement
principles of IAS 32, since the interest rate on the
obligation in this transaction exceeds comparable
interest, no value was attached to the option for
accounting purposes.

10,293
57,767
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the non-current
and current loans obtained and the liabilities under
finance lease contracts had the following repayment
terms and periods:

CURRENCY

INTEREST
RATE

LESS THAN
1 YEAR

1 TO 5
YEARS

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

TOTAL

Bank loans

Eur

3.8%

17,277

-

-

17,277

Bank loans

Try

-

-

-

-

-

Commercial paper

Eur

4.5%

6,521

15,241

-

21,762

Other loans

Eur

3.4%

29,370

49,856

64,281

143,506

Trade finance

Eur

1.6%

19,968

-

-

19,968

Convertible bonds

Eur

5.1%

3,000

12,000

-

15,000

Finance lease obligations

Eur

4.1%

3,354

10,213

1,043

14,610

Right of use liabilities

Eur

4.0%

6,898

21,134

9,640

37,671

86,388

108,443

74,964

269,795

INTEREST
RATE

LESS THAN
1 YEAR

1 TO 5
YEARS

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

TOTAL

2021

2020

CURRENCY

Bank loans

Eur

3.9%

16,982

-

-

16,982

Bank loans

Try

21.2%

1,759

-

-

1,759

Commercial paper

Eur

4.6%

6,607

17,092

-

23,699

Other loans

Eur

3.4%

10,186

68,300

82,205

160,691

Trade finance

Eur

2.6%

56,372

-

-

56,372

Convertible bonds

Eur

5.1%

-

12,000

3,000

15,000

Finance lease obligations

Eur

4.0%

1,804

11,692

2,799

16,295

Right of use liabilities

Eur

4.0%

The variation in the average interest rate in Turkey is
essentially due to country risk.
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9,213

18,049

6,324

33,586

102,922

127,133

94,328

324,383

At 31 December 2021, the Group had available
approximately ¤ 77,600 thousand relating to
credit lines that were not used, namely factoring
(31 December 2020: ¤ 119,800 thousand).
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the net amount of
consolidated financial debt is as follows:

2021

2020

Loans
Current
Non-current

53,167

35,533

129,378

167,598

182,545

203,132

Trade finance

19,968

56,371

Convertible bonds

15,000

15,000

Finance lease obligations
Right of use liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 16)

16,295
33,586

269,795

324,383

7,982

9,354

7,982

9,354

261,813

315,029

Loans contracted by the Group may be subject to
financial covenants which, if not met, could entail
their early repayment.
The covenant currently in force, the respective
ratio and the balance of the related financing as of
31 December 2021 is as follows:

2021
LOANS

THOUSANDS OF EUROS

RATIO DESCRIPTION

RATIO

LIMIT

1,290

Net debt/Shareholders’ Equity

22.71%

50%

Bank loan - Inapa France

The ratio is calculated according to the financial
statements of the company which secured the loan.
Given the contractual limit, the Group complied with
the limit that this financing requires.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14,610
37,672
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Note 22

Note 23

Provisions

Employee benefits

During the years 2021 and 2020, the following
movements took place under Provisions:

As explained in Note 2.21, the Group has
implemented defined benefit pension plans for
some of its employees. In addition, other types of
post‑employment benefits exist, as described below.

NONCURRENT

CURRENT

Balance as at January 1, 2020

9,176

-

Increases (Notes 26 and 27)

1,483

5,398

Utilisation

-1,760

-

Reversals

-

-

Transfers

-1,781

1,781

Balance as at December 31, 2020

7,119

7,179

Increases (Notes 26 and 27)
Utilisation
Reversals (Note 25)
Transfers
Balance as at December 31, 2021

37

-

-1,347

-3,795

-161

-1,842

-

-

5,648

1,542

The balance of this caption corresponds to provisions
for restructuring costs and risks inherent to litigation
associated with ongoing legal actions.

2021

2020

17,640

19,323

4,140

4,994

21,780

24,316

117

176

134

297

251

473

-1,462

566

Balances on the balance sheet for:
Employee benefits:
Contribution to pension plan
- Defined benefits
Other post-employment benefits
- Defined benefits

Expenditure in the income statement:
Contribution to pension plan
- Defined benefits
Other post-employment benefits
- Defined benefits

Amount recognized in Retained earnings:

The increase of the year 2020 is mainly due to
restructuring procedures underway in Germany and
France which was partially used in 2021.
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Contribution to pension plan
- Defined benefits
Others

-

-

-1,462

566
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The total amount of liabilities for past services and
the respective funds related to the defined benefit
plans granted to employees are as follows:

DECEMBER 31:

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

-21,780

-24,316

-24,618

-6,676

-6,731

-5,700

-19,869

-

-

-

-

-

133

11,232

-21,780

-24,316

-24,618

-6,676

-6,731

-5,567

-8,637

Experience adjustments plan liabilities

6

6

6

6

-30

-51

-58

Experience adjustments on plan assets

-

-

-

-

-6

26

264

Past service liabilities
Fund
Surplus or deficit of the plan

a) Defined benefits Pension plan

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies,
on 31 December 2021 and 2020, the present value of
the defined benefit liability for defined pension plans
and the corresponding accounting provision, were as
follows:

Companies located in Portugal

Inapa France, S.A.
Defined benefit pension plans exist for three
employees of Inapa France, which are managed by an
external entity. The liability is financed in part by the
fair value of the assets managed by an external entity
(insurance company) and contributions to the fund
are made annually.

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

2021

2020

Past services cost obligations

838

825

Present value of the uncovered
obligation

838

825

The movements occurred in the past service liability
related to pension supplements and respective fund
were as follows:

Actuarial valuation conducted by an independent
organization reported for 31 December 2021 and
2020 the following actuarial assumptions:
DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Beginning of the year

Future salary increases rate
Discount rate
Mortality table

2021

2020

825

818

9

10

2021

2020

Current service cost

1.30%

1.30%

Interest cost

3

6

0.80%

0.35%

Actuarial losses/(gains)

1

-10

TGF/TGH
2005

TGF/TGH
2005

Benefits paid

-

-

838

825

End of the year
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On 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no
pension plans for members or employees of the
Group’s Portuguese companies.
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The amounts recognised in the income statement are
as follows:

COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR

2021

2020

Current service cost

9

10

Interest costs

3

6

12

16

Total costs included in personnel
costs

The amounts recognised in reserves are as follows:

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)

2021

2020

Expected return on Plan assets

-

-

Past services cost obligations

1

-10

1

-10

pension commitments, such as fixed pensions and
pensions based on the respective remuneration; and
deferred remuneration under annual agreements for
the waiver of remuneration/single payment of the
benefit. The liability related to these pension plans is
not covered by any fund constituted for this purpose
and therefore it is fully recorded in the Group's
balance sheet.
The responsibility of Inapa Deutschland, GmbH,
calculated on the basis of an actuarial study valuation
conducted by an independent organisation, for the
purpose of applying IAS 19, is recognised under
the balance sheet caption Liabilities for employee
benefits and amounted, on 31 December 2021, to
¤ 16,802 thousands (2020: ¤ 18,496 thousands).
The actuarial study carried out by an independent
entity, reported on 31 December 2021, considered the
following actuarial assumptions:

2021

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
From the ex-Papier Union, GmbH (now part of Inapa
Deutschland, GmbH), a supplementary pension
scheme (locked in 1982) was attributed to 17 of its
current and former employees, active and retired,
calculated on the basis of 0.4% of the salary earned
in each year of service with the company up to a
maximum of 12%. The liability regarding this pension
plan is not covered by any pension plan assets
formed for this purpose and consequently it is fully
recorded on the Group balance sheet.
From the ex-Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG
(now part of Inapa Deutschland, GmbH), 452 of
its current and former employees, both active and
pensioners, were attributed a differentiated defined
benefit pension supplement scheme. The benefit
plans include: fixed pensions depending on the
number of years of service; fixed pensions arising
from the first 10 years of service, with a subsequent
annual increase of a flat-rate pension; individual
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2020

Future salary increases rate

2.20%

2.20%

Discount rate

0.80%

0.40%

Future pensions increases rate
Mortality table

1.80%

1.80%

RT 2018 G

RT 2018 G

According to the respective actuarial study, on
31 December 2021, the present value of the obligation
corresponding to the defined retirement benefits and
respective accounting provision, was as follows:

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

2021

2020

Past services cost obligations

16,802

18,496

Present value of the uncovered
obligation

16,802

18,496
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The movement recorded in past service liabilities was
as follows:

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Beginning of the year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses/(gains)
Regularizations
Benefits paid
End of the year

2021

2020

18,496

18,678

29

49

76

130

-834

701

-

-19

-965

-1,042

16,802

18,496

b) Other post-employment benefits
In accordance with local legislation, the French
subsidiaries are obliged to pay its workers a sum on
the date of retirement, on a single go, based on the
number of years of employment with the company,
the professional category and the salary earned at
the time of retirement. The value of these liabilities is
recorded on the balance sheet for Inapa France on
31 December 2021 amounted to ¤ 2,994 thousand
(2020: ¤ 3,594 thousand).
The liabilities related to these retirement benefits for
services rendered were determined based on the
following actuarial assumptions:

The amounts recognized in the income statement are
as follows:

2021
Future salary increases rate
Discount rate

COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR

2020

Current service cost

29

49

Interest costs

76

130

0

-19

105

159

Regularizations
Total costs included in personnel
costs

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are
as follows:

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)
Recognition of actuarial losses/(gains)
Actuarial losses/(gains)

2021

2020

-

-

-834

701

-834

701

Mortality table

1.25%

1.25%

0.95%

0.35%

INSEE
2015‑2017

INSEE
2014‑2016

In accordance with the respective actuarial study, on
31 December 2021 and 2020 the present value of the
defined benefit obligation and the related accounting
provision were as follows:

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

2021

2020

Past services cost obligations

2,994

3,594

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2021

2020
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Similarly, in relation with the same benefit provided
in the French law, the liability registered in the
balance sheet of subsidiary Inapa Packaging, SAS.
as of 31 December 2021, amounts to ¤ 251 thousand
(2020: ¤ 397 thousand).

The movements recorded in past service costs
liabilities related to benefits attributed were as
follows:

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2021

2020

3 594

3 808

Current service cost

35

173

Interest cost

12

26

-465

-199

-182

-213

-

-

2 994

3 594

Beginning of the year

Actuarial losses/(gains)
Benefits paid
Other
End of the year

The liabilities related with these retirement benefits
for services rendered were determined based on the
following actuarial assumptions:

2021

2020

Future salary increases rate

2,00%

2,00%

Discount rate

0,95%

0,35%

INSEE
2015‑2017

INSEE
2014‑2016

Mortality table

Actuarial losses and gains include a loss of
¤ 193 thousand relating to the effect of changes in
demographic and financial assumptions used in the
calculation of liability, an increase of ¤ 265 thousand
related to reductions/terminations and an increase
of ¤ 7 thousand related to of other actuarial
adjustments.

In accordance with the respective actuarial study, on
31 December 2021 and 2020 the present value of the
defined liability and related accounting provision was
as follows:

The values recognized on the Income statement,
are as follows:

COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR

2021

2020

Current service cost

35

173

Interest costs

12

26

47

199

Total costs included in personnel
costs

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

2021

2020

Past services cost obligations

251

397

The movements recorded under past service costs
liabilities related to benefits attributed were as
follows:

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are
as follows:

Beginning of the year
Current service cost
Interest cost

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)
Recognition of Actuarial losses/(gains)
Actuarial losses/(gains)

2021
-

-

-465

-199

-465

142

2020

-199

Actuarial losses/(gains)
Benefits paid
Other
End of the year

2021

2020

397

352

-12

25

1

2

-105

18

-31

-

-

-

251

397
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The values recognised in the income statement are as
follows:

COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR
Current service cost
Interest costs
Total costs included in personnel
costs

2021

2020

-12

25

1

2

-11

28

Recognition of actuarial losses/(gains)
Actuarial losses/(gains)

2021

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

2021

2020

Past services cost obligations

406

464

The movements recorded in past service costs
liabilities related with benefits attributed were as
follows:

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are as
follows:

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)

According to the respective actuarial study, at
31 December 2021 and 2020, the present value of the
liability corresponding to defined retirement benefits
and the respective accounting provision was as
follows:

2020

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

-

-

-105

18

Beginning of the year
Current service cost

-105

18

Interest cost
Actuarial losses/(gains)

End of the year

2020

464

385

-5

29

1

3

-22

47

-32

-

406

464

The amounts recognised in the income statement are
as follows:

The liabilities relating to these retirement benefits
for services rendered were determined based on
the following actuarial assumptions:
COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR
Current service cost
2021

2020

Future salary increases rate

2.00%

2.00%

Discount rate

0.95%

0.35%

INSEE
2015 2017

INSEE
2014 2016

Mortality table

Interest costs
Total costs included in personnel
costs

2021

2020

-5

29

1

3

-4

32

The amounts recognised in Retained earings are as
follows:

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)
Recognition of Actuarial losses/(gains)
Actuarial losses/(gains)

2021

2020

-

-

-22

47

-22

47
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Benefits paid

Also relating to the same benefit provided for
in French legislation the subsidiary Semaq at
31 December 2021 recorded a liability in the
balance sheet of approximately ¤ 406 thousand
(2020: ¤ 464 thousand).

2021
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The amounts recognised in the income statement are
as follows:

Still regarding the same benefit required by French
legislation, the subsidiary Embaltec on 31 December
2021 recorded a balance sheet liability of ¤ 194
thousand (2020: ¤ 215 thousand).

COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR

The liabilities related to these retirement benefits for
services rendered were determined based on the
following actuarial assumptions:

2021

2020

-7

15

1

1

-7

16

Current service cost
Interest costs
Total costs included in personnel
costs

Future salary increases rate
Discount rate
Mortality table

2021

2020

2.00%

2.00%

0.95%

0.35%

INSEE
2015 2017

INSEE
2014 2016

The amounts recognised in Retained earings are as
follows:

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)

According to the respective actuarial study, at
31 December 2021 and 2020, the present value of the
liability corresponding to defined retirement benefits
and the respective accounting provision was as
follows:

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

2021

2020

Past services cost obligations

194

215

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Beginning of the year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses/(gains)
Benefits paid
End of the year
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Recognition of Actuarial losses/(gains)
Actuarial losses/(gains)

2021

2020

215

176

-7

15

1

1

-15

23

-

-

194

215

2020

-

-

-15

23

-15

23

In addition, Inapa France awards bonuses for seniority
to its employees who reach a certain number of years
of service, calculated as follows:

TIME OF SERVICE

The movements recorded under past service costs
liabilities related to benefits attributed were as
follows:

2021

AMOUNT*

20 years

300 ¤

-

30 years

500 ¤

+ 1 day off

35 years

700 ¤

-

40 years

1 000 ¤

+ 1 day off

* After deduction of amounts already allocated under previous conditions.
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The liabilities on 31 December 2021 reached
¤ 97 thousand (2020: ¤ 117 thousand) are fully
booked on the balance sheet. These were calculated
according to the following assumptions, based on the
current value of the projected salaries, for personnel
in active employment:

The amounts recognised in Retained earings are as
follows:

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)
Recognition of Actuarial losses/(gains)
Actuarial losses/(gains)

Future salary increases rate
Discount rate
Mortality table

2021

2020

1.25%

1.25%

0.95%

0.35%

INSEE
2015 2017

INSEE
2014 2016

The movements recorded in liabilities for past
services related to attribute benefits were as follows:

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Beginning of the year
Current service cost

Actuarial losses/(gains)

-

-

-18

-14

-18

-14

Inapa Packaging, SAS also awards seniority bonuses
to its employees, calculated as follows:

TIME OF SERVICE

AMOUNT

20 years

500 ¤

30 years

500 ¤

2021

2020

35 years

500 ¤

117

146

40 years

500 ¤

3

4

0

1

-18

-14

Benefits paid

-5

-21

End of the year

97

117

The amounts recognised in the income statement are
as follows:

The liabilities on 31 December 2021 reached
¤ 12 thousand (2020: ¤ 15 thousand) and are fully
booked on the balance sheet. These were calculated
based on the following assumptions:

Future salary increases rate
Discount rate
Mortality table

COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR

2020

2021

2020

Current service cost

3

4

Interest costs

-

1

Total costs included in personnel
costs

4

5

2021

2020

2.00%

2.00%

0.95%

0.35%

INSEE
2015 2017

INSEE
2014 2016
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Interest cost

2021
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The movements recorded in past service liabilities
related to retirement benefits were as follows:

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Beginning of the year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses/(gains)
Benefits paid
End of the year

2021

2020

15

14

1

1

-

-

-3

-

-

-1

12

15

According with local legislation, when an employee
retires, subsidiary Korda is obliged to make a single
payment, of a defined amount, that reflects the
years of time service, and wage at the time of the
retirement. In Turkey, these payments are calculated
over periods of 30 consecutive days (with a limit to
a maximum of 7,639 TRY per year of employment,
between January and June 2021 and 8,285 TRY per
year of employment, between July and December
2021).
The liabilities arising from this retirement benefits for
services rendered were determined on the following
actuarial assumptions:

The amounts recognised in the income statement are
as follows:
Future salary increases rate
Discount rate
COST RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR

2021

2020

Current service cost

1

1

Interest costs

-

-

Total costs included in personnel
costs

1

1

Beginning of the year
Effect of exchange differences

ACTUARIAL LOSSES/(GAINS)
Recognition of actuarial losses/(gains)
Actuarial losses/(gains)
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2021

2020

-

-

-3

-

-3

-

2020
8.5%

4.01%

4.67%

The liability recognised in the balance sheet
at 31 December 2021 is ¤ 186 thousand
(2020: ¤ 192 thousand).

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

The amounts recognised in Retained earings are as
follows:

2021
14.10%

2021

2020

192

243

-109

-67

Current service cost and Interest costs

103

16

End of the year

186

192

147

Note 24

The increase in Other creditors is mainly related to
credit balances with clients resulting from the sales
bonus process.

Tax liabilities, Other non-current liabilities,
Suppliers and Other current liabilities

The Accruals and deferrals item can be analysed as
follows:

On 31 December 2021 and 2020 the heading Tax
liabilities breakdown is as follows:

2021

2020

Income tax

10,387

10,539

Value added tax

12,605

15,601

Social Security contributions

1,662

1,610

Other taxes

4,178

3,262

28,831

31,011

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the caption Other
non-current liabilities, Suppliers and Other current
liabilities breaksdown as follows:

2020

2020
5,840

36

69

Accrued interests

1,609

211

Transportation costs

2,390

1,551

546

1,027

Honoraries
Marketing support

135

48

Insurance

532

342

Interest debit to trade receivables

2,318

370

Others

4,160

1,546

18,590

11,003

Note 25
Sales and services rendered and Other income

Other non-currents liabilities
Other creditors

Income tax

2021
6,863

17

58

17

58

104,616

100,176

Sales and services rendered and Other income Sales
and Service rendered for the years ending on 31
December 2021 and 2020, breakdown as follows:

Suppliers
Current account
Invoices in progress

4,854

4,681

109,470

104,857

Services rendered

Other current liabilities
Advances from trade receivables
Other creditors
Accruals and deferrals

Sales of merchandise and other
products

969

4,315

23,539

10,893

18,590

11,003

43,098

26,211

2021

2020

964,606

1,015,505

16,305

14,910

980,911

1,030,415

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2021

Personnel costs to be paid

Annual Report 2021

Note 27

In 2021 and 2020, the balances under the heading
Other income are analysed as follows:

Other costs
2021

2020

-

2,162

1,268

669

Net cash discounts
Reversals of impairment of current assets
(Note 17)
Reversals of provisions (Note 22)

2,003

-

Other income

9,235

8,013

12,506

10,844

In 2021 and 2020, the balances under Other costs are
analysed as follows:
2021

2020

76,378

81,152

Net cash discounts

2,773

-

Indirect taxes

4,624

4,532

37

46

1,580

1,462

43

317

Administrative expenses

Provisions (Note 22)

The caption Other income refers to services charged
to trade receivables, advertisement, debt recovery,
income for space rentals, amongst others.

Impairment of trade receivables (Note 17)
Impairment of current and non-current assets
(Note 17)
Other costs

Note 26
Personnel costs

516

639

85,952

88,148

Administrative and commercial expenses can be
broken down as follows:

In 2021 and 2020, Personnel costs breakdown as
follows:

Wages and salaries
Social Security contributions
Pension costs (Note 23)
Provisions (Note 22)
Other personnel costs

2021

2020

73,487

67,865

16,460

17,118

251

473

-

6,835

3,898

12,822

94,096

105,114

Wages and salaries include the amount of ¤ 977
thousand in respect of the Board of Directors (2020:
¤ 986 thousand)
Personnel costs include restructuring expenses
totalling ¤ 678 thousand (2020: ¤ 9,791 thousand).
The Group had in its service, on average, during the
year, 1,643 employees (2020: 1,709), of which 1,452
(2020: 1,521) in companies based abroad.
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Distribution expenses
Marketing expenses
Facilities expenses
Personnel related expenses
IT expenses
Others

2021

2020

45,149

44,007

3,073

2,813

14,560

16,087

6,630

8,343

3,138

4,465

3,830

5,437

76,379

81,152
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Note 28

The caption Other costs and financial losses includes,
amongst others, costs associated with the issuing of
commercial paper (2021: ¤ 115 thousand, 2020: ¤ 145
thousand), commissions (2021: ¤ 939 thousand; 2020:
¤ 768 thousand), stamp duty (2021: ¤ 216 thousand;
2020: ¤ 156 thousand), and financing - factoring
(2021: ¤ 1,603 thousand, 2020: ¤ 444 thousand).

Depreciations and amortizations
In 2021 and 2020, the balances under this heading
breakdown are as follows:

Tangible fixed assets (Note 7)

2021

2020

3,571

4,654

Intangible assets (Note 9)

2,090

1,902

Rights of use assets (Note 9)

9,643

11,955

15,304

18,511

Note 29
Financial results
Financial income and financial costs for 2021 and
2020, are as follows:

2020

Interests obtained

30

185

1,135

712

36

13

1,201

910

Interests paid

11,170

13,410

Negative FX

1,487

829

Positive FX
Other profits and financial income

FINANCIAL COSTS

Other profits and financial losses

Net financial function

3,352

2,117

16,009

16,356

-14,807

-15,447

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 30
Income tax
Income tax for the years ending on 31 December 2021
and 2020 breakdown as follows:

The Group Board of Directors believes that any
corrections that may be made by the tax authorities
as a result of inspections/revisions will not have
a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements at 31 December 2021.
The tax on Group profits before tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would result from
applying the weighted average tax on profits to the
consolidated profit, as can be seen below:

2021

2020

Current taxes

-1,125

-896

Deferred taxes (Note 12)

3,107

3,672

1,982

2,776

2021

2020

1,332

-18,230

Nominal average tax on profits

-399

5,469

Income tax - value

1,982

2,776

2,382

-2,693

Net income before tax on profits

In accordance with the tax law in force in each
country, the tax declarations of the companies
included in the consolidation are subject to revision
and correction by the tax authorities over the course
of a period, which in Portugal and Germany is 4 years
and in France is 3 years. In most of the countries
where the Group operates, tax losses can be
deducted from taxable income in subsequent years,
in Portugal for a maximum period of 14 years for tax
losses generated in the years 2014 to 2016, and in the
other geographies for an unlimited period, subject to
review by the tax authorities.
However, in Portugal, tax losses generated in 2017
to 2019 can be deducted for a period of 7 years and
the tax losses generated in 2020 and 2021 can be
deducted for a period of 12 years.
Portuguese companies of the Group are subject to
corporate income tax at the nominal rate of 21%,
added for 1.5% for derrama (municipal surcharge),
resulting in an aggregate tax rate of 22.5% (with state
surcharge applicable to taxable profits over ¤ 1.5
million). French companies of the Group are subject
to a tax rate of 26.5%, and a progressive reduction of
the tax rate to 25% has already been approved until
2022. German companies of the Group are subject to
two types of income tax, both under IAS 12 as income
tax, on different profit concepts, with trade tax rates
of 12.6% to 20.3% (depending on the state) and
corporate tax of 15.83%, translating into an average
tax rate of 30.99% over income.
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Differences - Portugal

-335

234

69

-267

2,246

-1,577

116

121

286

-1,204

Tributable dividends

-

-

Others

-

-

2,382

-2,693

Differences - France
Differences -Germany
Differences - Turkey
Differences - Other countries

In 2021, the nominal weighted average rate of tax on
profits was 30% (2020: 30%).
The average nominal tax rate is the average of the
nominal tax rates of the various countries in which the
Group operates.
In 2021, in the differences against the tax amount
calculated based on the average nominal rate,
totalling ¤ 2,382 thousand, ¤ 681 thousand respect
to differences between the statutory rate of each
country and the average nominal rate and ¤ 1,701
thousand correspond to permanent differences.
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In 2020, in the differences against the tax amount
calculated based on the average nominal rate,
totalling negative - ¤ 2,693 thousand, ¤ 356 thousand
respect to differences between the statutory rate
of each country and the average nominal rate
and - ¤ 3,049 thousand correspond to permanent
differences.

The bank guarantees, as well as the real guarantees,
were provided in the scope of the financing
contracted (see Note 21), responding only to the
extent of their responsibilities.

Note 32
Contingencies

Note 31
Commitments
a) Guarantees
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the responsibilities
assumed by the Group in guarantees to third parties,
were as follows:

At 1 August 2007, Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e
Comércio, S.A. brought proceedings against Inapa
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. and
its subsidiaries Inaprest - Prestação de Serviços,
Participações e Gestão, S.A. (now liquidated)
and Inapa Portugal - Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
requesting, in summary:
• The annulment of the following acts:

2020

115,414

122,396

-

-

Bank guarantees
In favour of financial institutions
In favour of third parties of an
operational nature

Real guarantees
On tangible fixed assets

28,504

32,410

143,917

154,806

The bank guarantees provided are divided as follows
by geography:

2021

2020

- The constitution, in June 2006, of a collateral
security as a counter-guarantee for the letters
of comfort issued by Inapa - Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, S.A. as a guarantee for
the financial instruments held by that company
with Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de
Crédito Agrícola Mútuo;
- The restructuring performed, in 1991, to
concentrate the paper supply activity in SDP
(now Inapa Portugal) and the production and
marketing of envelopes in Papelaria Fernandes;
- The acquisition, in 1994, of the stake held
by Papelaria Fernandes in SDP (now Inapa
Portugal);
- The compensation for credits arising, also
in 1994, between Papelaria Fernandes and
Inaprest.
• Demanding that Inapa:

Portugal

54,412

58,443

Germany

46,735

48,735

Others

14,267

15,219

115,414

122,396

Total

- Maintain the comfort letters issued in favour
of Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de
Crédito Agrícola Mútuo;
- Compensate Papelaria Fernandes should
the collateral security be executed as
counter‑guarantee for the letters of comfort.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio, S.A.
subsequently came to put its liabilities to Banco
Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola
Mútuo in order, such that:
• The letters of comfort issued by Inapa – IPG
ceased to have purpose, being returned by the
respective beneficiaries;
• Consequently, this company communicated to
Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio, S.A.,
the verification of the resolutive condition of the
commercial pledge set up in its favour.
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The action, which had an estimated value of ¤ 24.460
million, was contested by Inapa – IPG and by its
subsidiary Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
and, presently, awaits the ruling of the Court in favour
of the dissolution/liquidation of Inaprest – Prestação
de Serviços, Participações e Gestão, S.A. The Group
believes that this action will not have financial
impacts, and, therefore, no provision was made.
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Note 33
Related parties transactions
The balances on 31 December 2021 and 2020 with
entities related to the Group are as follows:

2021

SurPapel, SL
BCP

2020

SurPapel, SL
BCP

BANK
DEPOSITS

OTHER CURRENT
AND NONCURRENT ASSETS

64

-

-

-

-

3

1

314

-

90,552

6,528

343

65

314

-

90,552

6,528

346

TRADE
RECEIVABLES

BANK
DEPOSITS

OTHER CURRENT
AND NONCURRENT ASSETS

BANK
LOANS

FIXED ASSET
SUPPLIERS

OTHER CURRENT
AND NON-CURRENT
LIABILITIES

29

-

-

-

-

3

1

153

-

92,806

7,530

381

30

153

-

92,806

7,530

384

TRADE
RECEIVABLES

BANK
LOANS

OTHER CURRENT
AND NON-CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FIXED ASSET
SUPPLIERS

During 2021 and 2020, transactions with related
parties of the Group were as follows:

2021

SurPapel, SL
BCP

2020

SurPapel, SL
BCP

SALES AND
SERVICES
RENDERED

OTHER
INCOME

FINANCIAL
INCOME

OTHER
COSTS

FINANCIAL
COSTS

168

3

-

11

-

-

-

-

-

3,652

168

3

-

11

3,652

SALES AND
SERVICES
RENDERED

OTHER
INCOME

FINANCIAL
INCOME

OTHER
COSTS

FINANCIAL
COSTS

80

-

-

25

-

-

-

-

-

3,695

80

-

-

25

3,695
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The liability with BCP includes the current value of
¤ 7,851 thousand (2020: ¤ 7,404 thousand).
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The related parties considered relevant for the
purposes of the financial statements were the
associated companies listed in Note 10, the
shareholders with a stake of over 20% mentioned in
Note 18 and key management personnel.

Key management personnel remuneration
Key management personnel correspond to the
members of the management body of the company
and others, who, not being members of the body,
have direct or indirect authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the company’s
activities.
The remunerations paid by Inapa – IPG to key
management personnel of the governing bodies in
2021 and 2020 are analysed as follows (thousands of
euros):

2021

2020

977

986

1,590

1,675

Board of Directors
Wages

Other key management personnel
Wages

154

155

Note 34
Companies included in the consolidation
The subsidiaries included in the consolidation,
by applying the full consolidation method, as of
31 December 2021, are as follows:

DESIGNATION

REGISTERED
OFFICE

GROUP %
STAKE

ACTIVITY

DIRECT
SHAREHOLDER

INCORP.
DATE

Rua das Cerejeiras, n.º 5,
Vale Flores
2710-632 Sintra
Portugal

100

Paper supply

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

1988

Inapa España Distribuición
de Papel, S.A.

Calle Delco, n.º 1-3
Polígono Industrial Ciudad
del Automóvil
28914 Leganés, Madrid
Spain

100

Paper supply

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

dec/98

Inapa France, S.A.

11 rue de la Nacelle - Villabé
91813 Corbeil-Essonnes Cedex
France

100

Paper supply

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

may/98

Inapa Belgium, S.A.

Vaucampslaan, 30
B-1654 Huizingen
Belgium

100

Paper supply

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

may/98

Inapa Packaging, SAS

14, Impasse des Moines
91410 Dourdon
France

100

Packaging

Europackaging Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, Lda.

jan/08

Inapa Deutschland Holding
GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90A
D-22083 Hamburg
Germany

100

Holding

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

apr/00

Inapa Deutschland GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90A
D-22083 Hamburg
Germany

100

Paper supply

Inapa Deutschland Holding
GmbH

apr/00

Inapa Packaging GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90A
D-22083 Hamburg
Germany

100

Packaging

Inapa Deutschland GmbH

Inapa – Merchants, Holding, Ltd

39 Hendon Lane
Finchley Central, London, N3 1RY
United Kingdom

100

Holding

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

Inapa ComPlott GmbH

Industriestraße 7
40822 Mettmann
Germany

100

Visual
Communication

Inapa Deutschland GmbH

Edições Inapa, Lda.

Rua Braamcamp 40 - 9.º D,
1250-050 Lisboa
Portugal

100

Editing

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

nov/09

Europackaging - Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, Lda.

Rua Braamcamp 40 - 9.º D,
1250-050 Lisboa
Portugal

100

Holding

Inapa – IPG, S.A.

oct/11

Inapa Angola – Distribuição
de Papel, S.A.

Largo 17 de Setembro, n.º 3
– 3.º andar – Sala 302
Edifício Presidente Business Center
Luanda
Angola

100

Paper supply

Inapa Portugal, S.A.

2006

1995

jan/08

dec/09
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DESIGNATION

REGISTERED
OFFICE

GROUP %
STAKE

ACTIVITY

DIRECT
SHAREHOLDER

INCORP.
DATE

Semaq Emballages, S.A.

Bordeaux Fret – Z.I de Bruges
Rue de Strasbourg,
33521 BRUGES cedex
France

100

Packaging

Inapa Packaging, SAS

Inapa Shared Center, Lda.

Rua das Cerejeiras, n.º 5,
Vale Flores
2710-632 Sintra
Portugal

100

Shared Services

Inapa – IPG, S.A. e Inapa
Portugal, S.A.

Inapa Comunicação Visual, Lda.

Rua das Cerejeiras, n.º 5,
Vale Flores
2710-632 Sintra
Portugal

100

Visual
Communication

Inapa Portugal, S.A.

KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama ve
Ticaret Anonim S,irketi

Kasap Sokak. Konak Azer Ishani
34394 Istambul
Turkey

100

Paper supply

Inapa - IPG, S.A.

sep/13

Inapa Packaging, Lda.

Rua Gonçalves Zarco, 3386
4450-822 Santa Cruz do Bispo
Portugal

100

Packaging

Europackaging Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, Lda.

sep/13

Embaltec SAS

Z.A.E. de l’Epinette
59850 NIEPPE
France

100

Packaging

Inapa Packaging, SAS

nov/16

Inapa Vertriebs GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90A
D-22083 Hamburg
Germany

100

Holding

Inapa Deutschland GmbH

sep/12

Inapa Logistics GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90A
D-22083 Hamburg
Germany

100

Holding

Inapa Deutschland GmbH

sep/12

Inapa Netherlands BV

Nassauplein 30
NL-2585 Den Haag
Holanda

100

Paper supply

Inapa Deutschland Holding
GmbH

All balances and transactions with subsidiaries were
eliminated in the consolidation process.

feb/12

jul/12

jan/13

may/18

Note 35
Companies excluded from consolidation
In the year ended 31 December 2021, all controlled
entities were included in the consolidation process.

156

157

Note 36

Inapa Group has no direct exposure to the Ukrainian
and Russian markets, but will naturally continue to
monitor developments in this situation. Not being
possible to estimate at this moment the impacts of
this conflict in the medium/long term, at this date
no material impacts were identified that should
lead to alterations in the financial statements for
31 December 2021.

Costs incurred with services provided by the
current auditors
In the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, the amounts paid for services provided to
subsidiary companies by auditors were as follows:

2021

Statutory Audit
Reliability assurance services
Tax consultation services
Other services

2020

527

465

23

21

-

77

-

5

549

569

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY LAW
Under the terms of paragraph 1 of Article 210 of Law
Nr. 110/2009 of 16 September, we inform you that the
consolidated companies do not have any outstanding
debts to the Social Security or the State.

The services provided above include costs with
services provided by Mazars France in the amount of
¤ 131.5 thousand, related to Statutory Audit Services.

Subsequent Events
On 24 February 2022, a military conflict began,
triggered by the Ukraine invasion by the Russian
Federation, to which the international community
responded with the application of strong economic
sanctions. These events created uncertainty in
the evolution of economies and financial markets
worldwide, putting severe pressure on energy costs
as well as on certain raw materials costs, which were
already recording a significant growth trend. So
far, the market has shown the capacity to deal with
higher prices resulting from this situation.
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Statutory Audit Report
and Auditors’ Report on
the Consolidated Financial
Statements
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STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Free translation of a report originally issued in Portuguese language: In case of doubt the Portuguese version will
always prevail)
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section
of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted in the European Union (IFRSs).
Basis for Qualified Opinion
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the financial statement line “Goodwill” includes the amount of 209,366
thousand Euros (net of accumulated impairment losses in the amount of 11,766 thousand Euros) (note 8) related
with goodwill allocated to paper cash generating unit and the financial statement line "Other intangible assets"
includes the amount of 103,227 thousand Euros (net of accumulated impairment losses of 27,464 thousand
Euros), corresponding to brands (note 9). As of 31 December 2021, the Entity prepared an impairment test to the
amount of goodwill and to the amount of brands. The Board of Directors makes significant judgments on the most
relevant assumptions considered in the preparation of the above mentioned impairment tests, namely:
(i) expectation of sales and margins evolution during the period covered by the budgets approved by the Board of
Directors; (ii) growth rate of cash flows beyond that period (perpetuity growth rate); and (iii) discount rate of the
estimated cash flows. Additionally, it should be mentioned that as referred in notes 2.1 and 3.e) of the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the health crisis caused by the pandemic resulting from Covid-19 with
consequences still noted during the first half of 2021, had impact on the activity of the Group's subsidiaries.
However, considering the significant deviations noted in the last years from the economic performance projected
in the budgets previously approved, partially related with the economic environment previously described but
also considering the prospected evolution of the pandemic, the future economic impacts of the recent armed
conflict in Ukraine and the consequent expectation about the economic recovery and its impact on the
development of the Group’s activity and on the profitability of its operations, during the course of our audit, we
did not obtain sufficient and appropriate support information to enable us to assess the reasonableness of the
assumptions considered in the preparation of the above mentioned impairment tests, as such we are not able
conclude on any eventual adjustments that might be necessary to the consolidated financial statements as of
31 December 2021.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and further technical and
ethical standards and guidelines as issued by Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas (the Portuguese Institute of
Statutory Auditors). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section below. We are independent from
the entities that constitute the Group in accordance with the law and we have fulfilled other ethical requirements
in accordance with the Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas code of ethics.

3. Financial Information Statutory Audit Report and Auditors’ Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e
Gestão, S.A. (“the Entity”) and of its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as of 31 December 2021 (showing a total of 686,221 thousand Euros and equity of
157,422 thousand Euros including a net profit of 3,314 thousand Euros), the consolidated statement of profit and
loss by nature, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of the significant accounting policies.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified opinion.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified
Opinion” section we have determined the matter described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
Description of the most significant risks of material
misstatement identified

Summary of the auditor’s responses to the
assessed risks of material misstatement

Going concern
As at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of
financial position reveals that current liabilities exceed
current assets.
As described in note 2.1 of the accompanying notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the Board of
Directors assessed the Group's ability to operate on a
going concern basis, through the preparation of a
projection of short-term cash flows, which considers
the negative effects arising from Covid -19 that were still
noted in the first half of 2021, as well as the economic
effects the recent armed conflict in Ukraine
and the fact that current liabilities exceed current assets,
which is partially explained by how the Group finances its
activities with recourse to factoring operations.
The Board of Directors, considering that: (i) the factoring
operations are negotiated within a time horizon that
extends beyond twelve months after the date of
approval of the financial statements, and there is a
perspective of maintaining the financing lines currently
available; (ii) during 2022 obtained confirmation from the
leading bank of the consortium of a short-term financing
contracted by the Group's German subsidiary, that the
agreement to postpone the reimbursement to 2023 was
approved, the respective formalization being subject to
the fulfillment of a set of conditions that depend only on
measures to be fulfilled by the Board of Directors, and
there is capacity and intention to fulfill them; and (iii)
completed “sale and leaseback” operations that allow
the refinancing of short-term loans; understands that the
Group has adequate resources to maintain its activities,
with no intention of ceasing activities in the short term,
and therefore it concluded that the going concern basis,
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the Entity as of 31 December 2021,
remains appropriate.
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The audit procedures performed to assess the
projection of short-term cash flows, included:
•

Obtain and test the arithmetic accuracy of the
projection of short-term cash flows;

•

Inquiry and interactions with the Board of
Directors and employees responsible for the
preparation of the cash flows projection, in
relation to the assumptions considered in the
projection;

•

Analysis of the consistency between the
projected operational and investment cash
flows and the associated income, expenses
and investments verified in 2021;

•

Analysis of the consistency between the
expected evolution of cash flows from
operational activities and the OECD forecasts
for the evolution of the gross domestic
product in the main geographies in which the
Group operates, taking into account the
negative effects arising from Covid-19 and the
economic effects the recent armed conflict in
Ukraine;

•

Compare the loan repayments included in the
cash flows from financing activities and the
Group's short-term liabilities as at 31
December 2021;
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The projection of short-term cash flows prepared by the
Board of Directors requires that significant judgments be
made regarding the expected evolution of the business,
in a context of increased uncertainty.

Obtain the supporting documentation relating
to the time horizon of the factoring
operations, of the approval of the agreement
to postpone to 2023 the reimbursement of the
short term loan of the German subsidiary of
the Group and the respective conditions, and
the sale and leaseback agreement;

•

Analysis of the consistency between interest
payments included in cash flows from
financing activities, the projected average
indebtedness and the average financing cost
of the Group;

•

Analysis of the sensitivity of the projection of
cash flows to negative variations in the
Group's activity.

•

Assessment of the reasonableness of
disclosures made in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

Responsibilities of management and supervisory body for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for:
-

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial
position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted in the European Union (IFRSs);

-

the preparation of the management report in accordance with applicable laws and regulations;

-

designing and maintaining an appropriate internal control system to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

-

the adoption of accounting policies and principles appropriate in the circumstances; and

-

assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and disclosing, as applicable, the matters that
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The supervisory body is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

3. Financial Information Statutory Audit Report and Auditors’ Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consequently, we consider as a key audit matter the
assessment of the Group's ability to operate on a going
concern basis, based on the projection of short-term cash
flows prepared by the Board of Directors, as well as the
respective disclosures made.

•
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
-

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

-

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control;

-

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management;

-

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern;

-

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;

-

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion;

-

communicate with those charged with governance, including the supervisory body, regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit;

-

determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, including the supervisory
body, those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter;

-

provide the supervisory body with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Our responsibility also includes the verification that the information contained in the management report is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements, the verification of the requirements as provided in
numbers 4 and 5 of article 451.º of the Portuguese Companies’ Code, as well to verify that the statement of nonfinancial information and remuneration report were presented.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)
The consolidated financial statements of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. as of 31 December 2021
must comply with the requirements established in the Delegated Regulation (UE) 2019/815 of the Commission, of 17
December 2018 (“ESEF Regulation”).
Management is responsible for the preparation and disclosure of the annual report in conformity with the ESEF
Regulation.

Our procedures considered the Guia de Aplicação Técnica da Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas (OROC) on the
Reporting under ESEF and included, among others:
-

obtain an understanding of the financial Reporting process, including the presentation of the annual report in the
valid XHTML format, and

-

identification and evaluation of the risks of material misstatement associated to the tagging of the information of
the consolidated financial statements in XBRL format, using the iXBRL technology. This assessment was based on
the understanding of the process implemented by the Entity to tag the information.

In our opinion, the consolidated the financial statements included in the annual report are presented, in all material
aspects, in conformity with the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation.
We also emphasize that the Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements above includes a qualified opinion.
On the management report
Pursuant to article 451.º, n.º 3, al. e) of the Portuguese Companies’ Code (“Código das Sociedades Comerciais”),
except for the possible effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of the Report
on the audit of the consolidated financial statements, it is our opinion that the management report was prepared
in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements and the information contained therein is
consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements and, having regard to our knowledge and
assessment over the Group, we have not identified any material misstatements. In compliance with article 451.º,
n.º 7 of the Portuguese Companies’ Code, our opinion is not applicable to the consolidated statement of nonfinancial information included in the consolidated management report.
About the corporate governance report
In compliance with article 451.º, n.º 4, of the Portuguese Companies’ Code (“Código das Sociedades Comerciais”),
it is our opinion that the corporate governance report includes the elements required to the Entity under the
terms of article 29º-H of the Portuguese Securities Code (“Código dos Valores Mobiliários”), and we have not
identified any material misstatements in the information disclosed in such report, which, accordingly, complies
with the requirements of items c), d), f), h), i) and m) of the n.º1 of that article.
About the consolidated non-financial information
In compliance with article 451.º, n.º 6, of the Portuguese Companies’ Code, we inform that the Group included in
the Management report the statement of non-financial information foreseen in article 508.º-G of the Portuguese
Companies’ Code.

3. Financial Information Statutory Audit Report and Auditors’ Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility consists in obtaining reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements, included in
the annual report, are presented in conformity with the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation.
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About the remuneration report
We inform that the Entity has included in an autonomous chapter, in its corporate governance report, the
information foreseen in article 26.º-G, n.º2 of the Portuguese Securities Code.
On the additional matters provided in article 10 of Regulation (UE) 537/2014
Pursuant to article 10 of Regulation (UE) 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of April 16 th,
2014, in addition to the key audit matters mentioned above, we also report on the following:
-

We were appointed as auditors of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. in the shareholders’
general assembly held on 15 April 2016 for a first mandate from 2016 to 2018, and in the shareholders’
general assembly held on 23 May 2019 we were appointed for a second mandate from 2019 to 2021.

-

Management has confirmed to us that they are not aware of any fraud or suspicion of fraud having occurred
that has a material effect on the financial statements. In planning and executing our audit in accordance with
ISAs, we maintained professional scepticism and we designed audit procedures to respond to the risk of
material misstatements in the consolidated financial statements due to fraud. As a result of our work, we
have not identified any material misstatement on the consolidated financial statements due to fraud.

-

We confirm that the audit opinion issued is consistent with the additional report that we prepared and
delivered to the Group’s supervisory body as at 29 April 2022.

-

We declare that we have not provided any prohibited services as described in article 77.º, n.º 8, of the
Estatutos da Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas (Portuguese Institute of Statutory Auditors Bill) that
was revoked, and of article 5, number 1, of the Regulation (UE) number 537/2014 and we have remained
independent from the Entity in conducting the audit.

Lisbon, 29 April 2022

Deloitte & Associados, SROC S.A.
Represented by Jorge Carlos Batalha Duarte Catulo, ROC
Registration in OROC n.º 992
Registration in CMVM n.º 20160607
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Individual Financial
Statements
Individual Statement of Financial
Position as of December 31, 2021
and December 31, 2020
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

6

51

38

Investment properties

7

12,211

12,486

Right of use

8

93

119

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets

Intangible assets

8

118

111

Investments - equity method

9

284,948

282,001

13

13

Investments - other methods
Other non-current receivables

13

25,413

24,827

Deferred tax assets

10

27

27

322,874

319,622

4,632

3,379

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Trade receivables

11

Tax to be recovered

12

197

86

Other current receivables

13

13,869

14,529

Deferrals
Cash and bank deposits
Total current assets
Total assets
To be read together with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.
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4

209

401

511

2,718

19,417

21,113

342,291

340,736

169

(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

Share capital

15

180,135

180,135

Issuance premium

15

432

432

Legal reserves

15

7,574

7,574

Other reserves

15

890

890

Retained earnings

15

15,134

13,954

Other shareholders' equity changes

15

-50,057

-32,992

3,314

-15,454

157,422

154,540

100,775

110,307

100,775

110,307

208

200

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Net profit/(loss) for the year
Total Shareholders’ Equity
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Loans

16

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Suppliers
12

126

113

16

68,558

63,356

Other payables

17

15,202

12,220

Total current liabilities

84,094

75,889

Total liabilities

184,869

186,196

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

342,291

340,736

To be read together with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

3. Financial Information Individual Financial Statements

Tax liabilities
Loans

Annual Report 2021

Income Statement as at December 31,
2021 and 2020

(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

5 and 18

1,598

1,642

INCOME AND EXPENSES
Sales and services rendered
Gains/(losses) in associated/subsidiary companies
General and administrative expenses
Personnel costs

9

3,645

-16,634

19

-3,011

-2,393

20

-2,029

-1,976

Other gains and profits

18

9,512

9,865

Other losses and expenses

21

Net profit/(loss) before depreciations, financial function and income tax

Depreciations and amortizations

22

Operational result (before financial function and income tax)

-349
-9,844

-413

-416

9,107

-10,260

3,129

Financial income - interests and similar gains

23

1,307

Financial costs - interests and similar costs

23

-6,303

-7,759

4,111

-14,889

Net profit/(loss) before income tax

Income tax

10

-797

-565

Net profit/(loss) for the period

24

3,314

-15,454

Basic earning per share

24

0.0063

-0.0294

Diluted earning per share

24

0.0048

-0.0226

To be read together with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity as at
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020

(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

SHARE
CAPITAL

SHARE
ISSUANCE
PREMIUM

RETAINED
EARNINGS

ADJUSTMENTS
ON FINANCIAL
ASSETS

RESERVES

NET PROFIT/
(LOSS) FOR
THE PERIOD

TOTAL

180,135

432

8,464

15,230

-26,641

-4,143

173,478

Reclassification of equity method
from previous period

-

-

-

2,867

-2,867

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-3,485

-

-3,485

-

-

-

2,867

-6,351

-

-3,485

Net profit/(loss) for the period

-

-

-

-

-

-15,454

-15,454

Total profit/(loss)

-

-

-

2,867

-6,351

-15,454

-18,938

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

NOTES
As at January 1, 2020
Changes in period

Shareholders' equity movements in
the period
Other operations
- Net profit/(loss) applications

15

-

-

-

-4,143

-

4,143

-

-

-

-

-4,143

-

4,143

-

180,135

432

8,464

13,954

-32,992

-15,454

154,540

Reclassification of equity method
from previous period

-

-

-

16,634

-16,634

-

-

Total of comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-432

-

-432

-

-

-

16,634

-17,065

-

-432

Net profit/(loss) for the period

-

-

-

-

-

3,314

3,314

Total profit/(loss)

-

-

-

16,634

-17,065

3,314

2,883

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-15,454

-

15,454

-

-

-

-

-15,454

-

15,454

-

180,135

432

8,464

15,134

-50,057

3,314

157,422

As at December 31, 2020
Changes in period

Other operations
- Net profit/(loss) applications

As at December 31, 2021

15

To be read together with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.
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Shareholders' equity movements in
the period
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Statement of Comprehensive Income as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020

(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

Net profit for the period

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

3,314

-15,454

1,061

-407

-1,492

-3,077

-432

-3,485

2,883

-18,938

2,883

-18,938

2,883

-18,938

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Equity method adjustments

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Equity method adjustments

Income recognized directly in equity

Total comprehensive income for the period

9

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the company

3. Financial Information Individual Financial Statements

To be read together with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement as at December 31, 2021
and 2020

(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

248

1,667

Cash flow generated from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers
Payments to personnel
Net cash from operational activities

Income taxes (paid)/received
Other proceeds/(payments) relating to operating activity
Net cash generated from operating activities

1

-977

-1,677

-2,004

-1,984

-2,734

-1,994

-1,102

-1,039

8,524

11,910

4,688

8,877

2

-

Cash flow generated from investing activities
Proceeds from:
Tangible fixed assets
Interest and similar income
Loans conceded

To be read together with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.
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1,267

4,374

4,955

4,556

6,222

175

(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

NOTES

DECEMBER 31,
2021

DECEMBER 31,
2020

-

-13

Payments in respect of:
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets
Loans granted

Net cash used in investing activities

2

-

-74

-2,701

-3,500

-2,701

-4,086

1,855

2,135

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from:
Loans obtained

142,426

108,704

142,426

108,704

-144,954

-110,440

-316

-240

Payments in respect of:
Loans obtained
Amortization of financial leases

Net cash used in financing activities

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash-equivalents

-3,796

-6,598

-149,067

-117,278

3

-6,641

-8,574

1+2+3

-97

2,439

Effect of exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period

4

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period

4

To be read together with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

-

-

-97

2,439

608

-1,831

511

608

-97

2,439

3. Financial Information Individual Financial Statements

Interest and similar expenses

Annual Report 2021

Notes to the Individual Financial
Statements
Notes to the Financial Statements as at
December 31, 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros, except when specifically mentioned)

Note 1

Note 2

Introduction and identification

Accounting reference in the preparation of
financial statements

Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.
(Inapa – IPG or company) is the parent company of
Inapa Group, with the business purpose of owning
and managing movable and fixed assets, holding
shares in other companies, exploiting its own and
third-party commercial and industrial establishments
and providing support to companies in general.
Inapa – IPG is listed on the Euronext Lisbon. The most
relevant shareholders are mentioned in Note 15.
Designation: Inapa – Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, S.A.
Headquarters: Rua Braamcamp 40 - 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon, Portugal
Share Capital: 180,135,111 euros
N.I.P.C.: 500 137 994
These Financial Statements were approved for
issuance by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2022.
It is the opinion of the Board that these financial
statements appropriately reflect the Group's
operations as well as its financial performance.
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2.1. Basis of preparation
The separate financial statements of Inapa Group
are prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IAS/IFRS) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and the interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC) or the former Standing Interpretations
Committee (SIC), as adopted by the European Union
and in force on 31 December 2021.

177

2.2. N
 ew standards, interpretations and
amendments to standards
Up to the date of approval of these financial
statements, the following accounting standards,
interpretations, amendments and revisions have been
endorsed by the European Union, with mandatory
application for the financial year beginning on
1 January 2021:

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER

Amendments to standards IFRS 9, IAS
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 e IFRS 16 – Phase 2 of
the reform of benchmark Interest Rates
(IBOR Reform)

1-jan-21

Corresponds to additional amendments to standards IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, related to the second phase of the benchmark interest rate
reform project (known as "IBOR reform"), concerning changes to benchmark
interest rates and the impacts on changes to financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities, hedge accounting and disclosures.

Amendment to standard IFRS 16 – leases
– “COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021”

1-april-21

This amendment extends to 30 June 2022 the application of the optional
practical expedient whereby tenants are exempted from reviewing whether
rent concessions up to that date, typically rent suspensions or rent reductions,
relating to the "COVID-19" pandemic amount to contractual modifications

Amendment to IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts - Deferral of IFRS 9

1-jan-21

Corresponds to amendment to IFRS 4 that extends the deferral of application of
IFRS 9 to initial years on or after 1 January 2023

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION
Amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37
and Annual Improvements 2018-2020

The following accounting standards and
interpretations, with mandatory application in future
economic years, were, until the date of approval of
these financial statements, approved (“endorsed”) by
the European Union:

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER
1-jan-22

These amendments correspond to a a set of updates to the various standards
mentioned, namely:
- IFRS 3 - update of the reference to the 2018 conceptual framework;
additional requirements for the analysis of obligations under IAS 37 or
IFRIC 21 at the acquisition date; and explicit clarification that contingent
assets are not recognised in a business combination;
- IAS 16 – prohibition on deducting from the cost of a tangible asset income
related to the sale of products before the asset is available for use;
- IAS 37 – clarification that costs of fulfilment of a contract correspond to
costs directly related to the contract;
- Annual improvements 2018-2020 correspond essentially to amendments to
4 standards, IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Individual Financial Statements

As a result of the adoption of other standards,
interpretations, amendments and revisions referred
to above, no significant effects were produced on the
financial statements of the Inapa Group.
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STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER

IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

1-jan-23

This standard establishes, for insurance contracts within its scope, the principles
for their recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure. This standard
replaces IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts.

These amendments, although endorsed by the
European Union, have not been adopted by Inapa IPG in 2021, as their application is not yet mandatory.
It is not estimated that the future adoption of these
amendments will result in significant impacts on the
financial statements.
The following accounting standards and
interpretations were issued by IASB and are not yet
approved (“endorsed”) by the European Union:

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION

APPLICABLE IN
THE EUROPEAN
UNION IN THE
FINANCIAL YEARS
BEGINNING ON OR
AFTER

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of
financial statements - Classification of
liabilities as current and non-current

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB clarifies the classification of liabilities as
current and non-current by analyzing the contractual conditions existing at the
reporting date.

Amendment to standard IAS 1 –
Presentation of financial statements and
IFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure of
accounting policies

1-jan-23

This amendment published by IASB in February 2021 clarifies that material
accounting disclosed material accounting policies, rather than significant
accounting policies, and has introduced examples for identifying a material
accounting policy.

Amendment to IAS 8 - Accounting
policies, changes in accounting estimates
and errors - Defining of accounting
estimates

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB in February 2021 amends the definition
of accounting estimate for monetary amount in financial statements subject to
measurement uncertainty.

Amendment to IAS 12 Income Taxes Deferred Taxes

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB in May 2021 clarifies that the exemption
from initial recognition of deferred tax does not apply in transactions that
produce equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Amendment to IFRS 17 - Insurance
contracts - initial application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 - comparative information

1-jan-23

This amendment published by the IASB in December 2021 introduces
amendments on comparative information to be presented when an entity
adopts both IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 at the same time.

These standards have not been adopted yet
(“endorsed”) by the European Union and as such,
have not been applied by Inapa - IPG Inapa in the
financial year ending at 31 December 2021.
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In accordance with the internal analysis carried out by
the Company, it is the Board’s expectation that the
application of the standards above, which have not
yet been endorsed by the European Union, will not
have a significant effect on the company’s financial
statements.

Note 3
Principal accounting principles and valuation
criteria
The Board of Directors made an evaluation of the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
based on all relevant information, facts and
circumstances, of financial, commercial or other
nature, including subsequent events to the reference
date of the financial statements, available on the
future. In its evaluation, the Management considered
the consequences arising from the health crisis
caused by the pandemic resulting from COVID-19,
given the strong impact of the various confinements
in the first half of 2021, as well as the recent invasion
of Ukraine by the Russian Federation.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
This cost includes the estimated cost on the date of
transition to IFRS and the acquisition costs for assets
obtained after that date.
The acquisition cost includes the purchase price
of the asset, the costs directly attributable to their
acquisition, including non-deductible taxes, and
charges incurred in preparing the asset so as to be in
a usable condition.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of the
remaining assets is calculated, after the date on which
the assets are available for use, by the straight-line
method in accordance with the estimated useful life
period for each one, at the following rates:

Buildings and other constructions
Basic equipment

2% - 5%
7.14% - 12.5%

Transport equipment

20% - 25%

Administrative equipment

10% - 12.5%

Monthly depreciation begins in the month the assets
are available for use.
Maintenance and repair expenses that do not increase
the useful life of the assets, nor result in significant
benefits or enhancement in items of tangible fixed
assets, are booked in the income statement in the
fiscal year they occur.

ii) Investiment properties
Tangible fixed assets are classified as investment
property when held with the aim of achieving capital
appreciation and generating rental income.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Individual Financial Statements

As a result of the evaluation carried out, the Board of
Directors concluded that the Company has adequate
resources to maintain its activities, with no intention
of ceasing activities in the short term, and considered
it appropriate to use the assumption of continuity
of operations in the preparation of the financial
statements. This conclusion is not affected by the
current liabilities/current assets ratio, since it results
from the classification as a short-term liability of a
5-year bond issue fully placed with the subsidiary
Inapa France, SAS, the renewal of which, on the date
of the respective maturity for the medium/long term,
depends on the intention of the Company and is
expected to take place in the following year and there
is an intention to defer other liabilities with Group
companies during 2022 (see Note 5). Resulting from
the evaluation of the short-term cash flow projection,
the Group of which the Entity is the dominant
company has adequate financial resources to renew
the maturity of these liabilities.

i) Tangible fixed assets
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Investment property is initially valued at its
acquisition cost, including transaction costs directly
attributable to it. Since investment properties are fully
leased to Group companies, after initial recognition,
investment properties are valued at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life, using the same
rates as tangible fixed assets.

The amortization of an intangible asset with finite
useful lives is calculated from the date of first use,
according to the straight-line method, in accordance
with the estimated period of useful life, taking into
account the residual value.

Costs incurred for investment property in use,
namely, maintenance, repairs, insurance and taxes on
proprieties are recognized as expenses in the period
to which they relate. The leasehold improvements or
investment property for which there are expectations
that they will generate additional future economic
benefits beyond initial estimates, are capitalized
under the heading of Investment Properties.

iv) Lease contracts

Intangible assets are generally amortized over a
period of 5 years.

The company recognizes in the Statement of
Financial Position the tangible fixed assets used under
lease agreements (assets with rights of use). This
excludes the lease of low value assets and contracts
with a term of less than 12 months, the payments
of which are recognized as expenses in the Income
Statement in the period in which they occur, in a
linear manner throughout the lease.

iii) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are booked at acquisition cost, less
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets are recognized only if it is likely that
future economic benefits attributable to the asset will
flow to the Company, are controllable and their cost
can be assessed reliably.
The cost of acquisitions corresponds to the price
of purchase, including costs related to intellectual
property rights and taxes on non-redeemable
purchases, after deducting trade discounts and
rebates.
The assets with an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortization, but are subject to annual
impairment tests.
Development expenses are capitalized whenever the
Company demonstrates the ability to complete its
development and initiate their use and for which it
is likely that the asset will generate future economic
benefits. The development costs that do not meet
these criteria are expensed in the fiscal year they are
incurred.
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The right of use asset, is booked at cost in the
Statement of Financial Position, when the asset
becomes available for use by the company.
The lease liability is booked in the Statement of
Financial Position, at the current value of the lease
payments, for the non-cancellable period of the
contract. For this current value, the company uses
the incremental financing rate at the date of the
beginning of the contract.
Depreciation and impairment losses on assets under
right of use are calculated and booked as established
in Note 3. i) for tangible fixed assets, being
depreciated from the start date to the end of the
asset's useful life or until the end of the lease term,
the lesser of the two.
Interest included in lease payments, depreciation
and impairment losses are booked in the Income
Statement as an expense for the period to which
they refer. Interest expense is presented in financing
activities, in the cash flow statement.
The standard's impacts on the Lessor's position do
not differ from the policy previously followed, with
the receivables being recognized in a linear manner
throughout the contract.
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v) Investiments in subsidiaries and associates
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are booked
under the equity method.
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special-purpose
ones) over which Inapa – IPG has the power to
decide on the financial or operational policies, which
normally is associated with direct or indirect control
of more than half of the voting rights. Associates are
entities over which Inapa – IPG has between 20% and
50% of the voting rights or over which Inapa – IPG
has significant influence, but cannot exercise control.
According to the equity method, investments are
booked at acquisition cost, adjusted by the amount
corresponding to the Group's investment in the
changes in shareholders' equity (including net profit
or loss) of associates and by dividends received. The
change in the equity of associates, resulting from net
income, is booked in gains or losses for the period.

An evaluation of investments in associates is
performed when there are indications that the asset
may be impaired. When impairment losses recognised
in prior periods cease to exist, they are reversed.
Under the equity method, the financial statements
include the Company's share of total recognized
gains and losses since the date that the control or
significant influence begins until the date it effectively
ends. Unrealized gains or losses in transactions
between companies of the Inapa Group, including
associates, are eliminated. Dividends allocated by the
subsidiary or associate are considered reductions of
the investment held.

The accounting policies implemented by subsidiaries
and associates are changed, where necessary, to
ensure that they are consistently applied by Inapa –
IPG and by its subsidiaries and associates.
Entities that qualify as subsidiaries and associated
companies are listed in Note 9.

vi) Financial assets and liabilities
Inapa – IPG classifies financial assets as follows:
Amortised cost: Financial instruments (including
hybrid instruments that do not meet the separation
criteria), only with indexed principal and interest
flows, and which are part of the business model of
maintaining the instrument to receive the contractual
flows. The balances related to these assets are
recorded in the statement of financial position
balance under Trade Receivables, Other current and
non-current assets and Cash and cash-equivalents;
Fair value through other comprehensive income
(with recycling): Financial instruments (including
hybrid instruments), only with indexed principal and
interest flows, and which are part of the business
model of disposing of the financial instrument and
receiving the contractual flows. These assets and
liabilities are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
Investments recognised at fair value through profit
or loss: Financial assets, the ownership of which is
intended to be realised in the short term and include
Available-for-sale financial assets and Non-hedging
derivatives. It also includes instruments that are not
only with indexed principal and interest flows in
which the company has designated the instruments,
at their inception, to be measured at fair value, in
order to avoid accounting mismatches. These assets
and liabilities are measured at fair value through the
income statement.
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The differences between the acquisition cost and the
fair value of net assets and liabilities of the acquired
associate, if positive, are recognized as an asset
(implicit Goodwill) and maintained in Investments
in subsidiaries and associates (Note 9). If those
differences are negative, they are booked as profit in
Gains/(losses) in associated companies.

When the share of losses of a subsidiary or associate
exceeds the investment value, the Group recognizes
additional losses in the future, if the Group has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or subsidiary.
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Fair value through other comprehensive income
(without recycling): Shareholders' equity
investments, in which the company chooses on initial
recognition that the instrument be classified as such.
These assets and liabilities are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

Suppliers and Other payables
Suppliers and Other accounts payable are obligations
to pay for the purchase of goods or services, being
recognized initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortized cost, using the effective
interest rate.

Investments – other methods
Financial contributions corresponding to
shareholders' equity instruments (that are not
subsidiaries or associates) are measured at fair value.
Trade receivables and Other receivables
Trade receivables and Other receivables constitute
rights to receive for the sale of goods or services in
the Company's ordinary course of business, being
recognized initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortized cost less impairment
adjustments, if applicable (Notes 11 and 13).

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank
deposits, other short-term investments of high
liquidity and with initial maturities up to three months
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown on
the balance sheet as current liabilities in the heading
bank loans, and are considered in the statement of
cash flows as Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4).

viii) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses, which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. The credit risk of the accounts receivable
balance is evaluated at each reporting date, taking
into consideration the third party’s credit risk profile
(Note 14).

The Company evaluates assets for impairment on the
balance sheet date and whenever a change occurs to
circumstances indicating that the amount for which
an asset is booked may not be recovered (Note 14). In
the case of non-current assets that are not amortized
because they do not have a finite useful life,
impairment tests are carried out on a regular basis.

Financing

Whenever the asset’s book value is higher than
its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is
recognized, which is booked in the profit and loss
account or in shareholders' equity when the asset
has been revalued, in which case the respective
revaluation will be decreased. The recoverable
amount is the highest of either the fair value of an
asset less selling costs or its value in use.

Financing obtained is initially recognized at fair
value, net of transaction and set-up costs incurred.
The loans are subsequently booked at amortized
cost being the difference between the face value
and the initial fair value recognized in the profit and
loss account over the period of the loan, using the
effective interest rate.
The loans obtained are classified as current liabilities,
unless the Company has an unconditional right to
defer payment of the liability for at least 12 months
from the balance sheet date, being, in this case,
classified as non-current liabilities (Note 16).
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vii) Cash and cash equivalents

The reversal of impairment losses recognized in
prior fiscal years is booked when the reasons that
caused the booking thereof cease to exist (except for
Goodwill). The reversal is recorded in the profit and
loss account unless when the asset has been revalued
and its revaluation booked in shareholders' equity has
been reduced as a result of impairment losses.
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ix) P
 rovisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets

amount can be reliably valued and is accounted for
under the heading of Other income and gains.

Provisions are recognized when and only when, the
Company has a present obligation (legal or implicit)
resulting from a past event, and it is likely that to
settle the obligation, an outflow of resources will
occur and the obligation amount can be reasonably
estimated.

Interest income is recognized using the effective
interest method, provided it is likely that economic
benefits will flow to the Company and its amounts
can be reliably valued.

xi) Earnings basis
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and adjusted to reflect the best estimate at that
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
inherent in such estimates.
Provisions for restructuring expenses are recognized
when there is a formal and detailed restructuring
plan, which has been communicated to the parties
involved.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in financial
statements but are disclosed whenever the
likelihood of an outflow of resources encompassing
economic benefits is not remote. Contingent assets
are not recognized in the financial statements, but
are disclosed when likelihood exists of a future
economical inflow of resources.

x) Revenue
Revenue is valued at fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.
The income from services is recognized at fair value
of amount receivable and according to the degree of
service execution.
Revenue from royalties is recognized in accordance
with the accrual basis and meeting the substance of
corresponding contracts, provided it is likely that the
economic benefits will flow to the Company and its

xii) T
 he effects of fluctuations in exchange
rates
All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are converted into euros using the
exchange rates prevailing at balance sheet dates.
Exchange differences, gains and losses arising from
differences between exchange rates in force on the
date of the transactions and those in effect on the
settlement date, or the balance sheet date were
booked as income and expenses for the year.
Exchange differences arising from the conversion
to euro from subsidiaries’ financial statements
denominated in foreign currency are included in
the shareholders' equity under the heading Other
changes in equity/Adjustments in Financial assets.
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The present obligations arising from onerous
contracts are valued and booked as provisions.
There is an onerous contract when the company is
an integral part of the provisions of a contract or
agreement, compliance with which entails associated
expenses that cannot be avoided, which exceed the
economic benefits derived from it.

The transactions are recognized in the accounts when
generated, regardless of when they are received
or paid. The differences between the amounts
received and paid and the corresponding income and
expenses are booked under Other receivable and
payable accounts and Deferred income.
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xiii) Income taxes
Income taxes comprises current and deferred taxes.
Current tax on income is calculated based on the
Company's taxable income under the tax rules, and
the deferred tax results from temporary differences
between the amount of assets and liabilities for
accounting report purposes (carrying amount) and
their amounts for taxing purposes (tax base).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated
using tax rates in effect or announced to take effect
at the date of the expected reversal of temporary
differences.
The deferred tax assets are recognized only when
there are reasonable prospects of obtaining future
taxable income enough for its use, or in situations
where there are taxable temporary differences
to offset deductible temporary differences in the
reversal period.
At the end of each period, the calculation of these
deferred taxes is reviewed, and they are reduced
whenever their future use is no longer likely.
The deferred taxes are recognized as expense or
income for the fiscal year, except if they relate to
amounts booked directly in shareholders' equity,
where the deferred tax is also booked under the
same heading.

xiv) Relevant estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements was
conducted in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, using the estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. It should be Noted that although
estimates have been based on the best knowledge
of the Board in relation to current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately come to differ
from them.
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The estimates that show a significant risk of entailing
a material adjustment to the accounting values of
assets and liabilities in the following fiscal year are
listed below:
a) Estimated impairment of investments
Whenever there is evidence that a financial
investment may be impaired, Inapa – IPG tests
whether investments in subsidiaries and associate’s
impairment exists or not, being this analysis
performed considering the information prepared for
purposes of impairment analysis of Goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements. The recoverable
values of the cash flow generating units are
determined based on the calculation of values in
use. These calculations require the use of estimates
(Note 9).
b) Income tax
Inapa – IPG is subject to taxes over income, being
the calculation of the tax subject to review by the
tax authorities. When the final result of this review
is different from the values initially booked, the
differences will impact the income tax and provisions
for deferred tax, within the period in which such
differences are identified.
Additionally, deferred tax assets include the effect of
the value of tax losses for which there is expectation
of recovery in the future. The non-recovery of tax
losses or changes to the recovery expectation in
future fiscal years will impact the income of the fiscal
year in which the situation arises.
c) Provisions for litigation
Inapa – IPG is a party in some on-going lawsuits,
having made provisions in accordance with
Management’s expectations based on the advice of
the Company’s legal advisors (Note 3 (ix)).
A negative decision in any on-going lawsuit may have
an adverse effect on business, financial condition and
results of the Company.
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Note 4
Cash flows
The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents as at
31 December 2021 and 2020 is analysed as follows:

Immediately available bank deposits
Cash
Cash and cash equivalents in
balance sheet

Bank overdrafts
Cash and cash equivalents

2021

2020

511

2,717

1

1

511

2,718

-

-2,110

511

608

In bank overdrafts are considered the creditor
balances of current accounts with financial
institutions, included in the balance sheet (Note 16).

2021

BALANCE AS AT
JANUARY 1, 2021

PROCEEDS FROM
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

PAYMENTS IN
RESPECT OF
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NON-MONETARY
MOVEMENTS

BALANCE AS AT
DECEMBER 31, 2021

110,307

135,554

-8,309

-136,777

100,775

63,356

-

-

-

68,558

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans
Bank overdrafts
Subtotal
Other current liabilities accrued interest

-2,110

-

-

-

-

61,246

6,872

-134,455

134,894

68,558

743

-

-6,303

5,779

219

172,057

142,426

-149,067

3,896

169,551
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The movements in the financing items included in
the balance sheet and the cash flows for the periods
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were reconciled.
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2020

BALANCE AS AT
JANUARY 1, 2020

PROCEEDS FROM
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

PAYMENTS IN
RESPECT OF
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NON-MONETARY
MOVEMENTS

BALANCE AS AT
DECEMBER 31, 2020

111,974

106,357

-1,892

-106,132

110,307

94,387

-

-

-

63,356

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans
Bank overdrafts
Subtotal
Other current liabilities accrued interest

-2,110

-

-

-

-2,110

92,277

2,347

-107,628

74,010

61,007

-7,759

7,759

743

-117,278

-24,363

172,057

743
205,234

The non-monetary movements include the
reclassifications from non-current liabilities to current
liabilities during the period in analysis, expenses
accruals and financial operations with no associated
monetary movement. In 2020, non-monetary
reduction movements were influenced by the debt
following the sale of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH &
Co. KG (see Note 9).

108,704

The remuneration paid by the Inapa Group to the
members of key management personnel in 2021 and
2020 are analyzed as follows:

2021

2020

977

986

1,590

1,675

Board of Directors
Wages

Note 5
Related parties
5.1. Related to the parent company
As mentioned in Note 1, Inapa – IPG is the parent
company of Inapa Group. In Note 5.3, balances with
shareholders are disclosed.

5.2. Key management personnel
Key management personnel correspond to the
members of the management body of the company
and others, who, not being members of the body,
have direct or indirect authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the company's
activities.
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Other key management personnel
Wages
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5.3. Balances with other related parties
The Company maintains business and financing
relations with subsidiaries.
The subsidiaries owned directly by the Company as at
31 December 2021, are as follows:

% DIRECT
PARTICIPATION

DESIGNATION

HEADQUARTERS

Inapa France, S.A.

11 rue de la Nacelle - Villabé
91813 Corbeil-Essonnes Cedex
France

100

Paper supply

Inapa Deutschland Holding GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90A
D-22083 Hamburg
Germany

100

Holding

Inapa Deutschland GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90A
D-22083 Hamburg
Germany

5.10*

Edições Inapa, Lda.

Rua Braamcamp 40 - 9.º D,
1250-050 Lisboa
Portugal

100

Editing

Europackaging - Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, Lda.

Rua Braamcamp 40 - 9.º D,
1250-050 Lisboa
Portugal

100

Holding

Inapa Portugal, S.A.

Rua das Cerejeiras, n.º 5,
Vale Flores
2710-632 Sintra
Portugal

100

Paper supply

Inapa España Distribuición de Papel, S.A.

Calle Delco, n.º 1-3
Polígono Industrial Ciudad
del Automóvil
28914 Leganés, Madrid
Spain

100

Paper supply

Inapa Belgium, S.A.

Vaucampslaan, 30
B-1654 Huizingen
Belgium

100

Paper supply

Inapa – Merchants, Holding, Ltd

39 Hendon Lane
Finchley Central, London, N3 1RY
United Kingdom

100

Holding

Inapa Shared Center, Lda.

Rua das Cerejeiras, n.º 5,
Vale Flores
2710-632 Sintra
Portugal

KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama ve Ticaret Anonim S,irketi

Kasap Sokak. Konak Azer Ishani
34394 Istambul
Turkey

100

Paper supply

Shared Services

Paper supply

3. Financial Information Notes to the Individual Financial Statements

* Indirect participation of 100%..

99.75

ACTIVITY
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On 31 December 2021 and 2020, balances with Inapa
Group companies were as follows:

2021

CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT
ASSETS

LIABILITIES

OTHER RECEIV.
(NOTE 13)

COMPANY
Inapa Portugal, S.A.
Edições Inapa, Lda.
Inapa France, S.A.

OTHER BORROWINGS

OTHER
CREDITORS
(NOTE 17)

TRADE
RECEIV.
(NOTE 11)

GROUP
COMPANIES

OTHER
DEBTORS
(NOTE 13)

BORROWINGS
– BONDS

NON-CURRENT

CURRENT

CURRENT

653

1,094

-

-

22,296

-

4,511

-

1,179

-

-

-

-

-

304

45

-

44,007

-

1,800

3,346

-

Inapa Belgium, S.A.

7

561

Inapa España, S.A.

14

123

-

-

-

164

-

-

3,500

2,631

Inapa Deutschland
Holding, GmbH

746

1,556

8,617

-

-

-

-

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH

2,567

1,441

16,296

-

2,300

-

2,015

Inapa Shared Center, Lda.
Europackaging Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, Lda.

53

330

-

-

-

3,270

1,350

117

2,322

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa Packaging, Lda.

53

186

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa Packaging, GmbH

15

3

-

-

-

-

-

3

-

-

-

-

-

-

101

44

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa Packaging, SAS
Inapa Comunicação
Visual, Lda.
Inapa Angola, S.A.

-

19

-

-

-

-

-

KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama ve
Ticaret Anonim S,irketi

-

1,404

-

-

-

-

-

Embaltec, SAS

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Semaq Emballages, S.A.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa – Merchants,
Holding, Ltd

-

-

-

-

-

-

321

Inapa ComPlott, GmbH

188

FINANCING OBTAINED
(NOTE 16)

-

3

-

-

-

-

-

4,632

10,310

24,913

44,007

24,596

8,570

14,337
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2020

CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT
ASSETS

LIABILITIES

OTHER RECEIV.
(NOTE 13)

FINANCING OBTAINED
(NOTE 16)
OTHER BORROWINGS

OTHER
CREDITORS
(NOTE 17)

TRADE
RECEIV.
(NOTE 11)

GROUP
COMPANIES

OTHER
DEBTORS
(NOTE 13)

BORROWINGS
– BONDS

NON-CURRENT

CURRENT

CURRENT

Inapa Portugal, S.A.

500

880

-

-

22,471

-

3,336

Edições Inapa, Lda.

-

1,178

-

-

-

-

-

151

89

-

44,003

-

1,800

2,539

2

1,084

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa España, S.A.

378

985

-

-

3,500

2,679

Inapa Deutschland
Holding, GmbH

671

1,473

8,617

-

-

-
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COMPANY

Inapa France, S.A.
Inapa Belgium, S.A.

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH

1,210

789

15,710

-

4,300

-

745

Inapa Shared Center, Lda.

49

409

-

-

-

3,170

1,032

278

4,126

-

-

-

-

-

Europackaging Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, Lda.
Inapa Packaging, Lda.

105

-

-

-

-

-

5

-

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa Packaging, SAS

3

-

-

-

-

-

-

93

29

-

-

-

-
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Inapa Angola, S.A.

-

19

-

-

-

-

-

KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama ve
Ticaret Anonim S,irketi

-

1,401

-

-

-

-

-

Embaltec, SAS

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa Comunicação
Visual, Lda.

Semaq Emballages, S.A.

4

-

-

-

-

-

-

Inapa – Merchants,
Holding, Ltd

-

-

-

-

-

-

321

Inapa ComPlott, GmbH

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,379

12,567

24,327

44,003

26,771

8,470

11,039

The balances receivable from Edições Inapa, Lda. and
Inapa Portugal, S.A. do not bear interest nor have
fixed term of repayment.

The balances receivable booked in non-current
assets, the one related to Inapa Deutschland Holding,
GmbH bears interest at current market rate.

The receivable balances booked under Other
receivable accounts - Group Companies related to
Inapa Belgium, bear interest at current market rates.

The balances payable recorded under Financing
obtained from Inapa Portugal, S.A., Inapa España,
S.A., Inapa Deutschland GmbH, Inapa France, S.A. and
Inapa Shared Center, Lda. bear interest at current
market rates.

From the receivable balance from Europackaging,
Lda., only 1.92 million euros bear interest at current
market rates.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Individual Financial Statements
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Inapa Packaging, GmbH
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the balances with
other related parties were as follows:

2021

BANK DEPOSITS

BCP

2020

OTHER CURRENT AND
NON‑CURRENT ASSETS

OTHER CURRENT AND
NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES

2

-

35,337

-

2

-

35,337

-

BANK DEPOSITS

OTHER CURRENT AND
NON‑CURRENT ASSETS

LOANS

OTHER CURRENT AND
NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES

2

-

35,033

-

2

-

35,033

-

BCP

In 2021 and 2020, the balances of bank loans,
excluding the estimated interest and bank charges,
are classified in non-current liabilities.

During 2021 and 2020, transactions with related
parties were as follows:

SALES AND
SERVICES RENDERED

OTHER GAINS AND PROFITS
AND FINANCIAL INCOME

OTHER
EXPENSES

FINANCIAL
COSTS

Inapa Portugal, S.A.

227

28

18

953

Inapa France, S.A.

251

147

171

683

-

3

-4

-

Inapa España, S.A.

122

392

682

183

Inapa Deutschland Holding GmbH

184

362

185

-

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH

684

1,579

1,167

118

Inapa Shared Center, Lda.

7

1

181

104

Europackaging - Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, Lda.

-

90

-

-

2021

Inapa Belgium, S.A.

Inapa Packaging, SAS

11

1

-

-

20

1

-

-

Inapa Packaging, Lda.

31

-

-

-

Inapa Comunicação Visual, Lda.

12

1

-

-

-

-

-

1,351

18

1

-13

-

20

-

-

-

Embaltec SAS

11

-

-

-

Edições Inapa, Lda.

-

-

-

-

Inapa Angola, S.A.

-

-

-

-

Inapa ComPlott, GmbH

-

1

-

-

1,598

2,608

2,388

3,392

Inapa Packaging GmbH

BCP
KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama ve Ticaret
Anonim S,irketi
Semaq Emballages, S.A.

190

LOANS

191

OTHER GAINS AND PROFITS
AND FINANCIAL INCOME

OTHER
EXPENSES

FINANCIAL
COSTS

Inapa Portugal, S.A.

231

28

22

968

Inapa France, S.A.

313

248

1,259

767

-

3

-4

-

Inapa Belgium, S.A.
Inapa España, S.A.

97

377

681

182

158

392

200

132

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH

698

2,623

-279

207

Inapa Shared Center, Lda.

7

-

180

104

Europackaging - Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, Lda.

-

90

-

-

Inapa Packaging, SAS

10

-

-

-

Inapa Packaging GmbH

20

-

-

-

Inapa Packaging, Lda.

37

-

-

-

Inapa Comunicação Visual, Lda.

17

-

-

-

Inapa Deutschland Holding GmbH

BCP

-

-

-

1,331

KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama ve Ticaret
Anonim S,irketi

27

-

-13

-

Semaq Emballages, S.A.

17

-

-

-

Embaltec, SAS

10

-

-

-

1,642

3,762

2,047

3,691

3. Financial Information Notes to the Individual Financial Statements

SALES AND
SERVICES RENDERED

2020
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Note 6
Tangible fixed assets
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
movements in tangible fixed assets were as follows:

BUILDINGS
AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

ADMINISTR.
EQUIPMENT

OTHER
TANGIBLE
ASSETS

UNDER
CONSTR.

TOTAL

34

17

7

149

11

-

218

Increases

-

-

23

1

-

Disposals

-

-

-7

-

-

-

-7

Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

34

17

23

150

11

-

235

2021
ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2021

Balance as at December 31, 2021

24

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2021

192

16

14

7

133

10

-

180

Increases

-

1

6

5

1

-

12

Disposals

-

-

-7

-

-

-

-7

Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance as at December 31, 2021

16

15

6

137

10

-

184

Net value as at beginning of 2021

18

3

-

16

1

-

38

Net value as at end of 2021

18

2

17

12

1

-

51

193

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
movements under the headings of tangible fixed
assets were as follows:

BUILDINGS
AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

ADMINISTR.
EQUIPMENT

OTHER
TANGIBLE
ASSETS

UNDER
CONSTR.

TOTAL

18

17

7

136

11

17

205

Increases

-

-

-

13

-

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

2020
ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2020

Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2020

13
-

17

-

-

-

-

-17

-

34

17

7

149

11

-

218

14

13

7

127

4

-

166

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Increases

2

1

-

5

6

-

14

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2020

Net value as at beginning of 2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

14

7

133

10

-

180

4

4

-

9

7

17

40

18

3

-

16

1

-

38
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Net value as at end of 2020

16
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Note 7
Investment properties
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
movements in investment property were as follows:

LAND

BUILDINGS AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

TOTAL

3,905

11,714

15,619

Increases

-

-

-

Disposals

-

-

-

2021
ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2021

Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2021

-

-

-

3,905

11,714

15,619

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2021

-

3,133

3,133

Increases

-

274

274

Disposals

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-

-

3,407

3,407

Balance as at December 31, 2021

194

Net value as at beginning of 2021

3,905

8,581

12,486

Net value as at end of 2021

3,905

8,307

12,211

195

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
movements in the investment property items were
as follows:

2020

LAND

BUILDINGS AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

TOTAL

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2020

3,905

11,714

15,619

Increases

-

-

-

Disposals

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-

3,905

11,714

15,619

-

2,860

2,860

Balance as at December 31, 2020
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2020

-

272

272

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-

-

3,133

3,133

Net value as at beginning of 2020

3,905

8,854

12,758

Net value as at end of 2020

3,905

8,581

12,486

Balance as at December 31, 2020

The Investment Property account refers to the
acquisition in 2009 by cession of the real estate and
basic equipment leasing contracts from the Group’s
Spanish subsidiary, of the property designed for
warehousing located in Leganés (Madrid) (See Note
16). As in the previous year, the assets underlying
these contracts were subsequently leased to Inapa
España, S.A., where the rents charged for this
transaction are reflected under the heading “Other
income and gains”.

3. Financial Information Notes to the Individual Financial Statements

Increases
Disposals
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Note 8
Intangible assets and right of use assets
a) Intangible assets
During the year ended 31 December 2021,
transactions in the items of intangible assets were
as follows:

2021

SOFTWARE

OTHER INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

IN PROGRESS

TOTAL

285

299

44

628

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2021
Increases

3

-

14

17

Disposals

-

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2021

-

-

-

-

288

299

57

645

215

301

-

516

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2021

196

Increases

10

-

-

10

Disposals

-

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-

-

Balance as at December 31, 2021

225

301

-

527

Net value as at beginning of 2021

70

-2

44

111

Net value as at end of 2021

63

-2

57

118

197

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
movements in intangible assets items were as follows:

2020

SOFTWARE

OTHER INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

IN PROGRESS

TOTAL

218

299

37

554

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Increases

67

-

7

74

Disposals

-

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2020

-

-

-

-

285

299

44

628

197

301

-

499

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Increases

18

-

-

18

Disposals

-

-

-

-

Transfers/Write-offs

-

-

-

-

215

301

-

516

Balance as at December 31, 2020

Net value as at beginning of 2020

21

-2

37

56

Net value as at end of 2020

70

-2

44

111
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b) Right of use assets
During the year of 2021, the movements in right of
use assets, as well as in the respective amortizations
were as follows:

2021

BUILDINGS AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

TOTAL

66

185

251

66

25

91

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2021
Increases

-

-

-

-66

-

-66

66

210

276

61

71

132

Increases

66

50

116

Disposals

-

-

-

Disposals
Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2021
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2021

-66

-

-66

Balance as at December 31, 2021

61

122

182

Net value as at beginning of 2021

6

113

119

Net value as at the end of 2021

6

88

93

Transfers/Write-offs

198

199

During 2020, the movements occurring in the
right-of-use assets, as well as in the respective
amortisations, were as follows:

BUILDINGS AND OTHER
CONSTRUCTIONS

TRANSPORT
EQUIPMENT

TOTAL

355

122

477

66

69

135

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Increases
Disposals
Transfers/Write-offs
Balance as at December 31, 2020

-

-

-

-355

-6

-362

66

185

251

351

25

376

65

46

112

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Increases

-

-

-

-355

-

-355

Balance as at December 31, 2020

61

71

132

Net value as at beginning of 2020

5

97

102

Net value as at the end of 2020

6

113

119

Disposals
Transfers/Write-offs
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Note 9
Investments
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, investments
in subsidiaries and associated companies booked
under Investments – shareholders' equity method are
broken down as follows:

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES & ASSOCIATES

HEADQUARTERS

% OF DIRECT
SHARE

% OF INDIRECT
SHARE

Inapa Portugal, S.A.

Sintra

100.00%

100.00%

Edições Inapa, Lda.

Lisboa

100.00%

100.00%

Sintra

99.75%

100.00%

Lisboa

100.00%

100.00%

Spain

100.00%

100.00%

France

100.00%

100.00%

Germany

100.00%

100.00%

Turkey

100.00%

100.00%

United Kingdom

100.00%

100.00%

Germany

5.10%

100.00%

Belgium

100.00%

100.00%

a) Portuguese

Inapa Shared Center, Lda.
Europackaging - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, Lda.

b) Foreign
Inapa España Distribuición de Papel, S.A.
Inapa France, S.A.
Inapa Deutschland Holding, GmbH
KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama ve Ticaret Anonim S,irketi
Inapa – Merchants, Holding, Ltd
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Inapa Belgium, S.A.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

2021

Balance on December 31, 2020

282,001

Movements in 2021

Balance as at January 1, 2020

1,357

Investments and acquisions

Equity method

3,214

Equity method

Recognized in other comprehensive income
Dividends received
Disposals and other decreases
Impairments
Balance as at December 31, 2021

2020
348,598

Movements in 2020

Investments and acquisions

Recognized in profits and losses

200

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

3,645
-432
-1,623
284,948

Recognized in profits and losses
Recognized in other comprehensive income
Dividends received
Disposals and other decreases
Impairments
Balance as at December 31, 2020

-20,118
-16,634
-3,485
-317
-46,162
282,001

201

The amounts recognised from equity accounting
were determined after the regularisation adjustments
of accounting standards, being recognised in Other
comprehensive income, Actuarial gains and losses
(2021: ¤ 1,061 thousand; 2020: ¤ - 407 thousand)
and Currency translation differences (2021: ¤ -1,492
thousand; 2020: ¤ -3,077 thousand).
In 2020 and 2021 no dividends were distributed
by the subsidiaries to Inapa - IPG. The amounts
shown under Dividends received refer to dividends
attributed and that are in current account with the
subsidiaries.
During the first half of 2020, the Company sold
Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co KG to its subsidiary
Papier Union, GmbH and completed a merger by
incorporation of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co KG
into Papier Union, GmbH, changing the latter’s name
to Inapa Deutschland, GmbH.

In the current year, the Group calculated the
recoverable amount of assets and liabilities
associated with the activity of the various business
segments, by determining the value in use, according
to the discounted cash flow method.

Cash flow projections beyond the medium and
long term plan period are extrapolated, using the
perpetuity growth rate shown in the previous table.
The growth rates considered in the impairment tests
do not exceed the average long-term growth rate
of the operations. To be noted that the growth rates
considered in the impairment tests do not exceed the
average long-term growth rate of the operations.
The main assumptions that were the basis for the
analysis were the following:

2021

2020

Growth rate (in perpetuity)

0.00%

0.00%

Pre-tax discount rate

6.96%

6.91%

Note 10
Income tax – current and deferred
The Company and its Portuguese subsidiaries
(Inapa Portugal, Edições Inapa, Inapa Shared
Center, Europackaging, Inapa Packaging and Inapa
Comunicação Visual) are taxed on the basis of
the Corporate Income Tax (IRC) under the special
regime for taxation of corporate groups, comprising
companies with a stake equal to or greater than
75% and which meet the conditions of Article 69
and ensuing under the Corporate Income Tax Code.
Inapa – IPG as the dominant company, is responsible
for calculating the taxable profits of the Group,
through the algebraic sum of taxable fiscal profit and
losses ascertained in the income statements of each
of the controlled companies belonging to the Group.
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As mentioned in Note 3 (v), the Goodwill calculated
during application of the equity method is recorded
under the heading Investments - equity method,
the Goodwill arising from the acquisition of financial
investments calculated using the equity method is
recorded under the heading of financial investments
- equity method. The Goodwill booked by Inapa –
IPG, together with the remaining Goodwill booked
in the consolidated accounts of the Inapa Group,
was allocated as a whole to each of the several
segments of the Group’s business and its impairment
was also tested considering each business segment
throughout the Group (Note 3 xiv a)). Thus, in
the sequence of the Group’s Goodwill impairment
booking in 2006 as a whole, it was not possible to
quantify the amount of Goodwill included in the
section above, therefore reflected as an adjustment in
the application of the equity method.

The impairment tests carried out for the purposes of
the financial statements on 31 December 2021 were
supported by projections of future cash flows based
on medium and long-term plans approved by the
Board of Directors, covering a period up to 2026.
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The Company is subject to Corporate Income Tax
at the regular rate of 21%, plus 1.5% of “derrama”,
resulting in an aggregate tax rate of 22.5%.
Additionally, Inapa is subject to an additional state
tax corresponding to a rate of 3%, for taxable income
between ¤ 1.5 million and ¤ 7.5 million, a rate of 5%
between ¤ 7.5 million and ¤ 35 million and 7% for
income greater than ¤ 35 million. The additional state
tax (derrama) is applied to the taxable income before
deduction of prior year tax losses.

The current tax gain or loss is calculated by each
subsidiary based on its individual tax situation. Any
gain or loss arising from the consolidated tax regime
is recognized by the Company as operating reward or
defrayal within the fiscal year itself.
The payment of income tax is based on
self‑assessment statements that are subject to
inspection and possible adjustment by the Tax
Authority within the next four years. If tax losses
are determined, they can be used in the fourteen
subsequent years if they have been generated
between 2014 and 2016 shall be subject to possible
adjustment by the Tax Authorities following revisions
to be made to statements in the fiscal years they are
used. Any tax losses generated from 2017 to 2019 can
be used in the seven subsequent years and the losses
generated in 2020 and 2021 for a period of 12 years.

The value of deferred taxes relative to 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020 is as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2021

DECEMBER 31, 2020

BASE

DEFERRED
TAX

BASE

DEFERRED
TAX

RETAINED
EARNINGS

-

-

-

-

-

-

- intangible assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

- financial discount

-

-

-

-

-

-

27

128

27

-

-

DEFERRED TAX ASSET
Tax losses

INCOME OF
FISCAL YEAR
Dr/(Cr)

Transition adjustment

Others

129

27

27

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY
Transition adjustment
- financial discount
Deferred tax of the year

202

-

-

-

-

-

203

The tax on profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would result from applying
the weighted average rate of income tax on profits as
follows:

Note 11
Trade receivables
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of
Trade receivables is as follows:

Net income before tax on profits

2021

2020

4,111

-14,889

Nominal tax rate (22,5%)

-925

3,350

Income tax - value

-797

-565

128

-3,915

820

-3,743

-,

-,

-682

-579

2

-,

Equity method effect
Tax losses
Non-deductible expenses
Non-deductible income
Tax benefits
Others

-,

412

-13

-6

128

-3,915

Current tax
Deferred tax

2021

2020

797

565

-

-

797

565

2020
3,379

Trade Receivables - others

291

291

Doubtful trade receivables

-

-

4,922

3,670

-291

-291

4,632

3,379

Accumulated impairment losses
(Note 14)
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The taxes recorded in the 2021 and 2020 income
statement are detailed as follows:

2021
4,632

Trade Receivables - group (Note 5.3)
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Note 12
The state and other public entities
There are no debts in arrears to the State and other
public entities.
The balances on 31 December 2021 and 2020 with
these entities were as follows:

2021
DEBIT
BALANCES

Value Added Tax

197

Corporate Income Tax

204

2020

CREDIT
BALANCES

DEBIT
BALANCES

-

86

CREDIT
BALANCES

50

60

Social Security

-

20

-

17

Personal Income Tax - withholding tax

-

46

-

46

197

126

86

113

205

Note 13
Other receivables
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of
Other receivable accounts is as follows:

2021

2020

8,617

8,617

16,296

15,710

847

847

25,760

25,175

-348

-348

25,413

24,827

2,096

600

OTHER RECEIVABLES - NON-CURRENT
Inapa Deutschland Holding GmbH (Note 5)
Inapa Deutschland GmbH (Note 5)
Others

Impairment losses (Note 14)

OTHER RECEIVABLES - CURRENT
Income accruals
Amounts to be invoiced

708

10

2,804

610

9,602

12,557

Others debtors
Group Companies (Note 5)
Other debtors

Impairment losses (Note 14)

1,474

1,373

11,076

13,930

-11

-11

13,869

14,529

The non-current balances receivable from Inapa
Deutschland Holding, GmbH and Inapa Deutschland,
GmbH bear interest at current market rates.
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Amounts to be invoiced Group (Note 5)
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Note 14
Impairments
During the years 2021 and 2020, the asset
impairments had the following transactions:

Balance as at January 1, 2020

INVESTMENTS
(NOTE 9)

TRADE
RECEIVABLES
(NOTE 11)

OTHER
NON‑CURRENT
RECEIVABLES
(NOTE 13)

OTHER CURRENT
RECEIVABLES
(NOTE 13)

TOTAL

83

291

348

11

732

Increases

-

-

-

-

-

Utilizations

-

-

-

-

-

Reversals
Balance as at December 31, 2020

-

-

-

-

-

83

291

348

11

732

Increases

-

-

-

-

-

Utilizations

-

-

-

-

-

Reversals
Balance as at December 31, 2021

-

-

-

-

-

83

291

348

11

732

Note 15
Share capital, reserves and other items of
equity
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, equity details are
as follows:

Share capital
Issuance Premium
Legal reserve
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Adjustments in financial assets
- Related to the equity method

206

2021

2020

180,135

180,135

432

432

7,574

7,574

890

890

15,134

13,954

-50,057

-32,992

3,314

-15,454

157,422

154,540

207

At 31 December 2021, the share capital is represented
by 526 225 508 shares, all of which are ordinary shares.
The share capital is fully subscribed and paid up.
On 31 December 2021, Inapa - IPG does not hold any
own shares nor were there any transactions of own
shares during the year 2021.
The Share issuance premiums correspond to
the difference between the nominal value of the
Inapa - IPG shares acquired and their issue value and
cannot be distributed as dividends, but may be used
to increase share capital or to cover losses.
Business legislation requires that at least 5% of
the net annual income is held in a legal reserve
account until it represents at least 20% of the Share
Capital. This reserve may not be distributed unless
the company is liquidated, but may be used to
cover losses, after other reserves are exhausted, or
incorporated in the share capital.

Ordinary shares are admitted to trading with the code
ISIN PTINA0AP0008.
Equity reserve (included in the balance of the
caption "Retained earnings" and "Adjustments in
equity investments"): the difference between the
profit attributable to equity holdings recognised
in the profit and loss statement and the amount
of dividends already received or required to be
paid relating to those investments is subject to
the legal reserve regime described above.In the
income statement and the amount of dividends
already received or whose payment may be
required in respect of the same investments is
subject to the legal reserve regime described
above. At 31 December 2021, the value of results
from subsidiaries is positive, but considering
the accumulated value of appropriated losses
of equity equivalence in previous years, leads
to the non‑existence of balance of the equity
equivalence reserve.

The item Adjustments on financial assets includes
transactions in the equity of subsidiaries and
associates of Inapa – IPG, following application of the
equity method.

At the General Meeting of May 21, 2021, the
shareholders of INAPA – Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, S.A. approved the proposal for the
allocation of profits presented by the Board of
Directors, pursuant to which the negative net result
of the 2020 financial year, for ¤ 15,453,731.26, was
transferred to retained earnings.
In 2021, Inapa – IPG was notified under Articles
16 and 248.º-B of Código dos Valores Mobiliários
(Portuguese Securities Code) and CMVM Regulation
5/2008, regarding the change in qualified holdings.
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The variation in Equity adjustments in the amount
of ¤ 1061 thousand, shown in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, mainly relates to balances
that will not be reclassified to results (referring to the
implicit movements associated with the application of
equity method).
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The shareholder structure on 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 is as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2021
SHAREHOLDER

ORDINARY
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY
SHARES

% VOTING
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), S.A.

236,199,384

44.89%

33.33%

112,996,710

21.47%

21.47%

19,483,041

3.70%

3.70%

93,513,669

17.77%

17.77%

43,500,000

8.27%

8.27%

Shares attributed to Millennium BCP
Pension Fund of BCP Group
Banco Comercial Português, S.A.
Nova Expressão SGPS, S.A.
Novo Banco, S.A.

34,445,831

6.55%

6.55%

Total of qualified participations

427,141,925

81.17%

69.62%

SHAREHOLDER

ORDINARY
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY
SHARES

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), S.A.

236,199,384

44.89%

33.33%

Shares attributed to Millennium BCP

142,543,884

27.09%

27.09%

DECEMBER 31, 2020

Pension Fund of BCP Group

49,030,215

9.32%

9.32%

Banco Comercial Português

93,513,669

17.77%

17.77%

36,900,000

7.01%

7.01%

Nova Expressão SGPS, S.A.
Novo Banco, S.A.
Total of qualified participations

208

% VOTING
RIGHTS

34,445,831

6.55%

6.55%

450,089,099

85.53%

73.98%

209

Note 16
Financing obtained
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, loans obtained items
are analysed as follows:

2021

2020

Non-current
Commercial Paper

14,576

16,416

Mid and Long-term financing

44,793

46,256

Convertible bonds

12,000

15,000

4,769

5,794

24,596

26,771

41

70

100,775

110,307

44,007

44,003

2,150

2,110

Commercial paper

6,461

6,557

Medium and long-term financial instruments (portion maturity within 1 year)

3,267

2,021

Financial leases
Group Companies (Note 5)
Liabilities related to the right of use assets

Current
Bond loans (Note 5)
Overdrafts and bonded accounts

Convertible bonds

-

1,048

143

Group Companies (Note 5)

8,570

8,470

57

53

68,558

63,356

Liabilities related to the right of use assets

The Bond loans correspond to the issue of two
bonds made by Inapa – IPG, one in the amount of
¤ 42,700 thousand and another amounting to ¤ 1,300
thousand, with full repayment in June 2022, earning
interest at an Euribor rate over 6 months plus a
spread. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, these
bonds were in the possession of Inapa France, S.A..

The total debt related with Commercial Paper
amounts to ¤ 21,0365.5 thousand and corresponds
to the emissions to four financial entities. Three
emissions, in the amount of ¤ 18,116 thousand
reimbursed in payments with maturity until 2025 and
one emission reimbursed at its nominal value, during
the period of one year.
The mid and long term financing – non-current
(¤ 44,793.4 thousand) and current (¤ 3,266.9
thousand) include six bank loans maturing in 2035.
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3,000

Financial leases
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On 31 December 2021, the Company presented
convertible bonds (Empréstimos por obrigações –
Não corrente) issued in the amount of ¤ 15 million.
They earn interest at a rate of 5%, due quarterly, with
the principal being repaid in 5 installments, the first
in July 2022 and the last in July 2026. These bonds,
that give the holder the option to convert 23% of
common shares of Inapa – IPG existing at the date
of its issuing (fixed-for-fixed), were issued in favor of
Papyrus GmbH, as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG,
with the selling party still creditor of a Vendor Loan
Note for the remaining acquisition price. The implicit
valuation of the option must therefore be seen
strictly in the context of the acquisition of Papyrus,
as a whole, not constituting a relevant benchmark
for valuation outside this framework. In accordance
with the measurement principles of IAS 32, since the
interest rate on the bond in this transaction exceeds
comparable interest, no value was attached to the
option for accounting purposes.
At the end of 2021, the Company had unused bank
credit lines in the amount of ¤ 100 thousand.

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the lease debts
included in Financing (Current and Non-Current), are
as follows:

DEBT RELATING TO FINANCIAL LEASES AND
TO LIABILITIES RELATED TO THE RIGHT OF
USE ASSETS

2021

2020

Non-current

4,810

5,864

Current

1,104

196

5,914

6,060

Value of income - not discounted
less than 1 year

1,285

484

more than 1 year and less than 5 years

5,255

6,048

more than 5 years

Finance costs to be supported
Present value of debt with leases

-

615

6,540

7,147

-626

-1,087

5,914

6,060

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the maturity of
non‑current loans is as follows:

Between 1 and 5 years
Over 5 years

2021

2020

66,284

53,169

34,491

57,138

100,775

110,307

The financial leases correspond to the debt for the
acquisition of assets for the purposes of the financial
leases contracts, the assets of which are booked in
“Investment Properties” (See Note 7).

Financial leasing debt corresponds essentially to a
debt with Novo Banco, originated under a leasing
agreement maturing in 2026, a 10-year sale and
leaseback for its Leganés building in Madrid.
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the exposure of
loans to changes in interest rates according to the
contractual periods for rate setting, are as follows:

PERIODS FOR SETTING
INTEREST RATES
Less than 6 months
Between 6 and 12 months
Between 1 and 5 years
More than 5 years

210

2021

2020

154,333

150,071

-

-

15,000

123

-

23,470

169,333

173,664
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the net financial debt
was as follows:

Note 18
Sales, services and other income and gains

2021

2020

Loans
Current
Non-current

Cash and bank deposits (Note 4)

68,558

63,356

100,775

110,307

169,333

173,664

-511

-2,718

168,822

170,946

Note 17
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of
the item Other payable accounts, is as follows:

2020

OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE - CURRENT
Accrued expenses

Others

269

271

-

200

13

16

282

488

Deferred income
Services to invoice

438

775

438

775

14,337

10,839

Other Creditors
Group Companies (Note 5)
Others

Other supplementary income

145

119

14,482

10,957

15,202

12,220

2021

2020

8,032

9,191

Royalties of Group Companies

885

257

Rentals

375

375

220

42

9,512

9,865

The Other supplementary income item corresponds
mainly to income obtained by the Company from
intervention in negotiation processes involving the
Inapa Group. Of this amount, approximately ¤ 1,795.7
thousand (2020: ¤ 497,5 thousand) are recorded
under Other receivables (Note 13).
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2021

Personnel costs to be paid

In 2021 and 2020, the caption Other income and gains
is detailed as follows:

Others

Other payables

Group Companies (Note 5)

On December 31, 2021 and 2020, the item Sales and
Services provided, amounting to ¤ 1,598 thousand
and ¤ 1,642 thousand, respectively, corresponds
to services provided to Inapa Group companies
(Note 5).
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Note 19

Note 21

External supplies and services

Other expenses and losses

In the fiscal years 2021 and 2020, the breakdown
of expenses of external supplies and services is as
follows:

Breakdown of the item Other expenses and losses for
years 2021 and 2020 is shown in the following table:

2021

2020

594

400

Rentals

24

26

Travel and accommodation

29

33

5

3

Specialized services

Communications
Insurance
Advertising and marketing
Others

112

31

2,167

1,791

80

108

3,011

2,393

Advertising and marketing expenses correspond to
various actions to reinforce the group’s global sales,
maintain or reinforce market share or grow in volume
in the Group’s main customers.

Taxes
Contributions
Others

2020

93

92

15

11

88

245

195

349

Note 22
Expenses/reversal of depreciation and
amortization
In 2021 and 2020, the balances of this item are
analyzed as follows:

2021

2020

Note 20

Tangible fixed assets (Note 6)

12

14

Intangible assets (Note 8)

10

18

Personnel expenses

Investment properties (Note 7)

274

272

Right of use assets (Note 8)

In 2021 and 2020, the balances under the heading
Personnel expenses are analyzed as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security contributions
Other personnel costs

2021

2020

1,619

1,561

327

317

84

98

2,029

1,976

During the fiscal year, the Company had on average
16 employees (2020: 14 employees).
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2021

116

112

413

416
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Note 23
Financial income and expenditures
The breakdown of financial income and expenses for
fiscal years 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

2021

2020

The convertible bonds - potential shares correspond
to the convertible bonds issued within the acquisition
of Papyrus Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG (see Note
21). These bonds attribute to the holder the option of
conversion (of American type) in 23% ordinary shares
of Inapa - IPG (fixed-for- fixed).

Note 25
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Financial income
Interests obtained

Contingent liabilities
1,307

3,129

-

-

1,307

3,129

-5,647

-7,088

-176

-159

-480

-512

-6,303

-7,759

-4,995

-4,629

Positive FX

Financial costs
Interests paid
Stamp duty
Other costs and financial losses

Earnings per share
The basic earnings per share is calculated using the
net profit and loss for the year distributable to Inapa
– IPG shareholders and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in circulation, as follows:

2021

2020

Net profit and loss for the period

3,314

-15,454

Net income to distribute to ordinary
shares

3,314

-15,454

526,226

526,226

157,184

157,184

Basic earning per share - in euros

0.0063

-0.0294

Diluted earnings per share - in euros

0.0048

-0.0226

Ordinary shares
Convertible bonds - potential shares

• The annulment of the following acts:
- Constitution in June 2006 of a commercial
pledge to counter-guarantee letters of comfort
issued by Inapa – Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, as security for loans held by that
company from Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa
Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo;
- Business conducted in 1991 of concentrated
activities in the distribution of paper at SDP
(now Inapa Portugal) and the production and
marketing of envelopes at Papelaria Fernandes;
- Acquisition of shares in 1994 held by Papelaria
Fernandes in SDP (now Inapa Portugal);
- Compensation of credits carried out, also
in 1994 between Papelaria Fernandes and
Inaprest.
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Note 24

On August 1, 2007, Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria
e Comércio, S.A. filed against Inapa – Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, S.A. and its subsidiaries
Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços, Participações
e Gestão, S.A. (extinct) and Inapa Portugal –
Distribuição de Papel, S.A. a lawsuit whereby the
pleading reads, in short:
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• Condemnation of Inapa:
- To maintain the comfort letters issued in favor
of Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de
Crédito Agrícola Mútuo;
- To indemnity Papelaria Fernandes in case of
any mobilization of the commercial pledge as a
counter-guarantee for the letters of comfort.
Papelaria Fernandes - Indústria e Comércio S.A. later
came to settle their liabilities toward Banco Espírito
Santo and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo
and therefore:
• The letters of comfort issued by Inapa – IPG are
no longer applicable, having been returned by
their beneficiaries;
• This Company consequently notified Papelaria
Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio S.A. to verify
the resolutive condition of the commercial pledge
made by it in favor of this Company.
The lawsuit, which was assigned a value of
¤ 24,460 thousand, was challenged by Inapa – IPG
and by its subsidiary Inapa Portugal – Distribuição
de Papel, S.A., is currently awaiting the Court
to determine the effects on the dissolution or
liquidation action of Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços,
Participações e Gestão, S.A.. The Inapa Group
believes that the aforesaid process should not result
in significant charges and no provision has been
made.

Liabilities for bank guarantees
The Company provided several bank guarantees,
through various financial institutions, totaling
¤ 115.4 million. For the purpose of issuing commercial
paper (¤ 21.8 million) and for other financing
(¤ 93.6 million).
In addition, and to guarantee financing totaling
¤ 52.5 million, a pledge was made on shares of
subsidiaries of Inapa (53% of Inapa Deutschland
GmbH, 55.5% of Inapa France SAS and 35.5% of Inapa
Portugal, S.A.).
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Note 26
Fees for services provided by the auditor
In the fiscal years ended on 31 December 2021 and
2020, the amounts incurred, in euros, for services
rendered by the auditor to Inapa – IPG were as
follows:

2021

2020

47

36

Statutory audit and auditing services
Reliability assurance services

21

21

68

57

Note 27
Events after the balance sheet date

Inapa Group, of which the Company is the parent
company, has no direct exposure to the Ukrainian
and Russian markets, but will naturally continue to
monitor developments in this situation. Not being
possible to estimate at this moment the impacts of
this conflict in the medium/long term, to this date
were not identified any material impacts that should
lead to alterations in the financial statements for 31
December 2021.
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On 24 February 2022, a military conflict began,
triggered by the Ukraine invasion by the Russian
Federation, to which the international community
responded with the application of strong economic
sanctions. These events created uncertainty in
the evolution of economies and financial markets
worldwide, putting severe pressure on energy costs
as well as on certain raw materials costs, which were
already recording a significant growth trend. So
far, the market has shown the capacity to deal with
higher prices resulting from this situation.
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Statutory Audit Report
and Auditors’ Report on
the Individual Financial
Statements
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STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Free translation of a report originally issued in Portuguese language: In case of doubt the Portuguese version will
always prevail)
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section
of our report, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material respects, the
financial position of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. as at 31 December 2021 and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted in the European Union (IFRSs).
Basis for Qualified Opinion
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the financial statement line "Investments - equity method” in the amount of
284,948 thousand Euros and 282,001 thousand Euros, respectively, related with the amount of investments in
subsidiaries measured under the equity method, includes the difference between the acquisition cost of
subsidiaries and the corresponding fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities on the date of their acquisition
(note 9), corresponding to goodwill and brands. As of 31 December 2021, the Entity prepared an impairment test
to the amount of goodwill and to the amount of brands, and the Board of Directors makes significant judgments
on the most relevant assumptions considered in the preparation of the above mentioned impairment tests,
namely: (i) expectation of sales and margins evolution during the period covered by the budgets approved by the
Board of Directors; (ii) growth rate of cash flows beyond that period (perpetuity growth rate); and (iii) discount
rate of the estimated cash flows. It should also be noted that as referred in note 3 of the notes to the financial
statements, the health crisis caused by the pandemic resulting from Covid-19 with consequences still noted
during the first half of 2021, had impact on the activity of the Group's subsidiaries. However, considering the
significant deviations noted in the last years from the economic performance projected in the budgets previously
approved, partially related with the economic environment previously described but also considering the
prospected evolution of the pandemic, the future economic impacts of the recent armed conflict in Ukraine and
the consequent expectation about the economic recovery and its impact on the development of the activities of
the Group’s subsidiaries and on the profitability of its operations, during the course of our audit, we did not
obtain sufficient and appropriate support information to enable us to assess the reasonableness of the
assumptions considered in the preparation of the above mentioned impairment tests, as such we are not able to
conclude on any eventual adjustments that might prove necessary to the financial statements as of 31 December
2021.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and further technical and
ethical standards and guidelines as issued by Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas (the Portuguese Institute of
Statutory Auditors). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section below. We are independent from the Entity in
accordance with the law and we have fulfilled other ethical requirements in accordance with the Ordem dos
Revisores Oficiais de Contas code of ethics.
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.
(“the Entity”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 (showing a total of
342,291 thousand Euros and equity of 157,422 thousand Euros, including a net profit of 3,314 thousand Euros),
the statement of profit and loss by nature, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in
equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the accompanying notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of the significant accounting policies.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified opinion.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section we have
determined the matter described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
Description of the most significant risks of material
misstatement identified

Summary of the auditor’s responses to the
assessed risks of material misstatement

Going concern
As at 31 December 2021, the statement of financial
position reveals that current liabilities exceed current
assets.

The audit procedures performed to assess the
projection of short-term cash flows, of which the
Entity is the dominant company, included:

As described in note 3 of the accompanying notes to
the financial statements, the Board of Directors
assessed the Entity's ability to operate on a going
concern basis, through the preparation of a projection
of short-term cash flows, which considers the negative
effects arising from Covid -19 that were still noted in
the first half of 2021, as well as the economic effects
the recent armed conflict in Ukraine and the fact that
current liabilities, mainly composed by accounts
payable to Group entities, of which the Entity is the
dominant company, exceed significantly the current
assets.

•

Obtain and test the arithmetic accuracy of the
projection of short-term cash flows;

•

Inquiry and interactions with the Board of
Directors and employees responsible for the
preparation of the cash flows projection, in
relation to the assumptions considered in the
projection;

•

Analysis of the consistency between the
projected operational and investment cash
flows and the associated income, expenses
and investments verified in 2021;

•

Analysis of the consistency between the
expected evolution of cash flows from
operational activities and the OECD forecasts
for the evolution of the gross domestic
product in the main geographies in which the
Group operates, taking into account the
negative effects arising from Covid-19 and the
economic effects the recent armed conflict in
Ukraine;

•

Compare the loan repayments included in the
cash flows from financing activities and the
Group's short-term liabilities as at 31
December 2021;

The Board of Directors, considering that the Group, of
which the Entity is the dominant company, has
adequate financial resources that allow it to
materialize its intention to renew the maturity of
those liabilities, understands that the Entity has
adequate resources to maintain its activities, without
intention to cease activities in the short-term, and
therefore concluded that the going concern basis,
used in the preparation of the Entity's financial
statements at 31 December 2021, remains
appropriate.
The projection of short-term cash flows prepared by
the Board of Directors requires that significant
judgments be made regarding the expected evolution
of the business, in a context of heightened
uncertainty.
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Consequently, we consider as a key audit matter the
assessment of the Entity's ability to operate on a going
concern basis, based on the projection of short-term
cash flows prepared by the Board of Directors, as well
as the respective disclosures made.

Obtain the supporting documentation relating
to the time horizon of the factoring
operations, of the approval of the agreement
to postpone to 2023 the reimbursement of
the short term loan of the German subsidiary
of the Group and the respective conditions,
and the sale and leaseback agreement;

•

Analysis of the consistency between interest
payments included in cash flows from
financing activities, the projected average
indebtedness and the average financing cost
of the Group;

•

Analysis of the sensitivity of the projection of
cash flows to negative variations in the
Group's activity.

•

Assessment of the reasonableness of
disclosures made in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

Other matters
The financial statements as of 31 December 2021 refer to the separate financial statements of the Entity and have
been prepared for approval and publication in accordance with the legislation in force. As indicated in Note 3 of
the accompanying notes, investments in subsidiaries and associates are recorded at the equity method. The
financial statements as of 31 December 2021 do not include the effect of full consolidation, which will be made in
consolidated financial statements to be approved and published separately. Additional information on
subsidiaries and associated entities is provided in Note 9 to the accompanying notes.
Responsibilities of management and supervisory body for the financial statements
Management is responsible for:
-

the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Entity’s financial position,
financial performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted in the European Union (IFRSs);

-

the preparation of the management report and the corporate governance report, in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations;

-

designing and maintaining an appropriate internal control system to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

-

the adoption of accounting policies and principles appropriate in the circumstances; and

-

assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, and disclosing, as applicable, the matters that
may cast significant doubt about the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The supervisory body is responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
-

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

-

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Entity’s internal control;

-

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management;

-

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern;

-

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation;

-

communicate with those charged with governance, including the supervisory body, regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit;

-

determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, including the supervisory
body, those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter;

-

provide the supervisory body with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Our responsibility also includes the verification that the information contained in the management report is
consistent with the financial statements and the verification of the requirements as provided in numbers 4 and 5
of article 451.º of the Portuguese Companies’ Code, as well to verify that the statement of non-financial
information and the remuneration report were presented.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)
The Entity’s financial statements as of 31 December 2021 must comply with the requirements established in the
Delegated Regulation (UE) 2019/815 of the Commission, of 17 December 2018 (“ESEF Regulation”).
Management is responsible for the preparation and disclosure of the annual report in conformity with the ESEF
Regulation.

Our procedures considered the Guia de Aplicação Técnica da Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas (OROC) on
the Reporting under ESEF and included, among others, obtain an understanding of the financial Reporting process,
including the presentation of the annual report in the valid XHTML format.
In our opinion, the financial statements included in the annual report are presented, in all material aspects, in
conformity with the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation.
We also emphasize that the Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements above includes a qualified opinion.
On the management report
Pursuant to article 451.º, n.º 3, al. e) of the Portuguese Companies’ Code (“Código das Sociedades Comerciais”),
except for the possible effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of the Report
on the audit of the financial statements, it is our opinion that the management report was prepared in accordance
with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements and the information contained therein is consistent with
the audited financial statements and, having regard to our knowledge and assessment over the Entity, we have
not identified any material misstatements. In compliance with article 451.º, n.º 7 of the Portuguese Companies’
Code, our opinion is not applicable to the statement of non-financial information included in the management
report.
About the corporate governance report
In compliance with article 451.º, n.º 4, of the Portuguese Companies’ Code (“Código das Sociedades Comerciais”),
it is our opinion that the corporate governance report includes the elements required to the Entity under the
terms of article 29º-H of the Portuguese Securities Code (“Código dos Valores Mobiliários”), and we have not
identified any material misstatements in the information disclosed in such report, which, accordingly, complies
with the requirements of items c), d), f), h), i) and m) of the n.º1 of that article.
About the non-financial information
In compliance with article 451.º, n.º 6, of the Portuguese Companies’ Code, we inform that the Group included in
the Management report the statement of non-financial information foreseen in article 508.º-G of the Portuguese
Companies’ Code.
About the remuneration report
We inform that the Entity has included in an autonomous chapter, in its corporate governance report, the
information foreseen in article 26.º-G, n.º2 of the Portuguese Securities Code.
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Our responsibility consists in obtaining reasonable assurance whether the financial statements, included in the
annual report, are presented in conformity with the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation.
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On the additional matters provided in article 10 of Regulation (UE) 537/2014
Pursuant to article 10 of Regulation (UE) 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of April 16 th,
2014, in addition to the key audit matters mentioned above, we also report on the following:
-

We were appointed as auditors of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. in the shareholders’
general assembly held on 15 April 2016 for a first mandate from 2016 to 2018, and in the shareholders’
general assembly held on 23 May 2019 we were appointed for a second mandate from 2019 to 2021.

-

Management has confirmed to us that they are not aware of any fraud or suspicion of fraud having occurred
that has a material effect on the financial statements. In planning and executing our audit in accordance with
ISAs, we maintained professional scepticism and we designed audit procedures to respond to the risk of
material misstatements in the financial statements due to fraud. As a result of our work, we have not
identified any material misstatement on the financial statements due to fraud.

-

We confirm that the audit opinion issued is consistent with the additional report that we prepared and
delivered to the Entity’s supervisory body as at 29 April 2022.

-

We declare that we have not provided any prohibited services as described in article 77, number 8, of the
Estatutos da Ordem dos Revisores Oficiais de Contas statutes (Portuguese Institute of Statutory Auditors
Bill), that was revoked, and of article 5, number 1, of the Regulation (UE) number 537/2014 and we have
remained independent from the Entity in conducting the audit.

Lisbon, 29 April 2022

Deloitte & Associados, SROC S.A.
Represented by Jorge Carlos Batalha Duarte Catulo, ROC
Registration in OROC n.º 992
Registration in CMVM n.º 20160607
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Report and Opinion
of the Audit Committee
Dear Shareholders,
In accordance with the provisions of subparagraph
g) of paragraph 1 of Article 423-F of the Portuguese
Companies Code ("Código das Sociedades
Comerciais”) and Article 22 of the Company’s Bylaws,
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of
INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.
hereby presents its annual report on the supervisory
activities carried out during 2021 and its opinion
on the Management Report and on the individual
and consolidated financial statements for the fiscal
year ended on 31 December 2021, as well as on the
proposal on earnings distribution presented by the
Board of Directors.

Annual report of activities
undertaken by the Audit
Committee
The governance model adopted by the Company
includes the Board of Directors, an Audit Committee
and a Statutory Auditor. All members observe the
criteria of independence and compatibility for the
exercise of their duties, assessed in accordance
with the provisions of Paragraph 5 of Article 414
and in paragraph 1 of Article 414-A and paragraph
3 of Article 423-B, of the Portuguese Commercial
Companies Code, respectively.

1. A
 ctivity developed by the Audit Committee
regarding the 2021 fiscal year
During the 2021 fiscal year, the Audit Committee
held 16 meetings with full attendance of its members.
The meetings were attended, when appropriate and
on invitation by the Committee, by members of the
Executive Committee, the Statutory Auditor and
External Auditor, the Legal Director and the Heads of
Accounting & Consolidation, Risk & Internal Audit, IT
and Human Resources.
In compliance with the powers legally and statutorily
assigned to the Audit Committee, as defined in its
regulation, it has developed several activities and
initiatives, of which the following are highlighted.
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1.1. M
 onitoring the Company’s activity,
ensuring compliance with the law and the
Company’s bylaws and supervision of the
Company’s management
The Audit Committee has regularly monitored the
activity and business evolution of the Company and
its subsidiaries, as well as its compliance with the
applicable legal, statutory, and regulatory framework.
This was achieved through participating in the Board
of Directors meetings – following the Company’s
governance model; specific meetings, contacts
and other inquiries with the Executive Committee
or its members; systematic analysis of operational
information made available periodically, as well as
through contacts and meetings maintained with
several operational directors and with the Statutory
Auditor and External Auditor.
During the course of its activities, the Audit
Committee monitored the main topics detailed below
with the regularity and detail considered appropriate,
having requested and obtained the clarifications
deemed relevant:
a) Decisions related to the Group's financing
structure, with a focus on its adequacy and
economic and financial sustainability;
b) The evolution of the business in the different
geographies where the Group operates;
c) The compliance with the 2021 annual budget and
monitoring the preparation of the annual budget
for 2022;
d) Compliance with the guidelines of the strategic
plan;
e) The progress of legal actions in which the Group
is involved;
f) Compliance with tax obligations;
g) The implementation of the new ERP (SAP) for the
whole Group;
h) The information control and security systems –
cybersecurity;
i) The Group's insurance policy;
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j) The transactions with related parties;
k) The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in each
geography in which the Group operates
l) the process of consultation and selection of the
proposal for election of the Statutory Auditor
and External Auditor for the three-years terms
2022‑2024 to be presented to the General
Meeting.
The Audit Committee analysed the functioning and
compliance with the legal framework of corporate
governance, namely the internal functioning of the
management body and its Executive Committee. Still
within the scope of monitoring corporate governance
issues, the Audit Committee analysed the Corporate
Governance Report for the year 2021, in particular its
adherence to legal requirements and to the Corporate
Governance Code and other recommendations
published by the Portuguese Institute of Corporate
Governance (IPCG).

During the 2021 fiscal year, the Audit Committee
carried out several monitoring, supervision and
evaluation initiatives in order to assess the functioning
and adequacy of internal control, risk management
and internal audit systems, and obtained regular
reporting from the Head of the Risk Management and
Internal Audit Department.
In collaboration with the Executive Committee,
the Audit Committee defined the annual plan of
activities of the Risk and Internal Audit Department,
which ensures the evaluation and monitoring
of the main risks to which the Group is subject,
as well as the effectiveness of the respective
management and internal control systems in the
countries where the Group operates. It regularly
monitored the development of internal audit work
and the effectiveness of recommendations issued
and implemented. It assessed compliance with
the activities plan, issuing guidelines as deemed
appropriate.

1.3. M
 onitoring the compliance with
accounting policies and practices and
monitoring the process of preparing and
disclosing financial information
Regarding accounting policies, regularity of entries
and financial reporting, the Audit Committee
regularly monitored the process of preparing periodic
financial information subject to disclosure under
regulatory terms, either semiannual or annual. For
this purpose, its members held regular meetings and
other contacts deemed appropriate, individually or
collectively, either with the Executive Committee or
with the heads of the departments involved or with
the Statutory Auditor and External Auditor.
Concerning judgments and estimates, given the
nature and relevance of the equity value represented
by intangible assets, namely goodwill and brands,
these elements were subject to a more detailed
analysis.
The Audit Committee therefore monitored the
process of preparing and supporting the impairment
tests on goodwill and brands. In particular, i) the
analysis of the evolution of the sales volume and
gross margin, ii) the dynamics of the paper market
considering the impact of the pandemic context
iii) the evolution and optimization of operations,
resulting in particular from operations of acquisitions,
and iv) maintaining the pre-tax discount rate and the
cash flow growth rate in perpetuity.
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1.2. M
 onitoring and supervision of the
effectiveness of internal control, risk
management and internal audit systems

Regarding the functional reporting of the Risk
Management and Internal Audit area, the Audit
Committee also assessed and approved the annual
review of the Risk Management & Internal Audit
Charter and of the Risk Management & Internal Audit
Manual.
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Appraised the opinion of the Statutory Auditor
and External Auditor on this matter in meetings
held with the latter. It also monitored the support
documentation made available on the relevant
parameters for the evaluation model applied to the
impairment tests.
Additionally, the Audit Committee adopted the
procedures and requested the elements deemed
appropriate to confirm the suitability of the
assumptions made by the Board of Directors in
determining the values in use and recoverable value
of assets, as well as the sensitivity analyses to the
relevant variables. It also developed the additional
assessment and reviews it considered necessary and
appropriate. The information made available was
considered sufficient and adequate to support its
opinion.

1.4. A
 nnual assessment of the activities of the
Statutory Auditor and External Auditor
The Audit Committee monitored the audit work
developed by the Statutory Auditor and External
Auditor in its several phases, namely through the
monitoring, discussion and analysis of:
a) The planning of activities;
b) The conclusions about the internal control
system;
c) The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
existence of matters subject to strengthening
of audit procedures and their impact on the
conclusions of the work;
d) The conclusions of the audit work on the limited
review of the interim consolidated financial
statements;
e) The preliminary and final conclusions of the audit
work on the individual and consolidated annual
accounts;
f) The Statutory Audit's Report;
g) The additional report addressed to the
supervisory body;
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h) The audit recommendations made and the
communications to be sent to the Audit
Committee as provided for in the regulations.

In the performance of its duties, the Audit Committee
assessed the competence and independence of the
Statutory Auditor and External Auditor. Within the
scope of the verification of the compliance with
the independence rules, the Audit Committee also
monitored and assessed the non-audit services
provided by the external auditor, having considered
that the services provided do not jeopardize the
independence and do not condition the opinion of the
Statutory Auditor and External Auditor.

1.5. Irregularities Report
Regarding the best practices on corporate
governance, and within the principles that guide the
Company’s business activity, the Audit Committee
monitored and tested the whistleblowing mechanism
in place in coordination with INAPA’s Ethics Officer.
During 2021, it has not come to the attention of
the Audit Committee the occurrence of any case
or situation, by any form raised or reported by
shareholders, company employees or others.

Opinion regarding Report and
Accounts
The Audit Committee examined the Management
Report and the Individual and Consolidated Financial
Statements for the fiscal year ending in 31 December
2021, which includes the balance sheet, the income
statement, the statement of comprehensive income,
the statement of changes in shareholder’s equity,
the cash flow statement as well as the Notes to the
financial statements, documents with which the Audit
Committee is of favorable opinion.
To the best of their knowledge, the individual and
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as adopted in the European Union.
The Audit Committee examined the Statutory Audit's
Report regarding the individual and consolidated
financial information, issued by the company’s
Statutory Auditor and External Auditor.
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The Statutory Audit's Report, individual and
consolidated, includes a qualified opinion with a
limitation of scope associated with the assumptions
made to determine the value in use and recoverable
value of the Goodwill and brands related to the paper
sector.
Based on the evaluation of support information
of the most relevant assumptions considered in
the preparation of impairment tests, of additional
information requested, and aditional analyses
performed, the Audit Committee is of the opinion that
the assumptions adopted by the Board of Directors in
the impairment tests on goodwill and brands should
be accepted, thus disagreeing with the qualified
opinion with a limitation of scope expressed by the
Statutory Auditor and External Auditor.
Excluding the point previously mentioned concerning
the impairment tests on goodwill and brands, the
Audit Committee expresses its agreement with the
opinion issued by the Statutory Auditor and External
Auditor of the Company in its Statutory Audit's
Report on the individual and consolidated financial
statements.

In conformance with the provisions of paragraphs 5
and 6 of Article 420 of the Portuguese Companies
Code, in order to fulfill the provisions of paragraph
2 of Article 423-F of the same code, the Audit
Committee hereby declares that:
• The Corporate Governance Report for the
fiscal year 2021 follows the CMVM (Portuguese
Securities Market Commission) model approved
by regulation number 4/2013, constitutes a
specific chapter of the Management Report,
and includes the elements referred in Article
245‑A of the CVM (Portuguese Securities Code),
also applicable by virtue of the provisions of
paragraph 1 of Article 19 of Law No. 99-A/2021
of 31 December 2021;
• Agrees with the above mentioned Management
Report and annual accounts.

Lisbon, 29 April 2022

Declaration of Conformance
In conformance with the provisions of paragraph 1,
subparagraph c) of Article 245 of the Portuguese
Securities Code ("Código de Valores Mobiliários"),
according with the paragraph 1 of Art. 19 of Law No.
99-A/2021 of 31 December 2021, the members of the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Inapa
- Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A., hereby
declare that to the best of their knowledge, the
information contained in the Management Report, in
the annual accounts, in the Statutory Audit's Report
(with the exception previously expressed) and in all
other documents for the rendering of individual and
consolidated accounts, required by law or regulations,

The Audit Committee

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros
Board Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee

Emília de Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão
Board Member and Member of the Audit Committee

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha
Board Member and Member of the Audit Committee
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Thus, the Audit Committee is of the opinion that
the Management Report and the individual and
consolidated financial statements for the 2021
fiscal year of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e
Gestão, S.A., as well as the proposal for the earnings
distribution contained in the Management Report, are
in accordance with accounting, legal and statutory
provisions, and therefore recommends its approval at
the General Meeting.

regarding 31 December 2021, was prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting standards,
thereby giving a truthful and appropriate view of
the assets and liabilities, the financial situation and
earnings of the Company and the companies included
within the consolidated statements, and that the
Management Report faithfully represents the growth
of the company’s businesses, the performance and
the standing of the company and the companies
included in the consolidation statements, including
a description of the main risks and uncertainties
affecting the companies.
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Part I
Mandatory information on
Shareholder Structure, Organisation
and Corporate Governance
Introduction
This Corporate Governance report was prepared
in accordance with the Regulation of CMVM (the
Portuguese Securities Market Commission) 4/2013
from July 12.

On point 7 it is described the information about
qualified stakes.

2.

The report follows the structure of Annex I of the
previously mentioned CMVM Regulation.

Restrictions on the transfer of shares, such as
clauses on consent for disposal, or limits on the
ownership of shares (Article 245-A/1b)).

The rules of the Securities Market Code to which
this report refers are those prior to its revision by
Law 99‑A/2021, of 31st December, by virtue of the
transitory provision contained in paragraph 1 of article
19 of said Law.

There are no restrictions to the free transfer of
ownership of the shares other than the ones arising
from the applicable law (namely the obligation to
launch a public tender offering when the shareholder
ownership exceeds 1/2 of the total voting rights).

A. Ownership Structure
I. Capital Structure

1.

The capital structure (share capital, number of
shares, distribution of capital by shareholders,
etc.), including an indication of shares that are not
admitted to trading, different classes of shares, and
related rights and duties and the capital percentage
that each class represents (Article 245-A/1a)).
The share capital, fully subscribed and paid up is
180,135,111.43¤, being represented by 526,225,508
of ordinary, nominative shares with no nominal value.
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The Company has not established any mechanism
that has the effect of undermining the free
transferability of shares, free appraisal by the
shareholders of the performance of members of the
governing body or cause mismatch between the right
to receive dividends or to subscribe for new securities
and the right to vote for each ordinary share.

All shares are admitted to trading on the Euronext
Stock Exchange, with the code ISIN PTINA0AP0008,
confer the same right to participate in the Company's
results and benefit from the same voting weight:
- 1 vote per share, this without prejudice to the
limitation on voting rights contained in Article 13-A
of the Articles of Association which states that
"Votes cast by a shareholder, in his own name or as
representative of another, exceeding one third of the
total votes corresponding to the share capital will not
be considered."

3.

Number of own shares, the percentage of share
capital that it represents and corresponding
percentage of voting rights that would correspond
to own shares (Article 245-A/1a)).
The company does not hold any own share.

4.

Important agreements to which the company is
a party and that come into effect, are amended
or terminated in cases such as a change in the
control of the company after a takeover bid, and
the respective effects, except where due to their
nature, the disclosure thereof would be seriously
detrimental to the company; this exception does not
apply where the company is specifically required
to disclose said information pursuant to other legal
requirements (Article 245-A/1j)).
The Company is not a party to any agreement that
will come into force, be amended or terminated in the
event of a mere change in the Company’s controlling
shareholder.

233

4. Corporate Governance Report A. Ownership Structure

Annual Report 2021

5.

A regime to which the renewal or revocation of
defensive measures is subject, in particular those
that provide for the limitation of the number of
votes capable of being held or exercised by a single
shareholder, individually or together with other
shareholders.
Pursuant to the provisions of the statutory
amendment of 15 November 2018, referred to in 1,
the Board of Directors shall submit, every five years,
a proposal for a resolution to the General Meeting to
amend or maintain the limiting provision of voting
rights, without aggravated quorum requirements
for the quorum supplemented by law and in which
all votes cast shall be counted, without limiting the
voting rights.

6.

Shareholders’ agreements that the company is
aware of and that may result in restrictions on
the transfer of securities or voting rights (Article
245-A/1/g)).
The company is not aware of any agreements signed
by its shareholders.
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II. Shareholdings and Bondholdings

7.

Identification of natural or legal persons which,
directly or indirectly, own qualified shareholdings
(Art 245-A/1/c) and d) and Art 16), with detailed
information on the percentage of capital and
attributable votes and the source and causes of such
attribution.
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The shareholders with qualifying holding on
31 December 2021 were:

QUALIFIED HOLDINGS

Parpública - Participações Públicas SGPS, S.A.
Shares attributed to Millennium BCP (Art. 20 CVM)
- Banco Comercial Português, S.A.
- Pension Fund of BCP Group

ORDINARY
SHARES

% ORDINARY
SHARES

% VOTING
RIGHTS

236,199,384

44.89%

33.33%

112,996,710

21.47%

21.47%

93,513,669

17.77%

17.77%

19,483,041

3.70%

3.70%

43,500,000

8.27%

8.27%

Novo Banco

34,445,831

6.55%

6.55%

Total Qualified Holdings

427,141,925

81.17%

69.62%

Nova Expressão SGPS, S.A.

Last update: 31 December 2021.

The shares from BCP Group Pension Funds have
been allocated to Banco Comercial Português, S.A.
in accordance with article 16 of CVM and the opinion
on generic allocation of voting rights to pension
Funds from CMVM on 25 May 2006, as stated in the
statement of Banco Comercial Português, S.A., which
was the object of a notice issued by the company on
25 February 2008.

A list of the number of shares and bonds held by
members of the management and supervisory
boards (NOTE: the information should be provided
so that Article 447/5 CCC is complied with).

NUMBER OF
ORDINARY SHARES

NUMBER OF
PREFERRED SHARES

NUMBER OF
BONDS

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende

0

0

0

Frederico João de Moser Lupi

0

0

0

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís

0

0

0

Inês Patrícia Arede Simões Louro

0

0

0

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros

0

0

0

Emília Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão

0

0

0

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha

0

0

0
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9.

Special powers of the Board of Directors, especially
as regards resolutions on the capital increase
(Article 245-A/1/i)) with an indication as to the
allocation date, time period within which said
powers may be carried out, the upper ceiling for
the capital increase, the amount already issued
pursuant to the allocation of powers and mode of
implementing the powers assigned.
The Board of Directors is not currently authorized to
increase the company’s capital under the provisions
of Article 456 of the Portuguese Companies Code.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, on 10 July 2019,
15,000 convertible bonds into shares, until July 2026,
were issued under the terms and conditions approved
by resolution of the General Meeting of 15 November
2018, with the nominal value of ¤ 1,000 each, in the
global amount of ¤ 15,000,000, fully subscribed and
paid by Papyrus GmbH by payment of part of the
price for which Inapa acquired Papyrus Deutschland
GmbH & Co. KG and Papyrus Deutschland
Verwaltungs GmbH.
In order to accommodate the conversion of
such obligations, by the same General Meeting, a
capital increase from the current ¤ 180,135,111.43 to
¤ 195,135,111.43 was approved.

10.

Information on the existence of significant
relationships of a commercial nature between the
holders of qualifying holdings and the company.

B. Statutory Bodies and
Committees
I. General Assembly
 omposition of the Board of the General
a) C
Meeting (in the year of reference).

11.

Identification and position of the members of the
Board of the General Meeting and respective term of
office (start and end).
At present, the Board of the General Meeting is as
follows:
• Chairman – Nuno Galvão Teles
• Secretary – Ricardo Andrade Amaro
The current composition of the Board of the General
Meeting, was established for the period 2019-2021,
jointly with the election of the Governing Bodies in
the General Meeting of 23 May 2019.
Besides the support of the secretary, the Chairman
of the Board of the General Meeting also has the
support of the company’s secretary as well as its
administrative services that are deemed adequate
and sufficient for the right performance of his duties.

b) Exercising the right to vote.
No business or operations took place, outside normal
market conditions, between the company and owners
of qualifying holdings or entities with which they are
in any type of relationship, in accordance with Article
20 of the CVM (Securities Code).
The transactions with related entities are described
on Note 33 of the consolidated financial statements.

12.

Any restrictions on voting rights, such as limitations
on the exercise of voting rights depending on the
ownership of a number or percentage of shares,
time limits imposed on the exercise of voting
rights or systems for detaching voting rights from
ownership rights (Article 245-A/1/f)).
The Company’s Articles of Association does not
stipulate any minimum number of shares to exercise
the voting rights.
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Pursuant to the provisions of Article 23-C, No. 1 of
the Securities Code, as amended by Decree-Law
49/2010, of 19 May, "the following shall have the
right to participate in the General Meeting and to
discuss and vote in whoever, on the record date,
corresponding to 0 hours (GMT) of the 5th trading
day prior to the day the meeting is held, holds shares
that confer, according to the law and the articles of
association, at least one vote", being that by virtue
of the provisions of paragraph 5 of Article 13 of the
company’s bylaws, each share registered in the name
of a shareholder counts one vote.
Statutory regulations on the exercise of voting by
post are set out in paragraph 2 of Article 13 of the
company’s bylaws, which stipulate that:
“Shareholders may exercise their voting rights by
post. To do so, they should address a registered
letter with recorded delivery to the Chairman of the
Board of the General Meeting at least three working
days prior to the date of the session of the General
Meeting in question.”

The company intends to maintain the option of
sending voting bulletins by e-mail, thus allowing
shareholders to participate in the GM at a distance.
The company's bylaws do not contain any rules
regarding detachment system of any equity rights.
The company considers that it is in the best interest
of its shareholders not to implement a telematics
voting system, as there was no request or intention of
participation on a General Meeting from a shareholder
or potential investors to use such a system, i) on past
General Meetings there was always a low number of
participants and ii) the implementation of a system
allowing telematics voting in a safe way, would
represent a significant cost and iii) makes available to
its shareholders the possibility of sending the voting
bulletin by e-mail.

13.

Details of the maximum percentage of voting rights
that may be exercised by a single shareholder or by
shareholders that are in any relationship as set out in
Article 20/1.
At the General Meeting held on 15 November 2018,
it was reviewed the disposition of the company’s
contract that foresees the limitation of voting rights
expressed by one shareholder. This provision,
currently, provides that the votes cast by one
shareholder, in his own name or in representation
of another, which exceed one third of the total
votes corresponding to the share capital, will not
be considered. The voting rights corresponding
to shares held by a shareholder with a common
domain, are also covered by this statutory provision,
being proportionally limited when affecting several
shareholders.
It is established that the Board of Directors has to
submit every five years for resolution by the General
Meeting, a proposal to change or maintain this
statutory provision, without aggravated quorum
requirements relative to complementarily quorum
established by law. On this deliberation all votes are
counted, not being applied the limitation of votes.
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The ballot paper and the model of proxy are
available on the company’s website, and interested
shareholders may send such documentation by
registered post or via email indicated in the notice, in
order to exercise their right to vote, with no need to
be physically present to exercise the vote.

Without prejudice to the foregoing, during the
validity of Law 1-A/2020, of March 19, amended by
Law No. 4-A/2020, of April 6, Law No. 4-B/2020, of
April 6, Law No. 14/2020, of May 9, Law No. 16/2020,
of May 29, Law No. 28/2020, of July 28, Law No.
58‑A/2020, of September 30, Law No. 75-A/2020,
of December 30, Law No. 1-A/2021, of January 13 and
Law No. 4-B/2021, of February 1, which establishes
exceptional and temporary measures to respond
to the epidemiological situation caused by the
coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 and the disease COVID-19,
the telematic participation in the company’s general
meetings will be governed by the provisions of 1 of
its Article 5, which provides that “the participation
by telematic means, namely video or teleconference
of members of collegiate bodies of public or private
entities in the respective meetings, does not impede
the regular functioning of the body, namely with
regard to quorum and deliberations, however, it must
be registered, in the respective minutes, the form of
participation”.
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14.

Details of shareholders' resolutions that, imposed
by imposition of statutes, may only be taken with
a qualified majority, in addition to those legally
provided, and details of said majority.

II. Management and Supervision (Board of
Directors,Executive Board and General and
Supervisory Board)
a) Composition (throughout the said year).

The company's articles of association do not
contemplate other qualified majorities for the
adoption of corporate resolutions besides those
deriving from the law, namely:

15.

Details of corporate governance model adopted.

• The General Meeting shall decide at first call
about changes in the Articles of Association,
mergers, asset split, transformation, dissolution
and other issues that require a qualified majority,
without specifying it, shareholders must be
present or duly represented by those whose
holding shares represent at least 1/3 of the share
capital; on a second call the General Meeting can
decide independently of the represented share
capital (Article 383, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the
Companies Act - CSC);

According to the resolution of the General Meeting
of May 31, 2007, the company adopted as a model
of administration and supervision the contemplated
in paragraph b), of No. 1, of article 278 CSC, a Board
of Directors, comprising an Audit Committee, and
Statutory Auditor.

• The resolutions indicated in the previous
paragraph, the decision has to be approved by
2/3 of the votes cast, irrespective of whether the
meeting is held at first or second call; however, if,
at second call, shareholders holding at least half
of the share capital are present or represented,
decisions on such matters may be taken by a
majority of the votes cast.

The regulations of the Board of Directors were
recently revised, at a Board meeting on 23 December
2020, in order to accommodate the revision of the
Regulations on Transactions of the Company with
Related Parties, approved at that same meeting.

At the Board of Directors meeting on 29 May 2019, it
was approved the Board of Directors' regulations and
the creation of an Executive Committee, to which the
current management of the company was delegated.

Article 4 of the Board of Directors' regulations
stipulates that the Board shall meet ordinarily once a
quarter.
The Company’s articles of association provide in
article 21 that the members of the Audit Committee
shall be appointed at a General Meeting, which shall
be composed of three members, one of whom shall
serve as chair. The chairman shall be responsible for
convening the respective meetings.
The audit committee shall ordinarily meet at least
every two months. In addition, the Executive
Committee makes available, when requested, the
supporting documentation of its deliberations and
other documents that it keeps on file.
The minutes of each meeting of the Board of

238

239

Directors, the Executive Committee and the Audit
Committee were drawn up and are available
for consultation by the Governing Bodies at the
company's headquarters, and the Chairman of each
Body is available to provide any clarification.
The minutes of the meetings of the Executive
Committee are regularly shown to the Audit
Committee, whose minutes of the meetings are
regularly presented to all members of the Board of
Directors.
Pursuant to the provisions of the Board of Directors
Regulations approved on 29 May 2019, as amended
by resolution of 23 December 2020, whenever
the Chairman of the Board of Directors exercises
executive functions, the independent directors must
designate amongst them, a leading independent
director to, inter alia, (i) act, whenever that necessary,
as interlocutor with the Chairman of the Board of
Directors and with the other directors, (ii) ensure
that they have the set of conditions and means
necessary for the performance of their duties; and (iii)
coordinate them in the performance evaluation by
the management body.

Articles of association rules on the procedural
requirements governing the appointment
and replacement of members of the Board of
Directors, the Executive Board and the General
and Supervisory Board, where applicable. (Article
245-A/1/h)).
In conformity with provision of paragraph 1 of Article
18 of the company’s bylaws, the Board of Directors
should be composed by 5 to 12 members, elected on
the General Meeting.
Paragraph 2 of the same article states that “the
shareholders who vote against a motion to elect the
Directors have the right to appoint one Director, as
long as this minority represents at least 10% of the
share capital“.
Paragraph 3 of the same article states that the
Director designated by the minority will automatically
replace the less voted person of the winning list, or in
case of equal votes, the person on the last position of
the same list.
In conformity with the provisions of paragraph 7 of

Paragraphs 8 and 9 of article 18 of the Bylaws,
establish that “if a Director fails to attend more than
two meetings of the Board of Directors in a calendar
year without good reason accepted by the latter, this
will be considered definitive absence of the Director
in question” and “The Board of Directors will elect
replacements for any members deemed definitively
absent, dismissed under the terms of the law, or who
resign their post. Any replacements thus made will
remain in force until the end of the term to which
the members of the Board of Directors who made
the selection were elected, unless the selection is
not ratified by the first subsequent General Meeting.
Replacements must be submitted to the General
Meeting for approval, as stipulated by Article 393 (4)
of the Company Code.”
Finally, paragraph 5 of article 18 of the Bylaws states
that “The Board of Directors may delegate the
day‑to-day management of the company to one or
more Directors or an Executive Committee”.
The Company has not introduced any type of
measure that could imply a future payment or
assumption of charges by the company in the event
of a change of control or changes in the composition
of the management body that may be liable to impair
the economic interest in the transmission of shares
and shareholders 'appreciation of the managers'
performance.
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16.

Article 18 of its Bylaws, “if the Board of Directors is
composed of fewer members than the maximum set
forth in item 1 of this article and it deems it necessary
for the management of the company business to
increase the number of Directors, it may appoint two
new members prior to the next scheduled annual
General Meeting. Clearly, this must not result in more
than the limit of twelve members for the Board of
Directors as stipulated in these articles of association.
The first annual General Meeting to be held after such
appointment will either confirm or reject the advice
of the Board of Directors with regard to the number
of Directors. If the instruction is confirmed, the
appointment of the new members will be ratified.”

Annual Report 2021

17.

Composition of the Board of Directors, the
Executive Board and the General and Supervisory
Board, where applicable, with details of the articles
of association’s minimum and maximum number
of members, duration of term of office, number of
effective members, date when first appointed and
end of the term of office of each member.
According to the Bylaws, the Board of Directors is
composed by five to twelve members, elected by the
General Meeting, for periods of 3 years renewable,
being able to delegate the daily management of the
company to an Executive Committee.
In the use of this prerogative, the Board of Directors
decided on 29 May 2019 to delegate the daily
management to an Executive Committee, being the
composition of the two entities the following:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND FUNCTION

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
AND FUNCTION

DATE OF FIRST
APPOINTMENT

END OF TERM
OF OFFICE

Chairman

Chairman

07.29.15

12.31.21

Frederico João de Moser Lupi

Member

Member

10.01.15

12.31.21

Inês Patrícia Arêde Simões Louro

Member

Member

05.23.19

12.31.21

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís

Member

05.07.13

12.31.21

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros

Member*

05.23.19

12.31.21

Emília Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão

Member

05.23.19

12.31.21

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha

Member

05.23.19

12.31.21

* Lead independent director
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18.

The independence criteria that served as a basis to
the evaluation of the function of the Directors were
the provisions set out in the Companies Act – Articles
414 and regulation 4/2013 of CMVM.
In assessing the independence criteria of
non‑executive directors, the provisions of CVM
Regulation No. 4/2013 (in particular, Article 18.1)
and the Commercial Companies Code (Article 414,
paragraph 5, letter b)) were taken into account.
When applying the criteria deriving from the IPCG
code (2018), there were no discrepancies in the
assessment of the independence of managers.

INDEPENDENT

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes
Rezende

No

-

Frederico João de Moser Lupi

No

-

Inês Patrícia Arede Simões Louro

No

-

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís

Yes

Yes

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros

Yes

Yes

Emília Noronha Galvão Franco
Frazão

Yes

Yes

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha

Yes

Yes

The Board of Directors elected for the 2019-2021
term as its Chairman Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes
Rezende, who combines these functions with
Chairman of the Executive Committee.
It was elected for the functions of lead independent
director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, Victor
Maurílio Silva Barros, with the mission of i) to act as
an interlocutor with the Chairman of the Board of
Directors, ii) to ensure that the necessary conditions
and means exist, for the performance of the functions
the independent directors and iii) to coordinate the
performance evaluation of the management body.
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Distinction to be drawn between executive
and non‑executive directors and, as regards
non‑executive members, details of members
that may be considered independent, or, where
applicable, details of independent members of the
General and Supervisory Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE

Annual Report 2021

19.

Professional qualifications and other relevant
curricular information of each member of the Board
of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and
the Executive Board, where applicable.

Diogo Francisco Bastos
Mendes Rezende
Chairman

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
• Degree in Economics by Nova University of Lisbon
• MBA from INSEAD

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
• Chairman of the Board of Directors/Management of
the subsidiary companies of Inapa Group (since 2015):
- Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
- Inapa Deutschland Holding, GmbH
- Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
- Inapa France, SAS
- Inapa España Distribución de Papel, S.A.
- Inapa Belgium, S.A.
- Inapa Packaging, SAS
- Inapa Packaging, GmbH
- Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd
- Europackaging – Investimentos, Participações
e Gestão, Lda.
- Inapa Packaging, Lda.
- Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim S,irketi
- Inapa Complott GmbH
• CEO of Ford Lusitana (from 2004 to 2014)
• Assistant professor of Applied Entrepreneurship on
Masters Programs (from 2013 to 2015) and member
of the Consulting Board (from 2011 to 2015) at NOVA
School of Business and Economics.
• CEO of Chrysler Jeep in Portugal (1998–2003)
• Marketing professor at NOVA SBE (from 1996 to 1998).
• Marketing and Sales Director of Ford Lusitana (from
1992 to 1998)
• Strategic Consultant at ESFI - Strategy and Finance
(from 1990 to 1991)
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Frederico João
de Moser Lupi

Inês Patrícia
Arede Simões Louro

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

• Degree in Economics by Nova University of Lisbon
• Three post-graduate executive programs from INSEAD
(Fontainebleau, France)

• Degree in Business Management by ISEG
• MBA by Lisbon MBA

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
• Director/manager of the following subsidiaries of the
Inapa Group (since 2019):
- Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
- Inapa España Distribución de Papel, S.A.
- Inapa France, SAS
- Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
- Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim S,irketi
• Corporate Director of Strategic Planning and Control
at the Group ETE (2016-2019)
• Director of Strategic Planning and Pricing at Portugal
Telecom (2009-2015)
• Director of Strategic Planning and Control of Portugal
Telecom (2006-2009)
• Business Development Director of PT Comunicações
(2004-2005)
• Corporate Responsible for Planning and Control of
Portugal Telecom (2002-2003)
• Director of Planning and Management Control
at PTM.com (2001-2002)
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• Director/general manager of the following subsidiary
companies of Inapa Group:
- Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
- Inapa España Distribución de Papel, S.A.
- Inapa France, SAS
- Inapa Shared Center, Lda.
- Inapa Belgium, S.A.
- Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim S,irketi
- Inapa Angola, S.A.
• CFO of EIP group (in 2015)
• Director of Real Estate Business in BCP (from 2011 to
2014)
• Commercial Director of Retail Network in Millennium
BCP (from 2007 to 2010)
• Member of the Executive Committee of Millennium
Bank in Athens, responsible for Private Banking and
Bancassurance (from 2005 to 2006)
• Director coordinator of Millennium Bank in Athens
(from 2003 to 2004)
• Commercial Director of Banco Pinto e Sotto Mayor
(2003)
• Bancassurance Director (from 1996 to 2002),
being a member of the management of BCP group
(since 2002)
• Financial Director and deputy administration in Lusalite
(from 1993 to 1995)
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Victor Maurílio
Silva Barros

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

• PhD in Management with specialization in Finance by
ISEG - University of Lisbon
• Master in Finance by ISEG - University of Lisbon
• Postgraduate Diploma in Regional and International
Taxation
• BSc in Management by University of Madeira
• Certified Accountant CFA® charterholder by CFA
Institute
• Advanced program for Non-Executive Directors
– Portuguese Corporate Governance Institute

• Degree in Business Management by Universidade
Católica
• Advanced Program for Non-Executive Directors
– Portuguese Corporate Governance Institute

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
• Member of the Fiscal Council of IDEFE/ISEG Executive
Education (since 2017)
• Assistant Professor of Finance at ISEG – University of
Lisbon (since 2016)
• Faculty Advisor of ISEG in the CFA Institute Research
Challenge (since 2015)
• Teaching Assistant at ISEG – University of Lisbon
(2013-2016)
• Member of the Supervisory Board of IDEFE/ISEG
Executive Education (since 2017)
• Researcher at ADVANCE/CSG – Research in Social
Sciences and Management (since 2011)
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Emília de Noronha
Galvão Franco Frazão

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
• Member of the Association's Board of Directors
– Fundo de Assistência do Crédito Agrícola Mútuo
(FACAM) (since 2020)
• Member of the Fiscal Council of Monte d’Alva
– Alimentação, S.A. (since 2020)
• Member of the SGEHR Fiscal Council – Sociedade
Gestora e Exploradora de Hotéis e Resorts S.A. (since
2019)
• Non-executive member of the Board of Directors
• of FUNDIESTAMO - Sociedade Gestora de Organismos
de Investimento Coletivo, S.A. (since 2019)
• Coordinating Director at Novo Banco (2013-2017)
• Non-Executive Director at Espírito Santo Capital
– Sociedade de Capital de Risco (2013-2015)
• Executive Director at Espírito Santo Capital
– Sociedade de Capital de Risco (2000-2013)
• Executive Director at IAPMEI (1999-2000)
• Director at Banco Espírito Santo de Investimento, S.A.
(1991-1999)
• Professor to the Bachelor’s degree at Universidade
Católica (1988-1991 and 1994-1998
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Patrícia Isabel
Sousa Caldinha

João Miguel Pacheco
de Sales Luís

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS

• Degree in Business Management by Universidade
Autónoma de Lisboa
• Chartered Accountant
• Certified Economist and Accountant

• PADE (Program for Top Corporate Managers) from
AESE (1999/2000)
• MBA by NOVA University (1997)
• Chartered Accountant
• Degree in Business Management by Universidade
Autónoma de Lisboa (1981)

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
• Member of the Audit Committee of Banco Caixa Geral
de Angola (since 2022)
• Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Banco
Internacional de São Tomé Príncipe (since 2019)
• Chairman of Foundation FORSDI - Obra Social das
Religiosas Dominicanas Irlandesas (since 2015)
• Chairman of Supervisory Board of Unicre – Instituição
Financeira de Crédito, S.A. (2013–2018)
• Top manager of the retail network of BCP (2008–2012)
• Commercial manager of the retail network at BCP
(2003–2008)
• Top manager of the brokerage business of BCP
Investimento (2001–2003)
• Top Manager of Private Banking Southern Area
(2000–2001)
• Top Manager of “Internacional Private Banking”
(1998–2000)
• Marketing Manager at Companhia de Seguros
Ocidental (1997–1998)
• Commercial Manager at Nova Rede (1995–1997)
• General Manager of BCPI (BCP’s company of Asset
Management) (1991–1994)
• Senior Technician of the Department of Studies and
Planning of BCP (1986–1991)
• Senior Technician of Planning and Control at Sorefame
(Metallurgical and Railway Industry) (1986–1991)
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• Member of the Supervisory Board of Insight Venture
– Sociedade de Capital de Risco, S.A. (desde 2021)
• Member of the Supervisory Board de Águas do Tejo
Atlântico,S.A. (desde 2021)
• Member of the Board of Directors of the Order of
Statutory Auditors (since 2020)
• Chairman of the Registration Committee of the Order
of Statutory Auditors (since 2020)
• Member of the Fiscal Council of EPAL – Empresa
Portuguesa das Águas Livres, S.A. (since 2018)
• Provides, privately, the activity of Chartered
Accountant and related services (since 2012)
• Director at Auto Jardim do Algarve – Automóveis de
Aluguer, S.A. (2005–2007)
• Director at JMTC – Sociedade Gestora de
Participações Sociais, S.A. (1998‑2005)
• Manager at Auto Jardim do Algarve – Automóveis de
Aluguer, Lda. (1997–2012)
• Manager at Auto Colibri – Reparações Auto, Lda.
(1997–2012)
• Auditor at António Borges & Associados, Sociedade de
Revisores Oficiais de Contas (1995–2015)
• Consultant at António Borges & Associados
– Consultores Associados, S.A. (1995-2004)
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The lists proposed for Board of Directors election are
accompanied by a curriculum vitae of the candidates,
in order to assess the suitability of the members
for the exercise of the mandate that includes the
academic qualifications and a description of the
professional activity throughout their careers. This
information is made available to shareholders within
the deadlines set forth in the law for the elective
General Meetings.
In the elections held on 23 May 2019, the gender
balance criteria of the Board of Directors and Audit
Committee were met, with each gender representing
at least 1/3 in each body.
To date, no specific criteria have been established
relating to the individual profile or attributes of the
members of the Board of Directors.

20.

Customary and meaningful family, professional or
business relationships of members of the Board
of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board
and the Executive Board, where applicable, with
shareholders that are assigned qualifying holdings
that are greater than 2% of the voting rights.
There are no family, professional or business
relationships of members of the Board of Directors
with shareholders with a qualified stake greater than
2% of voting rights.

21.

Organisational charts or flowcharts concerning the
allocation of powers between the various corporate
boards, committees and/or departments within
the company, including information on delegating
powers, particularly as regards the delegation of the
company's daily management.
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General Meeting
Remuneration
Committee

Board
of Directors

Nuno Galvão Teles

Non-executive

Executive

Victor Barros

Diogo Rezende

Chairman

Pedro Vilas Boas
Tiago Estevinho

Lead independent director

Chairman

Emília Frazão

Frederico Lupi

Patrícia Caldinha

Inês Louro

João Sales Luís

Executive
Committee

Corporate
Center

Victor Barros

Diogo Rezende
Chairman

David Pedroso*

Internal audit

Emília Frazão

Frederico Lupi

António Alvim

Legal

Patrícia Caldinha

Inês Louro

João Alvarinho

IT

Hugo Rua

Investor Relations

Carlos Alves

Consolidation

Sofia Picoto

Finance and Planning

Gilbert Trepmann

Graphic

Antoine Lequitte

Office

Chairman

* Also reports to Audit Committee

Germany

France

Spain

Portugal

Thomas Schimanowski

Afonso Chaby

Ginés Ramírez

Ginés Ramírez

Martin Tewes

Marc Gautier

Pedro Huidobro

Miguel Moreira

Miguel Moreira

Luís Ferreira

Hugo Rua
Alexander Herbst
Achim Thörner

Turkey

Belux

Angola

Jürgen Luzar

Suzi Matat

Chris Luyten

José Mendes Coelho
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Audit
Committee

Annual Report 2021

By resolution of the Board of Directors dated 29 May
2019, the following powers were delegated to the
respective Executive Committee, pursuant to the
provisions of paragraphs 3 and 4 of Article 407 of the
Portuguese Companies Code, the following powers
were delegated to the Executive Committee, without
prejudice to the power of the Board of Directors to
adopt resolutions on the same matters pursuant to
paragraph 8 of the same legal provision:
• The day-to-day management of the Company;
• Monitoring and coordination of subordinate
companies, including the definition of
management and control guidelines;
• Setting out plans for the implementation of
Company and Group policies, objectives and
strategy for approval by the Board of Directors;
• Setting out general guidelines concerning the
Company’s internal organisation, including
internal control and risk management, for
approval by the Board of Directors;

• Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets
accounted for as fixed assets of the Company in
accordance with budgets approved by the Board
of Directors;
• Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets
accounted for as fixed assets of the Company
not included in budgets approved by the Board
of Directors up to a value of 1.5% of the realized
share capital per item;
• Purchasing, selling or pledging shares in other
companies, provided the transactions in question
do not exceed 2.5% of the realized share capital
per item, above which limit prior approval from
the Board of Directors shall be required;
• Deliberate on the realization of investments,
divestitures and restructurings in and by the
subordinate company;

• Compiling operational budgets, medium and
longterm investment and development plans
of the Company, for approval by the Board of
Directors;

• Renting or letting out any buildings or sectional
title properties;

• Approving contracts for the procurement of
goods and services by the Company up to a limit
of ¤ 500,000

• Representing the Company in court and out of
court, either as plaintiff or as defendant, as well
as proposing and filing any legal suits, admitting
guilt, withdrawing or settling out of court and
committing to abide by arbitrage proceedings;

• Negotiating and concluding short-term financing
agreements for the Company, under the terms
and conditions that it deems most appropriate to
defend the Company's interests;
• Provide financial support to subsidiaries,
according to a structure and conditions more
adequate to the best interest of the Company;
• Negotiating and celebrating agreements that
change, substitute or renew financing contracts
of the company, including commercial paper
programs, under the terms and conditions most
favourable to the interest of the company;
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paper programs, for which purpose binding the
Company under any such transactions shall be
made expressly conditional to a prior resolution
of the Board of Directors to the effect;

• Negotiating new bank finance agreements with
a term longer than a year and a day to fund
the Company and its subsidiary companies and
the issuing of corporate bonds and commercial

• Entering into, amending and terminating
employment contracts and exercising powers of
discipline over the staff;
• Opening, transacting and closing bank accounts;
• Appointing duly mandated representatives of the
Company.
The Regulation of the Board of Directors approved
states that it is Inapa’s Board of Directors
competence, non-delegable on the Executive
Committees, to:
• Deliberate on the matters stated on paragraphs
a) and m) of Article 406 of the CSC (the
Portuguese Companies Code);
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• Deliberate, under the terms and limits established
in Article 503 of the CSC (the Portuguese
Companies Code), on binding instructions to
Subordinated Companies;
• Deliberate on proposal from the Executive
Committee, on the budget and plan of the
Company and the Group;
• Deliberate on acquisition or sale of majority or
dominance stakes, as well as those subject to a
special process of acquisition or sale under the
terms of CVM (Portuguese Securities Code);
• Deliberate, on proposal from the Executive
Committee, on the setting of the company's
strategic objectives in terms of risk-taking and on
the respective internal control and management
systems.
It should also be mentioned that all directors,
including those belonging to the Audit Committee, in
addition to assessing and approving the budget and
strategic plan for the three-year period, will monitor
its evolution on at least a quarterly basis.

The strategic plan previously referred was designed
with a view to the long-term success of the company
and carried out from a perspective that promotes
the environmental and social sustainability of the
community. In Chapter 1 of the Annual Report, the
strategic plan is detailed and a progress report is
made on the initiatives that have been carried out as
part of its implementation.

It is important to note that in the aforementioned
resolution the Board of Directors of May 29, 2019, has
granted to the Chairman of the Executive Committee,
according to provisions stipulated in paragraph 6 of
Article 407 CSC (the Portuguese Companies Code),
the following duties:
• Ensure that all relevant information is provided
to the other members of the Board of Directors,
regarding the operations and resolutions of the
Executive Committee;
• Ensure the fulfilling of the delegation limits and
the company’s strategy.
The Chairman of the Executive Committee sends
regular notices and the minutes of the Executive
Committee meetings to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and they are filed and available for
consultation by the other members of the governing
bodies at the company’s headquarters. The notices,
decision support materials and minutes of the Board
of Directors are distributed to all company directors,
including those who are also part of the Audit
Committee, and they may also request additional
clarification or access to other documents.
In conformance with the provisions of applicable
legislation and with the aforementioned resolution of
the Board of Directors of 29 May 2019, as amended
by resolution of 23 December 2020, and respective
regulations, the following powers have specifically
been granted to the Audit Committee:
• Supervising the administration of the Company;
• Ensuring due compliance with the law and the
provisions of the Bylaws;
• Verifying due compliance of the accounting
books, records and supporting documentation;
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The strategic plan for 2019-2021, where the priorities,
policies and strategic objectives are set out, was
discussed and approved at a meeting of the
Board of Directors on 12 December 2019 in order
to incorporate the very relevant integration into
the Group of the new German subsidiary Papyrus
Deutschland, which was only completed in July 2019,
and only after that date it was possible to access
relevant data for the establishment of the strategic
plan. The supervisory body also gives its opinion on
the strategic guidelines and that the risk policy is
adapted to society’s objectives.

The Board of Directors and Audit Committee
annually assess the adequacy of the risk mitigation
measures present in the Company, jointly defining a
work program that monitors the maintenance of the
adequacy of the measures in progress and allows
adjustments to be made whenever justified.
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• Verifying, when and in the form deemed
convenient, cash balances and stocks of any type
of goods or assets owned by the Company or
held in lieu of security or in trust or under any
other entitlement;
• Verifying the accuracy of the financial statements;

• Contracting for the provision of expert services in
order to assist one or more of its members in the
performance of their duties.

• Verifying whether the accounting policies and
valuation criteria adopted by the Company are
conducive to appropriately represent its assets
and results;

In the performance of its duties the Audit Committee
meets with the external auditor and the chartered
accountant – the two functions are assigned to the
same entity – and is the first recipient of the reports.

• Compiling, on an annual basis, an audit report
on its audit and supervisory action and issuing
an opinion on the annual report and accounts
and proposals of the Board of Directors, where it
states its agreement or not on the management
report and financial statements and include the
declaration subscribed by its members, according
to Article 245, number 1, paragraph c) of CVM
(the Portuguese Securities Code);

The Audit Committee makes an assessment of the
work performed by the auditor, receives its reports,
regularly monitors the progress of the work and the
adequacy of its resources.

• Convening a meeting of the General Meeting of
Shareholders, having a duty so to act, should its
Chairman fail to do so;
• Auditing the efficacy of the risk management
system, the internal control system and the
internal audit system;
• Being the recipient of reports on irregularities
which shareholders, employees of the Company
or other parties may submit;
• Auditing the process of preparation and
disclosure of financial statements;
• Validate if the Governance Report includes the
elements referred on Article 245-A of CVM
(Portuguese Securities Code);
• Propose to the General Meeting of Shareholders
the appointment of a Chartered Accountant
and Auditor, approve annually the scope of its
work and remuneration, approve any additional
services and oversee its independence;
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• Notifying the Office of the Public prosecutor
if any contraventions of the law constituting a
public crime of which it may have become aware;

• Provide its previous opinion on the regulation
on transactions with related parties and its
amendments, as well as on transactions with
related parties under the terms established in said
regulation;

Annually, the Audit Committee makes an assessment
of the work performed by the auditor and the
chartered accountant.
In case it considers adequate its dismissal, it should
propose its substitution in the General Meeting.
The Audit Committee annually gives its opinion on
the report and accounts submitted by management,
which lists the strategic pillars and objectives of the
current mandate.
The Statutory Auditor and external auditor carries
out work on the company every six months. The
audit work plan is reviewed jointly with the Audit
Committee. The continuation of the work, including
its completion, is monitored by the Audit Committee,
being this Committee the first recipient of the reports.
In the scope of its work, the Statutory Auditor carried
out:
• Identification and evaluation of risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements due to
fraud or error;
• An understanding of the internal control relevant
to the audit;
• An assessment of the adequacy of accounting
policies;
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• A conclusion about the appropriation of the use
of the continuity assumption and whether there
is any material uncertainty related to events or
conditions that could raise significant doubts
about the ability to continue the activities;
• An assessment of the overall presentation,
structure and content of the financial statements;
• A communication with those in charge of
governance, including the oversight body, scope,
planned audit schedule and significant audit
findings including any significant weaknesses in
internal control identified during the audit;
• A communication to the heads of governance,
including the supervisory body, on the most
important matters in auditing the financial
statements for the year;
• A statement to the supervisory body on
compliance with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and any relationships
that may be perceived as threats to
independence.

23.

The number of meetings held and the attendance
report for each member of the Board of Directors,
the General and Supervisory Board and the
Executive Board, where applicable.
From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the Board
of Directors had the following assiduity:
• Number of meetings: 14
• Attendance of each member:
-

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende: 100%
Frederico João de Moser Lupi: 93%
João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís: 100%
Inês Patrícia Arede Simões Louro: 100%
Victor Maurílio Silva Barros: 100%
Emília Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão: 100%
Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha: 100%

From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors:
• Number of meetings: 34

22.

Availability and place where rules on the functioning
of the Board of Directors, the General and
Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, where
applicable, may be viewed.
In the resolution of the Board of Directors of 29 May
2019, the regulations of the following corporate
bodies were approved: Board of Directors, Executive
Committee and Audit Committee, the first of which
was reviewed on 23 December 2020 in order to
accommodate the revision of the Regulation on
Transactions with Related Parties that was approved
at that time.
The above-mentioned regulations are set out in a
single document (the Board of Directors' Regulations)
that can be obtained in the company’s headquarters
(Rua Braamcamp 40 – 9.º D – Lisbon, Portugal) or
through the website www.inapa.com

- Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende: 100%
- Frederico João de Moser Lupi: 100%
- Inês Patrícia Arede Simões Louro: 100%

24.

Details of competent corporate boards undertaking
the performance appraisal of executive directors.
The performance assessment of executive directors
is done by the General Meeting, the Board of
Directors and, within its own competence, the Audit
Committee.
For remuneration purposes the performance
assessment of the executive directors still lies to the
Remuneration Committee.
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• Attendance of each member:

b) Functioning.
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25.

Predefined criteria for assessing executive directors'
performance.

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís
In the Company:
• Member of the Board of Directors

The performance assessment of executive directors is
based on the following criteria that are stated in the
remunerations policy:

In the Group:
• None

• Simplicity, clarity, transparency, and alignment
with the Company's culture, also taking into
account the Group to which it belongs;
• Competitiveness, taking into account market
practices and equity, and the remuneration
practice is based on uniform, consistent, fair and
balanced criteria;
• Pursuing excellence in management, through
a set of leading business practices, which
enable the Company to achieve balance and
sustainability; and
• Calculation of individual variable remuneration
considering the assessment of the respective
performance, based on criteria of a financial and
non‑financial nature, according to the functions,
the level of responsibility and the results of the
Company.

26.

Availability of each member of the Board of
Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and
the Executive Board, where applicable, and details
of the positions held at the same time in other
companies within and outside the group, and other
relevant activities undertaken by members of these
boards throughout the financial year.
The 4 non-executive members are in part-time
regime relatively to the management of the company.
The functions that each member has inside and
outside the company are the following:

252

Outside the Group:
• President of Foundation FOSRDI – Fundação
da Obra Social das Religiosas Dominicanas
Irlandesas (since 2015)
• Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Banco
Internacional de São Tomé Príncipe (since 2019)
• Member of the Audit Committee of Banco Caixa
Geral de Angola (since 2022)

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros
In the Company:
• Member of the Board of Directors
• Chairman of the Audit Committee

In the Group:
• None

Outside the Group:
• Assistant professor of Finance of ISEG Universidade de Lisboa (since 2016)
• Member of the Fiscal Council of IDEFE/ISEG
Executive Education (since 2017)
• Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Rádio e
Televisão de Portugal, S.A. (since 2021)
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Emília Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão
In the Company:		
• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Audit Committee

In the Group:

The 3 executive members work on a full-time basis in
the day-to-day management of the company and its
subsidiaries.
The functions each member has inside and outsider
the company are the following:

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende

• None

Outside the Group:
• Member of the SGEHR Fiscal Council – Sociedade
Gestora e Exploradora de Hotéis e Resorts S.A.
(since July 2019)
• Non-executive member of the Board of Directors
of FUNDIESTAMO - Sociedade Gestora de
Organismos de Investimento Coletivo, S.A. (since
september 2019)
• Member of the Association's Board of Directors –
Fundo de Assistência do Crédito Agrícola Mútuo
(FACAM) (since 2020)
• Member of the Fiscal Council of Monte d’Alva –
Alimentação, S.A. (since January 2020)

In the Company:
• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Audit Committee

• Chairman of the Board of Directors
• Chairman of the Executive Committee of the
Board of Directors

In the Group:
• Chairman of the Board of Directors/Management
Board of:
-

In the Group:
-

Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
Inapa Deutschland Holding, GmbH
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Inapa France, SAS
Inapa España Distribución de Papel, S.A.
Inapa Belgium, S.A.
Inapa Packaging, SAS
Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd
Europackaging – Investimentos, Participações e
Gestão, Lda.
Inapa Packaging, Lda.
Inapa Packaging, GmbH
Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim
S,irketi
Inapa Complott GmbH

• None

Outside the Group:

Outside the Group:
• Manager of Bica Consult, Lda.

• Member of the Board of Directors of the Order of
Statutory Auditors (since 2020)
• Member of the Fiscal Council of Insight Venture ‑
Sociedade de Capital de Risco (since 2021);
• Provides on a private basis the activity of
Statutory Auditor and related services;
• Member of the Fiscal Council of EPAL – Empresa
Portuguesa das Águas Livres, S.A. (since 2018);
• Member of the Fiscal Council of Águas do Tejo
Atlântico, S.A. (since 2021)
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In the Company:
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Inês Patrícia Arede Simões Louro
In the Company:
• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Executive Committee of the Board
of Directors

In the Group:

c) Committees within the Board of Directors
or Supervisory Board and Board Delegates.

27.

Details of the committees created within the Board
of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board
and the Executive Board, where applicable, and the
place where the rules on the functioning there-of is
available.

• Director/Manager of:
-

Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
Inapa España Distribución de Papel, S.A.
Inapa France, SAS
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim
S,irketi

Outside the Group:
• None

Frederico João de Moser Lupi
In the Company:
• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Executive Committee of the Board
of Directors

In the Group:
• Director/Manager of:
-

Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, S.A.
Inapa España Distribución de Papel, S.A.
Inapa France, SAS
Inapa Shared Center, Lda.
Inapa Belgium, S.A.
Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim
S,irketi
- Inapa Angola, S.A.

Outside the Group:
• None
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The Board of Directors has created an Executive
Committee, in which it has delegated the daily
management of the company.
Given the small size of the company, bearing in
mind the provisions of Article 413/2 of the CSC
(Portuguese Companies Code) - as the company is
below two of the three thresholds, net turnover and
number of employees – to the limited number of
members of the Board of Directors – 7 -, the functions
performed by its Audit Committee (which would
overlap with other committees), and the number
of Members of the Board of Directors that are part
of the Executive Committee (3) and the Audit
Committee (3), only remaining one independent
director, without executive or auditing functions (1),
the Board considered that the appointment of any of
the indicative special committees is not justifiable.
Also worth noting that a lead independent director
has been appointed to coordinate the performance
evaluation of the management body, acting as
an interlocutor with the Chairman of the Board of
Directors and ensuring that the conditions and means
necessary for the performance of the functions of the
independent directors exist.
It is the company's understanding that the only senior
managers of the company are the members of its
Board of Directors.
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28.

Composition of the Executive Board and/or details
of the Board Delegate/s, where applicable.
The Executive Committee has the following
composition:
• Chairman: Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes
Rezende;
• Member: Inês Patrícia Arede Simões Louro;
• Member: Frederico João de Moser Lupi.

29.

Description of the powers of each of the committees
established and a summary of activities undertaken
in exercising said powers.
The competences of the Audit and Executive
Committees are detailed on section 21.
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III. S
 upervision (Supervisory Board, the Audit
Committee or the General and Supervisory
Board)

The Audit Committee is made up of the following
members of the Board of Directors, who have been in
office since the dates indicated below:

a) Composition (throughout the said year).

30.

Details of the Supervisory Body (Supervisory Board,
the Audit Committee or the General and Supervisory
Board) representing the model adopted.
The Company adopted as its supervisory body an
Audit Committee operating within the scope of its
Board of Directors, in accordance with the adopted
governance model.

31.

Composition of the Supervisory Board, the Audit
Committee, the General and Supervisory Board or
the Financial Matters Committee, where applicable,
with details of the articles of association’s minimum
and maximum number of members, duration of term
of office, number of effective members, date of first
appointment, date of end of the term of office for
each member and reference to the section of the
report where said information is already included
pursuant to paragraph 17.

POST

DATE OF 1ST
APPOINTMENT

TERM OF THE
MANDATE

Chairman

05.23.19

12.31.21

Emília de Noronha
Galvão Franco Frazão

Member

05.23.19

12.31.21

Patrícia Isabel Sousa
Caldinha

Member

05.23.19

12.31.21

Victor Maurílio Silva
Barros

The Company believes that the current composition
of the Audit Committee with three independent
members is appropriate given the size of the
Company and the complexity of the risks of its
activity, and to carry out its assigned duties with
efficiency.

32.

Details of the members of the Supervisory Board,
the Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory
Board or the Financial Matters Committee, where
applicable, which are considered to be independent
pursuant to Article 414/5 CSC and reference to the
section of the report where said information already
appears pursuant to paragraph 18.

Paragraph 4 of article 22 of the company’s bylaws
states that “The Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors will comprise of three members who fulfil
the applicable legal requirements, one of whom will
act as Chairperson, to be appointed by the General
Meeting from among the members of the Board of
Directors”.

All members of the Audit Committee comply with
the rules of independence in accordance with the
definition given pursuant to paragraph 5 of Article
414, with any incompatibilities being assessed in
accordance with the definition provided for in Article
1 of Art. 414-A and paragraph 3 of Art. 423-B of the
Portuguese Companies Code.

The members of the Audit Committee are elected by
the General meeting for a 3 years term.

33.

Professional qualifications of each member of
the Supervisory Board, the Audit Committee, the
General and Supervisory Board and the Financial
Matters Committee, where applicable, and other
important curricular information, and reference to
the section of the report where said information
already appears pursuant to paragraph 21.
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On section 19 of this report, the qualifications of
each member of the Audit Committee are further
described.
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b) Functioning.

34.

Availability and place where the rules on the
functioning of the Supervisory Board, the Audit
Committee, the General and Supervisory Board and
the Financial Matters Committee, where applicable,
may be viewed, and reference to the section of
the report where said information already appears
pursuant to paragraph 22.
The regulations of the Audit Committee, integrated in
the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors,
are accessible to the shareholders and anyone that is
interested in the company’s website
– www.inapa.com - or on its headquarters.

35.

From January 1 until December 31, 2020:
• Number of meetings: 16

The availability of each member of the Supervisory
Board, the Audit Committee, the General and
Supervisory Board and the Financial Matters
Committee, where applicable, indicating the
positions held simultaneously in other companies
inside and outside the group, and other relevant
activities undertaken by members of these Boards
throughout the financial year, and reference to the
section of the report where such information already
appears pursuant to paragraph 26.
The Audit Committee members are in part-time
regime relatively to the management of the company
and do not have any functions in the company or
the Group, besides the ones relative to their role as
members of the Board of Directors.
The function of the Audit Committee members
outside the company and the Group were/are the
following:
• Victor Maurílio Silva Barros
- Assistant professor of Finance of ISEG
- Universidade de Lisboa (since 2016)
- Member of the Fiscal Council of IDEFE/ISEG
Executive Education (since 2017)
- Chairman of the Fiscal Council of Rádio e
Televisão de Portugal, S.A. (since 2021)

• Attendance of each member:
• Emília Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão
- Victor Maurílio Silva Barros: 100%
- Emília Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão: 100%
- Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha: 100%

- Member of the SGEHR Fiscal Council
– Sociedade Gestora e Exploradora de Hotéis e
Resorts S.A. (since July 2019)
- Non-executive member of the Board of
Directors of FUNDIESTAMO - Sociedade
Gestora de Organismos de Investimento
Coletivo, S.A. (since september 2019)
- Member of the Association's Board of Directors
– Fundo de Assistência do Crédito Agrícola
Mútuo (FACAM) (since 2020)
- Member of the Fiscal Council of Monte d’Alva
‑ Alimentação, S.A. (since January 2020)
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The number of meetings held and the attendance
report for each member of the Supervisory Board,
the Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory
Board and the Financial Matters Committee, where
applicable, and reference to the section of the
report where said information already appears
pursuant to paragraph 23.

36.
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• Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha
- Member of the Board of Directors of the Order
of Statutory Auditors (since 2021);
- Chairman of the Registration Committee (since
January 2021);
- Member of the Fiscal Council of Insight Venture
‑ Sociedade de Capital de Risco (since 2021);
- Provides on a private basis the activity of
Statutory Auditor and related services;
- Member of the Fiscal Council of EPAL –
Empresa Portuguesa das Águas Livres, S.A.
(since 2018);
- Member of the Fiscal Council of Águas do Tejo
Atlântico, S.A. (since 2021)

38.

Other duties of the supervisory body and, where
appropriate, the Financial Matters Committee.
In addition to the powers assigned in Article 8 of the
Regulation, and described in section 21, the Audit
Committee is also responsible for:
a) Assessing the independence of the ROC in audit
work and additional services;
b) Reviewing the transparency report, signed by the
Auditor and published in his website. This report
includes related matters on ethics, independence,
monitoring and declaration on the effectiveness
of the functioning of the internal quality control
system;

c) Powers and Duties.

37.

A description of the procedures and criteria
applicable to the supervisory body for the purposes
of hiring additional services from the external
auditor.
It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to
pre‑approve the provision of any service distinct
to audit to be provided by the external auditor or a
member of its network.
The Audit Committee analyses the different
audit services and the proposals presented by
the external auditor or a member of its network,
previously evaluated and communicated by the
Executive Committee, in order to ensure that: (i)
the contracting of additional services does not
jeopardize the independence of the external auditor;
(ii) the balance between the statutory audit services
and the additional audit services whose provision
is being analysed is ensured; and (iii) the additional
services under consideration are not prohibited and
considering the permitted provisions to be waived by
each member state in accordance with EU Regulation
No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the
Council, of April 16.
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c) Representing the Company, within the scope of
its powers, with the external auditor;
d) Receiving communications from the external
auditor about deficiencies detected in the internal
control system or other irregularities;
e) Supervising the Internal Audit and Risk
Management activity, with the following scope:
(i) Annual activity plan; (ii) Reception and
periodic reporting of the activity carried out;
(iii) Evaluation of the results and conclusions of
the work; (iv) Issuing guidelines understood as
convenient;
f) Approving the Risk Management and Internal
Audit Charter and Risk Management and Internal
Audit Manual.

IV. Statutory Auditor

39.

Details of the statutory auditor and the partner that
represents same.
The statutory auditor is the firm Deloitte &
Associados, SROC, S.A. represented by Jorge
Carlos Duarte Batalha Catulo Appointed Chartered
Accountant.
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40.

State the number of years that the statutory auditor
consecutively carries out duties with the company
and/or group.
The statutory auditor – Deloitte – is presently serving
its third mandate, after being appointed for these
duties on 15 April 2016, in substitution of the company
PricewaterhouseCoopers.
Jorge Carlos Duarte Batalha Catulo represents the
statutory audit company Deloitte & Associados,
SROC, S.A. since 15 April 2016.

41.

43.

State the number of years that the external auditor
and respective partner that represents same in
carrying out these duties consecutively carries out
duties with the company and/or group.
The external auditor is presently serving its second
mandate, after being appointed for the first time for
these duties on 15 April 2016, in substitution of the
company PricewaterhouseCoopers.
The partner in charge is serving since 15 April 2016.

44.

Description of other services that the Statutory
Auditor provides to the company.

Rotation policy and schedule of the external auditor
and the respective partner that represents said
auditor in carrying out such duties.

Deloitte & Associados, SROC S.A. and other entities
belonging to the same network provided other
permitted services mentioned in paragraph 46.

The policies and schedule of rotation regarding the
external auditor and respective partner are those
established by the law.

V. External Auditor

45.

Details of the external auditor appointed in
accordance with Article 8 and the partner that
represents same in carrying out these duties, and
the respective registration number at the CMVM.
The external auditor is the firm Deloitte & Associados,
SROC, S.A represented by Jorge Carlos Duarte
Batalha Catulo.
The external auditor has the CMVM registration
number 20160607.

In addition to the General Assembly, the Audit
Committee evaluates the performance of the
external auditor. In this context, this Committee
is responsible for monitoring and evaluating the
services provided by the external auditor (auditing
and not related to auditing). To carry out this
monitoring, the Commission integrates meetings
with the external auditor in its agenda in order to:
(i) monitor and evaluate the work already done and
in progress; (ii) learn about the scope and planning
of the audit; (iii) analyse the audit work schedule; and
(iv) analyse and assess the conclusions of its audit
reports. The Commission works with the external
auditor on a regular basis and ensuring adequate
working conditions for the performance of all services
provided, in order to monitor its independence
throughout the year. Likewise, the external auditor
must sign a declaration attesting his independence
annually.
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42.

Details of the Board responsible for assessing the
external auditor and the regular intervals when said
assessment is carried out.
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Within the scope of this interaction, it is the
responsibility of the external auditor to immediately
inform the Audit Committee about any irregularities
relevant to the performance of the supervisory body's
functions as well as any difficulties encountered in the
performance of its duties.
In addition, and in accordance with current auditing
standards, the external auditor must, within the
scope of its powers, verify the application of the
remuneration policies and systems of the governing
bodies, the effectiveness and functioning of
the internal control mechanisms and report any
deficiencies and irregularities to the Audit Committee.
Similarly, the external auditor confirms its
independence annually in its Legal Certification of
Accounts/Audit Report.

46.

Details of services, other than auditing, carried out
by the external auditor for the company and/or
companies in a control relationship and an indication
of the internal procedures for approving the
recruitment of such services and a statement on the
reasons for said contract.

It is on the basis of these Terms of Reference that
it proposes to the General Meeting the election of
the Statutory Auditor and external auditor for the
three‑year period 2022-2024.
In addition to the auditing work, which includes the
statutory audit services, the External Auditor fees
are related to the following distinct auditing services:
support within the scope of the capital increase of
Inapa Belgium and, in the case of the Company, the
limited review of the half-yearly consolidated financial
statements.

47.

Details of the annual remuneration paid by the
company and/or legal entities in a control or group
relationship to the auditor and other natural or legal
persons pertaining to the same network and the
percentage breakdown relating to the following
services (For the purposes of this information,
the network concept results from the European
Commission Recommendation No. C (2002) 1873 of
16 May):

BY THE COMPANY*

The contracting of services other than auditing,
provided to the Group in Portugal and abroad, is
subject to a rigorous analysis in order to prevent any
conflicts of interest with the External Auditor or a
member of its network. Any type of work other than
auditor services that may have potential conflict of
interest should not be provided. These services are
also assessed for compliance with Law 140/2015 of
9 September and Regulation EU No. 537/2014 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April.

Value of account review services (¤)

46,500

Value of reliability assurance services (¤)

21,000

The Audit Committee approved at a meeting
on 15 October 2021, the “Terms of Reference
for Procedures for the selection of the ROC for
2022‑2024 triennium”, in which it established exante and in abstract the criteria and requirements for
the selection of the Statutory Auditor and external
auditor to be proposed to the General Meeting.

Value of account review services (¤)

Value of tax consulting services (¤)

-

Value of services other than account review (¤)

-

TOTAL

BY ENTITIES IN THE GROUP*

Value of reliability assurance services (¤)

67,500

2021
395,000
22,500

Value of tax consulting services (¤)

-

Value of services other than account review (¤)

-

TOTAL
* Including individual and consolidated accounts
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2021

417,500
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C. Internal Organisation

II. Reporting of Irregularities

I. Articles of the Association

49.

a) Composition of the Board of the General
Meeting (throughout the reference year).

Reporting means and policy on the reporting of
irregularities in the company.

48.

The Board of Directors approved and made public an
internal regulation for the reporting of irregularities,
the essential bases of which are as follows:

The company bylaws, with the exception of changing
the headquarters within the national territory,
in which the Board of Directors has a specific
delegation, can only be changed by resolution of the
General Meeting.

1) The employees of Inapa Group (management
and staff of the parent company, Directors, and
management and staff of its affiliate companies)
are bound to report any irregular practices of
which they may have become aware being
perpetrated in Inapa Group companies to the
following officials:

The rules governing amendment to the articles of
association (Article 245-A/1/h).

For the General Meeting to deliberate on this matter
on first convening, shareholders holding shares
representing at least 1/3 of the share capital must be
present or duly represented; on second convening,
the Meeting may deliberate whatever the number of
shareholders present and the capital they represent
(Art. 383, No. 2 and 3 CSC).

By virtue of its paragraph 4, the limitation of voting
rights contemplated in paragraph 1 of Article
13-A shall also apply to resolutions to amend the
memorandum of association.

b) Without prejudice to what stated on the
following paragraph, to the Chairman of the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
should such irregular practices involve
the Directors of Inapa – Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, S.A. or of its
supervisory board and/or its staff;
c) To the Chairman of the Board of Directors
should such irregular practices involve a
member of the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, S.A.;
d) By email ethics@inapa.com when related with
other employees from affiliate companies.
2) In the situations referred in sub-paragraph a) of
paragraph 1 above, the Chairman of the Executive
Committee shall submit such allegations, with the
urgency deemed necessary, to the Chairman of
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

4. Corporate Governance Report C. Internal Organization

Decisions shall be approved by 2/3 of the votes cast,
irrespective of whether the General Meeting is held
at first or second call; however, if, at second call,
shareholders holding at least half of the share capital
are present or represented, decisions on such matters
may be approved by a majority of the votes cast.

a) To the Chairman of the Executive Committee of
the Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos,
Participações e Gestão, S.A. should such
irregular practices involve the management and
staff of the parent company, Directors or the
management of its affiliate companies;
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3) Such allegations shall be submitted in writing, and
their author shall be entitled to demand from the
recipient a written statement to the effect that
the information in question shall be treated in the
strictest confidence.
4) The reporting official shall be assured that,
barring allegations of a calumnious nature, any
information provided within the scope of these
regulations shall neither be raised as grounds for
instituting proceedings against him or her nor for
any unfavourable treatment towards him or her.
To be able to act in a swift manner, the company
decided that communications should be directed
to the executive members or the legal head of the
Group. Notwithstanding this communication being
performed normally to the CEO or the legal head of
the Group, the Audit Committee is informed of all
communications that are performed, analysing any
irregularities and monitoring its resolutions.
All reported non-compliance situations are treated as
confidential and, if requested, anonymously.

his direction within the scope of his powers, who,
whenever appropriate, adopts the adequate measures
for the complete clarification and determination of
responsibilities of the identified situations. The Audit
Committee also supervises the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system.
The internal auditor of the Group is responsible for
the implementation and evaluation of internal control
systems.
Planning and control services of the group are
responsible for monitoring the activity of each of the
Group companies.
The assessment of the respective functioning and
adjustment to the needs of the company and the
group are regularly assessed by the Audit Committee
and, within the scope of the powers that are legally
assigned to it, by the External Auditor.

51.

III. Internal Control and Risk Management

Details, even including organisational structure,
of hierarchical and/or functional dependency in
relation to other boards or committees of the
company.

50.

The organisational structure and hierarchical and
functional dependencies are described in section 21.

Individuals, boards or committees responsible for
the internal audit and/or implementation of the
internal control systems.

52.

Other functional areas responsible for risk control.
The Board of Directors approved the systems of
internal control and risk management of the company
and the group, on its own initiative or the Executive
Committee of the Board of Directors.
An internal audit plan of the company and its
subsidiaries is also approved annually by the
management and supervisory bodies, whose
execution and compliance is regularly evaluated by
the Audit Committee.
Within the scope of the action described above, the
Audit Committee is regularly the head of internal
audit regularly presents the reports made under
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In addition to the areas identified above should also
be noted as areas with responsibility for risk control,
the central IT and information systems department,
internal control and accounting department in each of
the companies and at the level of the shared services
centre.
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53.

Details and description of the majorrisks (economic,
financial and legal) risks to which the company is
exposed in pursuing its business activity.
The Group's main activity is the distribution of
paper, and as such, it acts as a link between the
upstream paper producers and the downstream
intermediate consumers (namely companies and
paper manufacturing industries, such as printers,
advertisers, media companies, and newspaper and
book publishers, among others), modern distributors
(large-scale suppliers and specialized retail chains)
and final consumers (companies in the office segment
and individuals).
The Inapa Group classifies the risks to which it is
exposed into four major categories: strategic risks,
operational risks, compliance risks, and financial risks.

Strategic Risks
DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Macro-economic
Trends

The economy behaviour in general can impact the performance
of the Group, namely at the top line level. A slowdown in
economic activity levels or a reduction in consumer and
producer confidence indexes may cause a slowdown or fall in
paper demand, namely the demand for writing and printing
paper, thereby affecting its operations, sales, earnings, and the
financial situation of the Group.

Because Inapa’s business is present in eight European countries
and in Angola and Turkey, its external activity accounts for
more than 95% of its turnover. These circumstances naturally
expose Inapa’s business to risks arising from the performance
of each economy. On the other hand, it is also a risk mitigation
factor due to the less likely occurrence of the same pattern of
economic behaviour in all markets at the same time.

Changes of
consumption/
demand
patterns

The paper distribution business is sensitive to changes in the
behavioral patterns of demand, mainly in segments such as
advertising and media, and also to changes in the distribution
structure.

Inapa Group operates in different geographies and has
sought to diversify its business base, increasing the weight of
complementary businesses.

Balance
between
supply and
demand

The balance between supply and demand depends on a
variety of factors, among which we highlight the trends in
the production capacity installed and the level of economic
activity and evolution of consumption patterns. Besides the
productive capacities in different geographies, the trends in the
paper demand in emerging markets like China and India and
its impact on those markets’ suppliers, the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations on the various markets competitiveness, and
some regulatory issues that affect the world paper trade are all
factors which, either in combination or in isolation, may directly
or indirectly impact the performance of the Company, its
financial situation and its earnings.

Inapa Group operates in different geographies and has
sought to diversify its business base, developing commercial
relationships with producers located on different continents
and increasing the weight of complementary businesses.

Structure of
the sector

The paper distribution business has undergone structural
changes, with concentration movements between operators,
particularly in Europe. This competitive environment may
directly and indirectly affect the company’s future strategic
decisions and, consequently, its positioning in each market,
as well as the corresponding results and asset allocation. In a
context of sector consolidation, Inapa may be the target of a
public tender offer.

Inapa Group has sought to broaden its portfolio of products
and partners and continually invests in improving efficiency in
order to ensure its competitiveness.
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RISK AREA
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RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Environmental
Risks

Given the growing ecological concern, legal and regulatory
requirements in this area are expected to increase significantly.
Failure to comply may result not only in financial penalties, but
also in difficulties to have access financing and reputational
damage.

Inapa has incorporated in its strategic plan sustainability
goals and reducing the ecological footprint Inapa develops its
activity seeking to adopt practices that promote sustainable
development of the environment, through the promotion of
certified products and reducing its ecological footprint.
In the case of the paper sector, most of the environmental
impact is downstream of Inapa’s operations, in the production
of paper. Hence the adoption of initiatives, together with
suppliers, to adopt environmentally sustainable practices.

Operational Risks

264

RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Disruptive
events: Natural
disasters,
resulting from
global warming

The activity is exposed to possible natural disasters and
abnormal weather conditions that may arise as a consequence
of global warming.

All Inapa warehouses are insured against possible losses caused
by these types of phenomena. Given the high number of
warehouses and their geographic dispersion, we consider that
exposure to this type of risk is relatively low, as it is possible to
continue operations if one of the locations is affected.

Disruptive
events:
Pandemics

The company’s operational activity is subject to the risks of the
emergence of pandemics. The implementation of measures
that influence the mobility of people or goods by government
entities may have a significant impact on the company’s
operations and the financing of the activity. Disruptions in the
transport network at an international level or in countries where
the Group or its main suppliers operate may bring limitations on
the supply of products and influence the Group’s activity.

Operational risks are mitigated (i) by the high geographical
dispersion of Inapa’s operations, both at Group level and at the
level of each of its national operations and its suppliers, and (ii)
by the contingency plans adopted by each Group company,
which ensure that, except in the areas of warehousing
and transportation, which require the physical presence of
employees, the others can be ensured, in essence, through
telework.

Disruptive
events: Armed
conflict

Armed conflict and the application of international economic
sanctions can have significant impacts on product demand,
availability or prices.

The geographical dispersion of sales and supply mitigates these
risks.

Purchase price
fluctuations/
Pricing
management

The ability to reflect increases in paper and/or fuel prices in
the selling prices of products/services is not fully elastic. It may
occur that the margins of products sold/services rendered
are affected directly or through increases in transport costs
associated with distribution, thus exerting a negative effect on
the activity, financial situation and Group results.

Inapa has at its disposal some means of mitigating this risk,
among which stand out its systems, which in the sales process,
introduce authorization levels in accordance with the margin
generated by the operation. In addition, the inventory levels
with which Inapa operates minimize the impact of price
changes.

Disruptions in
storage and
distribution

Significant and/or prolonged interruptions in the ability to serve
the customer in terms of distribution may lead to deterioration
of the Inapa Group’s image/reputation, with an impact on Sales.

Group companies are constantly seeking to improve logistical
processes in order to maximise customer experience at the
lowest cost.

Disruptions
and property
damage

The Group’s units are subject to the risks inherent to any
economic activity, such as accidents or breakdowns that
may cause damages to the Group’s assets or temporary
interruptions in the activity.

These risks are monitored by Inapa on an ongoing basis
by means of the processes and information systems it
implemented, and some of the operational risks are covered
by insurance policies. The normal development of the business
may be temporarily affected by risks arising from the merger or
restructuring of subsidiaries.
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DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Inapa’s performance depends on its ability to secure its
customer base.

Besides having a very significant number of clients (over
80,000), geographical dispersion, and a wide range of
competitive, top-quality products and an appropriate level
of pre and post-sales service, Inapa has been developing a
customer loyalty program to its traditional customer base by
offering an integrated range of products and services that
complement its core business, thus increasingly asserting itself
in the paper market as a global service provider.

Credit Risk

The aggravation of global economic conditions affecting
economies on a local scale may cause difficulties for the
Group’s customers in meeting their obligations to Inapa.

Inapa has maintained since 2011 an insurance policy to cover
the credit risk of its operating subsidiaries in large European
insurance companies. This insurance covers the main countries
of the Group, thus covering most of the Group’s sales.
Regardless of the coverage contemplated above, Inapa also
manages credit risk by acting as follows: each Group company
has its credit collections committee, composed of the CEO,
CFO and heads of Sales and Procurement; the credit limits
defined are registered in the IT system and inhibit new orders
for customers whose limit is fully used; the credit limits are
subject to annual review and/or whenever there is relevant
information arising from the recommendation of the internal
and external monitoring systems; the approval of sales above
the defined credit limits is only made by the Board of Directors
of each Group company.

Human
Resources

The Group’s ability to successfully implement the outlined
strategy depends on its ability to retain and, whenever
necessary, recruit the most qualified and competent employees
for each function.

Although the Group’s human resources policy is oriented
towards achieving these objectives, it is not possible to
guarantee that in the future there will be no limitations in this
area. Recent reinforcement of skills in this area at corporate
level.

IT

The Group’s operations are also dependent on IT processing.
This involves the maintenance and processing of financial
reporting records, monitoring and control of logistics,
warehousing, and transportation operations, and accounting.
Inapa may also be exposed to risks related to the migration
processes of its base systems, which may have a transitory
effect on its operations.

Despite regular assessment of the computer systems and
the fact that their capabilities have proven to be adequate
it is not possible to absolutely guarantee the complete
identification and timely correction of all IT system problems,
nor the systematic success in implementing technological
improvements

Cyber security

The risk of computer fraud/cyber attack is something that has
been gaining an international dimension, and it is not possible
to fully mitigate this risk, despite the measures and procedures
implemented.

Investment in security policies. Periodic assessment. Employee
training in best practices. Main risks covered by insurance.

Compliance Risks
RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Legal and
regulations

The Group may be negatively affected by changes in the
legislation and other tax regulations applicable in Portugal, the
European Union and in the various countries where it operates.

Inapa pursues a policy of flexibility and adaptability of its
operations and cost structure, whereby no significant impacts
are antecipated from possible new regulations.

Claims/
Litigation

Inapa may be part of any litigation arising from the conduct of
its business, including legal proceedings which may have been
ruled in favour of the Company, fully or partially, or sentences
that may be subject to recourse by the counterparties in
conformance with applicable legal procedure and until that
time as such sentences have been upheld in a court of final
appeal.

Inapa relies on the support of local legal advisory teams that
accompany the subsidiary companies in each geography in
the pre-litigation and litigation phases of the dispute, being
accompanied/coordinated by the legal department of the
parent company whenever their relevance or specificity so
recommends.
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RISK AREA
Customer
retention/
loyalty
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Financial Risks*
RISK AREA

DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT

Interest rates

As Inapa does not hedge its exposure to adverse changes in
interest rates, such changes may have a negative impact on its
performance, financial situation, and earnings.

As a way of managing these variations, the Group’s financial
area constantly follows the development of the market, and
is able to use financial instruments to minimise the effects of
interest rates volatility.

Currency risk

The exposure to currency risk is limited because the aggregate
value of sales in currencies other than Euro (namely kwanza
and Turkish lira) represents less than 2% of the total sales of the
Group.

Constant monitoring of exchange rate trends in the countries to
which the Group is exposed.

Investment

The Group’s operations require investments. Risk that the Inapa
Group may not be able to finance its operations, namely in
terms of investment, or that it may only be able to do so at a
higher cost.

Inapa expects to fund its investments by mobilizing cash flows
generated from operating activities. Should these activities fail
to generate sufficient income, Inapa may be required to partly
fund the envisaged investments with funding from external
sources, including bank loans and/or capital markets.

Liquidity/
Working
Capital

For the development of its operations, Inapa needs working
capital. More adverse economic scenarios that lead to changes
in the commercial and financial policies of our partners,
including suppliers, customers, or financial institutions, could
create working capital needs that may influence liquidity levels.

Inapa manages liquidity risk by seeking to ensure that the
Group’s financial debt has a high medium and long-term
component with maturities that adequately match its ability
to generate cash resources, through access to credit facilities
on current accounts. Treasury management is done locally in
each Group company supervised by the Holding Company.
Cash flow forecasts are updated and regularly monitored by
the Holding. Cash flow forecasts are updated and regularly
monitored.

Pension Funds

Inapa grants supplementary retirement and survivor’s pension
plans to the employees of its subsidiaries Inapa France, SAS,
Inapa Packaging SAS, Semaq Emballages, S.A., Papyrus
Deutschland and Papier Union GmbH. It accounts for the
inherent costs and associated charges in accordance with the
provisions of International Accounting Standard nr. 19 (IAS 19).
The amount recorded in the consolidated accounts under
liabilities for pension benefits is based on predefined actuarial
assumptions, whereas the beneficiaries of the pension plans
may live longer than expected and, as such, may benefit from
the plan beyond the period provided for, since they are defined
benefit pension plans.
Therefore, pension liabilities may exert an adverse constraint on
cash flows.

Inapa periodically reviews the actuarial calculations.

Consolidation
of accounts
and reporting

Risk of making errors in the preparation of internal and external
reports.

Inapa has internal and external control methods to mitigate
these risks. Implementation of SAP in all Group companies will
bring a strong contribution, with the alignment of processes/
procedures.

* In the notes to the consolidated financial statements (3, 8 and 9) you can find more detail on the various aspects of financial risk management.
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54.

Description of the procedure for identification,
assessment, monitoring, control and risk
management.
The identification and evaluation of risks is an
ongoing process in which the Board of Directors,
the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and
Internal Audit are involved, and priorities for action in
the area of risk-taking are established through a work
plan for risk evaluation and mitigation. The risks and
existing mechanisms that allow their identification
and evaluation are described in the previous point.
The monitoring, control and management of risks
is carried out on an ongoing basis by the Executive
Committee. During the year, the Audit Committee
also supervises the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system, relying also
on regular reporting from internal audit.
In the meetings of the Audit Committee, on a monthly
basis, a regular appraisal is made of the Company's
risks. At these meetings, a status report is usually
made on risk management and internal auditing,
with the respective internal manager, monitoring the
activities and conclusions of its actions, and a regular
discussion is held on the need to adjust the resources
and activities developed to the evolution of the risks
inherent to the activity of the Company and its Group.

Core details on the internal control and risk
management systems implemented in the company
regarding the procedure for reporting financial
information (Article 245-A/1/m)).
The process of disclosure of financial information is
monitored by both the management and supervisory
bodies, as well as by business units and the corporate
centre. The accounting documents and other financial
information are prepared by the Consolidation and
Planning and Control Departments, based on the
information provided by the business units.
The Audit Committee, throughout the year, monitors
the implementation of the systematized formalization
of the relevant data and elements that make up
Inapa's risk management and internal control
system, as well as the implementation of common IT
platforms to strengthen control mechanisms.

56.

Department responsible for investor assistance,
composition, functions, the information made
available by said department and contact details.
The Company has an Investor Relations Office
headed by the responsible for relations with the
market.
The company provides investor support through the
Market Relations representative.
Roles of Investor support:
• To provide all investors – corporate or particular –
with the most complete and accurate information,
in the strict respect for the applicable legislation,
concerning the corporate structure of the
Company and the Group, on the rights and
duties of the shareholders in conformance
with the legislation and the Company’s Articles
of Association, on its financial and economic
situation according to the disclosed elements
and the indication of the probable calendar of the
most relevant events of corporate initiative.
• To provide investors, in due respect for applicable
legislation, with any additional or complementary
information and clarification they may ask for and
on the aforementioned items of information.
Type of information made available:
• Information published by the company with
corporate or economic-financial nature, of at least
in the last three years, in Portuguese and English.
• Any relevant fact that can influence the company
activity, in Portuguese and English.
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55.

IV. Investor Assistance
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Assess means to the office:
• By post: Rua Braamcamp, 40 - 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon – Portugal

V. Website

59.

Address.
• By fax: +351 21 382 30 16
• By telephone: +351 21 382 30 07
• By e-mail: hugo.rua@inapa.com
• By website: www.inapa.com

57.

The corporate website on the internet is:
www.inapa.com.

60.

Place where information on the firm, public company
status, headquarters and other details referred to
in Article 171 of the Commercial Companies Code is
available.

Market Liaison Officer.
The Company’s representative for market relations is
Mr. Hugo Duarte de Oliveira Rua.

58.

Data on the extent and deadline for replying to the
requests for information received throughout the
year or pending from preceding years.
The investor relations received a small number of
information requests, by email or phone, having
answered all the requests within one business day.

The information can be obtained in the company
headquarters, Rua Braamcamp, 40 – 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon - Portugal. The information is also
available in the company’s website www.inapa.com.

61.

Place where the articles of association and
regulations on the functioning of the boards and/or
committees are available.
The information can be obtained in the company
headquarters, Rua Braamcamp, 40 – 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon - Portugal. The information is also
available in the company’s website www.inapa.com.

62.

Place where information is available on the names
of the corporate boards' members, the Market
Liaison Officer, the Investor Assistance Office or
comparable structure, respective functions and
contact details.
The information can be obtained in the company
headquarters, Rua Braamcamp, 40 – 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon - Portugal. The information is also
available in the company’s website www.inapa.com.
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63.

Place where the documents are available and relate
to financial accounts reporting, which should be
accessible for at least five years and the half-yearly
calendar on company events that is published at the
beginning of every six months, including, inter alia,
general meetings, disclosure of annual, half-yearly
and where applicable, quarterly financial statements.
The place where the information can be found
is its head office, Rua Braamcamp, 40 - 9º Dto.,
1250‑050 Lisboa - Portugal. The information is also
available in the institutional website (www.inapa.com)
and on the Portuguese Securities Market
Commission's website (www.cmvm.pt).

64.

Place where the notice convening the General
Meeting and all the preparatory and subsequent
information related thereto is disclosed.
The information can be obtained in the company
headquarters, Rua Braamcamp, 40 – 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon - Portugal. The information is also
available in the company’s website (www.inapa.com)
and the CMVM website (www.cmvm.pt).

65.

The information can be obtained in the company
headquarters, Rua Braamcamp, 40 – 9.º D,
1250‑050 Lisbon - Portugal. The information is also
available in the company’s website (www.inapa.com)
and the CMVM website (www.cmvm.pt).

I. Power to Establish

66.

Details of the powers for establishing the
remuneration of corporate boards, members of
the executive committee or chief executive and
directors of the company.
The remuneration of the Governing Bodies is
determined by:
• The Remunerations Committee, and;
• The General Meeting.
The company considers its directors, according to
paragraph 3 of article 248.º B from CVM, exclusively
the members of the Board of Directors and Audit
Committee.

II. Remuneration Committee

67.

Composition of the remuneration committee,
including details of individuals or legal persons
recruited to provide services to said committee and
a statement on the independence of each member
and advisor.
On the General Meeting of 23 May 2020, it was
elected the following remunerations committee:
• Chairman: Nuno Galvão Teles;
• Member: Pedro Manuel Macedo Vilas Boas;
• Member: Tiago Manuel Rodrigues Estevinho.
All members of the Remunerations Committee are
independent relatively to the members of the Board
of Directors.
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Place where the historical archive on the resolutions
passed at the company's General Meetings, share
capital and voting results relating to the preceding
three years are available.

D. Remuneration

Annual Report 2021

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee was
not present at the General Meeting of 21 May 2021,
due to prophylactic confinement in the context of
the COVID-19 pandemic, where the proposal on the
remuneration policy was considered and voted on
remuneration policy.

68.

Knowledge and experience in remuneration policy
issues by members of the Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee is a collegial body,
for which persons or entities with experience in the
matter of remuneration policy were appointed, as
can be seen from their respective curricula presented
at the Meeting that elected them and which are
transcribed below:

Pedro Manuel Macedo Vilas Boas
Academic qualifications
• Degree in Business Management and
Administration from the School of Economics
and Business Sciences of Universidade Católica
Portuguesa Sciences by the Catholic University
of Portugal
• Course in "PDO - Programme for Operational
Directors", Catholic Lisbon School of Business
and Economics
• Course in "PADE - Programme for Top
Management of Companies" by AESE - School of
Management and Business

Professional qualifications

Nuno Galvão Teles
Academic qualifications

• Central Director of Banco Comercial Português,
S.A. (Millennium BCP) responsible for the
Specialised Follow-up Division

• Undergraduate degree in Law, Faculty of Law,
University of Lisbon

• Coordinator of Millennium BCP's Special Projects
Unit

• LL.M. in International Commercial Law, University
of London

• Responsible for one of the Corporate Finance and
Investment Banking Relationship Divisions

• Registered with the Portuguese Bar Association

Professional qualifications
• Partner at Morais Leitão, Galvão Teles, Soares da
Silva & Associados, Sociedade de Advogados,
R.L. and head of the corporate, commercial and
capital markets teams
• He has been with Morais Leitão, Galvão Teles,
Soares da Silva & Associados, Sociedade de
Advogados R.L. since 1987

Tiago Manuel Rodrigues Estevinho
Academic qualifications
• Bachelor degree in Economics, Nova Business
School
• Postgraduate Diploma in Finance, Nova Business
School
• Master in Finance, Nova Business School

Professional qualifications
• Economist at Parpública, Participações Públicas
(SGPS), S.A.: technical advisory and company
monitoring
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III. Remuneration Structure

69.

Description of the remuneration policy of the Board
of Directors and Supervisory Boards as set out in
Article 2 of Law No. 28/2009 of 19 June.

I. Introduction
Pursuant to and for the purposes of compliance with
Article 26-A et seq. of the Portuguese Securities
Code (as amended by Law No. 50/2020 of 25
August), the Remuneration Committee of Inapa Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. ("Inapa"
or "Company") shall submit to the General Assembly
for approval a remuneration policy for the members
of the Company's management and supervisory
bodies every four years and whenever a relevant
change occurs in the remuneration policy in force
("Remuneration Policy").
In turn, Recommendation V.2 of the Corporate
Governance of the Corporate Governance Code,
approved by the Portuguese Institute of Corporate
Governance, recommends that the Remuneration
Policy should include a set of additional elements to
be submitted to the General Meeting.

This Remuneration Policy was prepared by Inapa's
remuneration committee elected at the General
Meeting held on 23 May 2019 ("Remuneration
Committee"), being composed three members,

To assist in the preparation of this policy, the
Remuneration Committee sought the assistance
of an external and independent entity with the
objective of assessing the level of competitiveness of
the remuneration of the members of the governing
bodies in relation to the comparable national market.
Thus, for the purposes of compliance with applicable
legal and regulatory provisions, the Remuneration
Committee hereby submits for approval by the
Annual General Meeting, to be held on May 21, 2021,
the Remuneration Policy applicable to the members
of Inapa's corporate bodies.

II. R
 emuneration policy to the Governing
Bodies
In order to determine the remuneration to be
attributed to the members of the corporate bodies,
Inapa is ruled by the following criteria:
• Simplicity, clarity, transparency, and alignment
with the Company's culture, also taking into
account the Group to which it belongs;
• Competitiveness, taking into consideration
the market practices and equity, being the
remuneration practice based on uniform,
consistent, fair, and balanced criteria;
• Pursuit of excellence in management, through
a set of business practices of reference,
enabling the Company to achieve balance and
sustainability; and
• Determination of individual variable remuneration
considering the evaluation of the respective
performance, based on criteria of a financial
and non-financial nature, in accordance with the
functions and level of responsibility, as well as the
Company's results.
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In this Remuneration Policy, the remuneration
practices in force were analysed and suggestions
were made to ensure that such practices are
adequate and reflect the risk profile and long-term
objectives of the Company, taking into consideration
market practices and assuming that they should
be based on uniform, consistent, fair and balanced
criteria. The evolution of the remuneration system of
the other Inapa employees was also subject to due
consideration, considering the current conditions of
employment and the current economic situation, in
order to ensure an alignment of the remuneration
evolution of the executive members with the
remuneration evolution of the other employees of the
companies in a controlling or group relationship with
Inapa or controlled by Inapa ("Group").

independent in relation to the members of the
management and supervisory bodies of supervisory
bodies of the Company and with knowledge and
experience in matters of remuneration.
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How the Remuneration Policy contributes to the
company's business strategy, its long-term interests
and sustainability.
In the market where Inapa operates, one of the
main critical success factors is the ability to attract,
motivate and retain the best professionals.
The purpose of this Remuneration Policy for members
of the management and supervisory bodies is to
promote the continuous alignment with the short, and
long-term business goals and strategy, as well as with
the best market practices and, thus, contribute to the
sustainability of Inapa's results and alignment with the
interests of shareholders, for the creation of longterm value and to be compatible with an adequate
and rigorous risk management.
The Remuneration Policy is thus intended to be an
effective instrument of good corporate governance
of the Company, aiming to provide information to
shareholders, protect their interests and provide
greater transparency on remuneration of the
governing bodies.

III. R
 emuneration policy for non-executive
directors, including members of the Audit
Committee en effect

Variable component
Although the remuneration practices take into
consideration the financial condition of Inapa and the
economic group headed by it, no form of variable
remuneration is envisaged for the non-executive
members of the management body nor for the
members of the supervisory body.
The intention is that non-executive directors do
not have any component of their remuneration
dependent on the achievement of objectives in order
to safeguard their independence.

IV. F
 ixed and variable components of the
variable remuneration of executive
members of the Board of Directors
The remuneration system of the executive members
of the Board of Directors of Inapa comprises a fixed
component and a variable component, guided by the
following principles:

The remuneration of non-executive directors is based
on actual performance and on the balance of the
respective evaluation and comprises only a fixed
component. This remuneration additionally takes
into consideration the performance of functions in
the Audit Committee, and also the assumption of
functions as Chairman of the Audit Committee.

a) Is now aligned with the market and with the
functions effectively performed, stimulating the
performance of the executive members of the
Board of Directors, in individual and group terms;

Fixed component

c) Help in attracting and retaining qualified staff to
Inapa.

The paid fixed remuneration to non-executive
directors corresponds to a fixed amount, paid 14
times a year.
The members of the Audit Committee of the Board
of directors of Inapa receive a supplement to their
remuneration as non-executive directors (referred to
in the previous paragraph), paid 12 times a year.
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Specifically, the value of the remuneration of nonexecutive directors was determined for the 2019/2021
term of office. In 2020, the fixed remuneration paid to
non-executive directors corresponds to the amount
indicated in Inapa's Governance Report.

b) Allows to reward the results achieved by the
executive members of the Board of Directors;

Fixed component
The value of the fixed component was determined
for the 2019/2021 term of office. In 2020, the fixed
remuneration paid to executive directors correspond
to the amount indicated in Inapa's Governance
Report for 2019 and were paid 14 times a year.
A review of the base remuneration of the executive
directors shall be carried out at least at the end of
each term of office, which shall also imply a weighing
up, according to benchmark criteria, of the total
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remuneration model practiced by comparable
companies in order to ensure at all times that the
remuneration model of the executive members of
the Board of Directors remains a balanced, fair, and
competitive model, both nationally and internationally
(given Inapa's growing exposure to markets outside
Portugal).
Variable component
The awarding of variable remuneration is based
on degrees of achievement of quantitative and
qualitative objectives that are associated with
objective, simple, transparent and (in relation to
quantitative objectives) measurable performance
indicators, assessed annually as outlined below:
1. The variable remuneration is paid exclusively in
cash, taking into account the following target and
ceilings (without prejudice to numbers 10 and 11,
below):
i)

Minimum value of the variable remuneration
attributable 13.6% of the respective fixed
remuneration of the executive member of the
Board of Directors;

ii)

Variable remuneration target 20% of
the respective fixed remuneration of the
executive member of the Board of Directors;

2. Specifically, the attribution and calculation of the
amount of the variable remuneration is based on
the results of the performance evaluation of the
executive members of the Board of directors,
carried out with reference to the entire calendar
year in question, and it is determined considering
the following components:
i)

Quantitative component includes the
evaluation of Inapa's performance through
quantitative indicators, with a global weight
of 80%;

Qualitative component covers the weighted
average of the competency assessment of
the executive member of Inapa's Board of
Directors with a global weight of 20%.

3. The concrete achievement of the mentioned
quantitative objectives must be previously
validated and certified by an independent external
entity at an earlier time.
4. The value of the performance bonus will be
determined and awarded in accordance with the
following parameters, calculated linearly:
Quantitative component
• If the performance reaches less than 80% of the
objectives set, no variable component shall be
attributed;
• If the registered performance is between 80%
and 100% of the fixed objectives, an amount
between 16% and 20% of the fixed reference
remuneration of each executive member of the
Board of Directors is due;
• If the registered performance is between 100%
and 120% of the fixed objectives, an amount
between 20% and 30% of the fixed reference
remuneration of each executive member of the
Board of Directors is due;
• If the registered performance reaches more
than 120% of the fixed objectives, an amount
corresponding to 30% of the fixed reference
remuneration of each executive member of the
Board of Directors is due.
Qualitative component
• If the overall performance registered is level
1 ("Well Below Expected"), no addition to
the variable component is calculated for this
purpose;
• If the overall performance registered is level 2
("Somewhat Below Expected"), an amount of
4% of the fixed reference remuneration of each
executive member of the Board of Directors is
due;
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iii) Maximum value of the remuneration
attributable 30% of the respective fixed
remuneration of the executive member of the
Board of Directors.

ii)
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• If the overall performance registered is of level 3
("As Expected"), the following is due 20% of the
fixed reference remuneration of each executive
member of the Board of Directors;
• If the overall registered performance is of level
4 of "Above Expected" (level 4), the amount of
24% of the fixed reference remuneration of each
executive member of the Board of Directors;
• If the overall performance registered is level 5
("Much Above Expected"), an amount of 30%
of the fixed reference remuneration of each
executive member of the Board of Directors is
due.
5. The annual key performance indicators (and
weightings) against the year 2021 budget are as
follows:
Quantitative component
• Sustainability - Reduction of the weight of debt
in the balance sheet (30%);
• Profitability - % annual growth rate of recurrent
EBITDA (30%);
• Profitability - % annual savings on operating
costs (15%);
•
• Activity - % annual turnover growth (Packaging
and Viscom) (15%);
• ESG - % of purchasing volume with sustainable
production standards (10%).
Qualitative component
• Leadership skills of the BD and contribution to
the performance of the EC (40%);
• Relation with Stakeholders (35%);
• Contribution to Inapa’s reputation (25%).
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6. The variable remuneration is subject, wholly or
partially, to mechanisms for (a) reduction of
the variable remuneration at a time prior to its
attribution (malus) and (b) reversion through
the retention of part or all of the variable
remuneration awarded, whose payment of any
of its installments has not yet been made (claw
back), the latter mechanism being applied as
a supplement in the event that the reduction
mechanism proves insufficient, in the following
situations:
i)

The executive member of Inapa's Board of
Directors in question participated directly and
decisively or was responsible for an action
that resulted in significant losses for Inapa;

ii)

Serious or fraudulent breach of Inapa's code
of conduct or internal rules by the executive
member of the Board of Directors with a
significant negative impact on Inapa, or
situations justifying just cause of dismissal
of the executive member of the Board of
Directors; and/or

iii) False statements and/or material errors or
omissions in Inapa's financial statements for
which the objective conduct of the executive
member of the Board of Directors has
contributed decisively.
7. In the event of termination of office of an
executive member of the Board of Directors,
for whatever reason (except for dismissal for
just cause or due to the occurrence of another
situation that gives rise to the application of the
malus or claw back mechanisms), after the end
of the variable remuneration assessment period
but before full payment of the respective variable
remuneration, the variable remuneration shall be
paid in full.
8. Payment of the variable remuneration
corresponding to the financial year in which the
executive member of the Board of Directors
ceases functions shall not be due, except in
situations of termination by mutual agreement,
retirement, death, disability or in any other case of
early termination of the term of office, for reasons
not attributable to the executive member of the
Board of Directors namely change of control of
the Company, among others, following a takeover
bid or other fact unconnected to the executive
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member of the Board of Directors), in which case
the variable remuneration shall be due pro rata
temporis. In particular, the executive member of
the Board of Directors shall not be entitled to a
variable remuneration for the performance of his
duties during the period between the start of the
financial year and the date of the elective general
meeting (under the terms of the provisions of
Article 391 of the Portuguese Companies Code),
should the executive member of the Board of
Directors not be re-elected.
9. In the event of the termination of the duties of
the executive members of the Board of Directors,
before the end of the term of office due to
dismissal for just cause or due to the verification
of another situation giving rise to the application
of the malus or claw back mechanisms, the last
will loose the right to receive all the variable
remuneration paid but not paid.

V. R
 emuneration policy of the Statutory
Auditor
The Statutory Auditor of the Company is
remunerated in the terms and conditions agreed in
the service agreement entered into between it and
Inapa, in accordance with market practices and the
legal and recommendation framework.

VI. C
 haracteristics of supplementary or early
retirement pension schemes
There are no supplementary pension or early
retirement schemes for members of Inapa's corporate
bodies.

VII. D
 efinition, revision or renewal of the
Remuneration Policy

10. The variable remuneration of the executive
members of the Board of Directors shall not
exceed 10% in each year of the net income of the
Inapa year.

The definition of the Remuneration Policy of the
members of Inapa's corporate bodies is submitted
to the General Meeting of Inapa for approval, by
proposal of the Remuneration Committee.

11. In financial years in which Inapa does not achieve
a positive net income, there shall in no case be
payment of variable remuneration to the executive
members of the Board of Directors.

The review and application of the Remuneration
Policy of the member of Inapa's corporate bodies
will be done according to the following Principles:

Benefíts
Also the following benefits are assigned to Executive
Directors:
a) Life insurance, whose value is measured
according to the amount of basic compensation
of each of the executive directors;
b) Automobile, including the maintenance and
insurance and fuel, whose total value varies
among executive directors according to the
responsibilities assumed;
c) Health insurance and other benefits in line with
the Group's policy.

a) The Remuneration Committee meets at least
once a year to monitor Inapa's situation on
matters relevant to determining and setting the
variable remuneration of executive members
and to analyse relevant information that may
justify consideration of adjustments to the
application of the Remuneration Policy, in matters
of compliance, risk management and human
resources;
b) The definition and any proposals for revision
of the Remuneration Policy are based on the
articulation of Inapa's objectives, measured its
strategic plan in each moment, in the conclusions
of comparative remuneration studies with
national listed companies and with foreign sector
peers, and in an articulation of principles with the
remuneration plan of other Inapa employees and
collaborators;
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12. The executive members of the Board of Directors
shall not enter into contracts or other instruments,
either with Inapa or with third parties, that have
the effect of mitigating the risk inherent to the
variability of their remuneration.
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c) The Remuneration Committee will consider
annually the opinions expressed by shareholders
and analysts on the Remuneration Policy;
d) The Remuneration Committee will hire the
necessary external consultants and support for
the production of comparative remuneration
studies and best corporate governance practices
within the scope of the remuneration policies for
executive directors, assessing the conditions of
their independence to provide the services that
may be requested of them;
e) In accordance with the provisions of Article 26-B,
paragraph 1 of the Portuguese Securities Code,
the Remuneration Committee shall in any case
submit a proposal for the approval of the General
Meeting for the revision of the Remuneration
Policy at least every 4 years and whenever a
relevant change occurs in the Remuneration
Policy in force.
Without prejudice to (extraordinary) review
proposals, the Remuneration Committee shall, at least
at the end of each term of office, on the occasion of
the assessment of the achievement of the objectives
set for the term of office in question, specifically
analyse and make a reasoned decision on whether
to propose a review of the Remuneration Policy
in any of its components in order to ensure, at all
times and with adequate agility, compliance with
the remuneration policy objective of retaining and
attracting talent to Inapa.
Whenever the Remuneration Policy is revised, all
relevant changes introduced will be described, as well
as how those changes reflect the votes and opinions
expressed by shareholders on the remuneration
policy, as well as the Remuneration Reports (included
in the Corporate Governance Report and to be
prepared under the provisions of Article 245-C of the
Securities Code issued on that policy since the last
vote on it at the General Meeting.
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VIII. Derogation of the Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy may be partially and
temporarily derogated from in exceptional
circumstances that so require to serve the long-term
interests and sustainability of Inapa, or to ensure its
viability.
The Remuneration Committee may decide to
temporarily derogate from this Policy, in whole or in
part, in unusual circumstances such as:
a) In case of material changes in the structure,
organization, ownership and business of the
organization (for example, acquisition or
merger), which may require adjustments in the
remuneration components or other elements to
ensure business continuity; and
b) In any other circumstances, provided that the
changes are necessary to serve the long-term
interests and sustainability of the organisation or
to ensure its financial viability.
Any action by the Remuneration Committee
to derogate from the Remuneration Policy
Remunerations will be disclosed in the Remuneration
Report for the year in question, included in the
Governance Report and to be prepared under the
provisions of Article 245-C of the Securities Code.

IX. Stock plans or stock options
The Company has no stock plans or stock options of
Inapa titles to its Governing Bodies or employees.
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X. E
 xistence of contracts signed between
Inapa and members of its corporate
bodies; enforceability or unenforceability
of payments relative to the dismissal and
termination of duties of directors
There are no management contracts or of any other
nature entered into between Inapa and the members
of its corporate bodies that are in force.
In particular:
a) There are no contractual limitations on any
compensation payable to directors for dismissal
without due cause, nor are there any express
mechanisms for demanding any damages or
compensation, other than those legally due;
b) Inapa has no agreements in place with
members of its Board of Directors and/or senior
management that provide for compensation
in the event of resignation, unfair dismissal, or
termination of employment following a change in
Company control.

70.
Information on how remuneration is structured
so as to enable the aligning of the interests of
the members of the board of directors with the
company's long-term interests and how it is
based on the performance assessment and how it
discourages excessive risk taking.
The remuneration of the non-executive members of
the Board of Directors did not include any variable
remuneration.
Executive members can have a variable remuneration
based on the degree of achievement of quantitative
and qualitative objectives that are associated
with performance indicators, objectives, simple,
transparent and (in relation to quantitative
objectives) measurable, as outlined below:
1) The variable remuneration is paid in cash, taking
into account the following reference values
(Target) and maximum limits:
Minimum value of the variable remuneration
attributable 13.6% of the fixed remuneration
of the respective executive member of the
Board of Directors;

ii.

Variable remuneration target 20% of the fixed
remuneration of the respective executive
member of the Board of Directors;

iii.

Maximum value of the remuneration
attributable - 30% of the fixed remuneration
of the respective executive member of the
Board of Directors.

XI. Contracting consultancy services
In the formulation of this remuneration policy,
Inapa contracted consultancy services to assist the
Remuneration Committee in the performance of its
duties.
To the best of the Remuneration Committee's
knowledge, such services are provided on an
independent basis and the respective service
providers shall not be engaged to provide any
other services to Inapa or to others with which it is
in a controlling or group relationship without the
Remuneration Committee having the opportunity to
be consulted and to give its opinion on that.

2) Specifically, the attribution and calculation of
the amount of variable remuneration is based on
the results of the performance evaluation of the
executive members of the Board of Directors,
carried out with reference to the entire calendar
year in question, and is determined considering
the following components:
i)

Quantitative Component includes the
assessment of Inapa's performance through
quantitative indicators, with an overall weight
of 80%;
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ii)

Qualitative component - comprises the
weighted average of the skills assessment
of the executive member of the Board of
Directors of Inapa in question, with an overall
weight of 20%.

Variable remuneration is subject, wholly or partially,
to mechanisms for (a) reduction of variable
remuneration at a time prior to its award (malus) and
(b) reversal by withholding part or all of the variable
remuneration awarded where payment of any portion
thereof has not yet been made (claw back), being
the latter mechanism is of supplementary application
should the reduction mechanism prove to be
insufficient, in the following situations:
i)

ii)

The executive member of Inapa's Board of
Directors in question participated directly and
decisively or was responsible for an action
that resulted in significant losses for Inapa;
Serious or fraudulent breach of Inapa's code
of conduct or internal rules by the executive
member of the Board of Directors with a
significant negative impact on Inapa, or
situations justifying just cause of dismissal
of the executive member of the Board of
Directors; and/or

iii) Materially relevant false declarations and/or
errors or omissions in the financial statements
of Inapa to which an objective conduct of the
executive member of the Board of Directors
has decisively contributed.
The remuneration structure of the executive
committee, described in the previous point provides
for a fixed and a variable component, which should
be aligned with market practices and assuming
that the remuneration practice should be based on
uniform, consistent, fair and balanced criteria.

71.

Reference, where applicable, to there being a
variable remuneration component and information
on any impact of the performance appraisal on this
component.
It is expected that the remuneration of executive
directors will have a variable component dependent
on a performance assessment under the terms
previously addressed with a quantitative and
qualitative component, as described on the previous
point.

72.

The deferred payment of the remuneration’s variable
component and specify the relevant deferral period.
In the remuneration policy approved at the General
Meeting of 21 May 2021, a deferral of the variable
component (non-existent) was not established.

73.

The criteria whereon the allocation of variable
remuneration on shares is based, and also on
maintaining company shares that the executive
directors have had access to, on the possible
share contracts, including hedging or risk transfer
contracts, the corresponding limit and its relation
to the total annual remuneration value.
The remuneration of executive Directors does not
establish any component based in shares.
None of the directors holds any shares in the
Company.

74.

The criteria whereon the allocation of variable
remuneration on options is based and details of the
deferral period and the exercise price.
The remuneration of executive Directors does not
establish any component based in options issued by
the Company.
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75.

The key factors and grounds for any annual bonus
scheme and any additional non-financial benefits.
In order to determine the remuneration to be
attributed to the members of the Governing Bodies,
Inapa shall be governed by the following criteria:
• Simplicity, clarity, transparency and alignment
with the Company's culture, also taking into
account the Group in which it operates;
• Competitiveness, taking into account market
practices and fairness, as the remuneration
practice is based on uniform, consistent, fair and
balanced criteria;
• Pursuing excellence in management through a set
of benchmark business practices that enable the
Company to achieve balance and sustainability;
and
• Determination of the individual variable
remuneration considering the respective
performance evaluation, based on financial and
non-financial criteria, according to the functions
and level of responsibility, as well as the results of
the Company.
How the Remuneration Policy contributes to the
company's business strategy, its long-term interests
and sustainability.

The current Remuneration Policy for members of
the management and supervisory bodies aims to
promote continued alignment with the objectives
and short and long-term business strategy, as well
as with best market practices and thus contribute to
the sustainability of Inapa's results and to aligning
them with the interests of the shareholders, and
long-term business goals and strategy, as well as with
the best market practices, and thus contribute to the
sustainability of Inapa's results and alignment with
the interests of shareholders, for the long-term value
creation and to be compatible with an adequate and
rigorous risk management.

No other benefits are defined, in addition to those
provided for in the remuneration policy:
a. Life insurance, whose value is measured
according to the amount of basic compensation
of each of the executive directors;
b. Automobile, including fuel, maintenance
and insurance, whose total value varies
among executive directors according to the
responsibilities assumed;
c. Health insurance and other benefits in line with
the Group's policy.

76.

Key characteristics of the supplementary pensions
or early retirement schemes for directors and state
date when said schemes were approved at the
general meeting, on an individual basis.
There are no supplementary pensions or early
retirement schemes for Board of Directors and Audit
Committee members.
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In the market where Inapa operates, one of the
main critical success factors is the ability to attract,
motivate and retain the best professionals.

The Remuneration Policy is thus intended to be an
effective instrument of good corporate governance
of the Company, aiming to provide information to
the shareholders, protect their interests and provide
greater transparency in the matter of remuneration of
the corporate bodies.
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IV. Remuneration Disclosure

77.

Indication of the annual remuneration earned from
the company, on an aggregate and individual basis,
by the members of the company's management
body, including fixed and variable remuneration and,
with regard to the latter, reference to the different
components that gave rise to it.

INAPA - IPG
FIXED
REMUNERATION
IN 2021

VARIABLE
REMUNERATION
IN 2021

FIXED
REMUNERATION
IN 2021

VARIABLE
REMUNERATION
IN 2021

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende

¤ 350,000.00

-

-

-

Frederico João de Moser Lupi

¤ 259,000.00

-

-

-

Inês Patrícia Arede Simões Louro

¤ 259,000.00

-

-

-

Victor Maurílio Silva Barros

¤ 65,708.33

-

-

-

Emília de Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão

¤ 16,500.00

-

-

-

Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha

¤ 16,500.00

-

-

-

João Miguel Pacheco Sales Luís

¤ 10,500.00

-

-

-

The average annual remuneration of the Company's
full-time equivalent employees, excluding members of
the management and supervisory bodies, during the
last five financial years was ¤ 64,526.98.

78.

Any amounts paid, for any reason whatsoever, by
other companies in a control or group relationship,
or are subject to a common control.
No amounts were paid by other companies in a
control or group relationship or that are subject to a
common control.
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SUBSIDIARIES

79.

Remuneration paid in the form of profit sharing and/
or bonus payments and the reasons for said bonuses
or profit sharing being awarded.
The remuneration scheme approved at the General
Meeting contemplates, in its quantitative component,
indicators that influence the generation of results
of the Group, but there are no mechanisms for
reimbursement of results.
It should be noted that the remuneration regulation
of Inapa’s corporate bodies (approved by the
Remuneration Committee) does not allow such
variable remuneration to exceed in each year the
amount equivalent to 10% of net income for Inapa’s
year.
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80.

Compensation paid or owed to former executive
directors concerning contract termination during the
financial year.
No compensation were paid to former executive
directors nor are due compensations for the cessation
of their duties during the last financial year.
The remuneration policy in what regards to variable
remunerations establishes that:
• In the event of termination of duties of the
executive member of the Board of Directors, for
any reason (other than dismissal for good cause
or due to the verification of another situation
giving rise to the application of the malus or claw
back mechanisms), after the end of the variable
remuneration period, but before the full payment
of the respective variable remuneration, the full
variable remuneration will be paid;

In the event of the termination of the duties of the
executive members of the Board of Directors, before
the end of the term of office due to dismissal for just
cause or due to the verification of another situation
giving rise to the application of the malus or claw back
mechanisms, the last will lose the right to receive all
the variable remuneration paid but not paid.

i)

The executive member of Inapa’s Board of
Directors in question participated directly and
decisively or was responsible for an action
that resulted in significant losses for Inapa;

ii)

Serious or fraudulent breach of Inapa’s code
of conduct or internal rules by the executive
member of the Board of Directors with a
significant negative impact on Inapa, or
situations justifying just cause of dismissal
of the executive member of the Board of
Directors; and/or

iii) False statements and/or material errors or
omissions in Inapa’s financial statements for
which the objective conduct of the executive
member of the Board of Directors has
contributed decisively.

81.

Details of the annual remuneration paid, as a whole
and individually, to the members of the company’s
supervisory board for the purposes of Law No.
28/2009 of 19 June.
The Audit Committee members remunerations is
described under section 77.
During 2021 the audit Committee member were:
• Victor Maurílio Silva Barros
• Emília de Noronha Galvão Franco Frazão
• Patrícia Isabel Sousa Caldinha
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• The payment of the variable remuneration
corresponding to the fiscal year in which the
executive member of the Board of Directors
ceases functions shall not be due, except in
cases of termination by mutual agreement,
retirement, death, invalidity or in any other case
of early termination of the mandate, for reasons
not attributable to the executive member of
the Board of Directors (namely, changes in the
control of the Company, among others, following
a takeover bid or other fact unrelated to the
executive member of the Board of Directors), in
which case variable remuneration will be due pro
rata temporis. In particular, the executive member
of the Board of Directors shall not be entitled
to a variable remuneration for the performance
of his duties during the period between the
beginning of the financial year and the date of
the elective general meeting (under the terms
of the provisions of article 391, number 4 of
the Portuguese Companies Code), should the
executive member of the Board of Directors not
be re-elected.

The variable remuneration is subject, in whole or in
part, to mechanisms of (a) reduction of the variable
remuneration prior to its attribution (malus) and
(b) reversal by way of retention of part or all of the
variable remuneration attributed whose payment of
any of its installments has not yet been performed
(claw back), the latter being a supplementary
mechanism if the reduction mechanism proves to be
insufficient, in the following situations:
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82.

Details of the remuneration in the reference year
of the Chairman of the Board of the Shareholders'
General Meeting.
The Remuneration Policy Statement submitted by
the said committee, approved on 23 May 2019, sets
the remuneration of the Chairman of the Board of the
Shareholders' General Meeting at ¤ 5,000.00 (five
thousand euros) for each meeting that he/she chairs.
During the reference year, there was one General
Meeting, for which it was paid the approved
remuneration of ¤ 5,000.00 (five thousand euros).

V. A
 greements with Remuneration
Implications

83.

The envisaged contractual restraints for
compensation payable for the unfair dismissal
of directors and the relevance thereof to the
remunerations’ variable component.
No contractual limitations have been established to
pay eventual compensations for the unfair dismissal
of directors.
The remuneration policy adopted does not provide
for contractual limitations on any compensation
payable to directors for dismissal without just cause
or any express mechanisms for demanding any
indemnity or compensation, without prejudice to
that which is legally due. The Company does not
have any agreements in place with members of its
management body and/or directors that provide
for compensation in the event of resignation, unfair
dismissal or termination of employment following a
change in control of the Company.
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In what concerns to the variable remuneration, the
remuneration policy defines that:
• In the event of termination of duties of the
executive member of the Board of Directors, for
any reason (other than dismissal for good cause
or due to the verification of another situation
giving rise to the application of the malus or claw
back mechanisms), after the end of the variable
remuneration period, but before the full payment
of the respective variable remuneration, the full
variable remuneration will be paid.
• The payment of the variable remuneration
corresponding to the fiscal year in which the
executive member of the Board of Directors
ceases functions shall not be due, except in
cases of termination by mutual agreement,
retirement, death, invalidity or in any other case
of early termination of the mandate, for reasons
not attributable to the executive member of the
Board of Directors (in particular, changes in the
control of the Company, among others, following
a takeover bid or other fact unrelated to the
executive member of the Board of Directors), in
which case variable remuneration will be due pro
rata temporis. In particular, the executive member
of the Board of Directors shall not be entitled
to a variable remuneration for the performance
of his/her duties during the period between the
beginning of the financial year and the date of the
elective general meeting (under the terms of the
provisions of article 391, No. 4 of the Portuguese
Companies Code), should the executive member
of the Board of Directors not be re-appointed.

84.

Reference to the existence and description, with
details of the sums involved, of agreements between
the company and members of the board of directors
and managers, pursuant to Article 248-B/3 of
the Securities Code that envisages compensation
in the event of resignation or unfair dismissal or
termination of employment following a takeover bid.
(Article 245-A/1/i)).
No agreements between the Company and
members of the Board of Directors and/or senior
management containing provisions on the payment
of compensations upon resignation, unfair dismissal
or termination of employment following a change in
the company’s controlling shareholder are in force.

283

VI. Share-allocation and/or Stock Option plan

85.

Details of the plan and the number of persons
included therein.
The Company does not have any share-allocation or
stock option scheme to award shares in the capital of
the Company to its governing bodies or personnel.

86.

Characteristics of the plan (allocation conditions,
non-transfer of share clauses, criteria on sharepricing and the exercising option price, the period
during which the options may be exercised, the
characteristics of the shares or options to be
allocated, the existence of incentives to purchase
and/or exercise options).
The Company does not have any share-allocation or
stock option scheme to award shares in the capital of
the Company to its governing bodies or employees.

I. Control mechanisms and Procedures

89.

Mechanisms implemented by the Company for the
purpose of controlling transactions with related
parties (For said purpose, reference is made to the
concept resulting from IAS 24).
At the meeting of 23 December 2020, the Board of
Directors of Inapa - Investimentos, Participações e
Gestão, S.A. approved, with the prior opinion of the
Audit Committee, a new regulation on transactions of
the company with related parties.
Related entities, for the purposes of the
aforementioned regulation, are understood to
be those considered as such in the international
standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC)
No. 1606/2002, of the European Parliament and of
the Council, of 19 July and in particular:

Stock option plans for the company employees
and staff.

a) The entities that directly or indirectly control, are
controlled or are under common control of the
company;

The Company does not have any share-allocation or
stock option scheme to award shares in the capital of
the Company to its governing bodies or personnel.

b) The entities that have an interest in the company
that gives it significant influence over it or have
joint control over it;

88.

c) Associates or joint ventures in which the entity is
an entrepreneur;

Control mechanisms for a possible employeeshareholder system inasmuch as the voting rights
are not directly exercised by said employees (Article
245-A/1/e)).
The Company does not have any share-allocation or
stock option scheme to award shares in the capital
of the Company to its governing bodies or personnel
and has no control mechanisms in case of eventual
voting rights exercised by employees.

d) The key elements of the company’s management
or the people closely related to them, being
considered as such:
• The members of the Company’s management
bodies and those responsible, who, not being
members of those bodies, directly or indirectly
have authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the entity’s activities;
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E. Transactions with Related
Parties
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• The spouse of the key management member or
person living with him or her in de facto union,
dependent descendants and other dependents;
• Any entity that is directly or indirectly
dominated by the key management element,
constituted for its benefit or that this is also a
key management element.
e) The entity over which a key management element
or person closely related to it exercises control,
joint control or significant influence or over which
they have, directly or indirectly, significant voting
power;
f) The entity that is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of the company or
company in a controlling or group relationship.
According to this regulation, that require prior
approval by the Board of Directors, with prior opinion
from the Audit Committee, all transaction between
the Company or its subsidiaries with related entities
that are not carried out within the current scope of
the Company’s activity and under market conditions,
transactions of significant relevance as well as those
that, due to the combination of their nature, amount
and/or conditions of realization may give rise to
particular relevance in terms of transparency and or
conflicts of interest.

In view of the concrete reality of the Company and its
subsidiaries, the following levels of materiality were
established, for transactions alone or in conjunction
with other transactions with the same related party
during the same financial year, from which the
transactions are considered to be of significant
relevance, which delimit the delegation of powers of
the Executive Committee:

TYPE OF TRANSACTION
Purchasing and selling of goods and service
Financial investments
Loans and other type of funding, excluding
simple renewals
Other transactions

LIMIT
750,000 ¤
5,000,000 ¤
10,000,000 ¤
500,000 ¤

All other transactions with related parties are
obligatorily notified to the Audit Committee until the
end of the month following the end of each quarter,
to confirm that they were carried out within the
scope of the activity under market conditions.
The regulation in question establishes that in the
assessment of transactions with related parties, the
respective reasonableness and transparency must
be ensured, namely with regard to the pursuit of the
interests of the company and its subsidiaries, taking
into account the normal conditions under which such
transactions are practiced in the market and that
the same does not result, directly or indirectly, in a
more favourable treatment than the one likely to be
obtained by a third party under equal circumstances.
The regulation also provides that transactions
between the Company and/or its subsidiaries with
related parties that are not carried out within the
scope of the company’s current activity and under
market conditions and whose individual or aggregate
value in the same year in relation to the same
related party is equal to or greater than 2.5% of the
Company’s consolidated assets, according to its most
recent audited accounts, must be publicly disclosed,
at the latest at the time they are realized.
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90.

Details of transactions that were subject to control
in the referred year.
There were no transactions with related parties
that needed the specific control from the Audit
Committee, however, transactions within the scope
of the Company's day-to-day business and under
market conditions were analysed on a quarterly basis.

91.

A description of the procedures and criteria
applicable to the supervisory body when same
provides preliminary assessment of the business
deals to be carried out between the company
and the holders of qualifying holdings or entityrelationships with the former, as envisaged in Article
20 of the Securities Code.
The procedures and criteria are described in
section 89.

II. Data on Business Deals

Details of the place where the financial statements
including information on business dealings with
related parties are available, in accordance with IAS
24, or alternatively a copy of said data.
The information about business deals with related
parties is described on Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements of the company.

III. Other Elements

93.

Means of preventing and managing conflicts of
interest.
In December 2017 the Board of Directors approved a
new Code of Conduct that covers all employees and
directors of the Inapa Group (including the members
of the Board of Directors of the Company).

It is defined that employees and directors should
refrain from doing business with family members
or with others with whom they have relevant
relationships.
Members should not use their position in Inapa
to get special treatment for themselves or their
family or someone with meaning that is relevant to
them. It applies to the purchase of products, sales,
investments, contracting selection of contractors or
suppliers or any other business relationships.
All external professional activities, whether paid or
not, must be communicated and can not raise any
conflicts of interest with Inapa. No assets of the
company may be used during the exercise of any
external professional activity.
If any director is in a situation of possible conflict of
interests, he or she must notify the Chairman of the
Board of Directors, or if the potential conflict affects
him/her, to the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
and exclude himself/herself from the decision-making
process.
It is further envisaged that no employee, manager
or director should participate in the decision-making
related to a company where it may have a direct or
indirect financial interest.
Finally, the Code of Conduct further stipulates
those gifts, meals, entertainment or any favour from
suppliers, service providers or customers should not
be accepted that could compromise or appear to
compromise their judgment when making objective
decisions in the best interests of the Inapa.
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92.

The Code of Conduct indicates that there is a conflict
of interest when your personal activities interfere, or
seem to interfere, with your judgment in acting in the
best interest of Inapa.
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Part II
Corporate Governance
Assessment

1.

Details of the corporate governance code
implemented.
This Corporate Governance report was prepared in
accordance with the recommendations contained
in the IPCG Corporate Governance Code (2018) and
reviewed in 2020.
The full text of the reports concerning the
governance of this company are permanently
available at:
• The Company’s Head Office, at Rua Braamcamp,
40 – 9.º D, Lisbon – Portugal;
• The company’s corporate website:
www.inapa.pt;
• The website of Comissão do Mercado de Valores
Mobiliários (CMVM): www.cmvm.pt.
The company hereby informs that this Report will be
available for consultation in all of the aforementioned
locations and may be obtained separately or as an
Addendum to the Annual Report and Accounts of the
Company, of which it is an integral part.
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2.

Compliance analysis of the implemented Corporate
Governance Code.
The structure followed in the evaluation of corporate
governance follows the model recommended in
the IPCG Corporate Governance Code (2018) and
reviewed in 2020.
For each of the recommendations, it is stated
whether or not it is adhered to. An explanation is
provided through the references to the articles in
Part I - mandatory information on the shareholder
structure, organization and governance of the
company and complemented, in the case of
non follow-up, partial follow-up or when the
recommendation was considered not applicable, by
further information is presented after the table, in
point 3 - Other Information.

PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

CHAPTER I — GENERAL

Corporate Governance should promote and enhance the performance of companies, as well as of capital markets, and
strengthen the trust of investors, employees and the general public in the quality and transparency of management and
supervision, as well as in the sustained development of the companies.
I.1. Company’s relationship with investors and disclosure
Principle:
Companies, in particular its directors, should treat shareholders and other investors equitably, namely by ensuring
mechanisms and procedures are in place for the suitable management and disclosure of the Company’s information.
Recommendations:
I.1.1. The Company should establish rigorous mechanisms to ensure the timely disclosure
of information to its governing bodies, shareholders, investors and other stakeholders,
financial analysts, and to the markets in general.

Yes

22
34
56 to 65
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General principle:
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PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

I.2. Diversity in the composition and functioning of the company’s governing bodies
Principles:
I.2.A. Companies ensure diversity in the composition of its governing bodies, and the adoption of criteria based on
individual merit, in the appointment procedures that are exclusively within the powers of the shareholders.
I.2.B. Companies should be provided with clear and transparent decision structures and ensure a maximum
effectiveness of the functioning of their governing bodies and commissions.
I.2.C. Companies ensure that the functioning of their bodies and committees is duly recorded, namely in minutes, to
allow an understanding not only of the meaning of the decisions taken, but also of their grounds and opinions expressed
by their members.
Recommendations:
I.2.1. Companies should establish standards and requirements regarding the profile
of new members of their governing bodies, which are suitable according to the roles
to be carried out. Besides individual attributes (such as competence, independence,
integrity, availability, and experience), these profiles should take into consideration
general diversity requirements, with particular attention to gender diversity, which may
contribute to a better performance of the governing body and to the balance of its
composition.

No

15 to 19
26
33

Yes

15 to 19
21 to 23
27
34

I.2.3. The composition and the number of annual meetings of the managing and
supervisory bodies, as well as of their committees, should be disclosed on the company’s
website.

Yes

22
23
34
35
61

I.2.4. A policy for the communication of irregularities (whistleblowing) should be
adopted that guarantees the suitable means of communication and treatment of those
irregularities, with the safeguarding of the confidentiality of the information transmitted
and the identity of its provider, whenever such confidentiality is requested.

Yes

49

I.2.2. The company’s managing and supervisory boards, as well as their internal
committees, should have internal regulations – namely regulating the performance of
their duties, their Chairmanship, periodicity of meetings, their functioning and the duties
of their members —, disclosed in full on the company’s website. Minutes of the meetings
of each of these bodies should be drawn out.
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PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

I.3. Relationships between the company bodies
Principle:
Members of the company’s corporate bodies, especially directors, should create, considering the duties of each of the
boards, the appropriate conditions to ensure balanced and efficient measures to allow for the different governing bodies
of the company to act in a harmonious and coordinated way, in a possession of the suitable amount of information in
order to carry out their respective duties.
Recommendations:

Yes

15
21

I.3.2. Each of the company’s boards and committees should ensure the timely and
suitable flow of information, especially regarding the respective calls for meetings and
minutes, necessary for the exercise of the competences, determined by law and the
bylaws, of each of the remaining boards and committees.

Yes

15
21

I.4. Conflict of interests
Principle:
The existence of current or potential conflicts of interest, between members of the company’s boards or committees
and the company, should be prevented. The non-interference of the conflicted member in the decision process should
be guaranteed.
Recommendations:
I.4.1. The members of the managing and supervisory boards and the internal committees
are bounded, by internal regulation or equivalent, to inform the respective board or
committee whenever there are facts that may constitute or give rise to a conflict
between their interests and the company’s interest.

Yes

93

I.4.2. Procedures should be adopted to guarantee that the member in conflict does
not interfere in the decision-making process, without prejudice to the duty to provide
information and other clarifications that the board, the committee or their respective
members may request.

Yes

93
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I.3.1. The bylaws, or other equivalent means adopted by the company, should establish
mechanisms that, within the limits of applicable laws, permanently ensure the members
of the managing and supervisory boards are provided with access to all the information
and company’s collaborators, in order to appraise the performance, current situation
and perspectives for further developments of the company, namely including minutes,
documents supporting decisions that have been taken, calls for meetings, and the archive
of the meetings of the managing board, without impairing the access to any other
documents or people that may be requested for information.
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PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

I.5. Related party transactions
Principle:
Due to the potential risks that they may hold, transactions with related parties should be justified by the interest of the
company and carried out under market conditions, subject to principles of transparency and adequate supervision.
Recommendations:
I.5.1. The managing body should disclose in the corporate governance report or by other
means publicly available the internal procedure for verifying transactions with related
parties.

Yes

38
89 to 91

I.5.2. The managing body should report to the supervisory body the results of the internal
procedure for verifying transactions with related parties, including the transactions under
analysis, at least every six months.

Yes

89 to 91

CHAPTER II – SHAREHOLDERS AND GENERAL MEETING
Principles:
II.A. As an instrument for the efficient functioning of the company and the fulfilment of the corporate purpose of the
company, the suitable involvement of the shareholders in matters of corporate governance is a positive factor for the
company’s governance.
II.B. The company should stimulate the personal participation of shareholders in General Meetings, which is a space for
communication by the shareholders with the company’s boards and committees, and for reflection about the company itself.
II.C. The company should implement adequate means for the participation and remote voting by shareholders in meetings.
Recommendations:
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II.1. The company should not set an excessively high number of shares to confer voting
rights, and it should make its choice clear in the corporate governance report every time
its choice entails a diversion from the general rule: that each share has a corresponding
vote.

Yes

1
12
13

II.2. The company should not adopt mechanisms that make decision making by its
shareholders (resolutions) more difficult, specifically, by setting a quorum higher than
that established by law.

Yes

14

II.3. The company should implement adequate means for the remote participation by
shareholders in the general meeting, which should be proportionate to its size.

Yes

12
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COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

II.4. The company should also implement adequate means for the exercise of remote
voting, including by correspondence and electronic means.

Yes

12

II.5. The bylaws, which specify the limitation of the number of votes that can be held or
exercised by a sole shareholder, individually or in coordination with other shareholders,
should equally provide that, at least every 5 years, the amendment or maintenance
of this rule will be subject to a shareholder resolution — without increased quorum in
comparison to the legally established — and in that resolution, all votes cast will be
counted without observation of the imposed limits.

Yes

5
13

Yes

16
69
80
83
84

PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

II.6. The company should not adopt mechanisms that imply payments or assumption
of fees in the case of the transfer of control or the change in the composition of
the managing body, and which are likely to harm the economic interest in the free
transferability of shares and a shareholder assessment of the performance of the
members of the managing body.
CHAPTER III – NON-EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT, MONITORING AND SUPERVISION
Principles:

III.B. The composition of the supervisory body and the non-executive directors should provide the company with a
balanced and suitable diversity of skills, knowledge, and professional experience.
III.C. The supervisory body should carry out a permanent oversight of the company’s managing body, also in a
preventive perspective, following the company’s activity and, in particular, the decisions of fundamental importance for
the company.
Recommendations:
III.1. Without prejudice to the legal powers of the Chair of the managing body, if he
or she is not independent, the independent directors should appoint a coordinator
from amongst them (Lead Independent Director), namely, (i) act, when necessary, as
an interlocutor near the chair of the board of directors and other directors, (ii) make
sure there are the necessary conditions and means to carry out their functions; and
(iii) coordinate the independent directors in the assessment of the performance of the
managing body, as established in recommendation V.1.1.

Yes

18
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III.A. The members of governing bodies who possess non-executive management duties or monitoring and supervisory
duties should, in an effective and judicious manner, carry out monitoring duties and incentivise executive management
for the full accomplishment of the corporate purpose, and such performance should be complemented by committees
for areas that are central to corporate governance.
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COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

III.2. The number of non-executive members in the managing body, as well as the
number of members of the supervisory body and the number of the members of the
committee for financial matters should be suitable for the size of the company and the
complexity of the risks intrinsic to its activity, but sufficient to ensure, with efficiency,
the duties which they have been attributed. The formation of such suitability judgment
should be included in the corporate governance report.

Yes

17
18
27
31

III.3. In any case, the number of non-executive directors should be higher than the
number of executive directors.

Yes

18

Yes

18
20
32

Not applicable

18

Yes

21
38
54

PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

III.4. Each company should include a number of non-executive directors that corresponds
to no less than one third, but always plural, who satisfy the legal requirements of
independence. For the purposes of this recommendation, an independent person is one
who is not associated with any specific group of interest of the company, nor under any
circumstance likely to affect his/her impartiality of analysis or decision, namely due to:
i.

Having carried out functions in any of the company’s bodies for more than twelve
years, either on a consecutive or non-consecutive basis;

ii.

Having been a prior staff member of the company or of a company which is
considered to be in a controlling or group relationship with the company in the last
three years;

iii.

Having, in the last three years, provided services or established a significant
business relationship with the company or a company which is considered to be
in a controlling or group relationship, either directly or as a shareholder, director,
manager or officer of the legal person;

iv.

Having been a beneficiary of remuneration paid by the company or by a company
which is considered to be in a controlling or group relationship other than the
remuneration resulting from the exercise of a director’s duties;

v.

Having lived in a non-marital partnership or having been the spouse, relative or any
first degree next of kin up to and including the third degree of collateral affinity
of company directors or of natural persons who are direct or indirect holders
of qualifying holdings, or having been a qualified holder or representative of a
shareholder of qualifying holding;

vi.

Being a qualifying shareholder or representative of a qualifying shareholder.

III.5. The provisions of paragraph (i) of recommendation III.4 does not inhibit the
qualification of a new director as independent if, between the termination of his/her
functions in any of the company’s bodies and the new appointment, a period of 3 years
has elapsed (cooling-off period).
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III.6. The supervisory body, in observance of the powers conferred to it by law, should
assess and give its opinion on the strategic lines and the risk policy prior to its final
approval by the management body.

293

PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS
III.7. Companies shall have special committees in the areas of corporate governance,
appointments and performance assessment, separately or cumulatively. In the event of
the creation of the Remuneration Committee established in Article 399 of the Companies
Code, and if this is not forbidden by law, this recommendation can be complied with by
assigning to this committee competence in the aforementioned areas.

COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I
24
27
29
66

Yes
(created Remuneration
Committee)

CHAPTER IV – EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
Principles:
IV.A. As way of increasing the efficiency and the quality of the managing body’s performance and the suitable flow of
information in the board, the daily management of the company should be carried out by directors with qualifications,
powers and experience suitable for the role. The executive board is responsible for the management of the company,
pursuing the company’s objectives and aiming to contribute towards the company’s sustainable development.
IV.B. In determining the number of executive directors, it should be taken into account, besides the costs and the
desirable agility in the functioning of the executive board, the size of the company, the complexity of its activity, and its
geographical spread.
Recommendations:

Yes

28
93

IV.2. The managing body should ensure that the company acts consistently with its
objects and does not delegate powers, namely, in what regards: i) the definition of the
strategy and main policies of the company; ii) the organisation and coordination of
the business structure; iii) matters that should be considered strategic in virtue of the
amounts involved, the risk, or special characteristics.

Yes

21
28

Yes

21
50
52 to 55
89

IV.3. In the annual report, the managing body explains in what terms the strategy and the
main policies defined seek to ensure the long-term success of the company and which
are the main contributions resulting therein for the community at large.

CHAPTER V – EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE, REMUNERATION AND APPOINTMENT
V.1. Annual evaluation of performance
Principle:
The company should promote the assessment of performance of the executive board and of its members individually,
and also the assessment of the overall performance of the managing body and its specialized committees.
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IV.1. The managing body should approve, by internal regulation or equivalent, the
rules regarding the action of the executive directors applicable to their performance of
executive functions in entities outside of the group.
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PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

Yes

18
24
25
27
38

Recommendation:
V.1.1. The managing body should annually evaluate its performance as well as
the performance of its committees and executive directors, taking into account
the accomplishment of the company’s strategic plans and budget plans, the risk
management, the internal functioning and the contribution of each member of the body
to these objectives, as well as the relationship with the company’s other bodies and
committees.
V.2. Remuneration
Principles:
V.2.A. The remuneration policy of the members of the managing and supervisory boards should allow the company to
attract qualified professionals at an economically justifiable cost in relation to its financial situation, induce the alignment
of the member’s interests with those of the company’s shareholders — taking into account the wealth effectively
created by the company, its financial situation and the market’s — and constitute a factor of development of a culture of
professionalization, sustainability, promotion of merit and transparency within the company.
V.2.B. Directors should receive compensation:
(i)

That suitably remunerates the responsibility taken, the availability and the expertise placed at the disposal of the
company;

(ii) That guarantees a performance aligned with the long-term interests of the shareholders and promotes the
sustainable performance of the company; and
(iii) That rewards performance.
Recommendations:
V.2.1. The company should create a remuneration committee, the composition of which
should ensure its independence from the management, which may be the remuneration
committee appointed under the terms of article 399 of the Commercial Companies Code.

Yes

66 to 68

V.2.2. The remuneration should be set by the remuneration committee or the general
meeting, on a proposal from that committee.

Yes

66 to 68

No

69 to 81
83 to 86

V.2.3. For each term of office, the Remuneration Committee or the General Meeting,
on a proposal from that committee, should also approve the maximum amount of all
compensations payable to any member of a board or committee of the company due to
the respective termination of office. The said situation as well as the amounts should be
disclosed in the corporate governance report or in the remuneration report.
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REMISSION
PART I

V.2.4. In order to provide information or clarifications to shareholders, the chair or, in
case of his/her impediment, another member of the remuneration committee should be
present at the annual general meeting, as well as at any other, whenever the respective
agenda includes a matter linked with the remuneration of the members of the company’s
boards and committees or, if such presence has been requested by the shareholders.

Yes

69
80

V.2.5. Within the company’s budgetary limitations, the remuneration committee should
be able to decide, freely, on the hiring, by the company, of necessary or convenient
consulting services to carry out the committee’s duties.

Yes

67
69

V.2.6. The remuneration committee should ensure that those services are provided
independently and that the respective providers do not provide other services to
the company, or to others in controlling or group relationship, without the express
authorization of the committee.

Yes

67
69

V.2.7. Taking into account the alignment of interests between the company and the
executive directors, a part of their remuneration should be of a variable nature, reflecting
the sustained performance of the company, and not stimulating the assumption of
excessive risks.

Yes

69
70

V.2.8. A significant part of the variable component should be partially deferred in time, for
a period of no less than three years, being necessarily connected to the confirmation of the
sustainability of the performance, in the terms defined by a company’s internal regulation.

No

69 to 72

V.2.9. When variable remuneration includes the allocation of options or other instruments
directly or indirectly dependent on the value of shares, the start of the exercise period
should be deferred in time for a period of no less than three years.

Not applicable

74

Yes

69

V.2.10. The remuneration of non-executive directors should not include components
dependent on the performance of the company or on its value.
V.3. Appointments
Principle:

Regardless of the manner of appointment, the profile, the knowledge, and the curriculum of the members of the
company’s governing bodies, and of the executive staff, should be suited to the functions carried out.
Recommendations:
V.3.1. The company should, in terms that it considers suitable, but in a demonstrable
form, promote those proposals for the appointment of the members of the company’s
governing bodies are accompanied by a justification in regard to the suitability of the
profile, the skills and the curriculum vitae to the duties to be carried out.

No

19
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COMPLIANCE

PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS
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PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

V.3.2. The overview and support to the appointment of members of senior management
should be attributed to a nomination committee unless this is not justified by the
company’s size.

V.3.3. This nomination committee includes a majority of non-executive,
independent members.

V.3.4. The nomination committee should make its terms of reference available, and
should foster, to the extent of its powers, transparent selection processes that include
effective mechanisms of identification of potential candidates, and that those chosen
for proposal are those who present a higher degree of merit, who are best suited to
the demands of the functions to be carried out, and who will best promote, within the
organisation, a suitable diversity, including gender diversity.

COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

Not applicable
(due to its size, the
Company considers
that is does not justify
to create a nomination
committee)

27

Not applicable
(company has no
nomination committee)

27

Not applicable
(company has no
nomination committee)

27

CHAPTER VI – INTERNAL CONTROL
Principle:
Based on its mid and long-term strategies, the company should establish a system of risk management and control, and
of internal audit, which allow for the anticipation and minimization of risks inherent to the company’s activity.
Recommendations:
VI.1. The managing body should debate and approve the company’s strategic plan and
risk policy, which should include the establishment of limits on risk-taking.
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Yes

21
54

VI.2. The supervisory board should be internally organised, implementing mechanisms
and procedures of periodic control that seek to guarantee that risks which are effectively
incurred by the company are consistent with the company’s objectives, as set by the
managing body.

Yes

21
50
53
54
55

VI.3. The internal control systems, comprising the functions of risk management,
compliance, and internal audit should be structured in terms adequate to the size
of the company and the complexity of the inherent risks of the company’s activity.
The supervisory body should evaluate them and, within its competence to supervise
the effectiveness of this system, propose adjustments where they are deemed to be
necessary.

Yes

50 to 55
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REMISSION
PART I

VI.4. The supervisory body should provide its view on the work plans and resources
allocated to the services of the internal control system, including the risk management,
compliance and internal audit functions, and may propose the adjustments deemed to be
necessary.

Yes

21
50 to 55

VI.5. The supervisory body should be the recipient of the reports prepared by the internal
control services, including the risk management functions, compliance and internal audit,
at least regarding matters related to the approval of accounts, the identification and
resolution of conflicts of interest, and the detection of potential irregularities.

Yes

21
49

VI.6. Based on its risk policy, the company should establish a risk management function,
identifying (i) the main risks it is subject to in carrying out its activity; (ii) the probability
of occurrence of those risks and their respective impact; (iii) the devices and measures
to adopt towards their mitigation; and (iv) the monitoring procedures, aiming at their
accompaniment.

Yes

50 to 55

VI.7. The company should establish procedures for the supervision, periodic evaluation,
and adjustment of the internal control system, including an annual evaluation of the level
of internal compliance and the performance of that system, as well as the perspectives
for amendments of the risk structure previously defined.

Yes

21
54
55

PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATIONS

CHAPTER VII – FIANCIAL INFORMATION

Principles:
VII.A. The supervisory body should, with independence and in a diligent manner, ensure that the managing body
complies with its duties when choosing appropriate accounting policies and standards for the company, and when
establishing suitable systems of financial reporting for risk management, internal control, and internal audit.
VII.B. The supervisory body should promote an adequate coordination between the internal audit and the statutory
audit of accounts.
Recommendation:
VII.1.1. The supervisory body’s internal regulation should impose the obligation to
supervise the suitability of the preparation process and the disclosure of financial
information by the managing body, including suitable accounting policies, estimates,
judgments, relevant disclosure and its consistent application between financial years,
in a duly documented and communicated form.

Yes

21
38
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VII.1. Financial Information
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COMPLIANCE

REMISSION
PART I

VII.2. Statutory audit of accounts and supervision
Principle:
The supervisory body should establish and monitor clear and transparent formal procedures on the relationship of
the company with the statutory auditor and on the supervision of compliance, by the auditor, with rules regarding
independence imposed by law and professional regulations.
Recommendations:
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VII.2.1. By internal regulations, the supervisory body should define, according to the
applicable legal regime, the monitoring procedures aimed at ensuring the independence
of the statutory auditor.

Yes

21
37
38
41
44 to 47

VII.2.2. The supervisory body should be the main interlocutor of the statutory auditor in
the company and the first recipient of the respective reports, having the powers, namely,
to propose the respective remuneration and to ensure that adequate conditions for the
provision of services are ensured within the company.

Yes

21

VII.2.3. The supervisory body should annually assess the services provided by the
statutory auditor, their independence and their suitability in carrying out their functions,
and propose their dismissal or the termination of their service contract by the competent
body when this is justified for due cause.

Yes

21
38
45
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3.

Additional clarifications in the recommendations in
which there was no adhesion, partial adherence or
was considered not applicable.
I.2.1. – The Company considered not to establish
criteria and requirements for the profile of new
members of corporate bodies, since past selection
processes duly guarded such attributes as
competence, independence, integrity, availability and
experience.
Gender equality, in the current mandate, had the
legal framework of gender parity as a guiding rule,
having been fully complied with by the corporate
bodies, namely the Board of Directors and the Audit
Committee.
I.3.1. – The Company, through the regulations of
the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee,
establishes mechanisms to comply with the
recommendation.
I.3.2. – The Company, through the regulations of the
Board of Directors and Audit Committee, establishes
mechanisms for complying with the recommendation.

Nevertheless, the quarterly reporting procedure for
transactions with related parties was complied with.
III.7. – The Company, in its governance model, has
a remuneration committee elected by the General
Meeting and independent from the Board of
Directors. In view of the small size of the company,
measured in light of the provisions of paragraph 2 of
Article 413 of the CSC, and the functions performed
by the Audit Committee, the Company believes that
the creation of specialized committees is not justified.
IV.1. – There is no internal regulation that
defines the performance regime of executives or
executive functions outside the group, however
the Code of Conduct provides that all external
professional activities, whether paid or not, must be
communicated and cannot raise conflicts of interest
with Inapa.

V.2.8. – The variable remuneration of executive
directors provided for in the remuneration policy
remuneration policy does not provide for deferral
of the variable remuneration. However, provision is
made for all or part of the variable remuneration to be
subject to malus or claw back clauses.
V.3.1. – Proposals for the election of members
of the governing bodies submitted for approval
by the General Meeting are accompanied by a
description containing the academic qualifications
and professional qualifications of each member.
The description is not accompanied by a statement
of reasons for each profile. The Company does not
have its own regulations that require the definition of
profiles since there has always been an adaptation of
profiles proposed to the functions to be performed in
each profile of the Board of Directors.
V.3.2. – In view of the small size of the Company,
assessed in the light of the provisions of paragraph
2 of Article 413 of the CSC, and the limited number
of members of the Board of Directors (seven), the
appointment of a nominating committee is not
justified.
V.3.3. – The Company does not have a nomination
committee.
V.3.4. – The Company does not have a nomination
committee.
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I.5.2. – There were no transactions with related
entities that lacked specific control.

V.2.3. – No formal mechanisms are foreseen to
demand any indemnity or compensation, beyond
what is legally due. Inapa does not have agreements
in force with members of its board of directors and/
or managers that provide for compensation in the
event of just cause dismissal, unfair dismissal or
termination of the employment relationship following
a change in the Company's control. The remuneration
policy, in point IV, establishes the situations in which
executive directors may or may not be entitled to
variable remuneration for the current year when the
termination occurs. Since there are no agreements
and mechanisms for variable remuneration are
foreseen, the Company understands that what is
provided for by law.
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VI.1. – The Board of Directors makes an annual
assessment of the adequacy of the risk mitigation
measures present in the Company, jointly defining a
work program that monitors the maintenance of the
adequacy of the measures in progress and allows
adjustments to be made whenever necessary.
VI.6. – The probability of occurrence of the risks and
respective impacts are not currently included in the
risk policy.
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Report Template for Disclosure of
Non‑Financial Information
PART I - INFORMATION ON ADOPTED POLICIES

REFERENCES

A. INTRODUCTION
1.	
Description of the Company's general policy with regard to sustainability issues, indicating
any changes to the previously approved policy.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 33
to 35

2.	Description of the methodology and the reasons for its adoption in the reporting of the
non‑financial information, as well as any changes occurred in relation to previous years and
the reasons for them.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 28
to 33

B. BUSINESS MODEL
General description of the Company's/Group's business model, indicating main business areas
and markets where it operates (if possible with organigrams graphs or functional charts).

CSR 2021
Chap. 1 | Pages 10
to 15
AR 2021
Chap. 1 | Pages 14
to 34

C. MAIN RISK FACTORS
1.	Identification of the main risks associated with the topics being reported and resulting
from the Company's activities, products, services or commercial relations, including, where
applicable and whenever possible, the supply and subcontracting chains.
2. Description of how these risks is identified and managed by the Company.
3.	Explanation of the internal functional division of responsibilities, including the corporate
committees, commissions, committees or departments responsible for the identification and
management/monitoring of risks.
4.	Express indication of the new risks identified by the Company in relation to previous years as
well as the risks that no longer exist.
5.	Indication and brief description of the main opportunities that are identified by the Company
regarding the issues to be reported.
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AR 2021
Chap. 1 | Pages 36
to 39
Chap. 4 | Pages 236
to 261 and 262 to 267
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PART I - INFORMATION ON ADOPTED POLICIES

REFERENCES

D. IMPLEMENTED POLICIES
Description of policies: i. environmental, ii. social and fiscal, iii. concerning employees and
gender equality and non-discrimination, iv. concerning human rights and v. concerning the
fight corruption and bribery attempts, including due diligence policies, as well as the results
of their implementation, including related non-financial key performance indicators, and their
comparison with the previous year.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2, 3 and 4

i. Environmental policies
1. Description of the Company's strategic objectives and the main actions to be taken for their
achievement.
2. Description of the main performance indicators defined.

CSR 2021
Chap. 3
CSR 2021
Chap. 3 | Pages 40
to 63

3. Indication, compared with the previous year, of the degree of achievement of those
objectives, at least by reference to:
Sustainable use of resources: consumption of water, other raw materials and energy;
measures taken to improve the efficiency of resource use; use of energy efficiency
measures and use of renewable energy.

CSR 2021
Chap. 3 | Pages 40
to 53

ii) Pollution and climate change: indication of the values of greenhouse gas emissions;
indication of emissions of pollutants into nature; indication of penalties incurred and
measures to prevent, reduce or repair these emissions.

CSR 2021
Chap. 3 | Pages 54
to 61

iii) Circular economy and waste management: measures for prevention, recycling, reuse or
other forms of waste recovery and disposal.

CSR 2021
Chap. 3 | Pages 62
to 63

iv) Biodiversity protection: impacts caused by activities or operations in protected areas and
measures taken to preserve or restore biodiversity.

CSR 2021
Chap. 3 | Pages 53

ii. Social and tax policies
1. Description of the company's strategic goals and the main actions to be taken to their
implementation.

CSR 2021
Chap. 4
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2. Description of the key performance indicators defined.

REFERENCES
CSR 2021
Chap. 4

3. Indication, in relation to the previous year, of the level of achievement of those goals, at least
by reference to:
Company commitment to the community: the impact of the Company's activity on
employment and local development; the impact of the Company's activity on local
populations and on the territory; the relations maintained with local community agents
and the respective means of dialogue; partnership or sponsorship actions.

CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 92
to 97

ii) Subcontracting and suppliers: including social, gender equality and environmental issues
in the purchasing policy; consideration in relations with suppliers and subcontractors
of their social, environmental and governance responsibility; control and audit systems
and their results. Whenever possible, include reference to the fact that the Company's
suppliers apply policies consistent with those established by the Company.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 20
to 27
Chap. 3 | Pages 40
to 43

iii) Consumers: measures for consumer health and safety; systems for receiving, processing
and resolving complaints, namely the number of complaints received and the number
of pending complaints, as well as those in which the complainant was found right,
satisfaction surveys, and indication of the person responsible for complaints.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 20
to 27
Chap. 3 | Pages 40
to 43

i)

iv) Responsible investment: if applicable, information on the responsible investment the
Company aims to attract, including with regard to the mission/acquisition of green bonds
or SDG-linked bonds.

Not applicable

v) Stakeholders: information on possible ways of consulting stakeholders.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 33

vi) Tax information: information on measures or acts with a impact on taxes, including
subsidies or any type of grant or advantage granted by the State.

AR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 58

iii. Employees and gender equality and non-discrimination
1. Description of the company's strategic goals and the main actions to be taken to their
implementation.

2. Description of the key performance indicators defined.
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CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 66
to 75
CSR 2021
Chap. 4
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3. Indication, in relation to the previous year, of the level of achievement of those goals, at least
by reference to:
i)

Employment: total number and distribution of employees by gender, age, country
and occupational classification, as well as total number and distribution of contractual
arrangements (e.g. employment contract, service providers, temporary work, etc.) by
gender and age, average length of contracts; percentage of the workforce receiving
the national minimum wage, regardless of contractual tie; remuneration for equal or
average positions in the company, by gender; average remuneration of directors and
managers, including variable remuneration, allowances, severance payments, payment to
long-term savings schemes and any other payment broken down by gender; employees
with disabilities (including indication of how the Company is complying, or preparing to
comply, with Law No. 4/2019 of 10 January on the employment quota system for people
with disabilities).

CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 76
to 83

CSR 2021
Capítulo 4 | Pages
80, 81, 84, 85

iii) Health and safety: health and safety conditions at work and number of accidents at
work accidents.

CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 88
to 91

iv) Social relations: social dialogue organisation, including procedures for informing and
negotiating with staff, such as the number of interactions with trade unions and/or works
councils, if any; new agreements concluded or revised agreements in place; number
of court cases and complaints to the Authority for Working Conditions; percentage
of employees covered by collective agreements by country; evaluation of collective
agreements, namely in the field of health and safety at work.

CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 85

v) Training: the policies applied in the field of training and the type of training (e.g. whether
the Company provides its employees with training on issues related to the evaluation of
the company's performance in "non-financial" matters (e.g. privacy protection/GDPR,
anti‑money laundering/AML, human rights in the value chain, etc.); the ratio of training
hours to the number of employees.

CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 86,
87

vi) Equality: measures/policies adopted to promote equal treatment and opportunities
between genders; equality plans; number of dismissals by gender; protocols against
sexual harassment and gender-based harassment; policies for integration and universal
accessibility for persons with disabilities; policies against all discrimination and, where
appropriate, diversity management.

CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 68 to
73 and 81 to 83
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ii) Work organisation: work-time organisation, including measures to provide time off
work and family life.
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iv. Human Rights
1. Description of the company's strategic goals and the main actions to be taken
to their implementation.
2. Description of the key performance indicators defined.

CSR 2021
Chap. 4 | Pages 91
Not applicable

3. Indication, in relation to the previous year, of the level of achievement of those goals, at least
by reference to:
i)

Human rights due diligence procedures applied in particular with regard to the
contracting of suppliers and service providers.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 20
to 27

ii) Measures to prevent the risk of human rights violations and, where appropriate, measures
to remedy any abuses; elimination of discrimination in employment (where not already
mentioned above); elimination of forced or compulsory labour; effective abolition of child
labour.

Not applicable

iii) Prosecutions for human rights violations.

Not applicable

v. Anti-corruption and bribery attempts
1. Prevention of corruption: measures and instruments adopted to prevent corruption and
bribery; policies implemented to dissuade these practices among employees and suppliers;
information on the compliance system indicating the respective functional managers, if any;
indication of legal proceedings involving the Company, its directors or employees related to
corruption or bribery; measures adopted in public procurement, if relevant.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 20
to 29

2. Prevention of money laundering (for issuers subject to this regime): information on measures
to prevent and combat money laundering.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 20
and 28

3. Codes of ethics: indication of any code of ethics to which the Company may have adhered or
implemented; indication of the respective mechanisms for implementation and monitoring of
compliance, if applicable.

CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 28,
29
AR 2021
Chap. 1 | Pages 40, 41

4. Management of conflicts of interest: measures to manage and monitor conflicts of interest,
namely requiring managers and employees to sign declarations of interest, incompatibilities
and obstacles.
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CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 28
to 31
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1. Identification of Standards/guidelines followed in the reporting of Non-Financial
Information

2. Identification of the scope and methodology of indicator calculation

REFERENCES
CSR 2021
Chap. 2 | Pages 32,
36
CSR
Chap. 2 to 4

GRI Index

CSR
Additional
information

Taxonomy (EU)

CSR
Additional
information

3. Explanation in case of non-application of policies

Not applicable

4. Other information

Glossary:
CSR: Corporate Social Responsability
AR: Annual Report
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